

Turkish Journal of GERIATRICS

Volume: 25 • Number: 4 • Year: 2022



The Official Scientific Journal of Turkish Geriatrics Society

e-ISSN: 1307-9948 www.turkgeriatri.org



www.turkgeriatri.org

e-ISSN: 1307-9948

The official scientific journal of Turkish Geriatrics Society



Member of IAGG

OWNER On Behalf of Turkish Geriatrics Society Yeşim GÖKÇE KUTSAL

EDITORIAL MANAGER Orhan **YILMAZ**

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE Erkam EVLİCE

Turkish Journal of Geriatrics is indexed in: Thomson Reuters Science Citation Index Expanded (SCI-Exp) and Social Sciences Citation Index (SSCI) since 2008. And also in Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TÜBİTAK), Turkish Academic Network and Information Center (ULAKBİM) regional TR index (TR dizin) since 1998.

Published four times (March, June, September, December) a year

CORRESPONDANCE

Turkish Geriatrics Society

www.turkgeriatri.org info@geriatri.org www.geriatri.dergisi.org editor@geriatri.dergisi.org

Date of Publication: 31 December 2022



EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Yeşim GÖKÇE KUTSAL

EDITORIAL BOARD

Önder İLGİLİ Alfonso CRUZ-JENTOFT Orhan YILMAZ Peter FERRY

Sercan ÖZYURT Clemens TESCH-ROEMER

INTERNATIONAL ADVISORY BOARD

Vladimir ANISIMOV	RUSSIA
Jean-Pierre BAFYENS	BELGIUM
Yitshal BERNER	ISRAEL
Harrison BLOOM	USA
C.J. BULPITT	UK
Robert N. BUTLER	USA
Roger Mc CARTER	USA
Mark CLARFIELD	ISRAEL
Cyrus COOPER	UK
Gaetano CREPALDI	ITALY
Michael FARTHING	UK
Marvin FORMOSA	MALTA
Ghada El-Hajj FULEIHAN	LEBANON
David GELLER	USA
Barry J. GOLDLIST	CANADA
Melvin GREER	USA
Renato M. GUIMARAES	BRASIL
Gloria M. GUTMAN	CANADA
Carol HUNTER-WINOGRAD	USA
Alfenso JC JENTOFT	SPAIN
Vladimir KHAVINSON	RUSSIA
John KANIS	UK
Tom KIRKWOOD	UK
Jean-Pierre MICHEL	SWITZERLAND
John E. MORLEY	USA
Robert MOULIAS	FRANCE
Desmond O'NEILL	IRELAND
Sokrates PAPAPOULOS	HOLLAND
MirkoPETROVIC	BELGIUM
Russel REITER	USA
Rene RIZZOLLI	SWITZERLAND
Ego SEEMAN	AUSTRALIA
Walter O. SEILER	SWITZERLAND
Alan SINCLAIR	UK
Raymond C. TALLIS	UK
Adele TOWERS	USA
Guy VANDERSTRATEN	BELGIUM
Alan WALKER	UK
Ken WOODHOUSE	UK
Archie YOUNG	UK

INFORMATION TO AUTHORS

http://www.geriatri.dergisi.org/static.php?id=7

TURKISH JOURNAL OF GERIATRICS

PUBLICATION POLICY

Turkish Journal of Geriatrics is a peer-reviewed journal and is devoted to high standards of scientific rules and publication ethics. The Editors of the Journal accept to follow 'Editorial Policy' of the 'Council of Science Editors' (www.councilscienceeditors.org/).

Any article published in the journal is also published in electronic format and is shown at http://www.turkgeriatri.org or http://www.geriatri.dergisi.org/

Instructions for authors are based on the report of International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (Last Version)- (Uniform Requirements for manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals, www.icmje.org).

Editor in Chief: Prof. Yesim GOKCE-KUTSAL, MD

Owner: Turkish Geriatrics Society www.turkgeriatri.org

INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS

Turkish Journal of Geriatrics is the official publication of Turkish Geriatrics Society and is published four times a year. Articles published in the journal are shown at http://www.turkgeriatri.org & http://www.geriatri. dergisi.org

Turkish Journal of Geriatrics is a peer-reviewed journal and is devoted to high standards of scientific rules and publication ethics. The Editorial Board Members of the Journal accept to follow 'Editorial Policy' of the 'Council of Science Editors' (www.councilscienceeditors.org/) and the guidelines provided by the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) for dealing with scientific misconduct, such as falsification of data, plagiarism, improprieties of authorship, violation of generally accepted research practices and redundant publication and duplicate publication.

Instructions for authors are based on the report of International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (Uniform Requirements for manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals, www.icmje.org).

Manuscripts must be original and not under consideration by another publication at the time of submission. The authors must ensure that they have read and understood the details noted in the publication policy of our journal. Failure to comply can lead to delays in the processing of the manuscript, or even rejection.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS

Official language of the journal is **English.** Turkish Journal of Geriatrics invites submission of Original Articles based on clinical and laboratory studies. Review Articles are published only after the invitation from the Editorial Board.

Manuscripts and the necessary documents should be submitted online at: Online Manuscript Submission.

Authors are advised to keep a copy of their papers for reference. It is the responsibility of **all authors** to agree on the content of their paper before submission.

As recommended by TUBİTAK ULAKBIM, the authors should get their **ORCID** (Open Researcher and Contributor ID) numbers from the web address free of charge: **http://orcid.org**

Preparation of Manuscript

Papers must be written in English. Authors should have their papers checked for linguistic accuracy by a native English speaker. For the language editing of the article and to get the **"Formal Certificate of Language Control and Correction"**, contact to the below addresses:

EDITAGE https://www.editage.com, WILEY https://www.wiley.com/en-tr, SCRIBENDI https://www.scribendi. com, AMERICAN JOURNAL EXPERTS http://www.journalexperts.com

The corrected manuscript should be sent to the journal after it has received the **"formal certificate of language control and correction"** – this certificate should be uploaded to journal on line system with the manuscript.

Articles published in the Turkish Journal of Geriatrics should be prepared in ethical rules. The ethical responsibilities of the articles belong to the authors. For all the studies both conducted on human beings and animals as well as drug research, ethical committee approval should be taken and a signed copy of **"Ethical Committee Approval"** should be uploaded to the journal system.

The manuscripts will not be published without a copy of the "ethical committee approval" document. For all the studies conducted on human beings **"Informed Consent"** of all the participants of the study should be taken.

Authors should obey the rules in "Helsinki Declaration", "Good Medical Practice Guidelines", and "Good Laboratories Practice Guidelines".

Names of the patients, protocol numbers, etc which identify participants' identities should not be used in the manuscript. If the editorial board finds necessary, the admitted articles will be reviewed not only by the scientific advisors, but by the ethical advisors of the journal as well. Authors submitting an article must accept this situation.

All of the articles submitted to the Turkish Journal of Geriatrics should fit to the **"Information of authors"** details. The assessment process will not start until this step is completed.

Via online submission 1) English Title, 2) Names, Surnames and Titles of the authors, 3) Institutions, 4) Present communication details should be loaded to the system. Original articles and Invited Reviews should be between 1500-3500 words (excluding Abstract). When a manuscript is submitted, authors must provide a word count for both the abstract and the text. Editors can request that authors shorten their papers further.

The text of observational and experimental articles should be divided into sections with the headings Introduction, Materials and Method, Results, and Discussion. Long articles may need subheadings within some sections (especially the Results and Discussion sections) to clarify their content. Invited reviews and editorials are likely to take their own relevant main headings.

Abstract. A structured abstract of not more than 250 words in English should be structured, including Introduction, Materials and Method, Results, and Conclusion. New and important observations or aspects of the study should be emphasized. Abstracts of the review articles should be a brief overview of the main points from the review. Abstracts should reflect the whole manuscript and the consistency between the text. No abbreviations should be used in this section.

Keywords. Up to six keywords should be provided that might be used by researchers searching bibliographic databases for the paper. The authors have to use terms from the Medical Subjects Headings list from Index Medicus.(www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html) **Introduction.** Acquaint the readers with the problem and with the findings of others. Quote the most pertinent papers and state clearly the nature and purpose of the work.

Materials and Method. Your clinical, technical or experimental procedures should be clearly explained. Previously published papers related to methods should be cited. Ethical approval of the study should be mentioned here.

Results. Findings must be described without comment. A concise textual description of the data presented in tables, chats and figures should also be included.

Discussion. Comment on your findings and relate them to those from other authors. You should define their relevance to experimental research or clinical practice.

References. The author is responsible for the accuracy of the references. Citations in the text should be identified by numbers in standart brackets. The list of the references at the end of the paper should be given according to their first appearance in the text. Journal abbreviations should be used as listed in Index Medicus.

1-Articles from journals (with PMID numbers):

Cruz Jentoft AJ, Sayer AA. Sarcopenia. Lancet 2019;393 (10191): 2636-46. (PMID: 31171417)

2-Articles from journals (without PMID numbers):

Piers R, Albers G, Gilissen J, et al. Advance care planning in dementia: recommendations for healthcare professionals. BMC Palliative Care 2018;17(88):1-17.(DOI:10.1186/s12904-018-0332-2).

3-Articles in Turkish:

Ozturk S. Clinical and Nuropathological Classification of Dementia. Turkish Journal of Geriatrics 2010; 13 (Suppl 3):15-19. (in Turkish)

Give PMID or DOI numbers if possible.

4-More than 6 authors will be mentioned with the three authors' names:

Groessl EJ, Kaplan RM, Rejeski WJ et al. Physical Activity and Performance Impact Long-term Quality of Life in Older Adults at Risk for Major Mobility Disability. Am J Prev Med 2019; 56 (1): 141-146. (PMID: 30573142).

5-Books:

BG Katzung. Special Aspects of Geriatric Pharmacology, In:Bertram G. Katzung, Susan B. Masters, Anthony J. Trevor (Eds). Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. 10th edition, Lange, Mc Graw Hill, USA 2007, pp 983-90.

6-Articles or documents from electronic publications:

World Health Organization. Global Health and Aging [e-book] NIH Publication; 2011. [Internet]. Available from: http://www.who.int/ageing/publications/ global_health.pdf. Accessed: 09.09.2019.

Access date, DOI or ID numbers of the articles should be mentioned. The UPDATED reference should be available in the referred web address.

Tables. Tables should be supplement not duplicate the text. Each table should be typed (double spaced) on a separate sheet and numbered consecutively with arabic numerals. Place explanatory matters in footnotes. Footnotes to tables should be indicated by lower-case superscript letters. Each table must be cited in text in consecutive order.

Illustrations. Illustrations should be limited to those essential for the text. The same results should be presented as either graphs or tables not as both. All figures, whether photographs, graphs, or diagrams, should be numbered consecutively and shown in the text. The publisher reserves the right to reduce or enlarge illustrations. Arrows, letters, and numbers should be inserted professionally.

Graphs, figures, and illustrations should be placed in the main text. And also separate files should be prepared for graphs, figures, and illustrations (each one on a separate file),

The authors should supply the electronic files for all figures and illustrations including photographs as gif or jpeg images with a minimum resolution of 600 dpi.

Micrographs should have an internal magnification marker; the magnification should also be stated in the caption. Legends must be brief, self-sufficient explanations of the illustrations in no more than four or five lines. Remarks such as "For explanation, see text" should be avoided. The legends should also be typed at the end of the text.

Screening resolution. The image should be at least 600 dpi resolution. For the web site resolution, 300 dpi is acceptable.

Measurements. Metric system should be used for all types of measurements.

Abbreviations and Symbols. Only standard abbreviations should be used in the main text. In the first use, long version of the abbreviation should be written. Abbreviations and Symbols should not be used in abstract and title sections.

Acknowledgement. Authors can thank to the persons, institutions, etc in this section.

Conflict of Interest. The authors should state whether there is a conflict of interest or not.

Review Articles. The journal is open only for "Invited Reviews".

Besides their article, there are 5 important documents that the authors should send:

- I- For all the articles Application Fee Receipt
- II- For all the studies signed copy of "Ethical Committee Approval Document" (including all the names of the authors) (For all the studies conducted on human beings, "informed consent" of the participants should be taken).
- III- "Copyright Transfer Form" with all of the authors' signatures,
- IV- "Author Contribution Form" with all of the authors' signatures,

V- Copy of "Certificate of Language Control and Correction".

The manuscript cannot be sent out for review if the submissions are received without these 5 documents. These documents should be uploaded in related sections of the online system.

Attention ! Last Control Before Submission (Checklist for Submitted Articles)

All of the articles submitted to the Turkish Journal of Geriatrics should fit to the "information of authors' details in the below address:

http://geriatri.dergisi.org/static.php?id=7

The review process will not start until all the below steps are completed.

1-Letter of submission written for the chief editor.

2-E-mail address as well as postal address, official telephone number of the corresponding author.

3-Affiliations (in English) and ORCID numbers (http://orcid.org) of all the authors.

4-For the language editing of your article and to get the "Certificate of Language Control and Correction", you can contact to:

EDITAGE https://www.editage.com, WILEY https://www.wiley.com/en-tr, SCRIBENDI https://www.

scribendi.com, AMERICAN JOURNAL EXPERTS http://www.journalexperts.com

5-English heading.

6-English "structured" abstract (250 words at maximum).

7-Keywords in accordance with Medical Subjects Headings-MeSH List (up to 6 words) (https://meshb.nlm. nih.gov/search)

8-Article divided into appropriate sections.

9-All figures (with subtitles) and tables (with titles) cited (should be 5 at maximum)

10-Complete and accurate references (references should be 25 at maximum with the PMID numbers) written according to the rules and of the journal (http://geriatri.dergisi.org/static.php?id=7).

11-Original articles should not exceed 3500 words (excluding abstract).

In order to start the evaluation process, the below 5 documents should be sent through the online system for all the articles:

- I- For all the articles Application Fee Receipt
- II- For all the studies signed copy of "Ethical Committee Approval Document" (including all the names of the authors) (For all the studies conducted on human beings, "informed consent" of the participants should be taken).
- III- "Copyright Transfer Form" with all of the authors' signatures,

IV- "Author Contribution Form" with all of the authors' signatures,

V- Copy of "Certificate of Language Control and Correction".



Volume: 25 • Issue: 4 • Year: 2022

CONTENTS



EDITORIAL	
FROM THE EDITOR IN CHIEF Yeşim GÖKÇE KUTSAL	VII
RESEARCH ARTICLES	
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PERCEIVED AGEISM, AUTONOMY, AND SYMPTOMS OF DEPRESSION AND ANXIETY DURING THE COVID-19 CURFEW IN OLD AGE PSYCHIATRIC PATIENTS Aslı AYTULUN, Şahinde Özlem ERDEN AKİ	465
NORMATIVE AND PSYCHOMETRIC PROPERTIES OF THE WHOQOL OLDER ADULTS MODULE (WHOQOL-OLD) IN THE NATIONAL REPOSITORY Erhan ESER, Berna BİLGİN ŞAHİN, Sultan ESER	476
IS DYNAMIC THIOL/DISULFIDE HOMEOSTASIS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROGNOSIS OF GERIATRIC PATIENTS WITH SEPSIS IN THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT? Esra YAKIŞIK ÇAKIR, Gamze GÖK, Özcan EREL, Işıl ÖZKOÇAK TURAN	495
HOW AWARE ARE FAMILY PHYSICIANS OF THE SOCIAL LIFE AND LONELINESS OF OLDER PEOPLE? Özge ÜSTÜNDAĞ, Hüseyin ELBİ, Erol OZAN, Fatih ÖZCAN	504
ASSOCIATION BETWEEN C-REACTIVE PROTEIN/ALBUMIN AND C-REACTIVE PROTINE/PROTEIN RATIOS AND POOR OUTCOMES IN PALLIATIVE CARE PATIENTS WITH PRESSURE ULCERS Hasan ÖZTİN, İlyas ÖZTÜRK, Burak OYMAK, Yahya Ayhan ACAR, Murat AYSİN	514
STAFF-BASED INDIVIDUALIZED CARE INVENTORY: PSYCHOMETRIC PROPERTIES OF THE TURKISH VERSION Seda GÜNEY, Ayişe KARADAĞ	521
THE PREDICTORS OF IN-HOSPITAL MORTALITY IN HYPERTENSIVE ELDERLY INTENSIVE CARE UNIT PATIENTS WITH CORONAVIRUS DISEASE 2019 Nurullah ÇETİN, İbrahim Halil ÖZDEMİR	529
LESS IS MORE: BETA-2 MICROGLOBULIN AS A FRAILTY MARKER IN COMMUNITY-DWELLING OLDER ADULTS Ertuğrul BAYRAM, Didem KARADUMAN, Bülent KAYA, Burak METE, Süleyman ÖZBEK, Akgün YAMAN	542
DIAGNOSTIC AND PREDICTIVE ROLE OF PLATELET/LYMPHOCYTE RATIO (PLR) IN PREDICTING OUTCOMES IN ELDERLY COVID-19 PATIENTS (A CROSS-SECTIONAL STUDY) Esra AKDAŞ TEKİN, Fethi GÜLTOP, Onur OKUR, Sinan MUTLU, Ayla YEŞİLOVA, Namigar TURGUT	551
RETROSPECTIVE ANALYSIS OF GERIATRIC PATIENTS TREATED WITH DENTAL IMPLANTS AND IMPLANT-RETAINED PROSTHESES Eser ELEMEK	559
UNDERGRADUATES' KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES, AND ANXIETY ABOUT AGING, AND INTEREST IN WORKING WITH OLDER ADULTS THE ROLE OF PARTICIPATION IN A COURSE ON AGING Ece SAĞEL-ÇETİNER, Hacer HARLAK	568
OBSTRUCTIVE SLEEP APNEA IN ELDERLY Sıdıka Deniz YALIM	579

RHINO-ORBITAL MUCORMYCOSIS IN THE ELDERLY POPULATION AFTER COVID-19 Ozer Erdem GUR, Nevreste Didem SONBAY YILMAZ, Sibel YAVUZ, Hatice Deniz ILHAN, Rezarta Taga SENIRLİ, Muhammet YILDIZ, Yesim YUKSEL, Nuray ENSARİ, Halil ER, Kubra DEMİR ONDER, Berna DOGAN592THE EFFECT OF THE ADHERENCE TO THE MEDITERRANEAN DIET ON FRAILTY IN OLDER PEOPLE WITH CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE Sedat ARSLAN, Canan BOZKURT, Hülya BULUT600COMPARISON OF THE MODIFIED 5-ITEM FRAILTY INDEX WITH THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF ANESTHESIOLOGISTS CLASSIFICATION AND CHARLSON AGE COMORBIDITY INDEX FOR PREDICTING POSTOPERATIVE OUTCOMES IN GERIATRIC PATIENTS: A PROSPECTIVE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY Ezgi HATÎP ÜNLÜ, Fatih Doğu GEYİK, Yücel YÜCE, Jülide SAYIN KART, Banu ÇEVİK, Kemal Tolga SARAÇOĞLU611COMPARISON OF CLINICAL OUTCOMES OF CORONAVAC VACCINATED AND UNVACCINATED OLDER ADULTS WITH HOSPITALIZED COVID-19 Yusuf Erne ÖZDEMİR, Muhammet Salih TARHAN, Burak KIZILÇAY, Müge SÖNMEZIŞIK, Esra CANBOLAT ÜNLÜ, Deniz BORÇAK, Serkan SÜRME, Meryem ŞAHİN ÖZDEMİR, Osman Faruk BAYRAMLAR, Zuhal YEŞİLBAĞ, Sevtap ŞENOĞLU, Habip GEDİK, Kadriye KART YAŞAR612EVALUATION OF PREOPERATIVE NUTRITION WITH THREE DIFFERENT TOOLS IN ELDERLY PATIENTS Burcu YÜKSEL, Aylin Durmaz EDEER632AGING EFFECT IN PROSPECTIVE MEMORY MONITORING: AN EYE-TRACKING STUDY640	ALUATION OF PENTRAXIN 3 UTILITY IN PRE GERIATRIC PATIENTS WITH COVID-19: A PR zu ŞENOL, Şafak ÖZER BALİN, Selda TELO	DICTING MORTALITY DSPECTIVE STUDY	585
THE EFFECT OF THE ADHERENCE TO THE MEDITERRANEAN DIET ON FRAILTY IN OLDER PEOPLE WITH CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE Sedat ARSLAN, Canan BOZKURT, Hülya BULUT600COMPARISON OF THE MODIFIED 5-ITEM FRAILTY INDEX WITH THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF ANESTHESIOLOGISTS CLASSIFICATION AND CHARLSON AGE COMORBIDITY INDEX FOR PREDICTING POSTOPERATIVE OUTCOMES IN GERIATRIC PATIENTS: A PROSPECTIVE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY Ezgi HATIP ÜNLÜ, Fatih Doğu GEYİK, Yücel YÜCE, Jülide SAYIN KART, Banu ÇEVİK, Kemal Tolga SARAÇOĞLU611COMPARISON OF CLINICAL OUTCOMES OF CORONAVAC VACCINATED 	IINO-ORBITAL MUCORMYCOSIS IN THE ELD TER COVID-19 er Erdem GUR, Nevreste Didem SONBAY YILMAZ, S JAN, Rezarta Taga SENIRLI, Muhammet YILDIZ, Yesi Iil ER, Kubra DEMIR ONDER, Berna DOGAN	ERLY POPULATION bel YAVUZ, Hatice Deniz n YUKSEL, Nuray ENSARİ,	592
COMPARISON OF THE MODIFIED 5-ITEM FRAILTY INDEX WITH THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF ANESTHESIOLOGISTS CLASSIFICATION AND CHARLSON AGE COMORBIDITY INDEX FOR PREDICTING POSTOPERATIVE OUTCOMES IN GERIATRIC PATIENTS: A PROSPECTIVE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY Ezgi HATIP ÜNLÜ, Fatih Doğu GEYİK, Yücel YÜCE, Jülide SAYIN KART, Banu ÇEVİK, Kemal Tolga SARAÇOĞLU611COMPARISON OF CLINICAL OUTCOMES OF CORONAVAC VACCINATED AND UNVACCINATED OLDER ADULTS WITH HOSPITALIZED COVID-19 Yusuf Emre ÖZDEMİR, Muhammet Salih TARHAN, Burak KIZILÇAY, Müge SÖNMEZIŞIK, Esra CANBOLAT ÜNLÜ, Deniz BORÇAK, Serkan SÜRME, Meryem ŞAHİN ÖZDEMİR, Osman Faruk BAYRAMLAR, Zuhal YEŞİLBAĞ, Sevtap ŞENOĞLU, Habip GEDİK, Kadriye KART YAŞAR632EVALUATION OF PREOPERATIVE NUTRITION WITH THREE DIFFERENT TOOLS IN ELDERLY PATIENTS Burcu YÜKSEL, Aylin Durmaz EDEER632AGING EFFECT IN PROSPECTIVE MEMORY MONITORING: AN EYE-TRACKING STUDY640	IE EFFECT OF THE ADHERENCE TO THE MED I FRAILTY IN OLDER PEOPLE WITH CHRONIC ILMONARY DISEASE dat ARSLAN, Canan BOZKURT, Hülya BULUT	ITERRANEAN DIET OBSTRUCTIVE	600
COMPARISON OF CLINICAL OUTCOMES OF CORONAVAC VACCINATED AND UNVACCINATED OLDER ADULTS WITH HOSPITALIZED COVID-19 Yusuf Emre ÖZDEMİR, Muhammet Salih TARHAN, Burak KIZILÇAY, Müge SÖNMEZIŞIK, Esra CANBOLAT ÜNLÜ, Deniz BORÇAK, Serkan SÜRME, Meryem ŞAHİN ÖZDEMİR, Osman Faruk BAYRAMLAR, Zuhal YEŞİLBAĞ, Sevtap ŞENOĞLU, Habip GEDİK, Kadriye KART YAŞAR622 EVALUATION OF PREOPERATIVE NUTRITION WITH THREE DIFFERENT TOOLS IN ELDERLY PATIENTS Burcu YÜKSEL, Aylin Durmaz EDEER632AGING EFFECT IN PROSPECTIVE MEMORY MONITORING: AN EYE-TRACKING STUDY640	MPARISON OF THE MODIFIED 5-ITEM FRAI MERICAN SOCIETY OF ANESTHESIOLOGISTS ID CHARLSON AGE COMORBIDITY INDEX FO STOPERATIVE OUTCOMES IN GERIATRIC PA PROSPECTIVE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY gi HATIP ÜNLÜ, Fatih Doğu GEYİK, Yücel YÜCE, Jüli nu ÇEVİK, Kemal Tolga SARAÇOĞLU	.TY INDEX WITH THE CLASSIFICATION DR PREDICTING TIENTS: de SAYIN KART,	611
EVALUATION OF PREOPERATIVE NUTRITION WITH THREE DIFFERENT 632 TOOLS IN ELDERLY PATIENTS 632 Burcu YÜKSEL, Aylin Durmaz EDEER 632 AGING EFFECT IN PROSPECTIVE MEMORY MONITORING: 640 AN EYE-TRACKING STUDY 640	MPARISON OF CLINICAL OUTCOMES OF CC ID UNVACCINATED OLDER ADULTS WITH H suf Emre ÖZDEMİR, Muhammet Salih TARHAN, Bura ige SÖNMEZIŞIK, Esra CANBOLAT ÜNLÜ, Deniz BO ryem ŞAHİN ÖZDEMİR, Osman Faruk BAYRAMLAR, vtap ŞENOĞLU, Habip GEDİK, Kadriye KART YAŞAF	RONAVAC VACCINATED SPITALIZED COVID-19 k KIZILÇAY, RÇAK, Serkan SÜRME, Zuhal YEŞİLBAĞ,	622
AGING EFFECT IN PROSPECTIVE MEMORY MONITORING: AN EYE-TRACKING STUDY 640	YALUATION OF PREOPERATIVE NUTRITION N POLS IN ELDERLY PATIENTS rcu YÜKSEL, Aylin Durmaz EDEER	VITH THREE DIFFERENT	632
Aslı YORUK, Banu CANGOZ-TAVAT	SING EFFECT IN PROSPECTIVE MEMORY MO I EYE-TRACKING STUDY Ir YÖRÜK, Banu CANGÖZ-TAVAT	NITORING:	640
THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN GLYCAEMIC INDEX, DAILY ENERGYINTAKE, METABOLIC PARAMETERS, AND BODY COMPOSITIONIN THE ELDERLY: A CROSS-SECTIONAL STUDYBurak METE, Lezzan KESKIN	IE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN GLYCAEMIC INI TAKE, METABOLIC PARAMETERS, AND BOD THE ELDERLY: A CROSS-SECTIONAL STUDY rak METE, Lezzan KESKIN	DEX, DAILY ENERGY Y COMPOSITION	650



In our aging world, the value of researches conducted by collecting, interpreting and evaluating data in a planned and systematic manner in order to contribute to science on issues that prioritize the elderly, is increasingly coming to the fore.

Based on this idea 7th SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH COURSE IN THE FIELD OF GERIATRICS, was organized by the Turkish Geriatrics Society online on 24-26th Nov, 2022.

The topics that significantly meet the requirements of the attendees both at the research and publication stage were presented by experienced faculty members.

I would like to thank the members of the organizing committee and the valuable trainers who made a significant contribution to the course with their knowledge and experience, and wish that it will be useful for the researchers in terms of their professional development, scientific studies, publications and contributions to public health.

Wishing you a safe, healthy, successful, and prosperous new year!

Prof. Yeşim GÖKÇE KUTSAL, M.D.

www.turkgeriatri.org



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.305 2022; 25(4): 465-475

- Aslı AYTULUN¹
- Şahinde Özlem ERDEN AKİ²

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Şahinde Özlem ERDEN AKİ

Phone : +905077279088 e-mail : ozlemerdenaki@yahoo.com

Received : Sep 09, 2022 Accepted : Nov 10, 2022

¹ Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry, Ankara, Turkey

RESEARCH

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PERCEIVED AGEISM, AUTONOMY, AND SYMPTOMS OF DEPRESSION AND ANXIETY DURING THE COVID-19 CURFEW IN OLD AGE PSYCHIATRIC PATIENTS

Abstract

Introduction: Restrictive measures were taken to protect people aged 65 years and older during coronavirus pandemic; however, these measures negatively affected their physical and mental health. Ageist attitudes and age discrimination have also become evident during the pandemic. This study aimed to evaluate the relationship between perceived ageism, sense of autonomy, perceptions of curfews, and anxiety and depression levels in older psychiatric patients who comprised a vulnerable and disadvantaged group during the pandemic.

Materials and Methods: In this cross-sectional study, 171 participants older than 65 years, followed up at Hacettepe University Psychiatry outpatient clinic between December 2019 and February 2020, were interviewed via phone using a survey on sociodemographic characteristics, measures of perceived ageism and autonomy, Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale, and Geriatric Depression Scale-Short Form.

Results: Of 171 total participants, 57 (34.8%) reported an increase in perceived ageism during the pandemic. Almost one-third of the participants found the curfew decisions for the elderly to be unsuitable. Participants with higher education levels and those who found curfews for the elderly inappropriate showed a greater increase in perceived ageism scores (p<0.001). Additionally, perceived ageism scores were significantly correlated with depression and anxiety (p<0.001). Anxiety and depression scores were significantly lower among participants who reported more autonomy in their lives (p<0.05).

Conclusion: During pandemic, state and health authorities should consider the needs of vulnerable groups, such as older individuals and psychiatric patients, when making plans, and ensure that these groups are minimally affected by the disease, restrictive measures, and ageist attitudes.

Keywords: Ageism; Aged; Pandemics; Depression; Anxiety.

INTRODUCTION

Ageism is a type of discrimination that is widespread but insidious in every society in the modern world (1). Although identified as the third most common type of discrimination after racism and sexism, it remains largely unnoticed (2). Discrimination can occur with any age group, however, at present times, it is generally targeted towards older people. Older people are considered slower and less efficient, and thus incompatible with the requirements of today's society. Ageist stereotypes and negative attitudes towards older adults are shared by both public and state authorities. Ageist attitudes become more visible in times of crisis; older people are seen as a burden on society because of their vulnerability and need for care, especially when resources are limited (1). During the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic, many cases of age discrimination have occurred worldwide.

At the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, individuals aged older than 65 years constituted most of the death rate reported globally (3). Health and state authorities had taken additional measures to reduce the impact of COVID-19 on older people. However, the measures taken in many countries negatively impacted the lives of older adults by applying strict restrictions for the elderly, including stay-home orders for those aged 65 years and older, quarantines, and restrictions on nursing home visitations (4).

The Turkish government has taken some additional protective measures to prevent the spread of COVID-19. On March 21, 2020, during the initial period of the pandemic, the Ministry of Interior issued a statement that people aged 65 years and older with comorbidities were prohibited from going out on the street (5). On May 10, 2020, people older than 65 years were allowed to go out from 11:00 to 15:00, for four hours daily; in the course of pandemic, these restriction hours were changed according to the number of cases occurring. These direct measures to lower old-age mortality restricted elderly cit-

izens' daily activities and independence. In addition to these measures, disruptions in preventive healthcare and management services, and long-term care services increased the indirect negative effects of the pandemic on the elderly. Although these precautions and prohibitions against elderly individuals were implemented only in Turkey, protective measures aimed at older people have also been implemented in other countries (6,7). Different policies were implemented by every country to protect older people; however, ageism has taken similar forms in all of these. Older persons were deemed expendable due to their lack of contribution to the economy and production. The government of the United Kingdom adopted the herd immunity concept, implying that the weaker population could be sacrificed for the sake of the community, to avert economic catastrophe (7). In Italy, ethical guidelines by the Italian Society of Anesthesia, Analgesia, and Intensive Care (SIAARTI) were released for the allocation of treatment in resource-limited situations, suggesting that an age limit could be set for admission to intensive care units (8). The public, unfortunately, shared the ageist attitudes of policymakers; older people were viewed as a drain on society, and the incidences of name-calling and blaming rose (7).

During these times, all precautions, including those for older adults, were implemented by health or state authorities, but older individuals were not allowed to express their opinions or participate in decision-making processes regarding their lives. The application of these protective measures to older adults without their consultation and without considering the negative impact of these measures can be considered ageist.

The restrictions mentioned above have been put on the agenda to protect the older persons, but non-governmental organizations such as medical professional organizations and elderly rights organizations have pointed out that these restrictions and prohibitions on older individuals negatively affect both their mental and physical health (9). It is known



that the feeling of isolation or loss of social relationships has detrimental effects such as deterioration in immune system functions and sleep disturbance (10), a decrease in cognitive functions, and an increase in depression and other negative emotions (11). The World Health Organization (WHO) reported that measures such as self-isolation and social distancing can cause anxiety, anger, agitation, and withdrawal (12). In a longitudinal study, social disconnection and perception of isolation were associated with anxiety and depression symptoms in older individuals (13).

Among old age individuals, older psychiatric patients are a more vulnerable group than the older persons who do not have any mental health problems (14). Individuals with pre-existing mental health problems constitute a disadvantaged group regarding the discrimination towards them. Old age psychiatric patients, in addition to the burden of aging, are more exposed to prejudiced attitudes related to mental illness, discrimination, and age-related discrimination (15).

Many short comments and expert opinions have been published about the psychological effects and other possible negative consequences of the pandemic and the impact of protective measures and ageist attitudes on the older people in different settings. It is, however, noteworthy that there are relatively few research articles examining psychiatric issues in older people. Many articles discussing COVID-19 mentioned ageism, but few incorporated the perspectives and opinions of the older adults themselves. Furthermore, to the best of our knowledge, no study about ageism has been conducted in elderly patients with psychiatric disorders. This study aimed to contribute to the current literature by evaluating the relationship between perceived ageism and changes in perceived ageism levels, perceptions of curfews, and anxiety and depression levels in elderly psychiatric patients during the COVID-19 pandemic.

METHODS

Participants

All patients aged > 65 years who had applied to Hacettepe University Psychiatry Clinic between December 2019 and February 2020, without a diagnosis of dementia or mild cognitive impairment (MCI), were contacted from October 1 to November 1, 2020, through phone numbers registered in our hospital system. Patients were interviewed using a survey that included questions on sociodemographic measures, diagnoses, treatment, medications received, quality of healthcare during the lockdown; perceptions of the lockdown; and scales on perceived ageism, depression, and anxiety. This study was planned and conducted as part of a large-scale study aimed at evaluating various aspects of older psychiatric patients during the pandemic at the Hacettepe University Department of Psychiatry. Inclusion criteria for the study were aged 65 years and older, Turkish speaking, and voluntary participation in the study. Exclusion criteria were the diagnosis of dementia or MCI, conditions that prevented communication on the phone (loss of hearing and speech problems), and any other neurological disease impairing judgement and communication skills. No fees were paid to participants. The study was approved by the Ministry of Health and the Hacettepe University Ethics Committee. Verbal informed consent was obtained from all the participants.

Scales

Sociodemographic Form

The sociodemographic characteristics of the participants were evaluated with a sociodemographic form including single-item questions evaluating thoughts and perceptions about curfew practices for the elderly and perceptions of physical and psychological well-being. The sense of autonomy and the change in autonomy after the pandemic were evaluated using 1-question survey. Psychiatric diagnoses of the participants were extracted from electronic hospital records.

Perceived Ageism Measure

Perceived ageism was assessed using a measure of everyday discrimination designed to evaluate interpersonal forms of daily experiences of discrimination (16). In the original form, ten items were used to measure everyday discrimination, and response values for each item consisted of five alternative answers. In our study, we adapted the questions and choices for age discrimination. Six items were used to measure everyday discrimination based on age: being discriminated solely based on age, being treated with less courtesy and respect, being treated as not smart, being insulted or threatened. receiving less benefit from healthcare services, and feeling unimportant and worthless. The answers to these items were constructed as follows: most of the time, sometimes, and never. Decreasing scores on this measure indicated increasing levels of perceived ageism.

We also asked how perceived ageism changed during the pandemic period, and the answers for this item were: decreased, no change, and increased.

Geriatric Depression Scale Short Form (GDS-SF)

The Geriatric Depression Scale Short Form (GDS-SF), consisting of 15 questions developed by Sheikh and Yesavage to evaluate depressive symptoms in older people, was used in this study (17). The validity and reliability study was conducted by Durmaz et al. in Turkish (18). Every question on the scale has a yes-no answer, and the range of the score is 0–15, with higher scores indicating more depressive symptoms. In Turkish study, the cut-off point was determined to be 5 and above.

Generalized Anxiety Disorder Test 7 (GAD-7)

The GAD-7 is a short self-reported test developed by Spitzer et al. (2006) according to Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-IV (DSM-IV TR) criteria and is used to evaluate generalized anxiety disorder (19). It is a 7-item four-point Likert-type scale (0=never, 1=many days, 2=more than half of the days, 3=almost every day) used to evaluate symptoms of anxiety within the last two weeks. The scores obtained vary from 0–21. In the original study, the cut-off scores obtained from the scale were 5, 10, and 15 for mild, moderate, and severe anxiety, respectively. The scale's adaptation to Turkish, validity, and reliability were conducted by Konkan et al. in 2013. In this study, the cutoff point of the scale was determined to be 8 and above (20).

Statistical Analysis

SPSS 22.0 program for Windows (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA) was used for statistical analysis. Categorical variables were presented as numbers and percentages, and continuous variables, such as age, were presented as means and standard deviations. Relationships between various variables were investigated using the t-test, chi-square analysis, ANOVA, or correlation analysis methods according to the nature of the data. The significance value was set at p< 0.05.

RESULTS

Sociodemographic Characteristics

A total of 171 older psychiatric patients were included in this study. The sociodemographic characteristics and distribution of the psychiatric diagnoses of the participants are shown in Table 1.

Findings Related to Depression and Anxiety

Of 171 total participants, 45 (26.5%) had a score of 5 or above on GDS-SF, implying the presence



Gender	n (%)
Women Men	119 (69.6) 52(30.4)
Age, mean ±SD, years	72 ± 5.90
Marital status	n (%)
Married	109 (63.7)
Other	62 (36.3)
Household status	n (%)
Living alone	35 (21.9)
Living with family	132 (78.1)
Education	n (%)
Primary + Middle School	94 (55.7)
High School + University	75 (44.3)
Psychiatric diagnosis	n (%)
Depression	102 (60)
Anxiety Disorders	25 (14.7)
Bipolar Affective Disorder Schizophrenia Other	21 (12.4) 11 (6.5) 4 (2.4)

 Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the participants

of depressive symptoms. Those who scored 8 or above on the GAD-7 test are accepted to have generalized anxiety disorder symptoms, and 32 of our participants (18.8%) scored 8 or above on this test. Depression and anxiety scores did not differ according to gender, marital status, or household status (living alone vs. living with family). While depression was more prevalent in the lower-education group than in the higher-education group, there was no difference in anxiety among the different education levels.

During the pandemic, 49 (28.8%) participants reported newly added psychiatric symptoms and increased severity of their psychiatric illness. Both anxiety and depression scores differed significantly at the different autonomy levels. Anxiety scores were significantly lower in participants who reported more autonomy ("I make my decisions always or most of the time" vs "I never make my own decisions"), and depression scores were significantly lower in participants who reported more autonomy in their lives. The results of the depression and anxiety scores are presented in Table 2.

Curfews and Their Effects

Regarding the question, "Can you describe your mood during the curfews?", 28.5% of the participants answered "good," and the remaining participants defined their mood as "anxious, sad, depressed, angry, reluctant-stagnant" and others. Depression and anxiety scores in the group with negative mood states were higher than those in the other group, as expected. A total of 65.1% of the participants reported that the curfew negatively affected their mood; anxiety scores were higher in this group, but there was no difference in the depression scores (Table 2).

A total of 111 participants (69.3%) stated that their physical activity level decreased during the pandemic, but no difference between depression and anxiety scores was found between this group and the group with the same activity level. During the curfew period, 70 (41.7%) stated that their physical health deteriorated due to the restrictions. The total GAD-7 score of the group whose physical health deteriorated was significantly higher than that of the group with no deterioration in physical health, but no difference was found in depression scores (Table 2).

Half of the participants (50.6%) found the curfew decision for people older than 65 years to be appropriate, 15.9% found it appropriate but insufficient, and 30.0% found it unsuitable. Individuals with higher education reported that they did not approve of the restrictions at a significantly higher rate than those with lower education ($X^2=21.68$, p=0.001). The most common reason for the disapproval of curfew for the elderly was "thinking it as a reflection of discrimination against the elderly" (25.3%), while the least common answer was "I could not meet my

Variable n (%)	GDS (Mean±SD)	p Value	GAD-7 (Mean±SD)	p Value
Gender ^a				
Women	3.55±3.42	0.45	4.38±4.16	0.051
Men	3.27±3.69	0.65	4.43±5.19	0.951
Marital status ^a				
Married	3.37±3.75	0.634	5.01±5.202	0.080
Other	365±2.99		3.31±3.05	
Household status ^a				
Living alone	3.75±3.52	0.637	4.08±4.09	0.654
Living with family	3.42±3.51		4.47±4.60	
Educationª				
Primary + Middle School	4.14±3.88	0.005+	4.92±5.16	0.700
High School + University	2.64±2.78	0.005^	3.70±3.35	0.720
Autonomy ^b				
" I make my own decisions"				
Always/most of the time 107 (69.4)	3.02±3.23		4.13±4.31	
Sometimes 37 (24)	3.61±3.39	0.001*	4.51±4.34	0.020*
Rarely or never 10 (6.4)	7.77±4.26		8.2±6.25	
Mood during the curfews ^a				
Good 47 (28.5)	1.68 ± 1.51	0.001*	2.36±2.74	0.001*
Other (negative mood states) 118 (71.5)	4.26 ± 3.83	0.001*	5.32±4.82	0.001*
Effect of curfew on mental health ^a				
Negative 110 (65.1)	3.81 ±3.61	0.002	5.28±4.80	0.001*
No effect 59 (34.9)	2.83 ±3.21	0.093	2.84 ±3.33	0.001*
Change in physical activity level during curfew ^a				
Decreased 111 (69.3)	3.78±3.47	0.077	4.68±4.56	0.221
Not changed 48 (30.7)	2.70±3.53		3.75±4.33	0.231
Physical health deteriorated during curfew ^a				
Yes 70 (41.7)	3.59±3.34	0 5 2 9	5.25±4.46	0.020*
No 98 (58.3)	3.24±3.52	0.526	3.76±4.45	0.039^

 Table 2. The relationship of depression and anxiety scores with sociodemographic characteristics and with variables about curfews

a = Student t test, b = ANOVA , * p < 0.05



essential needs" (5.3%). The scores for depression and anxiety were not different among the groups with differing opinions regarding the curfews.

(F $_{(2,155)}$ = 0.58, p= 0.560 and F $_{(2,157)}$ = 0.90, p= 0.915, respectively).

Perceived Ageism

Baseline perceived ageism in our sample ranged from 2.4% ("ever threatened or been harassed due to your age?") to 19.4% ("ever felt discriminated solely based on your age?").

A negative correlation between perceived ageism total scores and GDS-SF total scores was found; meaning that as perceived ageism increased, depression scores also increased. Likewise, a negative correlation existed between perceived ageism and the YAD-7 total scores (Table 3).

A total of 57 participants (34.8%) reported an increase in perceived ageism during the pandemic. Age, autonomy, depression, and anxiety scores did not differ significantly between participants who had an increase in perceived ageism and those without. A greater increase in perceived ageism was observed in participants with higher education levels than in those with lower education; participants who found the curfews for the elderly inappropriate had a greater increase in perceived ageism than that in the other groups (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to examine how the physical and mental health of psychiatric patients aged 65 years and older was affected by curfews implemented for older people during the COVID-19 pandemic, and how perceived ageism affected the psychological state of these patients. Although the restriction measures were implemented to protect the elderly, the risk of negative consequences have been discussed by health professionals, rights defenders, the general public, and the media since the beginning of the pandemic. Although studies examining the effects of ageist attitudes on the elderly have been conducted during the pandemic, the perspectives and opinions of older adults on ageism have not been investigated. Moreover, older psychiatric patients who were more exposed and vulnerable to ageist attitudes have not been studied.

One-fourth of our sample was diagnosed with depression according to the GDS-SF scale, and approximately one-fifth of them were diagnosed with anxiety disorder according to the GAD-7 scale. Individuals with low education levels were found to have a higher rate of depressive symptoms, and individuals in this group were more likely to be affected by restrictions. Although income levels were not assessed in this study, low education levels are expected to be associated with low income, and

	Pearso	n's correlation a	analysis	
Variables	м	SD	r Value	p Value
GAD-7 total score	4.4037	4.47965	347*	0.001
GDS total score	3.4717	3.50192	308*	0.001

Table 3. Correlation analysis of perceived ageism with anxiety and depression scores

GAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale, GDS-SF: Geriatric Depression Scale-Short Form

M=mean, SD= standard deviaton, r= correlation coefficient; p= significance

*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

		Not changed	Increased	p Value
n		107	57	-
Age Mean ± SDª		72.308±.595	71.175±.740	0.249
	Women	79(68.10%)	37(31.90%)	0.000
Gender	Men	28(58.30%)	20(41.70%)	0.232
	Primary +Middle School	71(78.00%)	20(22.00%)	0.001+
Education ^c	High School +University	35(48.60%)	37(51.40%)	0.001*
	"found appropriate"	67 (78.80%)	18 (21.20%)	
Thoughts on curfews ^b	"appropriate but insufficient"	18 (66.70%)	9(33.3%)	0.001*
	"found inappropriate"	21(41.2%)	30(58.80%)	
	No change	84(67.70%)	40(32.30%)	0.075
Autonomy ^c	Decreased	19(57.60%)	14(42.40%)	0.275
GDS-SF Scores ^a		3.60±3.68	3.05±2.90	0.333
GAD-7 Scores ^a		4.29±4.63	4.33±3.71	0.953

Table	4.	Change	in	perceived	ageism	durina	pandemic
i u o i c		chunge		perceivea	ugeisin	aunig	pundenne

GAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale, GDS-SF: Geriatric Depression Scale-Short Form

^a = Student t test, ^b = ANOVA , ^c = chi square test, * p < 0.05

low-education/low-income people might have limited resources for coping with sudden crises, which could explain the higher rates of depression.

Contrary to our expectations, anxiety and depression rates were not affected by marital status, conditions such as single-family living, or the presence of financial difficulties. The fact that most of the group was composed of individuals living in big cities and relatively similar in terms of socioeconomic and living conditions can explain this situation. By examining groups living in rural areas with different socio-economic and cultural life practices, more precise results can be obtained in this regard.

Most participants in the study reported decreased physical activity level, but depression and anxiety scores did not differ between the groups who reported decreased physical activity and those who did not. Many studies have reported that physical activity is protective in terms of mental health. In

a study conducted in Norway during the COVID-19 period, the depression and anxiety levels of adults who were members of a regular activity group were found to be lower than the general population average (21). In the same article, it was also reported that physical activity had no effect on mental health during the pandemic period, which is consistent with our findings. In contrast, in our study, the anxiety scores of those who reported that their physical health was impaired during the pandemic were higher than those who did not report any deterioration in physical health. Physical activity and physical health are related but different concepts. Examining the relationship between physical health and physical activity levels can help us understand the effect of physical activity on mental health.

In our study, baseline perceived ageism was positively correlated with anxiety and depression scores. This finding is in accordance with previous studies reporting that older adults who perceive



ageism are likely to have a negative self-perception of aging and an increase in depressive symptoms (22). Depression and anxiety scores did not differ between participants who had increased perceived ageism during the pandemic and those who did not. This finding was contrary to our hypothesis that increased perceived ageism would be related to increased depression and anxiety scores; however, this might be due to the small sample size or the existence of other factors that might affect depression and anxiety scores during the COVID-19 pandemic, which we did not measure. Another reason for this finding could be the lower prevalence of baseline perceived ageism in our sample than in other populations (23).

Although 65% of our participants reported that the curfews negatively affected their mood, only 30% reported that they did not find these restrictions appropriate. Among the participants with a higher level of education, the rate of disapproval of the restrictions aimed at the older persons was found to be much higher. In addition, the perceived ageism scores increased during the pandemic in the group that disapproved of restrictions. These people may have associated the restrictions targeting the elderly with ageism, since highly educated people are more active and independent in their daily lives, and thus are more affected by the restrictions compared to the lower education group, who might have more family ties and social support in a traditional lifestyle and environment.

During the pandemic, protective measures including "social distancing" and stay-at-home" orders and curfews in some countries were implemented, but those measures caused negative consequences, especially for older adults. Individuals with psychiatric diseases are among the vulnerable groups in society (24), and older psychiatric patients constitute a more vulnerable group with the addition of physical and mental burden due to the advanced age (15). It is important for this group of patients to meet their daily needs, have opportu-

nities for social interaction, and access to healthcare services. Older psychiatric patients could be expected to be affected more by the protective measures taken for the pandemic than the same age population with no psychiatric disorders, considering the possible adverse conditions they have, such as a restricted social environment, greater disease burden, and increased need for healthcare. While ordering restrictions and taking measures to prevent the spread of the epidemic, the needs of vulnerable groups in society should be prioritized. In Turkey, the Psychiatric Association of Turkey has informed the public about the psychological effects of the pandemic and restrictive measures since the first day of the pandemic and has made recommendations for many groups of society, including psychiatric patients. Recommendations have also been published for the most vulnerable groups, including people aged older than 65 years and their relatives (25). In addition to these protective measures and recommendations, state authorities, rights advocacy groups, and the media should also work on measures to decrease ageist attitudes towards older people.

Limitations

This study has some limitations. Due to limited access to outpatient services at the time of the study, all surveys were conducted using phone, and people with hearing loss and difficulties in understanding the questions were excluded from the study; therefore, a vulnerable group that is more likely to be adversely affected by social isolation and ageism was excluded from the study. The lack of pre-COVID-19 period scale scores and longitudinal evaluation may have created a bias since most of the participants had psychiatric diagnoses and were under psychiatric treatment at the time of the study, making it difficult to interpret the scale scores. Different psychiatric diagnoses might affect the coping mechanisms and reactions to the pandemic, however evaluating the effect of these diagnoses would not be possible in a small sample. Likewise, only generalized anxiety symptoms were evaluated but a diagnostic evaluation was not performed including different anxiety disorders like panic disorder, agoraphobia or health anxiety disorder in this sample.

The distribution of the people participating in the study by socioeconomic groups is different from the country average; the higher socioeconomic groups are more represented among the participants; therefore, the results cannot be generalized to the entirety of older psychiatric patients. These limitations should be considered when evaluating the results of the present study.

REFERENCES

- Fraser S, Lagace M, Bongue B et al. Ageism and COVID-19: What does our society's response say about us? Age Ageing 2020; 49(5): 692-695. (PMID: 32377666)
- Palmore EB. Introduction and basic definitions, in: Palmore EB. Ageism: Negative and Positive. 2nd Edition, Springer Publishing Company, New York, USA 1999, pp 3-18.
- National Centers for Health Statistics, Provisional COVID-19 Deaths by Sex and Age; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2020. [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://data.cdc.gov/NCHS/Provisional-COVID-19-Death-Counts-by-Sex-Age-and-S/9bhg-hcku</u> Accessed: 22.03.2021.
- Barth N, Guyot J, Fraser SA et al. COVID-19 and quarantine, a catalyst for ageism. Front Public Health 2021; 9: 589244. (PMID: 33912526)
- Turkish Ministry of Health, Coronavirus Outbreak New Measures; 2020. [Internet]. Available from: <u>https:// www.icisleri.gov.tr/koronavirus-salgini-yeni-tedbirler</u> Accessed: 21.03.2020. (in Turkish)
- Gustavsson J, Beckman L. Compliance to recommendations and mental health consequences among elderly in Sweden during the initial phase of the COV-ID-19 pandemic- a cross-sectional online survey. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 (15): 5380. (PMID: 32722624)
- 7. Lichtenstein B. From "coffin dodger" to "boomer remover": outbreaks of ageism in three countries

CONCLUSION

The COVID-19 pandemic has seriously affected and continues to affect society in terms of physical and mental health, in both direct (effect of the disease) and indirect (owing to the restrictive measures taken to prevent its spread) ways. During the pandemic, the state and health authorities need to consider the needs of more vulnerable groups, such as older individuals and psychiatric patients, when making plans and implementing preventive strategies, and ensure that these groups are minimally affected by the disease, restrictive measures, and ageist attitudes.

with divergent approaches to coronavirus control. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2021; 76 (4): 206-212. (PMID: 32719851)

- Cesari M, Proietti M. COVID-19 in Italy: ageism and decision making in a pandemic. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020; 21 (5): 576-577. (PMID: 32334771)
- Turkish Medical Association, Age discrimination should be ended in pandemic measures! [News] 2020. [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.ttb.org.</u> <u>tr/415yi6z</u>. Accessed: 22.07.2020. (in Turkish).
- Cacioppo JT, Hawkley LC, Crawford LE et al. Loneliness and health: potential mechanisms. Psychosom Med 2002; 64 (3):407–17. (PMID: 12021415)
- Cacioppo JT, Hawkley LC. Perceived social isolation and cognition. Trends Cogn Sci 2009;13(10):447–54. (PMID: 19726219)
- World Health Organization. Mental Health and Psychosocial Considerations During the COVID-19 Outbreak [Document] Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2020. [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www. who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/mental-health-considerations.pdf</u> Accessed 01.01.2022.
- Santini ZI, Jose PE, York Cornwell E et al. Social disconnectedness, perceived isolation, and symptoms of depression and anxiety among older Americans (NSHAP): a longitudinal mediation analysis. Lancet Public Health 2020; 5(1): e62–70. (PMID: 31910981)
- 14. Andrew MK, Rockwood K. Psychiatric illness in relation to frailty in community-dwelling elderly people without dementia: a report from the Canadian Study



of Health and Aging. Can J Aging 2007; 26(1):33-8. (PMID: 17430802)

- Bodner E, palgi Y, Wyman MF. Ageism in Mental Health Assessment and Treatment of Older Adults, In: Ayalon L, Tesch-Römer C (Eds). Contemporary Perspectives on Ageism: International Perspectives on Aging, Volume 19, Springer, Cham, Switzerland 2018, pp 241-262.
- Williams DR, Yan Yu, Jackson JS, Anderson NB. Racial differences in physical and mental health: socio-economic status, stress and discrimination. J Health Psychol 1997; 2 (3): 335-51. (PMID: 22013026)
- 17. Yesavage JA, Sheikh JI. Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS). Clin Gerontol 1986; 18; 5(1–2):165–73. (DOI: 10.1300/J018v05n01_09)
- Durmaz B. Validity and Reliability of Geriatric Depression Scale 15 (Short Form) in Turkish older adults. North Clin Istanb 2018; 5(3): 216–20. (PMID: 30688929) (in Turkish)
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med 2006; 166 (10): 1092-1097. (PMID: 16717171)
- 20. Konkan R, Şenormancı Ö, Güçlü O, Aydın E, Sungur MZ. Validity and Reliability Study for the Turkish

Adaptation of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) Scale. Arch Neuropsychiatry 2013; 50, 53-58. (DOI: 10.4274/npa.y6308). (in Turkish)

- Massion AO, Warshaw MG, Keller MB. Quality of life and psychiatric morbidity in panic disorder and generalized anxiety disorder. Am J Psychiatry 1993;150(4):600–7. (PMID: 8465877)
- Kim H, Bruce AT, Munn JC. Relationship between perceived ageism and depressive symptoms in later life: understanding the mediating effects of self-perception of aging and purpose in life, using structural equation modeling. Educ Gerontol 2019; 45 (2): 105-119. (DOI: 10.1080/03601277.2019.1583403)
- Rippon I, Kneale D, de Oliveira C, Demakakos P, Steptoe A. Perceived age discrimination in older adults. Age Ageing 2014; 43 (3): 379-386. (PMID: 24077751)
- 24. Yao H, Chen JH, Xu YF. Patients with mental health disorders in the COVID-19 epidemic. Lancet Psychiatry 2020; 7 (4): e21. (PMID: 32199510)
- 25. The Psychiatric Association of Turkey. COVID-19 and Stigmatization [Document]; 2021. [Internet]. Available from: https://psikiyatri.org.tr/upload-Files/243202019327-DamgalanmaCOVID.pdf Accessed: 01.04.2022. (in Turkish)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.306 2022; 25(4): 476-494

Erhan ESER ¹ ····					·D
Berna BİLGİN ŞAHİN ²					.D

Sultan ESER³

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Erhan ESER

Phone : +905324860677 e-mail : erhanese@gmail.com

Received : Nov 03, 2022 Accepted : Dec 08, 2022

- ¹ Manisa Celal Bayar University, School of Medicine, Department of Public Health, MANISA, Turkey
- ² Ministry of Health, Manisa Province Health Directorate, Public Health Services Presidency, MANISA, Turkey
- ³ Balikesir University, School of Medicine, Department of Public Health, BALIKESIR, Turkey

RESEARCH

NORMATIVE AND PSYCHOMETRIC PROPERTIES OF THE WHOQOL OLDER ADULTS MODULE (WHOQOL-OLD) IN THE NATIONAL REPOSITORY

Abstract

Introduction: The main objectives of this study were to present population norms and the construct validity of the WHOQOL-OLD using classical and modern (Rasch) psychometric analyses.

Methods: This study was conducted on the pooled data of 29 studies, 16 of which were representative of the population (n=6951). The psychometric properties of the WHOQOL-OLD were evaluated with classical (confirmatory factor analysis and multivariate regression model) and probabilistic test theory (Rasch and DIF) analyses.

Results: The mean age of the Turkish WHOQOL-OLD data pool was 73.2±6.8. The mean overall scale score was 81.27±13.57 and the range of the mean dimension scores was between 12.34 (social participation) and 14.59 (intimacy). The elderly (advanced age) and women are more sensitive to the decrease in quality-of-life (QoL) scores. Both Cronbach's alpha values and item analyses indicated good internal consistency for all dimensions. Exploratory factor analyses (EFA) generated five factors instead of a six-factor original scale structure. "Past, present, and future activities" and "social participation" were combined in a single dimension in the EFA. Confirmatory factor analyses resulted in acceptable goodness of fit indices, such as Confirmation Fit Index (CFI)=0.951 and Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA)=0.055. Turkish elders perceive the death and dying dimension as culturally closer to the culture of developing countries than developed Western cultures.

Conclusion:

Turkish older adults' QoL scores were more or less like those of other older adults in developing countries. This study's results confirm that the acceptable psychometric properties of the WHOQOL-OLD-TR with some items (items 9 and 20) need to be worked on further.

Keywords: Aged; Quality of Life; Surveys and Questionnaires; Turkey.



INTRODUCTION

Increasing rates of old age in all societies in recent years have necessitated not only objective indicators but also subjective measures such as quality of life (QoL) in order to manage the health problems and disability of the elderly. Therefore, QoL studies have been fascinating and functional for health professionals dealing with the health conditions and disabilities of the elderly. These studies help to understand and determine whether morbidity and disability in the elderly have an impact on their QoL, in order to determine which treatments are more effective, and increase life satisfaction for older adults.

It is vital that QoL instruments are valid and reliable. Additionally, it is important to ensure invariance between the validity and reliability results among the subgroups in the population. Psychometric analyses of large population samples are required to ensure the validity of the results of commonly used QoL measurement tools in the population. Data representing the population are useful not only for psychometric analysis but also for revealing the community norms of that instrument, and population norm of a QoL instrument is key to interpreting the differences between groups or individuals of different ages or genders living in the society.

The World Health Organization (WHO) developed, the older adult's module (WHOQOL-OLD) of the generic WHOQOL-BREF scale as a tool that evaluates the six elderly-specific dimensions of QoL through a multicenter and multicultural project (1). The WHOQOL-OLD was validated into Turkish on a small-scale study of older adults following the development of the instrument (2). Although various cultural validity studies of the WHOQOL-OLD have been published (3,4), the population norms of the WHOQOL-OLD scale have not yet been published in any country.

The main objectives of this study were to investigate the construct validity of the WHOQOL-OLD using classical psychometric analyses and the Rasch model and to provide normative data for the Turkish WHOQOL-OLD national data pool.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The authors -who have assisted Turkish researchers about the use and scoring of the WHOQOL-OLD module since 2008 - have obtained permission from researchers using the WHOQOL-OLD data they collected in their studies, to test the reliability and validity of the module in a larger sample and to use the scale in order to generate population norms. In this study, data (n=6951) from 29 researchers who allowed their data to be included in the national WHOQOL-OLD data pool between 2008 and 2022 were used. The studies that contributed to the data pool were evaluated in three different groups: 1) samples that are representative of the community, 2) samples obtained from nursing homes, and 3) clinical studies. Only the data of the studies representing the population of concern were used in the population norm analyses, whereas the entire data pool was used in the psychometric (reliability-validity) analyses.

WHOQOL-OLD

The WHOQOL-OLD module consists of 24 Likert scale items and six dimensions: "sensory abilities" (SAB), "autonomy" (AUT), "past, present, and future activities" (PPF), "social participation" (SOP), "death and dying" (DAD), and "intimacy" (INT). Each of the dimensions has four items, and the score range of possible values for all dimensions is between 4 and 20 (see Table 1). All 24 single items of the WHOQOL-OLD module can be combined to produce a general (overall) score for QoL in older adults. Higher scores represent higher QoL.

Statistical Analyses

Population norms are presented for the mean dimension scores and distribution properties by

age and gender. Psychometric analyses were conducted based on classical psychometric theory and Rasch analyses using both exploratory and confirmatorly approaches. Scale distribution analyses were presented using floor-ceiling effects, skewness, and kurtosis. Item analyses and internal consistency (by Cronbach's alpha value) of each of the dimensions were evaluated to explore any problematic items and the reliability of the structure of each of the six dimensions of the WHOQOL-OLD module. An alpha value \geq 0.70 indicates acceptable internal consistency of the dimension. Both item-dimension correlation coefficients smaller than 0.35 and alpha values greater than the overall alpha value of the dimension when the item is removed may indicate to a problematic item.

Construct validity was assessed by exploratory factor analysis (EFA), confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), convergent validty and known groups validity analyses. Principal component analyses using the Varimax rotation method were employed in EFA. Kaiser-Meyer Olkin (KMO) values greater than 0.5 confirm the sample size adequacy, and Eigen values greater than 1.0 indicate the factor formation in the EFA. Fit indices such as the Confirmatory Fit Index (CFI), Normed Fit Index (NFI), Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA), and chisquare/SD that were generated in CFA were used for the structural properties of the Turkish version compared to the original scale construct. CFI \geq 0.90 and RMSEA \leq 0.8 shows acceptable agreement between the original scale structure and the Turkish WHOQOL-OLD scale structure (5). Known groups validity is an approach that shows the difference in scores according to variables whose effects on scale scores are known before. Age, gender, and health condition (ill-well) were used in the known groups validity analyses by Student's t test and Cohen's effect size values.

In item analysis, item difficulty and discrimination of the scale were examined. Items were scored between 0 and 4. The difficulty and discrimination values of the items were calculated in the range of 0-1. When the difficulty value obtained is above 0.5, the response to the item (QoL) increases. In a test in which the correct answer is accompanied by distractors, item discrimination is expected to be in the range of 0.3–0.7. (Strandardized Mean Difference -SMD) (6).

In terms of item difficulty, values close to zero indicate moderate, negative values indicate that they agree with the situation expressed in the relevant item, and positive values indicate that respondents agree with the situation in the related item in a decreasing direction. Infit (weigted mean square [WMS]) and outfit (unweigted mean square [UMS]) values were examined to evaluate scale item fit. Infit shows harmony with the variation of the distribution in the item, while outfit shows the effect of the outlier values. It is desirable that these values be in the range of 0.8 to 1.2 (around 1 value) (6). Another criterion for scale compatibility in Rasch analysis is the person separation index (PSI). The PSI is a measure of how different respondents give different answers from each other. A PSI value above 1.5 refers to a sufficient fit, above 2 is good, and above 3 indicates an excellent fit (7,8). For the item separation index, it is required to be above 1.5 in the analysis at the individual level and above 2.5 in the analysis of the groups (9).

DIF analysis was used in this study to determine the bias of items for gender, age, and educational status. In the DIF analysis, Cochran Mantel Haenszel (CMH) statistics for statistical decision, Effect Size (ES) for delta statistics and sP-DIF classification were made. According to this classification, it was decided whether the items showed DIF feature or not. The CMH procedure tests for statistical significance, and like other hypothesis tests, it is influenced by sample size. Therefore, it is necessary to incorporate practical significance into the identification of DIF in polytomous items such as Likert type items. We used CMH, ES and sP-DIF. Polytomous items have a similar classification scheme, but it only involves a



consideration of practical significance. The rules follow the recommendations for the sP-DIF statistic by dividing the Strandardized Mean Difference (SMD) by the item score range. This change to the SMD limits it to values between 0 and 1. Refer to this new value of the SMD as sP-DIF. According to Dorans et al., the rules are as follows: AA" items have an sP-DIF value strictly less than 0.05; "BB" items are neither "AA" nor "CC" items; "CC" items have an sP-DIF statistic that is 0.10 or larger (10).

SPSS v. 23 was used in conventinal statistics and Exploratory Factor Analyses, JASP (Version 0.16.3 in CFA and Jmetrik for Polytomus Rasch Analysis 4.1.1. version (11) was used. Maximum type 1 error is accepted as 0.05 in all hypothesis testing analyses.

RESULTS

This research was conducted on the WHOQOL-OLD national data repository (pool), which consisted of the data of 29 different studies conducted between 2008–2021 (see Supp. Table 1). Sixteen of these studies were population-based studies (n=5156). In this paper, the normative findings of the WHO-QOL-OLD module were created by analyzing the data from population-based studies, while the validity and reliability results were produced over the entire data pool (n=6951).

All data of the WHOQOL-OLD revealed that the mean age of the data pool was 73.2±6.8; 51.2 % was female; 27.0% had no school diploma and 39.2% were primary school graduates; 56.8% were retired; 91.8% had social security and 75.7% were ill (see Supp. Table 2).

Standardized scores for the six dimensions of the WHOQOL-OLD by age group and gender are presented in Table 1. The mean WHOQOL-OLD overall score was 81.27±13.57, and the range of the mean dimension scores were between 12.34 (social participation) and 14.59 (intimacy). The range of the mean overall WHOQOL-OLD scores was between 10.86 (social participation) and 14.59 (intimacy) in women and 10.87 (social participation) and 15.21 (death and dying) in men. The mean overall scale score range was between 77.89 (age group 80-84) and 79.91 (age group 70-74) in women and 79.44 (age 90+) and 83.20 (age group 70-74) in men. As age increases, women are more sensitive than men to decreasing QoL scores.

Psychometric analyses of the WHOQOL-OLD national data pool consist of distribution characteristics, item analyses, reliability, and validity analyses. The distribution properties, item analyses, and the internal consistency of the dimensions are presented in Table 2. Floor and ceiling effects were within acceptable limits for all dimensions except for the death and dying dimension, which had a borderline ceiling effect (16.1%), if we consider the upper acceptable limit as 15.0% for ceiling effect. On the other hand, skewness, and kurtosis values were all within acceptable limits for all the dimensions.

Alpha values of the WHOQOL-OLD dimensions were all over 0.70, indicating good internal consistency. Items 9, 14, 20, and 21, which have limited contribution to internal consistency (those items whose alpha value calculated by their removal was higher than the total alpha value of the dimension they belong to), were all associated with a correlation coefficient higher than 0.35 with the dimension score to which they belong. Construct validity of the WHQOL-OLD-TR was evaluated by factorial validity, convergent validity, and known groups validity analyses.

Exploratory factor analyses generated five factors instead of a six-factor original scale structure. Past, present, and future activities and social participation dimensions were united under the same dimension. The remaining items were all distributed under their original dimensions (*see Supp. Table 3*).

The Fit Indices of the five factor structure that emerged in the exploratory factor analyses are as follows: CFI=0.94, NFI=0.94, RMSEA=0.062, on the other hand, the CFA of the original six-dimension structure showed acceptable goodness of fit indiГ

				WOI	MEN					M	EN			Overall
Domain	Age groups	65-69 n:1123	70-74 n:613	75-79 n:479	80-84 n:245	85-89 n:114	>90 n:44	65-69 n:918	70-74 n:591	75-79 n:447	80-84 n:312	85-89 n:118	>90 n:32	sample n:5156
Sensory Abilities	Mean score SD Floor (%) Ceiling (%) Skewness Kurtosis	13.46 2.80 0.4 0.2 -0.535 0.102	13.43 2.77 0.3 0.2 -0.324 -0.420	13.53 2.78 0.2 0.4 -0.114 -0.806	12.93 2.90 0.4 1.2 -0.074 -0.409	13.03 2.70 1.8 1.8 -0.183 -0.925	13.14 2.90 4.5 4.5 0.020 -1.134	13.63 3.00 0.4 0.7 -600 -0.061	13.79 2.85 0.5 1.0 -0.543 -0.035	13.73 2.80 0.2 0.4 -0.392 -0.436	13.61 2.97 0.6 0.6 -0.353 -0.530	13.25 3.01 0.8 0.8 -0.249 -0.846	13.19 2.44 3.1 6.3 -0.232 -0.984	13.56 2.85 0.3 0.4 -0.431 -0.264
Autonomy	Mean score SD Floor (%) Ceiling (%) Skewness Kurtosis	13.36 3.16 0.4 1.5 -0.089 -0.275	13.21 3.31 0.7 2.1 -0.125 -0.346	13.00 3.29 0.4 1.3 -0.148 -0.434	12.83 3.37 1.2 2.9 0.076 -0.518	12.60 3.29 1.8 2.6 0.135 -0.271	12.48 3.79 4.5 4.5 0.200 -0.781	14.23 2.86 0.1 2.7 -0.084 -0.293	14.07 3.11 0.3 4.4 -0.230 0.062	13.70 3.05 0.2 3.4 -0.095 -0.212	13.34 3.06 0.3 1.9 0.029 -0.133	13.64 3.14 1.7 4.2 0.137 -0.075	13.44 3.38 3.1 6.3 0.233 -0.159	13.58 3.18 0.3 2.7 -0.129 -0.273
Past, Present and Future Activities	Mean score SD Floor (%) Ceiling (%) Skewness Kurtosis	13.01 3.15 0.4 2.0 -0.200 -0.131	12.90 3.41 0.5 2.1 -0.179 -0.365	13.06 3.32 0.4 2.5 -0.176 -0.365	12.65 3.45 0.4 1.6 -0.051 -0.415	13.02 3.62 0.9 3.5 -0.012 -0.632	13.00 3.97 2.3 6.8 -0.189 -0.548	13.73 2.83 0.7 2.4 -0.123 -0.289	13.47 3.33 0.8 2.9 -0.272 -0.171	13.44 3.22 0.2 2.0 -0.217 -0.355	12.88 3.22 0.6 1.6 -0.145 -0.373	13.45 3.26 0.8 3.4 -0.072 -0.382	12.59 3.27 3.1 3.1 -0.091 0.351	13.26 3.23 0.4 2.3 -0.213 -0.258
Social Participation	Mean score SD Floor (%) Ceiling (%) Skewness Kurtosis	12.60 3.15 0.3 2.0 0.045 -0.265	12.30 3.38 1.0 1.6 -0.123 -0.372	12.08 3.49 1.7 1.5 -0.034 -0.466	11.39 3.38 1.6 0.4 0.091 -0.680	11.17 3.61 0.9 0.9 0.112 -0.653	10.86 3.83 4.5 2.3 0.086 -0.545	12.93 3.01 0.3 1.5 -0.165 -0.097	12.48 3.27 0.8 1.5 -0.130 -0.103	12.32 3.31 1.1 2.0 -0.018 -0.195	11.46 3.16 1.3 0.6 0.094 -0.254	11.58 3.31 4.2 0.8 -0.175 -0.167	10.87 3.18 3.1 3.1 0.231 0.323	12.34 3.29 0.9 1.5 -0.072 -0.296
Death and Dying	Mean score SD Floor (%) Ceiling (%) Skewness Kurtosis	12.59 4.90 9.7 11.0 -0.158 -1.040	13.81 4.67 4.6 16.0 -0.365 -0.940	13.64 4.90 6.5 17.3 -0.352 -0.979	13.95 4.73 4.9 15.1 -0.480 -0.809	14.02 4.66 4.4 16.7 -0.397 -0.859	14.43 5.22 11.4 18.2 -0.753 -0.515	13.89 4.84 5.3 17.5 -0.411 -0.931	14.45 4.83 5.1 20.8 -0.605 -0.772	14.73 4.50 2.9 19.5 -0.602 -0.697	15.21 4.55 2.9 23.4 -0.768 -0.541	15.14 4.45 3.4 21.2 -0.798 -0.299	15.06 4.09 6.3 15.6 -0.925 -0.054	13.92 4.86 5.8 18.0 -0.428 -0.933
Intimacy	Mean score SD Floor (%) Ceiling (%) Skewness Kurtosis	14.50 3.34 0.6 8.9 -0.424 -0.127	14.25 3.52 0.8 8.6 -0.358 -0.327	14.45 3.49 0.4 12.7 -0.144 -0.549	14.13 3.49 0.8 6.5 -0.476 -0.184	14.59 3.50 1.8 10.5 -0.522 -0.230	14.41 3.80 2.3 6.8 -0.541 -0.240	14.73 3.00 0.4 8.5 -0.445 0.397	14.93 3.27 0.3 13.5 -0.368 -0.125	14.53 3.33 0.4 8.3 -0.436 -0.176	14.20 3.01 0.3 5.4 -0.256 -0.241	14.61 3.05 0.8 7.6 -0.404 0.039	14.28 4.27 6.3 15.6 -0.630 -0.194	14.59 3.33 0.5 10.0 -0.395 -0.142
Overall	Mean score SD Floor (%) Ceiling (%) Skewness Kurtosis Min. Percentiles	79.50 13.30 0.1 0.1 -0.082 -0.181 40.00	79.91 14.34 0.2 0.3 -0.047 -0.452 36.00	79.76 14.34 0.2 0.2 -0.026 -0.218 35.00	77.89 14.62 0.4 0.4 -0.074 -0.324 40.00	78.42 14.61 0.9 0.9 0.044 -0.706 47.00	78.32 16.06 2.3 2.3 0.134 -1.022 25.00	83.14 12.28 0.1 0.1 0.026 -0.463 52.00	83.20 13.33 0.2 0.2 -0.164 0.231 37.00	82.45 12.86 0.2 0.4 0.155 -0.343 51.00	80.72 12.00 0.3 0.3 0.007 0.063 45.00	81.69 13.41 0.8 0.8 -0.118 -0.304 44.00	79.44 11.50 3.1 3.1 0.229 -0.442 58.00	81.27 13.57 0.00 -0.073 -0.239 35.00
	20 30 40 50 60 70 80	63.00 69.00 72.00 77.00 80.00 83.00 83.00 87.00 91.00 97.00	61.00 67.00 72.00 76.00 80.00 84.00 88.00 92.00	61.00 68.00 72.00 75.00 80.00 84.00 87.00 92.00 92.00	58.00 65.00 70.80 74.00 78.00 82.00 86.00 91.00 96.40	58.50 65.00 70.50 74.00 78.00 84.00 86.50 92.00 92.00	57.00 62.00 68.50 72.00 76.00 83.00 90.50 94.00	67.00 72.00 76.00 79.00 83.00 86.00 90.00 94.00	67.00 72.40 76.00 80.00 83.00 87.00 90.00 94.00	71.00 75.00 79.00 82.00 85.00 85.00 93.00 93.00	70.00 74.90 78.00 81.00 83.00 87.00 91.00 96.00	63.90 71.00 74.00 78.60 82.00 84.00 89.30 93.20 101.10	63.30 68.20 73.90 76.00 79.00 81.80 86.00 89.60 95.70	70.00 74.00 78.00 81.00 85.00 89.00 93.00
	Max.	113.00	114.00	117.00	114.00	110.00	110.00	119.00	120.00	116.00	115.00	110.00	104.00	120.00

Table 1. Standardized scores for the six domains of the WHOQOL-OLD Turkish data pool. by age groups and gender (n=5156)* 1

*Population representative data



			-					
Domain	Mean (SD)	n (SD) Floor (%) Ceiling (%) Skewness Kurtosis Cronbach's alpha (CI 95%)						If Item Deleted Cronbach's Alpha values
Sensory Abilities	14.04 (3.96)	0.8	7.6	-0.279	-	-		
	Item 1 (Impair	ments to se	nses)				0.845	0.841
	Item 2 (Loss o	f sensory ab	oilities)				0.852	0.838
	Item 10 (Probl	ems with se	ensory fund	ctioning)			0.788	0.863
	Item 20 (Rate	sensory fur	0.616	0.921				
Autonomy	13.54 (3.24)	0.2	2.5	-0.143	-0.258	0.744 (0.734-0.754)	-	-
	Item 3 (Freedo	om to make	own decis	sions)			0.600	0.651
	Item 4 (Feel in	control of	0.543	0.683				
Item 4 (Feel in control of your future) Item 5 (People around you are respectful of your freedom)							0.534	0.688
	Item 11 (Able	to do thing	s you'd lik	e)			0.477	0.719
Past, Present and Future Activities	13.28 (3.24)	0.4	-	-				
	Item 12 (Satisf	ied with op	0.672	0.747				
	Item 13 (Recei	ived the rec	0.632	0.767				
	Item 15 (Satisf	ied with wh	0.671	0.748				
	Item 19 (Happ	y with thing		0.561	0.801			
Social Participa- tion	12.35 (3.32)	1.0	-	-				
	Item 14 (Have	e enough to	do each d	day)		0.473	0.816	
	Item 16 (Satisf	ied with the	0.693	0.714				
	Item 17 (Satisf	ied with lev	0.738	0.688				
	Item 18 (Satisf	ied with op	0.572	0.773				
Death and Dying	13.98 (4.62)	4.7	16.1	-0.448	-0.786	0.890 (0.875-0.884)	-	-
	Item 6 (Conce	rned about	the way y	ou will die)			0.815	0.818
	Item 7 (Afraid	of not bein	0.843	0.806				
	Item 8 (Scared	l of dying)	0.813	0.817				
	Item 9 (Fear p	ain before	0.521	0.931				
İntimacy	14.49 (3.34)	-0.403	-	-				
	Item 21 (Feel	a sense of	companio	nship in life	e)		0.746	0.914
	Item 22 (Expe	rience love	0.837	0.881				
	Item 23 (Oppo	ortunities to	love)				0.826	0.885
	Item 24 (Oppo	ortunities to	be loved)				0.827	0.885
Overall	81.71 (14.57)	0.0	0.0	-0.139	-0.233	-	-	-

Table 2. Item analyses and internail consistency of the WHOQOL-OLD-TR (n= 6951)*

*overall data pool

	Total Score	Sensory Abilities	Autonomy	Past, Present and Future Activities	Social Partici- pation	Death and Dying	İntimacy
Total Score	1.000						
Sensory Abilities	0.643	1.000					
Autonomy	0.725	0.323	1.000				
Past, Present and Future Activities	0.810	0.340	0.667	1.000			
Social Participation	0.747	0.343	0.575	0.716	1.000		
Death and Dying	0.482	0.252	0.080	0.141	0.069	1.000	
İntimacy	0.726	0.299	0.513	0.629	0.528	0.142	1.000

Table 3. Correlation matrix (convergence) among the domains of the WHOQOL-OLD.

ces such as CFI=0.95, NFI=0.96, and RMSEA=0.055 for the comparison of the WHOQOL-Old-TR and the original scale structure (Supp. Figure 1).

Convergence of the dimensions among each other is presented in table 3. Past, Present and Future Activities, Autonomy, Social Participation and intimacy dimensions show high convergence among themselves whreas Sensory Abilities and Death and Dying dimensions did not any significantly.

Known groups' validity analyses tested the effect of age, gender, and health condition of the respondents. The greatest Cohen's effect size figure was obtained in the social participation dimension for age in favor of the younger age group. In death and dying and autonomy dimensions for gender in favor of men, and in the social participation dimension for health condition in favor of "well" respondents. Past, present, and future activities and intimacy dimensions were not statistically sensitive to age; intimacy was not statistically sensitive to gender; and autonomy was not statistically sensitive to health status as a result of the Known Groups Analyses (p<0.001) (table 4).

Differential item functioning analyses and Rasch analysis are presented in Table 5. According to the item analyses, the item difficulty values ranged from 0.48 to 0.68. The discrimination values of the items were between 0.49 and 0.90. For all items, both item difficulties and discrimination were at stable levels. The range of item reliability values were 0.98–0.99, and person reliability values were between 0.77–0.87 for all dimensions. Item discrimination index scores were between 8.70–28.73, and person discrimination index scores were between 8.70–28.73, and person discrimination index scores were between 8.70–28.73, and person discrimination index scores were in the range of 1.84–2.63. Person reliability was 0.91, and item reliability was 0.99 as the goodness of fit reliability criterion for the entire scale in Rasch analyses. The PSI was 3.18 and the item separation index was 22.50. On the other hand, infit values were between 0.61 and 1.70, and outfit values were between 0.58 and 1.82 (table 5).

When the results of DIF analysis and MH chisquare analysis were evaluated together in terms of classification, it was understood that the items did not have DIF in terms of gender, age, and educational status: sP-DIF value strictly less than 0.05 indication no DIF for all of the items of the WHO-QOL-OLD (table 5). Item characteristic curves (ICC) are presented in Supplementary Figure 2. The distribution of the responses of the intimacy scale revealed fewer than five descriptors for all items (Supp. Figure 2).



		Age			Gender		Health Condition				
	65-74 (n:4215)	75 and over (n:2736)	ES * (%)	Women (n:3496)	Men (n:3335)	ES * (%)	Well (n:1304)	III (n:4059)	ES * (%)		
Sensory Abilities	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	17.2	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	7.8	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	18.2		
Autonomy	13.7(3.1)***	13.3(3.2)***	11.2	13.2(3.2)***	13.8(3.0)***	21.5	13.5(3.0)	13.3(3.1)	-		
Past, Present and Fu- ture Activities	13.3(3.2)	13.2(3.3)	-	13.0(3.3)***	13.5(3.1)***	13.3	13.3(3.2)***	12.9(3.2)***	13.6		
Social Participation	12.7(3.2)***	11.8(3.4)***	24.7	12.2(3.4)**	12.4(3.2)**	5.1	12.6(3.2)***	12.0(3.3)***	16.6		
Death and Dying	13.6(4.7)***	14.5(4.5)***	18.8	13.4(4.7)***	14.4(4.5)***	22.5	14.4(4.4)***	13.8(4.8)***	11.5		
İntimacy	14.5(3.3)	14.4(3.4)	-	14.4(3.4)	14.5(3.2)	-	14.5(3.1)**	14.3(3.4)**	6.0		
Total Score	82.2(14.3)**	80.9(14.9)**	8.6	80.1(15.0)***	82.8(13.8)***	18.8	82.7(13.1)***	80.1(14.9)***	18.1		

Table 4. Known Groups Validity

* Cohen's d (as an effect size method) is defined as the difference between two means divided by a standard deviation for the data. Effects size 0.2 refers to a weak effect; 0.5 to moderate effect; 0.8 refers to good effect and values above 1.0 refers to very satisfactory effect.

p<0.05, *p<0.001

DISCUSSION

Although some articles have been published about the norm values of the WHOQOL in the literature, as far as we know, no article has been published on the norm values of WHOQOL-OLD, which was developed as the older adults' module of the WHO-QOL-Bref in any community or country. For this reason, the only option was to compare the norm value we produced in this study with the data of population-based studies using the WHOQOL-OLD module for different purposes in the literature. In all dimensions, higher dimension scores were obtained in males than females in all age groups except aged 90 years and older. The social participation dimension score decreased after the age of 80 for both men and women, while the autonomy dimension score dropped significantly after the age of 85 only for women.

The dimension scores obtained in this study were like the scores of the WHOQOL-OLD Turkish validation study (2) and were lower than the scores obtained in developed societies (12-14), whereas

closer dimension scores were obtained with the other developing countries such as India, Iran, Brazil, and Mexico (15-18). When we compared the dimension scores obtained from this study with the findings of the multicenter international development study published by Power et al. (1), the mean dimension scores we obtained were lower than the scores obtained from the international study in all dimensions except the intimacy dimension, which is about the same as in the development study. The highest dimension score was the intimacy dimension score, which was close to or higher than that obtained in different cultures as well (12,13,16, 19-21). During the development of WHOQOL-OLD, it is noteworthy that the death and dying dimension score, which is sensitive to different cultures, was lower than most Western cultures but higher than that of Eastern cultures (16,22,23,15). Previous studies have shown that, death is perceived differently in Eastern and Western societies (24). In this respect, the fact that our death and dying dimension score was between Western and Eastern societies is consistent with Turkey's geographical and cultur-

		Item Analysis		Rasch Analysis in Dimentions				DIF Analyses									
s			(ltem - Person Reliability	ltem – Person Separation Index	Sex (male-female)			Age (65to74-75to94)			Education(graduated*-not)		
Dimention	Item Numbers	Item difficulty (0-1)	Discrimination (0-	Difficulty by dimentions	Infit	Outfit			X2	E.S.[95% CI]	Class	X ²	E.S.[95% CI]	Class	X²	E.S.[95% CI]	Class
Sensory Abilities	Q1	0.65	0.89	-0.30	0.69	0.65	0.99 - 0.87	28.73 - 2.63	7.49 ^b	0.03(0.01, 0.05)	AA	11.68 ^b	0.04(0.02, 0.06)	AA	3.28ª	0.02(-0.00, 0.05)	AA
	Q2	0.65	0.90	-0.31	0.65	0.58			0.32ª	-0.01(-0.03, 0.02)	AA	5.33 ^b	0.03(0.00, 0.05)	AA	1.40ª	-0.01(-0.04, 0.01)	AA
	Q10	0.67	0.84	-0.49	0.93	0.85			0.70ª	0.01(-0.01, 0.04)	AA	1.32ª	0.01(-0.01, 0.04)	AA	7.65 ^b	-0.04(-0.07, -0.01)	AA
	Q20	0.54	0.64	1.10	1.70	1.82			5.20 ^b	-0.04(-0.07, -0.01)	AA	25.48 ^b	-0.08(-0.11, -0.05)	AA	3.56ª	0.03(-0.00, 0.07)	AA
Autonomy	Q3	0.68	0.63	-0.51	0.84	0.81	0.99 – 0.77	21.22 - 1.84	17.21 ^b	0.06(0.03, 0.09)	AA	11.82 ^b	0.05(0.02, 0.08)	AA	3.18	0.03(-0.00, 0.07)	AA
	Q4	0.52	0.56	0.44	1.01	1.02			0.07ª	0.01(-0.03, 0.04)	AA	4.95 ^b	-0.04(-0.07, -0.01)	AA	0.03	0.00(-0.03, 0.04)	AA
	Q5	0.64	0.56	-0.19	1.00	0.99			10.91 ^b	-0.05(-0.09, -0.02)	AA	1.94ª	0.02(-0.01, 0.06)	AA	0.50	0.02(-0.03, 0.06)	AA
	Q11	0.55	0,49	0.25	1.16	1.18			0.45ª	-0.01(-0.05, 0.02)	AA	4.85 ^b	-0.04(-0.08, -0.01)	AA	5.96	-0.05(-0.10, -0.01)	AA
Past, Present and Future Activities	Q12	0.56	0.70	0.16	0.90	0.90	0.99 – 0.83	17.76 - 2.20	6.80 ^b	0.04(0.01, 0.07)	AA	0.61ª	0.01(-0.02, 0.04)	AA	3.80	-0.03(-0.06, 0.01)	AA
	Q13	0.62	0.66	-0.35	0.99	0.98			10.04 ^b	-0.04(-0.07, -0.02)	AA	15.71 ^b	0.06(0.03, 0.09)	AA	0.36	-0.02(-0.05, 0.02)	AA
	Q15	0.62	0.70	-0.31	0.89	0.88			1.94ª	0.02(-0.01, 0.05)	AA	6.52 ^b	0.03(0.01, 0.06)	AA	7.76	0.05(0.02, 0.08)	AA
	Q19	0.52	0.58	-0.50	1.22	1.24			0.41ª	-0.01(-0.04, 0.02)	AA	39.58 ^b	-0.10(-0.14, -0.07)	AA	0.03	-0.00(-0.04, 0.03)	AA
Social Participation	Q14	0.48	0.49	0.30	1.39	1.40	0.99 – 0.81	13.76 - 2.13	71.69 ^b	-0.16(-0.19, -0.12)	AA	71.82 ^b	-0.16(-0.20, -0.12)	AA	0.01	-0.00(-0.04, 0.04)	AA
	Q16	0.57	0.72	-0.36	0.80	0.80			19.31 ^b	0.06(0.03, 0.08)	AA	30.94 ^b	0.08(0.05, 0.10)	AA	7.42	-0.04(-0.07, -0.01)	AA
	Q17	0.54	0.77	-0.13	0.69	0.69			1.99ª	0.02(-0.01, 0.04)	AA	33.66 ^b	0.07(0.05, 0.10)	AA	0.00	-0.00(-0.03, 0.03)	AA
	Q18	0.50	0.59	0.18	1.11	1.12			20.18 ^b	0.08(0.04, 0.11)	AA	0.11ª	0.11(-0.03, 0.04)	AA	4.19	0.04(0.00, 0.08)	AA
Death and Dying	Q6	0.65	0.87	-0.19	0.75	0.76	0.99 – 0.79	26.53 - 1.93	0.27ª	-0.01(-0.03, 0.02)	AA	0.12ª	-0.00(-0.03, 0.02)	AA	3.33	-0.03(-0.06, 0.00)	AA
	Q7	0.67	0.91	-0.29	0.61	0.60			5.82 ^b	-0.03(-0.05, -0.01)	AA	0.42 ^a	-0.01(-0.03, 0.01)	AA	0.26	-0.01(-0.04, 0.02)	AA
	Q8	0.68	0.89	-0.33	0.69	0.67			0.00ª	-0.00(-0.03, 0.03)	AA	2.18ª	0.02(-0.01, 0.04)	AA	4.53	0.03(0.00, 0.07)	AA
	Q9	0.50	0.55	0.81	1.88	1.82			3.18ª	0.04(-0.00, 0.08)	AA	0.12ª	-0.00(-0.05, 0.04)	AA	0.01	0.00(-0.05, 0.05)	AA
İntimacy	Q21	0.63	0.79	0.40	1.35	1.24	0.98 – 0.86	8.70 – 2.57	31.30 ^b	0.06(0.04, 0.09)	AA	14.43 ^b	-0.04(-0.07, -0.02)	AA	14.48	-0.05(-0.08, -0.03)	AA
	Q22	0.66	0.89	-0.04	0.84	0.74			1.57ª	0.01(-0.01, 0.03)	AA	0.06ª	0.00(-0.02, 0.02)	AA	4.14	-0.02(-0.05, -0.00)	AA
	Q23	0.67	0.88	-0.30	0.88	0.78			9.04 ^b	-0.03(-0.05, -0.01)	AA	4.78 ^b	0.02(0.00, 0.04)	AA	15.49	0.05(0.02, 0.07)	AA
	Q24	0.66	0.88	-0.06	0.90	0.80			24.98 ^b	-0.05(-0.07, -0.03)	AA	5.19 ^b	0.02(0.00, 0.04)	AA	7.70	0.03(0.01, 0.06)	AA

 Table 5. WHOQOL-OLD Rasch & Differential Item Functioning Analysis

*at least primary school graduate Item Reliability=0.99 Person Reliability=0.91 Item Separation Index=22.50 Person Separation Index=3.18

a: p>0,05 b: p<0,05 E.S.[95% CI]: Effect Size [95% Confidence Interval] Class: DIF analysis classification, AA: No-DIF



al characteristics as a transitional culture between East and West. As a matter of fact, the absence of any item from the death and dying dimension in the short version (WHOQOL-AGE), in which the WHO-QOL-OLD and the main scale WHOQOL-BREF were combined, indicates that this dimension differs at the global level (25).

Considering the distribution characteristics of the WHOQOL-OLD dimension scores and the total scale score, floor and ceiling effects were within acceptable limits in all dimensions, except for the death and dying dimension. The death and dying dimension showed a 16% ceiling effect, which is slightly above the acceptable upper limit of 15%. The distribution of all dimensions of the scale conforms to the normal distribution in the context of skewness (<1.0) and kurtosis (close to 0.0). The alpha values indicating the internal consistency of the WHOQOL-OLD dimensions were between 0.74-0.90, which is quite satisfactory in agreement with many previous studies using the WHOQOL-OLD module (2,12,1,22,26). When the "if item deleted alpha values" were evaluated, the 20th item in the sensory abilities dimension, the 14th item in the social participation dimension, the 9th item in the death and dying dimension, and the 21st item in the intimacy dimension negatively affected internal consistency of the dimensions they were in. However, the correlations of these potentially problematic items (based on the results of alpha analyses) with the dimension scores they belonged to, were in the range of 0.47–0.75, which is guite satisfactory. According to the Turkish national WHOQOL-OLD data pool analysis, some items (i.e., items 9 and 20) that seemed to be potentially problematic were also found to be problematic items as a result of the analysis of Turkey data in the development phase of the scale (2). Similar results were obtained for items 9 and 20 in the Rash analyses, which gave infit and outfit values far from 1.0 (1.88/1.82 for Q9; 1.70/1.82 for Q20, respectively, for infit and outfit values presented in Table 5). These two items were sound

in terms of the infit values in the German WHO-QOL-OLD validation study (26).

Classical construct validity analyses consisted of factor analyses, convergent-divergent analyses and known groups validity analyses. According to the results of the correlation matrix of the dimensions, the highest correlated dimension with the overall scale score was the past present and future activities dimension, which was reported as a key facet of QoL with strong interconnections to other QoL facets by Brinkhof et al (13). The past, present, and future activities dimension gave high collinearity (VIF value was higher than 2.0) with other dimensions in the linear regression analysis (not presented here), and the items of this dimension combined with the items of the social participation dimension to form a single dimension in the explanatory factor analysis. This makes one think that the activities of the past, present, and future are close to social participation by older Turkish adults. On the other hand, the pooled data of the Turkish version of WHOQOL-OLD showed that the Turkish version fits with the original scale structure (CFI and NFI> 0.90 and RMSEA <0.08) very well.

All of the dimensions of the WHOQOL-OLD could discriminate between younger and older age, male and female, and ill and well significantly except for the intimacy dimension, which was only sensitive to the health condition of the participant. The intimacy dimension score was higher than all other dimension scores, and it seems that older Turkish adults have been homogeneously distributed in society in terms of intimacy. The effect size values indicated that while the age of the person mostly affects the social participation and death and dying dimensions, the gender of the older adult highly affects autonomy and death and dying dimensions. Overall scale scores were significantly lower in females than in males, and lower in ill older adults than those are well.

It is an expected situation that has been shown in the literature that women have lower QoL scores

than men, the poor than the wealthy, and the ill than well (27). Hence, the disadvantaged situation of women compared to men in terms of the autonomy and death and dying dimension scores was very striking in this study.

When the results of the item analysis were examined, the item difficulty values were between 0.48 and 0.68, and the item discrimination values of the items were between 0.49 and 0.90, indicating acceptable values (all between 0.0-1.0) for all of the items. The distribution of item reliability values was between 0.98-0.99, and the distribution of person reliability values was between 0.77–0.87. Thus, both the PSI and the item separation index exhibited a sufficient discrimination. The item difficulty values were distributed close to zero for each item which indicates that all items had moderate difficulty values. On the other hand, the distribution of infit and outfit values were around 1.0, except for items 9 and 20, which were the potential problematic items of the WHOQOL-OLD-TR as mentioned above.

In the DIF analysis of each item for gender, age, and educational status, MH chi-square values were found to be nonsignificant in some items and significant in others, while the effect sizes calculated for these were found to be at low levels. For statistical significance in DIF analysis, ES (95%CI) was used and sP-DIF classification were made for delta statistics because chi-square statistics is affected by big sample sizes as in this study (11).

To conclude, WHOQOL-OLD Turkish norm values showed that in all dimensions, higher dimension scores were obtained in males than females in all age groups except 90 years and older. The social participation dimension score decreased after the age of 80 for both men and women, while the autonomy dimension score dropped significantly after the age of 85 only for women. Turkish older adults' QoL perceptions are considerably poorer than those of living in Western countries and more or less like other older adults in developing countries. Classical psychometric analyses of the Turkish WHOQOL-OLD repository data showed good internal consistency and generated acceptable fit values with the original scale structure. The Turkish version of the overall WHOQOL-OLD module can be considered as a valid and reliable scale suitable for application in the field of health. Nevertheless, the dimensions past, present, and future activities and social participation were combined in a single dimension in the exploratory factor analyses. The death and dying dimension and items 9 and 20 of the Turkish WHOQOL-OLD version showed weak psychometric properties that need further work (i.e., retranslation and/or cultural adaptation).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, we would like to express our sincere gratitude to the esteemed authors Aliye Mandıracıoğlu, Aliye Mavili Aktaş, Asiye Durmaz Akyol, Aslı Uçar, Aylin Sena Beliner, Aysun Güzel, Aysun Uysal Toraman, Ayşe Karan, Ayşe Semra Demir Akça, Banu Bedir, Elif Okşan Çalıkoğlu, Elvan Keleş, Fatih Kara, Fatma Nevin Şahin, Gizem Uzun, Gönül Gürbüz, Gülengül Mermer, Hamdi Nezih Dağdeviren, Handan Sezgin, Hande Şahin, Hatice Kübra Güzeldere, Hilal Şimşek, Hülya Doğan, Hülya Donat Tuna, İbrahim Engin Şimşek, İsmail Özsoy, Meral Aksoy, Mine Pekesen Kurtça, Mustafa Cemali, Nevin Doğan, Nihal Bakar, Nilay Ercan Şahin, Nuray Kırdı, Nursen İlçin, Nurten Eskiyurt, Oya Nuran Emiroğlu, Ömer Şenormancı, Özge Cemali, Rabia Hacıhasanoğlu Aşılar, Recep Yağcıoğlu, Saide Faydalı, Selin Küçükkaya, Semra Akar Şahingöz, Serkan Pekçetin, Songül Göriş, Şennur Dabak, Tolunay Keskin, Zafer Erden, Zeynep Bulut Doğan who generously allowed us to nationally pool the data used in the study. This study could not have happened without their very valuable data share.



REFERENCES

- Power M, Quinn K, Schmidt S; WHOQOL-OLD Group. Development of the WHOQOL-old module. Qual Life Res. 2005;14(10):2197-214. (PMID: 16328900).
- Eser S, Saatlı G, Eser E, Baydur H. and Fidaner C. The Reliability and Validity of the Turkish Version of the World Health Organization Quality of Life Instrument-Older Adults Module (WHOQOL-Old). *Turkish Journal of Psychiatry*, 2010; *21*(1):37-48. (in Turkish) (PMID: 20204903)
- Fleck MP, Chachamovich E. and Trentini C. "Development and validation of the Portuguese version of the WHOQOL-OLD module." *Revista de Saúde Pública*, 2006;40(5):785-791.(DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-89102006000600007</u>).
- Halvorsrud L, Kalfoss M, and Diseth Å. Reliability and validity of the Norwegian WHOQOL-OLD module. Scandinavian journal of caring sciences 2008;22(2): 292-305. (DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6712.2007.00523.x</u>).
- Browne MW. and Cudeck R. Alternative ways of assessing model fit. In K. A. Bollen and J. S. Long (Eds.). Testing structural equation models. Newbury Park, CA: Sage, 1993, pp:136–162.
- 6. Smith RM, Schumacker RE. and Bush MJ. Using item mean squares to evaluate fit to the Rasch model. J Outcome Meas. 1998;2(1):66-78. (PMID: 9661732).
- Duncan PW, Bode RK, Min Lai S and Perera S. (2003). Rasch analysis of a new stroke-specific outcome scale: the stroke impact scale. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation,2003; 84(7), 950-963. (DOI:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9993(03)00035-</u>2)
- Boone WJ, Staver JR and Yale MS. Person Reliability, Item Reliability, and More. In: William J. Boone, John R. Staver and Melissa S. Yale (Eds.), Rasch Analysis in the Human Sciences. Springer, Dordrecht, Netherlands 2014, pp. 217-234.
- Tennant A, Conaghan PG. The Rasch measurement model in rheumatology: what is it and why use it? When should it be applied, and what should one look for in a Rasch paper?.Arthritis Care & Research, 2007; 57(8), 1358-1362. (DOI:0.1002/art.23108)
- Dorans NJ, Schmitt AP and Belistein CA. The standardization approach to assessing comprehensive differential item functioning. Journal of Educational Measurement, 1992; 29, 309–319.(DOI:https://doi.

org/10.1111/j.1745-3984.1992.tb00379.x)

- 11. Meyer JP. Applied Measurement with jMetrik. 1st edition. New York:Routledge, 2014 pp:74-75. (DOI: https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203115190).
- Gobbens RJJ and Van Assen, MALM. Psychometric properties of the Dutch WHOQOL-OLD. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2016;14(103). (DOI: <u>https://doi. org/10.1186/s12955-016-0508-5</u>)
- Brinkhof LP, Huth KBS, Murre JMJ, de Wit S, Krugers HJ. and Ridderinkhof KR. The Interplay Between Quality of Life and Resilience Factors in Later Life: A Network Analysis. Front Psychol. 2021; 12:752564. (PMID: 34867644).
- Hussenoeder FS, Conrad I, Roehr S. et al. Mild cognitive impairment and quality of life in the oldest old: a closer look.Qual Life Res; 2020;29,1675–1683. (DOI:https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-020-02425-5)
- Amonkar P; Mankar MJ, Thatkar P, Sawardekar P., Goel R. and Anjenaya S. A Comparative Study of Health Status and Quality of Life of Elderly People Living in Old Age Homes and within Family Setup in Raigad District, Maharashtra. Indian Journal of Community Medicine: 2018; 43(1), 10-13. (PMID: <u>29531431</u>).
- Rezaeipandari H, Morowatisharifabad MA, Mohammadpoorasl A, and Shaghaghi A. Cross-cultural adaptation and psychometric validation of the World Health Organization quality of life-old module (WHOQOL-OLD) for Persian-speaking populations. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020;11;18(1):67. (PMID: 32160912).
- Sánchez-García S, García-Peña C, Salvà A, et al. Frailty in community-dwelling older adults: association with adverse outcomes. Clin Interv Aging. 2017;12:1003-1011. (PMID: 28721028).
- Campos ACV, Ferreira e Ferreira E, Vargas AMD and Albala C. Aging, Gender and Quality of Life (AGEQOL) study: factors associated with good quality of life in older Brazilian community-dwelling adults. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2014;12:166. (PMID: 25433521).
- Bolina AF, Araújo MDC, Haas VJ, Tavares DMDS. Association between living arrangement and quality of life for older adults in the community. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem. 2021;29:e3401. (PMID: 33439953).
- Chantakeeree C, Sormunen M, , Estola M, Jullamate P, and Turunen H. Factors Affecting Quality of Life among Older Adults with Hypertension in Urban and Rural Areas in Thailand: A Cross-Sectional Study. The

International Journal of Aging and Human Development 2022; 95(2): 222–244. (PMID: 34931879).

- Liu H, Han X, Xiao Q, Li S, Feldman MW. Family structure and quality of life of elders in rural China: the role of the new rural social pension. J Aging Soc Policy. 2015;27(2):123-38. (PMID: 25356822).
- Liu R, Wu S, Hao Y et al. The Chinese version of the world health organization quality of life instrument-older adults module (WHOQOL-OLD): psychometric evaluation. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2013;16;11:156. (PMID: 24034698).
- Liu J, Yu W, Zhou J, Yang Y, Chen S, Wu S. Relationship between the Number of Noncommunicable Diseases and Health-Related Quality of Life in Chinese Older Adults: A Cross-Sectional Survey. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(14):5150. (PMID: 32708844).

- Yang Q, Miller G. East-West differences in perception of brain death. Review of history, current understandings, and directions for future research. J Bioeth Inq. 2015;12(2):211-25. (PMID: 25056149).
- 25. Caballero FF, Miret M, Power M, et al. Validation of an instrument to evaluate quality of life in the aging population: WHOQOL-AGE. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2013;11:177. (PMID: 24152691).
- Conrad I, Matschinger H, Riedel-Heller S, von Gottberg C, Kilian R. The psychometric properties of the German version of the WHOQOL-OLD in the German population aged 60 and older. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2014;12:105.(PMID: 25213736).
- Patricio B, Jesus LMT, Cruice M and Hall A. Quality of Life Predictors and Normative Data. Soc Indic Res. 2014;119:1557–1570.


SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES

Supplementary table 1. Studies contributing to the research data pool

	Project title (applied to the natio- nal WHOQOL center)	Year	Authors	Type of data	Samp- le size	Status of disseminating/pub- lishing
1	Evaluating of the effect of regular monitoring of the elders through home visits in the primary health care serviceson the health related quality of life	2014	Aylin Sena BELİNER Aliye MANDIRA- CIOĞLU	Communit- y-based	97	Doctoral Dissertation
2	The relationship between Quality of Life and Cognitive Functions, Anxiety and Depression among Hospitalized Elderly Patients	2015	Ayşe Semra DEMİR AKÇA	Clinical-based	243	Published Article_doi:10.9758/ cpn.2015.13.2.194
3	Frequency of application the healthcare organization more than one due to same rea- son, depression frequeny, life quality among 65 age and over individuals which living in the centre of Burdur and related factors	2016	Aysun GÜZEL Fatih KARA	Communit- y-based	765	Doctoral Dissertation
4	Factors affecting quality of life and depressi- on levels in the population aged 65 and over living in the distirct of Palandöken in Erzurum	2018	Banu BEDİR Elif Okşan ÇALI- KOĞLU	Communit- y-based	480	Speciality Thesis
5	Investigation of flexibility among geriatric subjects with different age groups, sex and physical activity levels	2016	Elvan KELEŞ İbrahim Engin ŞİMŞEK	Communit- y-based	ommunit- 120 Master's Thesis based	
6	The relationship between quality of life and adaptation to aging in elderly people	2020	Selin KÜÇÜKKAYA Fatma Nevin ŞAHİN	Communit- y-based	444	Master's Thesis
7	Yaşlılarda Yaşam Kalitesi ve Yaşam Doyumu ile İlişkili Faktörler	2016	Gizem UZUN	Communit- y-based	109	Unpublished
8	Huzur Evinde Kalan Yaşlılarda Yaşam kalite- sinin Değerlendirilmesi.	2012	Gönül GÜRBÜZ Asi- ye DURMAZ AKYOL	Nursing Home	99	Unpublished
9	Is There a Correlation Between the Quality of Life of Old People and Their Attitude to Aging?	2022	Gülengül MERMER Aysun UYSAL TORA- MAN	Nursing Home	147	Published Article_ doi:https://doi.org/10.31067/ acusaglik.944893
10	Gazimağusa Bölgesinde Yaşayan 65 Yaş Ve Üzeri Bireylerin Sağlık Profili, Yaşam Kalitesi Ve Bakım Verme Yükü Hemşirelik Alan Projesi	2016- 2017	Handan SEZGİN	Communit- y-based	762	Unpublished
11	Yaşlıların beslenme şekilleri ve yaşam kalitesi	2012	Hande ŞAHİN Semra AKAR ŞA- HİNGÖZ	Communit- y-based- Nur- sing Home	99	Unpublished
12	The relationship of nutritional habits with telomere lenght and adrenomedullin levels in aging	2021	Hatice Kübra GÜ- ZELDERE Meral AKSOY	Communit- y-based	120	Doctoral Dissertation
13	Association Between Quality of Life and Nutritional Status of Nursing Home Residents or Community Dwelling Elderly.	2021	Hilal ŞİMŞEK Aslı UÇAR	Communit- y-based- Nursing Home	100	Published Article DOI:10.14744/etd.2020.74150
14	The evaluation of the life qualities of people over 65 years old living in Samsun in Tekkeköy	2011	Hülya DOĞAN Şennur DABAK	Communit- y-based	361	Doctoral Dissertation
15	Toplum İçinde Yaşayan 80 Yaş Üstü Ve 80 Yaş Altı Yaşlı Bireylerde Grup Egzersizlerinin Etkilerinin Karşılaştırılması		Hülya DONAT TUNA Nursen İLÇİN	Clinical-based	16	Unpublished study



16	The Effects Of Myofascial Release Technique Combined With Core Stabilization Exercise In Elderly With Non-Specific Low Back Pain: A Randomized Controlled, Single-Blind Study	2019	İsmail ÖZSOY Nursen İLÇİN	Clinical-based	43	Published Article DOI: <u>10.2147/CIA.S223905</u>
17	Covid 19 Ulusal Kısıtlar Döneminde Geriatrik Bireylerde Fonksiyonel Düzey, Fiziksel Aktivite Düzeyi, Depresyon Ve Yaşam Kalitesi Arasındaki İlişkinin İncelenmesi	2021	Mine PEKESEN KURTÇA	Communit- y-based	118	Unpublished
18	Assessment of physical function, quality of life, daily life activities of geriatric individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus and their relationship with nutrition	2017	Mustafa CEMALİ Zafer ERDEN	Nursing Home	68	Master's Thesis
19	Huzurevinde Yaşayan Yaşlı Bireylerin Ağrı Düzeyleri ve Ağrı İnançlarının Yaşam Kalitesine Etkisi	2014- 2015	Nevin DOĞAN Songül GÖRİŞ	Nursing Home	108	Unpublished
20	Depression, quality of life, and influential factors in the elderly	2012	Nihal BAKAR Rabia HACIHASA- NOĞLU AŞILAR	Communit- y-based	450	Master's Thesis
21	The effect of applied reminiscence therapy on the quality of life older adults in living nursing home	2015	Nilay ERCAN ŞAHİN Oya Nuran EMİ- ROĞLU	Nursing Home	136	Doctoral Dissertation
22	Macula dejenerasyonu ve diyabetik gözü olan yaşlı hastalarda hastalık algısı, depresyon, anksiyete ve yaşam kalitesi ile ilişkisi	2018	Ömer ŞENORMANCI	Clinical-based	74	Unpublished
23	Nutritional status and effecting factors among elderly individuals in Edirne city center.	2016	Özge CEMALİ Hamdı® Nezı®h DAĞDEVİREN	Communit- y-based	1000	Master's Thesis
24	An analysis of factors affecting the life quality of above 65 years of age elders at the nursing home	2013	Recep YAĞCIOĞLU Aliye MAVİLİ AKTAŞ	Nursing Home	216	Master's Thesis
25	Care Dependency and Quality of Life in Older Adult Patients	2021	Saide FAYDALI	Clinical-based	350	http://www.internationaljourna- lofcaringsciences.org/docs/34_ gulnar_original_14_1.pdf
26	Validity of the Turkish Occupational Self Assessment for Elderly Individuals	2018	Serkan PEKÇETİN	Communit- y-based	117	Published Article DOI:10.1177/1539449217743457
27	The effects of telerehabilitation application with elderly on sleep quality, life guality, level of depression and physical parameters in different time periods of the day	2022	Tolunay KESKİN Nursen İLÇİN	Communit- y-based	30	Master's Thesis
28	The risk factors associated with falls in the elderly living in nursing homes and their own homes	2014	Zeynep BULUT DOĞAN Nuray KIRDI	Communit- y-based- Nur- sing Home	160	Master's Thesis
29	Kayışdağı Darülaceze Müdürlüğünde yaşamını sürdürmekte olan sakinlerin yaşam kalitelerinin değerlendirilmesi	2008	Ayşe KARAN Nurten ESKİYURT	Nursing Home	119	Unpublished study



Sociodemographic Characteristics		Number	Percent
Age	Mean±SD	73.2±	6.8
Gender	Women	3496	51.2
	Men	3335	48.8
Marital Status	Married	3183	52.4
	Not Married	1068	17.6
	Widow	1828	30.1
Education Status	Unqualified	1604	27.0
	Primary School	2330	39.2
	Middle School	890	15.0
	High School	704	11.8
	University	420	7.1
Working Status	Working	183	4.8
	Not working	1479	38.5
	Retired	2182	56.8
Social Security	No	461	8.8
	Yes	4769	91.2
Smoking	No	3974	85.5
	Yes	673	14.5
Alcohol Drinking	No	3296	93.3
	Yes	236	6.7
Drug Use	No	670	23.8
	Yes	2148	76.2
Health Condition	Well	1304	24.3
	111	4059	75.7

Supplementary table 2. Baseline characteristics for the Turkish WHOQOL-OLD data pool

		Components								
Items	Domain	1	2	3	4	5				
Q1		0,103	0,090	0,902	0,127	0,083				
Q2	Sensory Abilities	0,137	0,095	0,899	0,139	0,082				
Q10		0,117	0,091	0,858	0,157	0,079				
Q20		0,279	0,111	0,702	-0,001	0,117				
Q3		0,230	0,138	0,146	0,087	0,751				
Q4	Autonomy	0,270	0,092	0,093	-0,082	0,689				
Q5		0,181	0,309	0,058	0,020	0,699				
Q11		0,576	0,103	0,141	0,020	0,419				
Q6		0,037	0,034	0,137	0,899	0,044				
Q7	Death and Dying	0,033	0,048	0,155	0,914	0,045				
Q8		0,047	0,035	0,147	0,896	0,059				
Q9		-0,012	0,065	-0,022	0,688	-0,067				
Q12		0,600	0,224	0,129	0,055	0,399				
Q13		0,489	0,367	0,016	0,086	0,393				
Q14	Past, Present and Future Activities	0,637	0,089	0,095	-0,077	0,101				
Q15	+	0,653	0,294	0,112	0,129	0,251				
Q16	Social Participation	0,770	0,216	0,142	0,058	0,140				
Q17		0,798	0,173	0,169	0,020	0,126				
Q18		0,678	0,176	0,086	0,012	0,054				
Q19		0,633	0,283	0,102	0,018	0,161				
Q21		0,305	0,751	0,134	0,045	0,174				
Q22	Intimacy	0,297	0,828	0,119	0,066	0,175				
Q23		0,267	0,847	0,088	0,066	0,145				
Q24		0,263	0,847	0,101	0,050	0,164				

Supplementary table 3. Exploratory factor loadings of the WHOQOL-old-TR (Varimax rotation solution)

*Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.





Supplementary Figure 1. Confirmatory factor model for the six WHOQOL-OLD dimensions (standardized loadings).



Supplementary Figure 2. Item Characteristics Curves (ICC) of the WHOQOL-OLD



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.307 2022; 25(4): 495-503

Esra YAKIŞIK ÇAKIR ¹					•(D
					۰.	

- Gamze GÖK²
 Özcan EREL²
- Isil ÖZKOCAK TURAN¹ ······

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Esra YAKIŞIK ÇAKIR

Phone : +903125085175 e-mail : pavulonmouse@hotmail.com

Received : Jun 21, 2022 Accepted : Nov 27, 2022

¹ Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology and Clinical of Critical Care, Ankara, Turkey

² Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Department of Biochemistry, Ankara, Turkey

RESEARCH

IS DYNAMIC THIOL/DISULFIDE HOMEOSTASIS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROGNOSIS OF GERIATRIC PATIENTS WITH SEPSIS IN THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT?

Abstract

Introduction: Sepsis is an important cause of mortality, especially in geriatric patients hospitalized in the intensive care unit. Our study aims to evaluate the effectiveness of thiol / disulfide homeostasis in determining the mortality of geriatric patients admitted to intensive care unit due to sepsis.

Materials and Method: Our study was designed prospectively in patients aged 65 years and older with geriatric sepsis hospitalized in the intensive care unit between January 2018 and March 2019. Thiol-disulfide homeostasis was measured at the time of hospitalization. Demographic and clinical characteristics and thiol – disulfide homeostasis levels were compared in patients with mortality and surviving.

Results: 252 geriatric patients with sepsis were included in the study. A total of 148 (58.7%) of the patients died, 104 (41.3%) were discharged alive. In the group with mortality, native-thiol, total-thiol and disulfide levels were found to be significantly lower compared to the surviving group (p < 0.05). In geriatric patients with sepsis; levels of native-thiol less than 209 µmol / L, total-thiol lesss than 248 µmol / L and disulfide being less than 20.4 µmol / L was found as the cut-off value for mortality (p=0.0001).

Conclusion: This study showed that low native-thiol, total-thiol and disulfide levels may be associated with mortality in patients with geriatric sepsis hospitalized for the first time in the intensive care unit.

Keywords: Aged; Intensive Care Units; Sepsis; Sulfhydryl Compounds.

INTRODUCTION

Sepsis is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in patients hospitalized in the intensive care unit (ICU) (1). Older patients have a higher risk for mortality (2). In addition to the age factor in patients developing sepsis, determining other risk factors for patient mortality in ICU is imperative to sepsis prognosis (2,3). Age, vital sign assessment, and other scoring systems are used for evaluation of the mortality data of patients hospitalized in ICU. It is difficult to determine patient mortality in ICU owing to various causative agents and underlying diseases that lead to ICU hospitalization. Therefore, additional parameters are crucial for the evaluation of ICU mortality (3).

Activation of free radicals, reactive oxygen species (ROS), oxidant, and pro-oxidant systems are associated with negative clinical outcomes in aging individuals with sepsis (4); both advanced age and sepsis increase the morbidity and mortality (4,5). Therefore, evaluation of oxidant systems in patients hospitalized in ICU could aid determination of sepsis prognosis (5).

The plasma thiol level is usually measured by using the classical 5,5'-dithiobis-(2-nitrobenzoic) acid (DTNB) and Ellman reagent. This compound is stoichiometrically decreased by free thiols in an exchange reaction, forming disulphide and releasing one molecule of 5-thionitrobenzoic acid. Dynamic thiol/disulfide homeostatis is critical for a number of processes: antioxidant protection, detoxification, signal transmission, apoptosis, regulation of enzymatic activity, transcription factor regulation, and cellular signaling mechanisms (6). Low thiol levels are associated with decreased inflammatory processes, decreased antioxidant activity, and adverse clinical outcomes (7). Furhtermore, dynamic thiol disulphide homeostasis is being increasingly implicated in many disorders. There is also a growing body of evidence demonstrating that an abnormal thiol disulphide homeostasis state is involved in the pathogenesis of a varietyof diseases, including diabetes, cardiovascular disease, malignancy, rheumatoid arthritis, chronic kidney disease, infection diseases, neorological diseases, and liver disorder. Therefore, determination of dynamic thiol disulphide homeostasis can provide valuable information on various normal or abnormal biochemical processes (6).

In this respect, evaluation of thiol/disulfide homeostasis, which is one of the oxidant systems, may be effective in the prognosis of severe sepsis in geriatric patients admitted to ICU (5). There are no previous studies evaluating thiol/disulfide homeostasis in geriatric patients with sepsis. Therefore, the aim of our study was to evaluate the possible relationship of thiol/disulfide homeostasis with mortality in geriatric patients (aged \geq 65 years) hospitalized in ICU.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

Ethics committee approval and study design

This study was planned prospectively in geriatric patients (aged ≥ 65 years) with sepsis; they were hospitalized in the ICU in the Health Sciences University, Anesthesiology and Clinical of Critical Care, Ankara Numune Education and Research Hospital between January 2018 and March 2019. Inpatients were diagnosed with sepsis based on their clinical findings as well as according to the "Third International Consensus Definitions" criteria (8). ICU patients who were <65 years of age and diagnosed with causes other than primary sepsis (trauma, intoxication, metabolic disorders, cardiovascular, and respiratory reasons, etc.) were excluded from the study. Patients' age, sex, number of comorbid disease (diabetes mellitus, hypertension, malignancy/immunodeficiency, respiratory system disease, heart disease, renal disease, central nervous system disease), acute physiology chronic health evaluation (APACHE II) score, sepsis-related organ failure assessment (SOFA) score, duration of mechanical



ventilation (MV), ICU stay, and mortality data were recorded (9,10).

This study was approved by the ethics Committee at Ankara Numune and Research Hospital (date: 28/12/2017, no: E-17-1478). Verbal and written consent was obtained from patients or their legal representative before the study. Our study was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration principles. In this study, while sampling the geriatric elderly patient group, the definition of "elderly" for age \geq 65 years was taken into account, which is the criteria of World Health Organization and the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (11,12).

Blood sampling and determination of white blood cell counts and serum levels of C-reactive protein and thiol-disulfide

Venous blood samples were obtained for the determination of white blood cell (WBC) counts, C-reactive protein (CRP) levels, and thiol-disulphide homeostasis status during hospitalization. WBC count was determined with a Cell-Dyn 3700 automated hemocytometer (Abbott, Abbott Park, IL, USA) by drawing the blood into tubes containing ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid. Serum was separated after blood samples were centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 15 minutes. Serum samples were stored at -80°C until use for thiol-disulfide analysis. Serum CRP concentrations were measured on the Roche Modular P analyzer with a Tinaquant CRP (Latex) high-sensitive immuno-turbidimetric assay (CRP latex HS, Roche kit, Roche Diagnostics, GmbH, Mannheim, Germany). Serum total thiol and native thiol levels were determined by the automated method developed by Erel and Neselioğlu (Roche cobas-c501 automated analyzer, Mannheim, Germany) (6). Thiol/ disulfide homeostasis tests were performed using the automatic and spectrophotometric method. The principle of the thiol/disulfide measurement method is the reduction of dynamic disulfide bonds (-S-S-) to functional thiol groups (-SH) with NaBH₄. The unused NaBH₄ remnants were completely dissociated using formaldehyde; this prevented further reduction of the 5,5'-dithiobis-2-nitrobenzoic acid (DTNB) as well as the disulfide bonds that were formed by the reaction with DTNB. The modified Ellman reagent was used to measure the total thiol content in samples. After serum extraction, it took approximately 12 minutes to measure all the parameters. Dynamic disulfide content was calculated by taking half of the difference between the amount of total thiol and native thiol. Ratio formulas (Index 1: disulfide/native thiol ratio, index 2: disulfide/total thiol ratio, and index 3: native thiol/total thiol disulfide) were used to calculate the dynamic disulfide content.

Data analysis

Statistical analysis of the patient data was performed using SPSS software 17.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL) and p values <0.05 were considered significant. The conformity of the data to the normal distribution was evaluated with histogram and Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Mann-Whitney's U-test was used to compare for non-parametric continuous variables and the chi-square test was used to compare for categorical variables. The results were specified as the mean and standard deviation (SD) for normally distributed continuous variables, median and interquartile range (IQR,25-75) for continuous variables with abnormal distribution. Categorical variables were expressed as frequency and percentage distribution. The thiol / disulfide homeostasis were compared between the mortality groups and the surviving group using multiple logistic regression. The odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence interval (CI) were defined in multiple logistic regression analysis. Diagnostic screening tests were used to determine the cut-off for thiol/disulfide homeostasis; additionally, receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis was also performed (sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value). The area under the curve (AUC) was calculated.

RESULTS

During the study period, 793 patients were admitted in our ICU. According to the inclusion criteria, 252 (31.7%) patients were included in the study; 148 (58.7%) patients died and 104 (41.3%) were discharged. The total mean age of 252 geriatric patients included in the study was 78.2 ± 10.1 (mean ± SD) years. Patients who succumbed to mortality were higher in age, experienced a greater number of comorbid diseases, and had higher APACHE II and SOFA scores; in addition to this, the patients had increased duration of MV and ICU stay. The results were similar between the groups in terms of gender (Table 1). Results were similar between groups with mortality and surviving in terms of WBC counts and indices -1, -2, and -3 (p>0.05). In the surviving group, native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide levels were found to be significantly higher and CRP significantly lower, than those in the mortality group (p<0.05) (Table 2).

In addition to thiol / disulfide homeostasis, confounding factors such as age, comorbid disease, and CRP levels can also impact mortality. After adjusting for confounding factors using multiple logistic analysis, patients with mortality had lower levels of native-thiol [OR = 5.15, 95% CI (1.745–8.322), p = 0.002], total-thiol [OR = 2.09, 95% CI (1.119–4.244), p = 0.005], and disulfide [OR = 3.65, 95% CI (2.124–8.103), p < 0.001] than those surviving.

The cut-off value for mortality in geriatric patients with sepsis was 209 (µmol/L) for native-thiol, \leq 248 (µmol/L) for total-thiol, and \leq 20.4 (µmol/L) for disulfide. The AUC level between 0.7-0.9 is assumed to have moderate accuracy in predictive value. In our results, we found that AUC levels of native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide were between 0.7 ile 0.9 which were assumed as moderate accuracy (13). The results are presented in Table 3 as AUC, p-value, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value. ROC analyses for native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide mortality prediction are given in Figure 1.

DISCUSSION

In geriatric patients hospitalized for sepsis, native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide levels were significantly lower in the mortality group than in the

Variables	Surviving	Mortality	P value							
	(n=104)	(n=148)								
Age, (years), ^a	76.1±10.9	81.1±8.0	<0.001*							
Male gender, n (%)	46 (44.2)	64 (43.2)	0.489							
Comorbid disease, ^b	1 (1-3)	2 (1-4)	<0.001*							
APACHE II score, ^b	24 (17-28)	29 (19-38)	<0.001*							
SOFA score, ^b	7 (6-10)	10 (8-16)	<0.001*							
Duration of MV, (days), ^b	5 (3-18)	7 (4-28)	0.015*							
ICU stay, (days), ^b	15 (6-83)	17 (7-96)	0.001*							

Table 1. Comparison of demographic and clinical features of the geriatric patients

^a mean ± standard deviation, ^b median (interquartile range (IQR, 25-75))

*Statistically significant p values are highlighted.

APACHE II: acute physiology and chronic health evaluation score, SOFA: sepsis-related organ failure assessment score, ICU: intensive care unit, MV: mechanical ventilation



Variables	Surviving (n=104)	Mortality (n=148)	P value
WBC (x10 ³ /µL), ^a	10 (5-12)	12 (6-14)	0.416
CRP (mg/L), ^a	75 (41-110)	161 (51-214)	<0.001*
Native-thiol, (µmol/L) ^b	218.8±102.9	158.4±71.1	<0.001*
Total-thiol, (µmol/L) ^b	264.1±110.1	192.7±74.3	<0.001*
Disulfide, (µmol/L) ^b	22.5±5.3	17.1±7.0	<0.001*
Index-1, ^b	12.2±5.1	13.5±9.2	0.151
Index-2, ^b	9.5±3.1	9.9±5.2	0.531
Index-3, ^b	80.9±6.2	80.2±10.5	0.531

 Table 2. Comparison of laboratory features of the geriatric patients.

^a median (interquartile range (IQR, 25-75)), ^b mean ± standard deviation

*Statistically significant p values are highlighted.

WBC: white blood cell, CRP: C-reactive protein level

surviving group. In addition, the level of native-thiol (<209 μ mol/L), total-thiol (<248 μ mol/L), and disulfide (<20.4 μ mol/L) was determined as the cut-off value for mortality. Our results support the information that thiol is an important antioxidant, and decrease in the native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide levels shortens the cellular life span, which leads to increase in the mortality rate (5). To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that provides data concerning the relationship between thiol/disulfide homeostasis and clinical outcome of sepsis in geri-

atric patients hospitalized in ICU.

The aging of the population is a global phenomenon; the population aged 65 and above is growing faster than all other age groups. As the population demography changes, there will likely be an increase in the number of geriatric patients admitted to the ICU. According to literature, elderly patients account for 26-51% of ICU admissions. In addition, mortality rates in patients hospitalized in ICU vary between 20% and 58% (11,14,15). In patients with

Table 3. The area under the curve, cutoff level, sensitivity, specificity, PPV, and NPV of native-thiol, total-thiol and disulfidefor mortality

	AUC	95% Confidence interval	p values	Cutoff level	Sensitivi- ty (%)	Specificity (%)	PPV (%)	NPV (%)
Native-thiol (µmol/L)	0.713	0.653-0.768	0.0001	≤209	84	61	74	72
Total-thiol (µmol/L)	0.803	0.749-0.850	0.0001	≤248	84	70	78	75
Disulfide (µmol/L)	0.878	0.831-0.916	0.0001	≤20.4	87	78	84	81

AUC: area under the curve, PPV: positive predictive values, NPV: negative predictive values



Figure 1. ROC curve for native-thiol, total-thiol and disulfide levels, predicting mortality in intensive care unit

ROC: receiver operating characteristic

sepsis, the rate of mortality increases with age; hence, age is considered as an independent predictor of mortality (16). Therefore, patients with an average age of 78.2 years were included in our study, which explains why the patient mortality rate in our study was close to the upper limit of 58.7%. Studies have suggested that there are different predictors of mortality in geriatric ICU patients. APACHE II and SOFA scores have been frequently used for this purpose, and as in our results, increased scores were associated with an increased mortality rate (11,14,15,17,18). However, available evidence is still not sufficient for physicians to determine clinical results and mortality rate in geriatric patients (11). Therefore, new studies are needed to predict clinical outcomes in elderly patients who are at a risk for mortality.

Although the pathophysiology of sepsis is not fully understood, clinical studies have revealed an imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants (19). Lorente et al. demonstrated that antioxidant capacity in sepsis determines the course of the disease and indicates a possible relationship between the total antioxidant capacity and mortality (20). Other causes of increased mortality in patients with sepsis are uncontrolled inflammatory response against pathogens, persistent oxidative stress, impaired oxygen use due to mitochondrial dysfunction, energy deficiency, and organ failure. Organ failure worsens the outcome of sepsis and is associated with 70% ICU mortality (17,21).

Based on existing scientific literature and our results, it can be concluded that low levels of native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide, which are indicators of antioxidant capacity, can help predict negative clinical outcomes, particularly mortality, in patients with sepsis (5,17,22,23). Oxidative stress contributes to the pathophysiology of sepsis by disrupting cellular redox homeostasis, which is the cause for lower thiol levels in patients who succumb to mortality. In addition, low disulfide levels in patients who succumb to mortality may be due to the reversible conversion of disulfide products to S-nitrosothiol and sulfenic acid (24), because when oxidative stress persistently occurs in a patient, irreversible sulfonic acid concentration increases and causes permanent loss of protein activity (25). Therefore, more research on the measurement of reversible and irreversible modifications is imperative.

Kozanhan et al. compared the status of thiol/disulfide homeostasis of 44 adult patients with sepsis with that of 44 control patients. While native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide levels were significantly lower in the sepsis group than in the control group, there was no difference between the groups in terms of indices -1, -2, and -3. Additionally, in the non-survivor group (18 patients), native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide levels were insignificantly lower than those in the survivor group (26 patients) (17). Ayar et al. compared 40 healthy children and 38 children with sepsis and reported that native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide levels and index-3 in the sepsis group were significantly lower than those in the control group, whereas indices -1 and -2 were higher in the sepsis group than in the control group. In addition, similar results were obtained when native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide levels and indices -1, -2, and -3 were compared between 27 survivor and 11 non-survivor patients (22). The probable reason for the similar results obtained may be the small number of patients included in the study. In our study, native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide levels in the mortality with sepsis and were significantly lower than those in the surviving group. Therefore, change in thiol/disulfide homeostasis may help us to better evaluate clinical outcomes of patients with sepsis. In order to reach this goal, sufficient number of patients should be included in the study. In another study evaluating the neonatal age group, similar results were obtained when native-thiol, total-thiol, index-3, index-2, disulfide, and index-1 levels were compared between the newborns with sepsis (66 patients) and the healty control group (51 newborn patients) (23). The balance of antioxidant and oxidant systems, including thiol/disulfide homeostasis, can change with age. Due to the age groups of the patients in these studies, thiol/ disulfide homeostasis results may vary. Therefore, it would be more accurate to interpret the results according to age (5). In addition, other reasons for the difference in results obtained in terms of thiol/ disulfide homeostasis may be due to difference in

level of sepsis severity and the difference between the groups compared (control versus sepsis and mortality versus survivor).

Thiol/disulfide homeostasis levels normally vary during life-time. We see increase in the levels of native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide up to 3rd decades of age and then, these levels gradually starts to decrease from these decades up to 7th decades of life. The rate of diminish in the levels of native-thiol. total-thiol, and disulfide may increase due to secondary morbidities such as alcohol abuse, smoking, infections and genetic factor. Decrease in the levels of native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide increase the rate of mortality (5,6). The variables such as age, level of CRP and comorbid disease, were found to be higher in mortality group. Multiple logistic analysis was done in order to evaluate variables such as age, comorbid diseases and level of CRP which affect the mortality. Multiple logistic analysis revealed that low levels of native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide were isolated risk factors for mortality other than age, comorbid diseases and level of CRP. The levels of native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide do not change after 7th decades of life. Both of our groups have similar mean ages over 70. So this variable-agedoes not directly explain the difference between groups. We speculate that the degree of severity of sepsis might effect the levels of native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide which increase the mortality. High levels of CRP due to severe sepsis and higher frequency in comorbid diseases may increase mortality. Multiple logistic analysis revealed these results. In conclusion, our study showed that low levels of native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide were found to be directly related with rate of mortality in geriatric-sepsis patients.

There is no previous study determining the cutoff values of native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide levels to predict mortality in geriatric patients with sepsis. According to our results, cut-off value of native-thiol for mortality in geriatric patients with sepsis was ≤ 209 (µmol/L); total-thiol, ≤ 248 (µmol/L); and disulfide, ≤ 20.4 (µmol/L). In addition, the AUC value for all three parameters was between 0.7 and 0.9 and had a moderate accuracy predictive value (13). Our results are valid for geriatric patients with sepsis. To confirm our findings, further studies defining cut-off values for different age groups and AUC values are crucial.

Our study has few limitations. Thiol/disulfide homeostasis was tested at the time of the patient's hospitalization, and the values during patient's follow-up could not be measured. Therefore, the change in thiol/disulfide homeostasis during the follow-up for sepsis and its effect on clinical results are unknown. Additionally, thiol/disulfide homeostasis level could not be compared between sepsis and control groups owing to the absence of the control group.

CONCLUSION

Our study is the first to demonstrate the efficacy of thiol/disulfide homeostasis on the clinical outcome

REFERENCES

- van Vught LA, Klein Klouwenberg PM, Spitoni C, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and attributable mortality of secondary infections in the intensive care unit after admission for sepsis. JAMA 2016; 315(14): 1469-79. (PMID: 26975785).
- Ghimire RH, Budhathoki S, Shreewastav RK. Scenario of sepsis in intensive care unit in a tertiary care hospital. J Nepal Health Res Counc 2020; 18(1): 99-102. (PMID: 32335601).
- Zeng A, Song X, Dong J, et al. Mortality in relation to frailty in patients admitted to a specialized geriatric intensive care unit. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2015; 70(12): 1586-94. (PMID: 26400736).
- Gotts JE, Matthay MA. Sepsis: pathophysiology and clinical management. BMJ 2016; 353(5): i1585. (PMID: 27217054).
- 5. Dröge W. Aging-related changes in the thiol/disulfide redox state: implications for the use of thiol anti-

i.e. the prognosis of sepsis in geriatric patients hospitalized in ICU. Low levels of native-thiol, total-thiol, and disulfide were shown to be related with higher mortality in geriatric septic patients. Further studies with larger cohorts are needed to validate our current findings and to comprehensively understand the pathophysiology of oxidative stress in the sepsis process.

Conflict of Interest, Disclosure Statement

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest. The authors have indicated they have no financial relationships relevant to this article to disclose

Ethical Approval: All procedures performed in this study involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Acknowledgement: none

oxidants. Exp Gerontol 2002; 37(12): 1333-45. (PMID: 12559403).

- Erel O, Neselioglu S. A novel and automated assay for thiol/disulphide homeostasis. Clin Biochem 2014; 47(18): 326-32. (PMID: 25304913).
- Erel Ö, Erdoğan S. Thiol-disulfide homeostasis: an integrated approach with biochemical and clinical aspects. Turk J Med Sci 2020; 50(SI-2): 1728-38. (PMID: 32233181).
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, et al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA 2016; 315(8): 801-10. (PMID: 26903338).
- Knaus WA, Draper EA, Wagner DP, Zimmerman JE. APACHE II: a severity of disease classification system. Crit Care Med 1985; 13(10): 818-29. (PMID: 3928249).
- 10. Vincent JL, Moreno R, Takala J, et al. The SOFA (Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment) score to describe organ dysfunction/failure. On behalf of the



Working Group on Sepsis-Related Problems of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Intensive Care Med 1996; 22(7): 707-10. (PMID: 8844239).

- Martin-Loeches I, Guia MC, Vallecoccia MS, et al. Risk factors for mortality in elderly and very elderly critically ill patients with sepsis: a prospective, observational, multicenter cohort study. Ann Intensive Care 2019; 9(1): 26. (PMID: 30715638).
- Metnitz PG, Moreno RP, Almeida E, et al. SAPS 3-From evaluation of the patient to evaluation of the intensive care unit. Part 1: Objectives, methods and cohort description. Intensive Care Med 2005; 31(10): 1336-44. (PMID: 16132893).
- Akobeng AK. Understanding diagnostic tests 3: Receiver operating characteristic curves. Acta Paediatr 2007; 96(5): 644-7. (PMID: 17376185).
- Sodhi K, Singla MK, Shrivastava A, Bansal N. Do Intensive care unit treatment modalities predict mortality in geriatric patients: An observational study from an Indian intensive care unit. Indian J Crit Care Med 2014; 18(12): 789-95. (PMID: 25538413).
- Bo M, Massaia M, Raspo S, et al. Predictive factors of in-hospital mortality in older patients admitted to a medical intensive care unit. J Am Geriatr Soc 2003; 51(4): 529-33. (PMID: 12657074).
- 16. Martin GS, Mannino DM, Moss M. The effect of age on the development and outcome of adult sepsis. Crit Care Med 2006; 34(1): 15-21. (PMID: 16374151).
- Kozanhan B, Eğilmez A, Tok Cekmecelioglu B, et al. Novel oxidative stress biomarker in sepsis: dynamic thiol-disulfide homeostasis. Cukurova Med J 2020; 45(1): 63-70. (DOI: 10.17826/cumj.637127).

- Stein Fde C, Barros RK, Feitosa FS, et al. Prognostic factors in elderly patients admitted in the intensive care unit. Rev Bras Ter Intensiva 2009; 21(3):255-61. (PMID: 25303546).
- Kumar S, Gupta E, Kaushik S, Kumar Srivastava V, Mehta SK, Jyoti A. Evaluation of oxidative stress and antioxidant status: Correlation with the severity of sepsis. Scand J Immunol 2018; 87(4): e12653. (PMID: 29484685).
- Lorente L, Martín MM, Almeida T, et al. Association between serum total antioxidant capacity and mortality in severe septic patients. J Crit Care 2015; 30(1): 217.e7-12. (PMID: 25307978).
- Galley HF. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in sepsis. Br J Anaesth 2011; 107(1): 57-64. (PMID: 21596843).
- 22. Ayar G, Sahin S, Men Atmaca Y, Uysal Yazici M, Neselioglu S, Erel O. Thiol-disulphide homeostasis is an oxidative stress indicator in critically ill children with sepsis. Arch Argent Pediatr 2019; 117(3): 143-8. (PMID: 31063297).
- Aydogan S, Akduman H, Dilli D, et al. The role of thiol-disulfide homeostasis in neonatal sepsis. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2021; 34(10): 1522-8. (PMID: 31268367).
- 24. Turell L, Radi R, Alvarez B. The thiol pool in human plasma: the central contribution of albumin to redox processes. Free Radic Biol Med 2013; 65(12): 244-53. (PMID: 23747983).
- Schieber M, Chandel NS. ROS function in redox signaling and oxidative stress. Curr Biol 2014; 24(10): R453-62. (PMID: 24845678).



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.308 2022; 25(4): 504-513

Özge ÜSTÜNDAĞ ³						.D
Hüseyin ELBİ ¹						.D
						-

Erol OZAN²
 Fatih ÖZCAN¹

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Fatih ÖZCAN

Phone : +902362333828 e-mail : fatihozcan41@gmail.com

Received : Jul 18, 2022 Accepted : Nov 01, 2022

- ¹ Manisa Celal Bayar University, School of Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, Manisa, Turkey
- ² Manisa Celal Bayar University, School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry, Manisa, Turkey
- ³ Provincial Health Directorate, Sındırgı No. 2 Family Health Center, Balıkesir, Turkey

RESEARCH

HOW AWARE ARE FAMILY PHYSICIANS OF THE SOCIAL LIFE AND LONELINESS OF OLDER PEOPLE?

Abstract

Introduction: The consequences of social isolation and loneliness on health and well-being in old age are increasingly being acknowledged. In this study, we examined how older patients perceive their social relationships and loneliness and explored family physicians' awareness of these issues.

Materials and Methods: This descriptive study evaluated social relations and the loneliness of older patients using the UCLA loneliness scale (UCLA-LS), the Nottingham Health Profile Social Isolation (NHP-SI) subscale, and a social relations questionnaire. The responses of these patients to loneliness and being socially active were compared with the reactions of family physicians to the same topics.

Results: Five family physicians and 200 older patients participated in this study. According to the patients' education levels and economic status, both scales exhibited significant differences. A significant correlation was found between chronic disease and UCLA loneliness on the scale, while a significant difference was found in the social isolation subscale according to those who lived with. Moreover, the family physicians clearly understood the relationship between living alone and their economic status.

Conclusion: This study revealed that the social isolation of older patients was affected by their education level, economic status, and who they lived with. It was also found that loneliness was affected by education level, financial situation, chronic disease, and disability.

Keywords: Family Practice; Aged; Loneliness; Social Isolation.

INTRODUCTION

It should be remembered that aging is an inevitable process, public perceptions of older people are different in every society, and biological processes differ between people. In addition to biological factors, diversity in psychological, social, and cultural conditions can also affect aging (1, 2). Therefore, given the increased proportion of older people in society, there is a need to design health and social services accordingly, and physicians should develop their professional competencies to meet this challenge (3).

Social problems and the chronic health care of older patients can be neglected when treating daily complaints. Moreover, older people are at risk of social isolation and loneliness due to economic-social losses, functional decline, the death of spouses, and changes in family structure (4,5). However, being socially connected is a requirement for psychological and emotional well-being and positively affects physical well-being and longevity (6).

The Age-Friendly Primary Health Care Center Guide developed by the World Health Organization (WHO) for primary health care center employees supports the health of older people (7). Moreover, physicians working in primary care should evaluate older patients within the discipline of family medicine to improve their health, provide treatment or care, and increase their quality of life (8,9). In this study, we examine older patients' perceptions of their social lives and loneliness and their family physicians' awareness of these issues.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design

This descriptive study compares the senses of loneliness and social isolation of older patients and the responses of their family physicians. The study was carried out with five different volunteer family medicine specialists. A minimum of 40 patients were calculated from each family physician with 80% power and a 5% margin of error in the G-Power statistics program. Each family physician was visited once a week, and data were collected from 3–4 patients each day. Consecutive patients were excluded from the study because family physicians could have become familiar with the questionnaire and caused bias. The data collection process was completed between December 15, 2018, and February 15, 2019.

Participants

Patients who had been registered with each family physician for at least 6 months and who did not have any psychiatric disease or cognitive dysfunction (such as Alzheimer's or dementia) were included in the study.

Data collection tools

A sociodemographic data survey (UCLA-LS), the NHP-SI subscale, and a social relations questionnaire prepared by scanning the literature were applied to each patient and family physician.

Sociodemographic data survey

The sociodemographic data questionnaire included the following pieces of information: gender, age, education level, marital status, who they live with, how many children they have, profession, economic status, chronic diseases, how many months they have been registered with the family physician and the number of patients who had applied to the polyclinic that day. We also asked the following about the family physicians: age, number of years in the profession, duration of employment in their current Family Medicine Unit, proportion of patients aged over 65 years, and the speed of referrals of patients aged over 65 years during the previous 6 months.

UCLA Loneliness Scale

This 20-item scale is designed to measure a person's sense of loneliness and social isolation. Patients rate each item on a scale from 1 (never) to 4



(usually), and the highest points are 80. The higher the total score, the higher the feeling of loneliness, and *vice versa*.

Nottingham Health Profile Social Isolation subscale

This is a 5-question subscale of the NHP. Since there is no threshold for measurement, each subcategory is evaluated within its own limits. Accordingly, low scores suggest a low impact of the complaint, while high scores reflect an increased effect of the complaint.

Social relations questionnaire

Based on questions used in similar studies in the literature, 5 questions were developed to evaluate the patients' levels of social participation and loneliness. These questions included the following topics: social participation (such as how often they were visited by their relatives at home last month), feeling lonely (even when with company), and having a relative to talk to if they need help (Annex 1).

Social relations questionnaire for family physicians to evaluate their patients

The family physicians were asked 6 questions about each patient. To facilitate comparisons with the patients' answers, the doctors were asked the same questions about their patients (i.e., who they lived with and levels of social participation and loneliness). The other 5 questions were the same as the patients' social relationship questions. (Annex 2)

Statistical analysis

In the statistical analysis, when descriptive statistics were provided for normal distribution conditions, student t-tests and ANOVA were employed to compare the two independent groups in continuous data. The data obtained from the study were evaluated using SPSS 15.0. If the normal distribution conditions were not met, Mann–Whitney U and Kruskal–Wallis tests were applied. For comparisons with categorical data, the kappa values were examined using a chi-square test.

Ethical procedure

Permission was obtained from the local University Faculty of Medicine Health Sciences Ethics Committee with 20478486-050.04.04 dated 04.10.2018. Each patient was informed about inclusion in the study, and their consent was obtained.

RESULTS

A total of 5 family physicians and 200 older patients participated in this study to investigate the awareness of family physicians about the loneliness and social participation levels of their registered patients.

Distribution of patient characteristics

The 200 patients comprised 103 females and 97 males, with a mean age of 72.47 \pm 5.82 years. The other characteristics of the patients are displayed in Table 1.

The mean score of the patients on the UCLA-LS was 36.69 ± 6.71 . The mean score obtained from the NHP-SI questionnaire was 12.47 ± 24.50 . Further, 14.5% of the patients answered "yes" to the question of feeling lonely, 13.5% stated "I have difficulty establishing relationships with people," 8.5% said "I do not feel close to anyone," and 13.5% reported "I think I am a burden on people" (Table 2).

Assessment of characteristics in sociodemographic data using the scales

When the mean scores of the UCLA-LS and the NHP-SI subscale were compared according to the sociodemographic data of the patients, no statistical differences were found according to gender. However, there was a significant difference in both scales according to education level and economic status. Moreover, a vital relationship was revealed between the presence of a chronic disease and UCLA-LS. According to those who lived with the disease, a significant difference was found in the NHP-SI subscale. There was no significant differ-



Features	S/Ort.	% (veya SS*)			
Gender					
Femsle	103	51,5			
male	97	48,5			
Age					
Mean	72,47	5,822*			
Education					
Illiterate	12	6			
literate	17	8.5			
Primary school	96	48			
Middle School	32	16			
High school	30	15			
University	13	6.5			
Marital status					
Married	152	76			
Not married (widowed, divorced, never married)	48	24			
Economical situation					
Equal to monthly income	73	36,5			
Less than monthly income	120	60			
More than monthly income	7	3,5			
Chronic disease	1				
Yes	189	94,5			
No	11	5,5			
With whom she/he lives	1				
Alone	39	19,5			
With his wife	122	61			
With his wife and children	19	9,5			
Other (caregiver, sibling, rela- tive)	22	11			
The length of time she/he was re family doctor	egistered	with the			
6-36 months	115	57,5			
37-84 months	85	42,5			
Child					
0-3	152	76			
4-9	48	24			

 Table 1. Distribution of Patient Characteristics

ence between the loneliness scale and with whom the patients lived (Table 3).

Correlation of sociodemographic data using the scales

The correlation between educational status and the presence of chronic illnesses and the mean total scores of the UCLA-LS and the NHP-SI subscale were significant. As education levels increased, loneliness and social isolation decreased. Moreover, levels of loneliness increased in the presence of chronic illnesses. The mean total scores of the UCLA-LS were significantly positively correlated with the mean total score of the NHP-SI total score mean (r = 0.680, p < 0.001).

Assessment of participation in social life and the perception of loneliness

When evaluating the social relations toward the patients, 42% of the patients stated that they never participated in social activities outside, and 18% felt lonely even when in the company of others. Patients' answers such as "I feel alone when I am with others or relatives" and "who is living with" were evaluated mutually, and a significant difference was found (p = 0.009).) The social isolation subscale score of patients whose relatives visited was significantly lower (p < 0.001). Further, the social isolation subscale scores were considerably lower for patients who visited other people's homes (p < 0.001).

Distribution of Family Physicians' Characteristics

Five family physicians (four female and one male) participated in the study, with a mean age of 39.8 years. The mean work time in the profession was 15.8 years and had been working in their current Family Medicine Unit for an average of approximately 4.8 years. The percentage of patients aged over 65 years in the general population was 5%–11%, while the referral rate of patients over 65 years of age to family physicians varied between 8% and 24% daily.

Table 2. Frequency of patients' responses to UCLA Total score, NSP-SI subscale total score, and NSP-SI subscale

		Median	Sd	Min./Max.	
UCLA Loneliness Scale total score		36,69	6,71	28/61	
NHP-SI subscale total score		12,47	24,50	0,00/100	
Nottingham Health Profile /Social Isolation subs					
	N (%)	Median	Sd	Min./Max.	
I feel alone	1				
Yes	29 (14,5)	2.10	77/	0.00/00.01	
No	171 (85,5)	3,19	/,/6	0,00/22,01	
I have difficulty interacting with people					
Yes	27 (13,5)	2/1	(()	0.00/10.2/	
No	173 (86,5)	2,61	6,63	0,00/17,30	
I don't feel close to anyone					
Yes	17 (8,5)	1 71	F ()	0.00/00.10	
No	183 (91,5)	1,/1	5,62	0,00/20,13	
I think I'm a burden to people					
Yes	27 (13,5)	2.04	7 74		
No	173 (86,5)	3,04	/,/	0,00/22,53	
It's hard to get along with people					
Yes	24 (12)	1.01	F 20	0.00/15.07	
No	176 (88)	1,91	5,20	0,00/15,9/	

Family physicians' perceptions

There were two significant variables in the assessment of whether the five family physicians knew about the social relationships and loneliness of the patients. The first was the relationship between the economic status of individuals over the age of 65 and doctors' ability to predict whether their patients lived alone (p = 0.035). The second was the doctors' predictions of whether these individuals were alone, according to the marital status of those in the group who did not live alone (p < 0.001). It was not statistically significant whether doctors knew their patients were truly alone in terms of gender, pres-

ence of chronic disease, and occupational and social participation parameters (Table 4).

Comparison of Family Physician and Patient Answers

The family physicians reported that 34 of 39 patients said they lived alone, 113 of 122 patients reported living with their spouses, 7 of 19 patients reported living with their children, and 3 of 20 patients reported living with their caregivers or other persons. The kappa value of this comparison was 0.636, and the p-value was <0.001. It is worth noting that the doctors predominantly knew who their patients were living with (Table 5).



				UCLA-L	5	NHP-SI			
	Features	N	Med.	Sd	р	Med.	Sd	р	
	Female	103	36,05	6,38	0.474	9,94	21,15	0.400	
Gender	Male	97	37,36	7,02	0,171	15,15	27,47	0,133	
	Illiterate	12	43,91	8,24		34,86	33,44		
	literate	17	35,23	4,23		6,56	10,48		
F 1	Primary school	96	37,16	6,72	0.000	14,82	25,96	0,008	
Education	Middle School	32	35,18	6,68	0,002	8,06	24,79		
	High school	30	35,36	4,18		6,22	15,98		
	University	13	35,15	8,75		7,44	21,70		
	Married	152	36,42	6,99	0.044	11,71	23,20	0,093	
Marital status	Not married	48	37,52	6,63	0,241	14,88	24,92		
	Equal to monthly income	120	35,32	6,19		6,73	18,93	0,003	
Economical situation	Less than monthly income	73	37,55	6,96	0,038	16,52	27,24		
Gender Education Marital status Economical situation Chronic disease With whom she/he lives	More than monthly income	7	36,14	6,06		2,87	7,60		
Character d'annual	Yes	189	37,01	6,76	0.000	13,09	25,03		
Chronic disease	No	11	31,18	1,40	0,000	1,76	5,83	0,108	
	Alone	39	38,15	7,73		15,36	25,83	0,043	
With whom she/he	With his wife	122	35,91	6,27	0.457	10,84	24,91		
lives	With his wife and children	19	36,63	6,02	0,15/	11,83	22,39		
	Other (caregiver, sibling, relative)	20	36,69	6,71		17,38	21,58		

Table 3. UCLA-LS	, and NHP-SI subscale	evaluation with	Sociodemographic	data of the i	patients

DISCUSSION

The concepts of loneliness and social isolation in older people were assessed in detail using all their components. The rate of loneliness was between 40% and 50%, with females aged 80 years and over having relatively higher loneliness rates (10,11). In a study carried out in Spain, 36.7% of individuals over the age of 65 years lived alone, and 56% of men and 72% of women in this population reported that they felt increasingly lonely with age (12). Approximately 33% of the Dutch population over 55 years of age live alone, and 4% experience severe loneliness (13). In comparison, we found that 14.5% of the patients felt lonely, and that the mean loneliness score of 41% was above average. In Denmark, 17.6% of older patients who applied to a family physician felt lonely (14).

The total scores of our patients (from UCLA-LS and NHP-SI) correlated with their education level. It has been determined that as educational levels increase, loneliness and social isolation decrease. A similar relationship between education level and loneliness was found in Sweden and Iran (10,15). In Iran, 29% of patients felt lonely according to the UCLA-LS scale. Here, a high education level, high income level, and having a current job were inversely related to feelings of loneliness. Moreover, marital status, having several children, gender, place of residence, living in a nursing home, low-income level, and healthy self-assessment level were found to be positively associated with loneliness (15).

In New Zealand, a negative relationship was found between loneliness and physical health and psychosocial well-being (16). We found that lone-

Features		Those who live alone			Those who do not live alone		
		Family physician's answer			Family physician's answer		
		Not alone	Alone	р	Not alone	Alone	р
Candan	Female	1	17	0.240	83	2	0.05/
Gender	Male	4	17	0,349	71	5	0,256
Character d'annue	Yes	5	34	1	7	143	0.4/4
Chronic disease	No	5	34	I	0	11	0,464
	Equal to monthly income	17	0		56	0	0,084
Economical situation	Less than monthly income	17	5	0,035*	92	6	
	More than monthly income	0	0		6	1	
Marital status	Married	2	6	0.040	141	3	0.000
Iviarital status	Not married	3	28	0,248	13	4	0,000^
	At least once a week	3	20		79	2	0,106
Visited by relatives in	Less than once a week	1	11	0,688	64	3	
the last month	Never visited	1	3		11	2	
	At least once a week	2	13		42	2	0,900
visiting relatives in the past month	Less than once a week	1	16	0,318	78	3	
	Never visits	2	5		34	2	
Participation in out-of-	At least once a week	1	8		31	3	
home activities in the	Less than once a week	0	12	0,201	56	4	0,065
past month	Never participated	4	14		67	0	

Table 4. Evaluation of the loneliness status of their patients by family physicians

liness and social isolation decreased significantly with improvements in the patient's economic situation, and the UCLA-LS loneliness score was considerably higher in patients with chronic diseases. These results were similar to a study in Iran, where it was revealed that self-perceptions of loneliness decreased as financial situations improved (15). Hence, low-income levels, living alone, and having a chronic illness were determined to be factors that increased levels of loneliness in older patients (17,18).

Comparing with whom the patients lived and their social isolation status, it was determined that people living alone were significantly more isolated than other groups. It was also found that those who had never married, were widowed, or divorced, and those who lived in nursing homes were statistically and significantly more lonely compared to those who lived with their spouses or had children. The mean loneliness scores of older people living in two different nursing homes in Turkey were 51.10 and 39.05, compared to 40.43 and 45.36 for those living at home or in institutions, respectively (19). In Denmark, it was found that older people who lived alone were 3.5 times more likely to experience loneliness, while those with low levels of social participation were 4 times more likely to feel alone. Furthermore, females were 1.8 times more likely to feel alone (20).

The frequency of being visited by relatives at home and visiting relatives were positively related to the patients' NHP-SI scores. It was also observed that as the frequency of mutual visits increased, the



Who Lives With							
	Family Physician's Answer						
Patient's Answer	Alone N (%)	With his wife N (%)	With his wife and children N (%)With his wife and children N (%)Other N (%)Total		Total	kappa	р
Alone	34 (82,9)	2 %1,6	2 %6,1	1 %100	39		
With his wife	2 (4,9)	113 %90,4	7 %21,2	0 %0,0	122		
With his wife and children	0 (0,0)	7 %5,6	12 %36,4	0 %0,0	19	0,636	0,000*
Other (caregiver, sibling, relative)	5 (12,2)	3 %2,4	12 %36,4	0 %0,0	20		
Total	41	125	33	1	200		

Table 5. The overlap between the answers of the Family physician / patient for the question of whom the patients live with

perception of social isolation decreased. A prospective study conducted with 334 older people (mean age of 72.6 years) in Germany predicted that being socially isolated was associated with low levels of outside physical activity and more depressive symptoms. Here, depression, living alone, and low social participation levels were determined as the three most effective parameters associated with feelings of loneliness (6). However, only 15.2% of our patients who were experiencing loneliness shared this situation with their doctors.

The responses of the family physicians and patients to the question of who the patients lived with significantly overlapped, with 14.5% of the patients reporting that they lived alone compared to family physicians, estimating that 21.5% lived alone. The family physicians knew 82.9% of those who lived alone in their answers. They also knew 47.4% of the patients who reported living alone and 81.9% of not-alone patients (14). In a similar study conducted in Denmark, 17.6% of patients said that they were lonely, while the family physicians stated that 23.2% of their patients felt lonely.

Generally, we found that the family physicians did not know about the patients' social relationships/social participation, whether they felt lonely when with others, or whether they had a relative to talk to when they needed support. In another study in which the social participation of patients was examined, the patients were analyzed by grouping them into two levels. The doctors knew that the involvement of patients in social activities was low and moderate, at 56.4%, and the higher ones were known by 62.8%. It was also found that family physicians were more unsuccessful in identifying whether patients felt alone if they were not living alone and thought their social participation was high (14).

In this paper, when the doctor and patient answers about who the patients lived with were compared, the family physicians correctly predicted that 82.9% lived alone. In a qualitative study in the Netherlands, it was determined that family physicians never asked patients about loneliness. This apparent contradiction could be because the family physicians included in our study had been working with the same patient group for a long time or because the study in the Netherlands was carried out in a limited group due to the employed methodology (13).

Strengths and Limitations

The strength of this study was guaranteed by examining five different Family Medicine Units, one of which was rural. In addition, we did not include consecutive applied patients to avoid familiarity with the family physician's questions. The selection of family physicians from volunteers could have been a weakness of the study. This is because the sample did not reflect all family physicians' patients, since only patients who could come to the family physician and answer the questionnaire were included in the study.

CONCLUSIONS

This study revealed that social isolation was affected by the education level and economic status of the patients and with whom they lived. Furthermore, loneliness was affected by education level, financial situation, and the presence of a chronic disease. These results suggest that family physicians should be aware of their older patients' perceptions of loneliness and social isolation and should create an environment in which they can share these concerns. Considering that elderly patients who are socially isolated and living alone may require health institutions more frequently, family physicians should pay special attention to the social isolation and loneliness of the elderly.

REFERENCES

- Cohen-Mansfield J, Hazan H, Lerman Y, Shalom V. Correlates and predictors of loneliness in older adults: a review of quantitative results informed by qualitative insights. Int Psychogeriatr 2016;28(4):557-76. (PMID: 26424033)
- Carpenter EN. The relationship between intimate partner relationship quality and health outcomes for filial caregivers. Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy 2019;18(4):366-388. (DOI: 10.1080/15332691.2019.1642818)
- 3. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Ageing and the health system: challenges, opportunities and adaptations; 2014. [Internet]. Available from <u>https://</u> www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/19dbc591-b1ef-4485-<u>80ce-029ff66d6930/6_9-health-ageing.pdf.aspx</u>. Accessed: 06.06.2022.
- World Health Organization. How can health systems respond to population ageing?; 2009. [Internet]. Available from <u>https://www.euro.who.int/__data/</u> <u>assets/pdf_file/0004/64966/E92560.pdf</u> Accessed: 06.06.2022.
- Courtin E, Knapp M. Social isolation, loneliness and health in old age: a scoping review. Health Soc Care Community 2017;25(3):799-812. (PMID: 26712585)
- Herbolsheimer F, Ungar N, Peter R. Why Is Social Isolation Among Older Adults Associated with Depressive Symptoms? The Mediating Role of Out-of-Home Physical Activity. Int J Behav Med 2018;25(6):649-657. (PMID: 30350258)

- World Health Organization. Towards Age-friendly Primary Health Care; 2004. [Internet]. Available from <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/</u> handle/10665/43030/9241592184.pdf;jsessionid=3EA422168CA54DF9695CDAAE102C455E?sequence=1 Accessed: 06.06.2022.
- Ploeg J, Brazil K, Hutchison B et al. Effect of preventive primary care outreach on health related quality of life among older adults at risk of functional decline: Randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2010;16:1-10. (PMID: 20400483)
- John JR, Tannous WK, Jones A. Changes in health-related quality of life before and after a 12-month enhanced primary care model among chronically ill primary care patients in Australia. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes 2020;18(1):1-11. (PMID: 32831086)
- Dahlberg L, Agahi N, Lennartsson C. Lonelier than ever? Loneliness of older people over two decades. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2018;75:96-103. (PMID: 29220739)
- 11. Dykstra PA. Older adult loneliness: myths and realities. Eur J Ageing 2009;6(2):91-100. (PMID: 19517025)
- Gené-Badia J, Ruiz-Sánchez M, Obiols-Masóbd N, Puig LO, Jiménez EL. Social isolation and loneliness: What can we do as Primary Care teams? Aten Primaria 2016;48(9):604-609. (PMID: 27667145)
- van der Zwet J, Koelewijn-van Loon MS, van den Akker M. Lonely patients in general practice: a call for revealing GPs' emotions? A qualitative study. Fam Pract 2009;26(6):501-9. (PMID: 19770218)



- Due TD, Sandholdt H, Siersma VD, Waldorff FB. How well do general practitioners know their elderly patients' social relations and feelings of loneliness? BMC Family Practice 2018;19(1):19:34. (PMID: 29482509)
- Vakili M, Mirzaei M, Modarresi M. Loneliness and Its Related Factors among Elderly People in Yazd. Elderly Health Journal 2017;3(1):10-15.
- Alpass FM, Neville S. Loneliness, health and depression in older males. Aging Ment Health 2003;7(3):212-216. (PMID: 12775403)
- 17. Savikko N, Routasalo P, Tilvis RS, Strandberg TE, Pitkälä KH. Predictors and subjective causes of loneliness in an aged population. Arch Gerontol Geriatr

2005;41(3):223-233. (PMID: 15908025)

- Hacihasanoğlu R, Yildirim A, Karakurt P. Loneliness in elderly individuals, level of dependence in activities of daily living (ADL) and influential factors. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2012;54(1):61-6. (PMID: 21514680)
- Tel H, Sabancioğlu S. Status of maintenance of activities of daily living and experience of loneliness in elder than 60 years old living at home and in institutions. Turkish Journal of Geriatrics 2006;9(1):34-40.
- 20. Due TD, Sandholdt H, Waldorff FB. Social relations and loneliness among older patients consulting their general practitioner. Dan Med J 2017;64(3):1-6. (PMID: 28260597)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.309 2022; 25(4): 514-520

Hasan ÖZTİN ¹ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	D
İlyas ÖZTÜRK ²	D
Burak OYMAK ³	D
Yahya Ayhan ACAR ⁴ ··········	D
Murat AYSIN ⁵	

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Hasan ÖZTİN

Phone : +905053355623 e-mail : dr.hasanoztin@gmail.com

Received : Aug 04, 2022 Accepted : Nov 21, 2022

- ¹ İzmir Katip Celebi University, Ataturk Education and Research Hospital, Geriatric and Palliative care, izmir, Turkey
- 2Kahramanmaras Sutcu Imam University, Department of Nephrology , Kahramanmaras, Turkey
- 3University of Health Sciences, Erzurum Regional Education and Research Hospital, Central Laboratory, Erzurum, Turkey
- 4University of Health Sciences, Gülhane School of Medicine, Department of Emergency Medicine, Ankara, Turkey
- 5İzmir Katip Celebi University, Atatürk Education and Research Hospital, Department of Public Health, izmir, Turkey

RESEARCH

ASSOCIATION BETWEEN C-REACTIVE PROTEIN/ALBUMIN AND C-REACTIVE PROTINE/PROTEIN RATIOS AND POOR OUTCOMES IN PALLIATIVE CARE PATIENTS WITH PRESSURE ULCERS

Abstract

Introduction: Pressure ulcers are a significant cause of mortality and morbidity in older adult patients. Inflammatory processes accompany pressure ulcers. C-reactive protein and procalcitonin tests are sufficiently sensitive to show inflammation.Determining the ratios of these tests to each other may show a better performance in diagnosing and predicting the prognosis

Materials and Method: In this retrospective observational study, the records of patients with stage 2 and higher stage pressure ulcers who were followed up in the Adult Palliative Care Unit between January 1, 2019, and December 31, 2019 were reviewed. The National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel staging system was used for pressure ulcer staging. The patients were followed up for one year after hospitalization.

Results: The study included 151 patients with pressure ulcer who met the study criteria [80 (52.9%) female; 71 (47.1%) male] with a mean age of 74.7 \pm 12.6 years, and a mean length of hospital stay of 50.7 \pm 53.25 days. The one-year mortality rate was 70.8% (107/151).C-reaktif protein/albumin ratio and C-reaktif protein/total protein ratios were found to be significantly higher in the group with mortality (p<0.05). A ROC analysis revealed a cut-off value of 30.05 for the prediction of mortality in CRP, as the point at which the sum of the sensitivity and specificity values is the highest. The value of 35.2 predicting mortality for C-reaktif protein albumin ratio is the point at which the sum of the sensitivity and specificity values is the highest.

Conclusion: C-reaktif protein albumin ratio and CRP protein ratios demonstrated better prognosis and mortality prediction performance than CRP, albumin and total protein alone.

Keywords: Pressure Ulcer; Palliative Care; C-Reactive Protein.

INTRODUCTION

Pressure ulcers (PU) typically occur on the skin covering bony prominences and areas of the body that are subject to pressure. PUs are a common condition, especially in bedridden patients with limited mobility and older adults, with two-thirds of those who develop PUs being aged over 70 years (1). In addition to being a leading cause of both morbidity and mortality, PUs are responsible for disabling symptoms and so result in significant healthcare costs (1-2). In fact, the mortality rate associated with PUs has been reported to be 66% within a 12-week median follow-up period (3).

An inflammatory process usually accompanies the formation of PUs. C-reactive protein (CRP) and procalcitonin tests have been found to be sufficiently sensitive for the identification of the inflammation (4). The level of CRP, which is an essential acute-phase protein, is most commonly used for the identification of inflammation in daily practice. Procalcitonin is a calcitonin-related gene product expressed by human epithelial cells in response to bacterial infections (5), and it can be used as a blood infection biomarker for guiding antibiotic therapies in the presence of pulmonary infections (6). Moreover, procalcitonin is an important inflammatory marker for the monitoring of infections, especially in sepsis patients. Prior studies have examined the use of various inflammatory markers for prognostic purposes in relation to several diseases (7, 8), with CRP, albumin, procalcitonin, and protein tests being found to be easily accessible and highly applicable in hospital environments.

A high CRP/albumin ratio has recently been shown to associated with a poor prognosis and increased mortality in patients with various diseases, including sepsis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), liver cirrhosis, restless leg syndrome, inflammation, postoperative complications of abdominal surgeries, and certain malignancies (9,10,11). The CRP/albumin ratio is also a useful indicator of both mortality and morbidity in critically ill patients (12). The prediction of mortality based on the ratios of these parameters is known to be more accurate than the use of any one of them alone (13), although to the best of our knowledge no prior study has investigated the association between PUs and patients' CRP/protein, CRP/albumin, and/ or CRP/procalcitonin ratios.

In light of prior findings, the present study examines the association between the CRP/protein, CRP/ albumin, and CRP/procalcitonin ratios and mortality in patients with PUs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Approval for this retrospective observational study was obtained from the local clinical research ethics committee (No: 2020/10-111).

This study involved a retrospective review of patients with stage 2 or higher PUs who were followed up at the Adult Palliative Care Unit between January 1, 2019 and December 31, 2019. The National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel's staging system was used for the PU staging (14). Of the 195 patients initially reviewed, 44 with stage 1 PUs were excluded from the study due to the possibility of subjectivity in relation to their diagnosis. The remaining patients were followed up for one year after hospitalization. Patients with stage 2 and higher PUs were followed up and survived and non-survived were compared. The required data were retrieved from the electronic hospital information management system and the patients' files. After discharge, the patients were contacted by telephone to establish survival.

The patients' demographic characteristics, comorbidities, length of hospital stay (LOS), and presence of percutaneous enterogastrostomy or other catheters were recorded. The patients' initial laboratory parameters (from within 48 hours of their admission for palliative care) were also recorded from their charts and the electronic hospital information system. Any patients with data missing from their follow-up files were excluded from the study.



The reference values were 0–5 mg/l for CRP, 3.5– 5.5 g/dl for albumin, 0–0.5 ng/ml for procalcitonin, and 5.5–8.8 g/l for protein. The CRP/albumin ratio (CAR) was calculated by dividing the CRP level by the albumin level, while the CRP/procalcitonin ratio (CPR) was calculated by dividing the CRP level by the procalcitonin level, and the CRP/protein ratio (CPrR) was calculated by dividing the CRP level by the protein level.

Statistical analyses

All the statistical analyses in this study were conducted using PASW Statistics (version 18.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA) software. The demographic data were presented as the frequency and percentage, while the continuous variables were presented as the mean and standard deviation. A chi-square test was used to compare the categorical variables between the two groups. A Mann-Whitney U test and Student's t-test were used to perform pairwise comparisons of the non-normally and normally distributed continuous data, respectively. A receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis was conducted to identify the cut-off values for the ratios. A p-value of < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 195 patients were initially assessed for potential inclusion in this study, although 44 were subsequently excluded due to their decubitus ulcer level and/or missing data. As a consequence, a total of 151 patients with PUs who met the eligibility criteria were included in the study. The final sample comprised 80 (52.9%) females and 71 (47.1%) males. Moreover, the mean age was 74.7 ± 12.6 years, the mean LOS was 50.7 ± 53.2 days, and the one-year mortality rate was 70.8% (107/151). The patients' demographic characteristics and laboratory results are summarized in **Table 1**. The most common comorbidities in both groups (survived and exitus) were found to be similar, including infection (42.4%), cerebrovascular event (35.8%), hypertension (27.8%),

Parameters	Exitus	Survived	p*
	mean (SD)	mean (SD)	•
Age (years)	77.5 (11.0)	71.9 (14.2)	0.022
Length of Stay (days)	56.3 (73.7)	45.1 (98.8)	0.537
CRP (mg/dl)	79.4 (61.8)	65.2 (75.1)	0.274
Protein (g/dl)	5.4 (0.8)	5.7 (0.8)	0.082
Albumin (g/dl)	2.6 (0.5)	2.8 (0.5)	0.069
Procalcitonin	0.9 (1.7)	1.6 (4.5)	0.361
Glucose (mg/dl)	134.7 (93.5)	135.6 (65.3)	0.949
BUN (mg/dl)	31.3 (24.4)	24.3 (23.2)	0.103
Creatinine (mg/dl)	0.8 (0.5)	0.8 (0.7)	0.762
ALT (U/I)	27.1 (22.6)	27.6 (25.4)	0.920
AST (U/I)	29.9 (24.1)	30.9 (29.7)	0.856
Sodium (mmol/l)	137.5 (8.2)	136.9 (6.7)	0.607
Potassium (mmol/l)	3.8 (0.6)	3.7 (0.8)	0.402
TSH (uIU/ml)	1.4 (1.3)	1.8 (1.8)	0.257
Vitamin D (ng/ml)	13.7 (9.9)	15.1 (11.5)	0.560
WBC (/1000)	10.1 (5.7)	8.8 (3.7)	0.099
HGB (g/dl)	10.4 (2.2)	10.7 (1.6)	0.368
PLT (/1000)	158.7 (133.7)	193.5 (148.1)	0.180

Table 1. Patients' demographic characteristics and laboratory results



and neurodegenerative diseases such as dementia or Parkinson's disease (15.3%) (**Table 2**). A comparison of the patients' genders and comorbidities is presented in **Table 3**.

The CAR and CPrR were found to be significantly higher in the group with mortality (p<0.05) (**Table 4**), although there was no statistically significant difference in terms of the CRP between the two groups.

The ROC analysis showed that a value of 30.05 when predicting mortality using the CRP represented the point at which the sum of the sensitivity and selectivity values was the highest (sensitivity 79.1%, specificity 46.2%). Furthermore, a value of 35.2 when predicting mortality using the CAR was the point at which the sum of the sensitivity and selectivity values was the highest (sensitivity 46.5%, specificity 79.2%). In addition, a value of 16.2 when predicting

 Table 2. Frequency of patient comorbidities

Parameters	n	%
Infection	64	42.4%
Cerebrovascular Event	54	35.8%
Hypertension	42	27.8%
Neurodegenerative Disease	41	27.2%
Diabetes Mellitus	28	18.5%
Congestive Heart Failure	25	16.6%
Cancer	24	15.9%
Malnutrition	10	6.6%
Urinary Catheter	146	96.7%
Central Venous Catheter	79	52.3%
Percutaneous Endoscopic Gastrostomy	51	33.8%

Table 3. Comparison of patient	s' gender and comorbidities

Parameters		Exitus, n (%)	Survived, n (%)	p*	
Canadan	Male	22 (31.0)	49 (69.0)	0 (20	
Gender	Female	22 (27.5)	58 (72.5)	0.638	
	No	32 (29.4)	77 (70.6)	0.024	
Hypertension	Yes	12 (28.6)	30 (71.4)	0.924	
Diabetes Mellitus	No	38 (30.9)	85 (69.1)	0.320	
	Yes	6 (21.4)	22 (78.6)		
Cerebrovascular Event	No	29 (29.9)	68 (70.1)	0.704	
	Yes	15 (27.8)	39 (72.2)	0.784	
Cancer	No	32 (25.2)	95 (74.8)	0.014	
	Yes	12 (50.0)	12 (50.0)	0.014	

Table 4. Comparison of the CRP, protein, CRP/albumin and CRP/protein results

Parameters	Cut-off value	AUC (95% CI)	р	Sensitivity %	Specificity %
CRP (mg/dl)	30.1	0.621 (0.527-0.716)	0.020	79.1	46.2
CRP/albumin	35.2	0.640 (0.543-0.737)	0.007	46.5	79.2
CRP/protein	6.3	0.633 (0.538-0.728)	0.011	74.4	50.9

mortality using the CPrR was the point at which the sum of the sensitivity and specificity values was the highest (sensitivity 41.9%, specificity 79.2%).

DISCUSSION

The present study sought to identify a laboratory value that can be used alongside the CRP level and inflammation-related parameters to predict mortality in elderly patients with PUs. As there are many factors that influence the CRP level (e.g., infection, rheumatologic disease, cancer, etc.) (15), we explored the ratios of the laboratory values that are less affected by the inflammatory factors assessed when following up PUs. As elderly patients may experience a decrease in their inflammatory response, the CRP level alone may fail to fully indicate the severity of the inflammation in cases of PUs (16).

CRP is recognized as a significant laboratory parameter when it comes to the prediction of survival and mortality (17). The CRP test is sensitive to tissue damage, acute infection, and inflammatory conditions, and the CRP level is known to increase in cases in which tissue damage and inflammation occur together, as is common with PUs (18). Procalcitonin is an acute-phase reactant that increases in patients with infectious diseases such as sepsis, pneumonia, and PUs (19,20). The CAR provides data concerning both inflammation and malnutrition (1), which is why it is commonly used in practice as a prognostic indicator for several diseases, especially during the follow-up of critical patients hospitalized for intensive care or palliative care (2). Indeed, high CRP levels are an important predictor of mortality in critically ill patients (21).

In a previous study, Amano et al. identified a significant relationship between the CRP levels, symptoms, and daily life activities of advanced cancer patients receiving palliative care (22). Ranzani et al. conducted a study involving 334 patients hospitalized in the intensive care unit for a minimum of 72 hours with a diagnosis of sepsis and septic shock, and they found both the CRP level and the CAR to be independent risk factors for mortality (9). Oh et al. reported that a one unit increase in the CAR leads to an 11% increase in the 30-day mortality risk among critically ill intensive care patients, while they identified the albumin level alone as a more reliable parameter than the CAR when it comes to predicting 30-day mortality (12).

CONCLUSION

In the present study, the CAR and CPrR were identified as useful predictors of mortality in patients with PUs, although the contribution of the CPR was found to be more limited. Based on the findings of this study, it can be concluded that the CAR and CPrR can be used as predictive parameters concerning the prognosis and mortality of patients with PUs. While this study found that the CPR could contribute to the determination of patients' prognosis and mortality, its effect was statistically insignificant. This finding may be attributable to the relatively small number of patients involved in the study and/ or the impact of PUs and nutritional status on patients' albumin levels.

Limitations

It must be acknowledged that the findings of this study were based on limited data due to its retrospective and single-center design, which limits the generalizability of the results. In addition, the participating PU patients were largely older adults with multiple comorbidities, which may have influenced the results.





Diagonal segments are produced by ties.

Area Under the Curve							
	Area Std. Error ^a		Asymptotic Sig. ^b	Asymptotic 95% Confidence Interval			
lest Result Variable(s)		Std. Error ^a		Lower Bound	Upper Bound		
CRP	0.621	0.048	0.020	0.527	0.716		
CRP/Albumin	0.640	0.050	0.007	0.543	0.737		
CRP/Protein	0.633	0.049	0.011	0.538	0.728		
a. Under the nonparametric assumption							
b. Null hypothesis: true area = 0.5							

REFERENCES

- Bansal C, Scott R, Stewart D, et al. Decubitus ulcers: a review of the literature. Int J Dermatol. 2005;44(10):805. (PMID: 16207179)
- Bluestein D, Javaheri A. Pressure ulcers: prevention, evaluation, and management. Am Fam Physician. 2008;78(10):1186. (PMID: 19035067)
- 3. Khor HM, Tan J, Saedon NI, et al. Determinants of mortality among older adults with pressure ul-

cers. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2014;59(3):536. (PMID: 25091603)

- 4. Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Rhodes A, et al. Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2012. Crit Care Med. 2013;41(2):580. (PMID: 23353941)
- 5. Müller B, Becker KL, Schächinger H, et al. Calcitonin precursors are reliable markers of sepsis in a medi-

cal intensive care unit. Crit Care Med. 2000;28(4):977. (PMID: 10809269)

- 6. Lee SH, Lee EJ, Min KH, et al. Procalcitonin as a diagnostic marker in differentiating parapneumonic effusion from tuberculous pleurisy or malignant effusion. Clin Biochem. 2013;46(15):1484. (PMID: 23570862)
- Chang PY, Kuo YB, Wu TL, et al. Association and prognostic value of serum inflammation markers in patients with leukoplakia and oral cavity cancer. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2013;51(6):1291. (PMID: 23154424)
- Kibe S, Adams K, Barlow G. Diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers of sepsis in critical care. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2011;66(Suppl 2):ii33. (PMID: 21398306)
- Ranzani OT, Zampieri FG, Forte DN, et al. C-reactive protein/albumin ratio predicts 90-day mortality of septic patients. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e59321. (PMID: 23555017)
- 10. Olgun Yazar H, Yazar T, Ozdemir S, et al. Serum C-reactive protein/albumin ratio and restless legs syndrome. Sleep Med. 2019;58:61. (PMID: 31129525).
- Basile-Filho A, Lago AF, Menegueti MG, et al. The use of APACHE II, SOFA, SAPS 3, C-reactive protein/ albumin ratio, and lactate to predict mortality of surgical critically ill patients: a retrospective cohort study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98(26):e16204. (PMID: 31261567)
- Oh TK, Song IA, Lee JH. Clinical usefulness of C-reactive protein to albumin ratio in predicting 30-day mortality in critically ill patients: a retrospective analysis. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):14977. (PMID: 30297724)
- Fairclough E, Cairns E, Hamilton J, et all. Evaluation of a modified early warning system for acute medical admissions and comparison with C-reactive protein/ albumin ratio as a predictor of patient outcome. Clin Med (Lond). 2009 Feb;9(1):30-3. (PMID: 19271597)
- 14. Edsberg LE, Black JM, Goldberg M, et al. Revised National Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel Pressure In-

jury Staging System: Revised Pressure Injury Staging System. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2016;43(6):585. (PMID: 27749790)

- Landry A, Docherty P, Ouellette S, et al. Causes and outcomes of markedly elevated C-reactive protein levels. Can Fam Physician. 2017;63(6):e316. (PMID: 28615410)
- Stojadinovic O, Minkiewicz J, Sawaya A, et al. Deep tissue injury in development of pressure ulcers: a decrease of inflammasome activation and changes in human skin morphology in response to aging and mechanical load. PLoS One. 2013;8(8):e69223. (PMID: 23967056)
- Tian R, Tian M, Wang L, et al. C-reactive protein for predicting cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in type 2 diabetic patients: a meta-analysis. Cytokine. 2019;117:59. (PMID: 30826600)
- Vanderschueren S, Deeren D, Knockaert DC, et al. Extremely elevated C-reactive protein. Eur J Intern Med. 2006;17(6):430. (PMID: 16962952)
- Samsudin I, Vasikaran SD. Clinical utility and measurement of procalcitonin. Clin Biochem Rev. 2017;38(2):59. (PMID: 29332972)
- Theilla M, Singer P, Cohen J, et al. A diet enriched in eicosapentanoic acid, gamma-linolenic acid and antioxidants in the prevention of new pressure ulcer formation in critically ill patients with acute lung injury: a randomized, prospective, controlled study. Clin Nutr. 2007;26(6):752. (PMID: 17933438)
- 21. Park JE, Chung KS, Song JH, et al. The C-reactive protein/albumin ratio as a predictor of mortality in critically ill patients. J Clin Med. 2018;7(10): 333. (PMID: 30297655)
- Amano K, Maeda I, Morita T, et al. C-reactive protein, symptoms and activity of daily living in patients with advanced cancer receiving palliative care. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2017;8(3):457. (PMID: 28247593)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.310 2022; 25(4): 521-528

Seda GÜNEY¹
 Ayişe KARADAĞ¹

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Seda GÜNEY

Phone : +905552637133 e-mail : guneysd@gmail.com

Received : Jun 21, 2022 Accepted : Oct 27, 2022

¹ Koç University , Faculty of Nursing , Istanbul, Turkey

RESEARCH

STAFF-BASED INDIVIDUALIZED CARE INVENTORY: PSYCHOMETRIC PROPERTIES OF THE TURKISH VERSION

Abstract

Introduction: The Individualized Care Inventory–short form is a 22-item self-report measure with four sub-dimensions: knowing the resident, residents' autonomy and choice, staff-to-resident communication, and staff-to-staff communication. The inventory is used for in the context of dementia care. The present study aimed to assess the inventory's psychometric properties with a sample of formal caregivers from nursing homes.

Materials and Methods: The study was conducted with 184 formal caregivers from 13 different nursing homes in Istanbul between July and September 2020. This study used translation and back translation for the scale's language equivalence and expert opinion for the content validity. The reliability and validity were tested by exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis, test-retest correlation analyses and internal consistency.

Results: The content validity index for the inventory was 0.93. In the construct validity analysis, four sub-dimensions corresponding to the original factor structure were derived for the inventory. Cronbach's alpha values for the factors, namely knowing the resident ($\alpha = 0.618$), autonomy and choice of the resident ($\alpha = 0.768$), and communication ($\alpha = 0.713$) were satisfactory. The tests-retests was conducted in a 15–25-day intervals, and all sub-dimensions were positively correlated (r: 0.236–0.390) (p < 0.05).

Conclusion: The Turkish Individualized Care Inventory is a valid and reliable tool that can be used to measure the individualized care approaches of formal caregivers in nursing homes.

Keywords: Dementia; Patient-Centered Care; Long-Term Care; Psychometrics.

INTRODUCTION

Individualized care, in contrast to routine or task-oriented care, focuses on meeting the needs of a particular patient at a particular point in time (1) and encompasses the values and principles of holistic care, including respect for individuality, attention to nursing needs, promotion of independence, partnership and negotiation of care, and equity and fairness (2). The critical, common themes characterizing individual-centered care are patient participation and inclusion, communication between the patient and healthcare worker, and the conditions of the place where healthcare is provided (3).

Caring for people with dementia living with multiple chronic conditions and/or functional limitations involves enhancing safety, quality of care, and quality of life through individualized care (IC). Individualized care is a standard practice that takes into account the individuality of the patients and encourages their participation in daily activities and decision making (4). IC promotes the wellbeing, health outcomes, individual functioning, autonomy, and satisfaction of the patient by tailoring the care activities, preferences, and choices to each individual's unique characteristics (5).

To promote person-centered care (PCC) practices and research in geriatric care, it is necessary to ensure that evaluations are carried out using specific measurement tools with appropriate psychometric properties. Since the difficulties and complexities in providing IC for older people, especially people with dementia, are evident (6), Individualized Care Inventory (ICI) which is easy to use, have been developed to measure and understand the individualized care approaches in long-term care environments. Other observational tools, such as Dementia Care Mapping (7) and Resident-centered Assessment of Interactions with Staff and Engagement (RAISE) (8), require large amounts of time to implement and are thus difficult to use with large sample sizes. Furthermore, the Individualized Care Scale (ICS) was developed by Suhonen and colleagues (2007) for older people's care settings but not specifically for dementia care (9). ICS's intended use was in acute care, within a framework of nursing science, and thus would be more appropriate in such settings. Notably, a comparative study of ICI and ICS instruments revealed that a combination of these two tools would be more comprehensive and informative in assessing individualized nursing care for older people (10). While the ICS has already been adapted to the Turkish population by Acaroglu and colleagues (11), a psychometric evaluation and a cultural adaptation of the ICI are required to ensure that both instruments can be used in combination in Turkish older adult care settings.

The ICI was designed to measure the approaches of staff caring for people with dementia based on the following domains: knowing the residents, upholding patient autonomy and choice, and maintaining staff-to-resident and staff-to-staff communication (4). The inventory enables self-evaluations of formal caregivers' individualized care approaches with the aim of enhancing person-centered care (12). Notably, the psychometric properties of the English-Canadian (4) and Chinese (12) versions of the ICI have been examined. Furthermore, O'Rourke and colleagues analyzed the inventory to determine and compare the structures of registered nurses and licensed practical nurses' responses; the formal caregivers involved in the study interpreted and responded to ICI items in a similar manner, indicating the research and practical suitability of this inventory for both groups (13).

Thus, research indicates that interventions aiming to improve person-centered care in long-term care facilities could use the ICI to assess the approaches of formal caregivers working in dementia care. However, it is essential that researchers and managers in the field are equipped with accurate measures to evaluate the effectiveness of individualized care approaches and interventions. To this end, the purpose of the present study was to evaluate the validity and reliability of the short 22-item ICI



for dementia care with a sample of Turkish-speaking formal caregivers providing dementia care in nursing homes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design

A cross-sectional design was adopted to test whether the psychometric properties of the staffbased ICI are suitable for the inventory's use with Turkish-speaking formal caregivers and nurses in long-term care facilities. The STROBE checklist was used for this article (14).

Participants and Data Collection

This methodological and cross-sectional study was conducted to assess the reliability and validity of the Turkish staff-based individualized care inventory (ICI). Physical copies of the self-administered survey forms were sent to 13 nursing homes (12 privately owned and one municipality-owned) in Istanbul by post between July and September 2020. The nursing homes' bed capacities varied from 20 to 120, and the bed allocations were not exclusively for people with dementia but also included other residents without dementia. Nurses, elderly care technicians, and certified caregivers of people with dementia were asked to participate in the study. For validation studies, the larger the sample size, the better; however, the subject-to-item ratio is also suitable for determining sample size if it is intuitively more useful for the researchers and allows for utilizing samples of appropriate sizes (15). Accordingly, the optimal sample size of this study was calculated based on the number of items in ICI, that is, 22. The researchers aimed to reach a sufficiently large sample size with a subject-to-item ratio between 5:1 and 10:1. Subsequently, a total of 184 participants from the 13 facilities were included in the study, resulting in a subject-to-item ratio of 8.4:1, which fell within the targeted range. Retests were conducted with 101 participants from the same facilities in 15-25-day intervals.

Staff-Based Individualized Care Inventory

The ICI was developed by Chappell and colleagues (2007) to evaluate healthcare staff's perceptions of individualized care provided to people with dementia (4). The inventory has four dimensions: (i) knowing the person or resident (IC-know), (ii) providing opportunities for autonomy and choice (IC-autonomy), (iii) ensuring staff-to-staff communication (IC-communication-SS) and staff-to-resident communication (IC-communication-SR). The long (47 items) and short (22 items) versions of the ICI were developed by Chappell et al. after a factor analysis. The responses for IC-know, IC-communication-SS, and IC-communication-SR were collected using a four-point Likert-type scale (1 = strongly disagree, 2 = somewhat disagree, 3 = somewhat agree, 4 =strongly agree) and a five-point Likert-type scale for IC-autonomy (1 = very frequently, 2 = frequently, 3 = occasionally, 4 = seldom, 5 = never). The same scoring type was used for both short and long versions.

The current study used the short version of the ICI. The following four sub-dimensions and their Cronbach's alpha values were considered: IC-know (0.75), IC-autonomy (0.84), IC-communication-SR (0.67) and IC-communication-SS (0.77) (4).

IC-know refers to the staff's own perceptions of how well they know the individuals they are caring for, and the six-item IC-know scale results in scores between 6 and 24. The eight-item IC-autonomy scale measures the general environment in which the staff work, and the possible scores fall between 8 and 40. The three-item IC-communication-SR scale focuses on how the staff communicates with the residents, with possible scores between 3 and 12. Finally, the five-item IC-communication-SS scale reflects the way the staff communicate with one another and with their supervisors, with possible scores lying between 5 and 20. Higher scores indicate better results in each domain. Notably, the domains in the original version of the ICI were found to be highly correlated with one another, with Pearson's *r* ranging from 0.85 to 0.94 (4).

Translation Procedure

The original questionnaire was independently translated from English to Turkish by three individual researchers and one professional translation office and then back-translated into English by another translation office. The back-translated version was then compared with the English version of the ICI to ensure that the items had no differences in meaning and to confirm the items' conceptual meaning, clarity, and terminology.

Data Analysis

For the statistical data analysis, IBM SPSS Statistics (version 26) and IBM SPSS AMOS (Analysis of Moment Structures) (version 26) were used. Missing data accounted for less than 1% of all the data, and case mean substitution was used to replace the missing values—a technique generally recommended for the same (16).

Next, content validity was evaluated. The translated final version of the ICI was submitted to a panel of six specialists who were informed about the scale and the concepts involved. These experts in geriatric nursing or dementia care were asked to evaluate the 22 items of the inventory, compare the items with those of the original instrument. and evaluate each item on a four-point scale (4 = very relevant, 3 = relevant with some adjustment to phrasing, 2 = only relevant if phrasing is profoundly adjusted, and 1 = not relevant). The content validity index (CVI) was calculated based on the number of experts who provided a rating of 3 or 4 for each item, and the total scores were divided by the total number of experts. A CVI score of 0.80 or above was considered acceptable (16).

Descriptive statistics (mean, frequency, and percentage) were used to describe the participants' sociodemographic and job-related characteristics. To determine the construct validity of the scale, an exploratory factor analysis (EFA) and a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) were carried out. In the reliability tests conducted, internal consistency was assessed using item-total correlations and Cronbach's alpha. Test-retest results were compared using Spearman's correlation.

Ethical Considerations

Written permission to use the ICI was obtained from the authors who developed the instrument. Permission to undertake the study was obtained from Koç University Clinical Research Ethical Review Board (NO: 2020.011.IRB1.002). Participants were informed of the purpose of the study and invited to participate. Participants were assured of their right to refuse to participate or to withdraw from the study at any stage.

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics

A total of 256 staff and care providers from 13 eligible facilities were asked to participate in the study, of which 184 agreed. The majority of participants were female (71%), with a mean age of 31 years; 49.5% were certified caregivers, 31.5% were nurses, and 18.5% were elderly care technicians. Most of the participants had attained a high school level of education (40.2%) and had an average of 6 years of job experience in elderly care and 4.2 years of job experience in dementia care. 72.8% of the staff had not undergone specific education for dementia issues or dementia care (**Table 1**).

Construct Validity

Construct validity for the Turkish version of the ICI was analyzed using EFA and CFA. Before conducting these analyses, the Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin (KMO) test and Bartlett's test were conducted. Specifically, the adequacy of the sample size was determined using the KMO value; the result was 0.706, indicating that the sample size was suitable for EFA. The results of the Bartlett's Test of Sphericity were statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 1200.455$, p = 0.00, p < 0.01). This result indicates the assumption of equal variances for the sample is true before running certain statistical tests.


Charac	teristics	n	%
Age	18-25 age	76	41.8
	26-36 age	47	25.8
	37-56 age	59	32.4
Gender	Female	130	71
	Male	53	29
Education	Primary school	37	20.1
	High school	74	40.2
	Vocational school	56	30.4
	University degree	13	7.1
	Graduate degree	2	1.1
Job title	Nurse	58	31.5
	Elderly care technician	34	18.5
	Certified Caregiver	91	49.5
Elderly care experience	0-2 Years	24	14.4
	2-4 Years	55	32.9
	4-8 Years	37	22.2
	8-12 Years	30	17.9
	12-18 Years	15	9.0
	>18 Years	6	3.6
Dementia specific education	Yes	46	27.2
	No	123	72.8

Table 1. Sample Characteristics

The EFA analysis revealed a four-factor structure for the scale. A principal component analysis was used as the extraction method, and the item loadings were between 0.40 and 0.82 after rotation (varimax). The four-factor structure was found to explain 47.153% of the total variance.

The model fit of the item–factor relationship derived by EFA was assured by CFA. CFA fit indices were used to reveal the adequacy of the model in this study, namely the chi-square fit, goodness-of-fit index (GFI), root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), comparison of model fit indices (CFI), and normed fit index (NFI). The scale's fit indices were significant after modification ($\chi 2 = 294.97$; df = 155, p = 0.00; p < 0.01). The fit index values were as follows: GFI = 0.865; RMSEA = 0.070; CFI = 0.849; NFI = 0.736 (Table 2). Two items in the ICI were found to be meaningless based on their regression weights and p < 0.05 statistical significance level

and were thus deleted. One of the deleted items was from the IC-know subscale, and the other was from the IC-autonomy subscale. Accordingly, the Turkish version of the ICI was reduced to 20 items. Modification processes were carried out by creating covariance matrices between the appropriate items. The fit indices of the model provided an acceptable level of validity after these modifications.

Reliability Analysis

The reliability of the inventory was evaluated using an item-total correlation test, Cronbach's alpha coefficient test, and test-retest correlation. The Cronbach's alpha values of the IC-know, IC-autonomy, and IC-communication subscales were 0.618, 0.768, and 0.718, respectively. Item-total correlation coefficients were corrected and calculated for the items of each dimension of the ICI. Average item-total correlations ranged between 0.194 and 0.543 for

Fit Indices	Before Modification	After Modification
χ^2 / df	531.84 / 203 = 2.62	294.97 / 155 = 1.903
RMSEA	0.094	0.070
SRMR	0.093	0.081
CFI	0.679	0.849
GFI	0.792	0.865
NFI	0.577	0.736
AGFI	0.741	0.817

Table 2. Fit Indices Obtained from CFA for the ICI

Abbreviations: CFA, confirmatory factor analysis; CFI, comparative fit index; df, degree of freedom; GFI, goodness of fit index; NFI, normed fit index; AGFI, adjusted goodness of fit index; SRMR, standardized root mean square residual; RMSEA, root mean square error of approximation; χ 2, chi-square.

IC-know, 0.290 and 0.633 for IC-autonomy, 0.261 and 0.575 for IC-communication as a whole, 0.308 and 0.403 for IC-communication-SR, and 0.350 and 0.637 for IC-communication-SS (**Table 3**).

retest. The test-retest measurements were taken in intervals of 15–25 days. The correlation result was positive for the sub-dimensions (r = 0.236, 0.390) and statistically significant but with low correlation (p < 0.001, p < 0.05) (Table 4).

A total of 101 participants agreed to take the

ICI and Sub-Domains	Cronbach Alpha	Item-Total Item Correlations	Mean Score ± SD
ICI total	0.779	0.142-0.742	67.46±8.09
IC-Know (5 items)	0.618	0.194-0.543	16.59±2.94
IC-Autonomy (7 items)	0.768	0.290-0.633	27.07±5.21
IC-Communication (8 items)	0.713	0.261-0.575	24.34±3.79
IC-SR Communication (3 items)	0.555	0.308-0.403	7.37±1.89
IC-SS Communication (5 items)	0.748	0.350-0.637	16.97±2.81

Table 3. Internal Consistency and Item-Total-Item Correlations of ICI

 Table 4. Test-Retest Reliability Analysis of ICI

ICI Sub-Scales	<u>Test</u> Mean ± SD	<u>Re-test</u> Mean ± SD	r*	р
IC-Know	3.31 ± 0.58	2.96 ± 0.62	0.349	0.000
IC-Autonomy	3.59 ± 0.58	3.95 ± 0.65	0.390	0.000
IC-SR	2.4 ± 0.60	2.47 ± 0.64	0.236	0.018
IC-SS	3.39 ± 0.563	3.44 ± 0.44	0.346	0.000

*Spearman correlation test, n=101



DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate the validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the ICI for dementia care in nursing home settings and to indicate the psychometric properties to use in dementia care practice and research. The reliability and validity tests revealed that the Turkish ICI's psychometric properties are similar to those of the original inventory.

Content validity was assessed by calculating the content validity index (CVI), which indicates good content validity if the value is above 80% (17). The content validity of the ICI was found to be 93.7%, which was excellent. Sample size recommendations for a reliability analysis vary from 200 to 1000 in the literature, and validity studies and factor analyses require 10 subjects per item to generate replicable results (18). Although the target was 5–10 subjects per item, only 184 people agreed to participate in this study due to restrictions and workload pressure during the COVID-19 pandemic period, resulting in an 8.4:1 subject-to-item ratio.

One of the most commonly used methods for assessing the reliability of a measurement tool is to evaluate the internal consistency of the scale. Accordingly, the reliability of the Turkish ICI and its sub-dimensions were evaluated, revealing moderate to good internal consistency. The internal consistency of the IC-communication-SR subscale was low. A low internal consistency means that there are items or sets of items which are not correlating well with each other. The low internal consistency for IC-communication-SR was also determined in adaptation of ICI to Chinese language (12). Notably, in the reliability and validity study of the Chinese version of the ICI, Cronbach's alpha values were as follows: 0.67 for "knowing residents," 0.72 for "resident autonomy," 0.63 for "resident-to-staff communication," and 0.80 for "staff-to-staff communication" (12). When the items of both subscales (resident-to-staff and staff-to-staff communication)

were combined under the communication dimension in the Chinese version, Cronbach's alpha value (α = 0.79) was more acceptable (12) and close to the Turkish version's value of 0.779. Therefore, in the Turkish version of ICI resident-to-staff and staff-to-staff communication sub-dimension should be combined under communication sub-dimension for better Cronbach's alpha value.

The exploratory factor analysis in the present study revealed a four-factor structure similar to that of the English-Canadian and Chinese versions (4, 12). Furthermore, a confirmatory factor analysis was used to reveal the adequacy of the model fit of the Turkish version. Two items—one for IC-know and one for IC-autonomy—were deleted due to their low regression weights in the CFA. The resulting 20-item inventory was found to adequately fit the model after a few modifications of the items.

The item-total score correlations were generally acceptable. The time invariance of the ICI was evaluated using the test-retest correlation. The results of two measurements under the same circumstances but with an interval of 15–25 days were evaluated. The test-retest correlation result was positive for all domains (r = 0.236, 0.390), and a low but statistically significant correlation was found.

There are some limitations to the study that need to be addressed. First, test-retest reliability was analyzed following a 15–25-day interval, which was longer than the typical period and may have affected the results. The study was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic, and the restrictions in place may have had a negative effect on the care approaches and responses of the caregivers. Thus, additional studies with larger samples are needed to further analyze the ICI and underlying attributes of individual care.

The present study evidences the usefulness of ICI for dementia care and can guide the development of individualized dementia care in Turkish nursing homes, in turn improving the quality and effectiveness of nursing care in long-term care environments. The short 20-item ICI instrument is precise and focuses on the individualized care approaches required for caregivers to provide quality care. Furthermore, this assessment tool would be easy to use in busy, long-term care environments,

REFERENCES

- Radwin LE, Alster K. Individualized nursing care: an empirically generated definition. Int Nurs Rev. 2002;49(1):54-63. (PMID: 11928937)
- 2. Gerrish K. Individualized care: its conceptualization and practice within a multiethnic society. J Adv Nurs. 2000;32(1):91-9. (PMID: 10886439)
- Morgan S, Yoder LH. A concept analysis of person-centered care. J Holist Nurs. 2012;30(1):6-15. (PMID: 21772048)
- Chappell, Reid RC, Gish JA. Staff-based measures of individualized care for persons with dementia in long-term care facilities. Dementia. 2007;6(4):527-47. (DOI: 10.1177/1471301207084372)
- Suhonen R, Valimaki M, Leino-Kilpi H. Individualized care, quality of life and satisfaction with nursing care. J Adv Nurs. 2005;50(3):283-92. (PMID: 15811107)
- 6. McCormack B. Person-centredness in gerontological nursing: an overview of the literature. Journal of clinical nursing. 2004;13:31-8. (DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2004.00924.x)
- Brooker DJ, Surr C. Dementia Care Mapping (DCM): initial validation of DCM 8 in UK field trials. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2006;21(11):1018-25. (PMID: 16955431)
- Snow AL, Jacobs ML, Palmer JA, et al. Development of a new tool for systematic observation of nursing home resident and staff engagement and relationship. Gerontologist. 2018;58(2):e15-e24. (PMID: 28499032)
- Suhonen R, Schmidt LA, Radwin L. Measuring individualized nursing care: assessment of reliability and validity of three scales. J Adv Nurs. 2007;59(1):77-85. (PMID: 17537199)

and it may also be applicable to healthcare professionals in other settings.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to all caregivers and nurses who contributed to the study.

- Charalambous A, Chappell NL, Katajisto J, et al. The conceptualization and measurement of individualized care. Geriatr Nurs. 2012;33(1):17-27. (PMID: 22088615)
- Acaroglu R, Suhonen R, Sendir M, Kaya H. Reliability and validity of Turkish version of the individualised care scale. J Clin Nurs. 2011;20(1-2):136-45. (PMID: 21158989)
- 12. Chappell N, Chou K. Chinese version of staff-based measures of individualized care for institutionalized persons with dementia. Asian Journal of Gerontology and Geriatrics. 2010;5:5-1.
- O'Rourke N, Chappell NL, Caspar S. Measurement and analysis of individualized care inventory responses comparing long-term care nurses and care aides. Gerontologist. 2009;49(6):839-46. (PMID: 19520840)
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, et al. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. The Lancet. 2007;370 (9596):1453-7. (PMID: 18064739)
- Osborne JW, Costello AB. Sample size and subject to item ratio in principal components Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation. 2004;9. (DOI: 10.7275/ktzq-jq66)
- Polit DF, Beck CT. Nursing Research: Generating and Assessing Evidence for Nursing Practice. 10th edition, Wolters Kluwer Health; Philadelphia 2017.
- 17. Polit F, Beck CT. Nursing research: principles and methods: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; USA 2004.
- Streiner DL, Kottner J. Recommendations for reporting the results of studies of instrument and scale development and testing. J Adv Nurs. 2014;70(9):1970-9. (PMID: 24684713)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.311 2022; 25(4): 529-541

- Nurullah ÇETİN¹
- İbrahim Halil ÖZDEMİR²....

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Nurullah ÇETİN

Phone : +902362360330 e-mail : nurullah.cetin@cbu.edu.tr

Received : Aug 04, 2022 Accepted : Nov 21, 2022

¹ Celal Bayar University, Cardiology Clinic, Manisa, Turkey

² Manisa City Hospital, Cardiology Clinic, Manisa, Turkey

RESEARCH

THE PREDICTORS OF IN-HOSPITAL MORTALITY IN HYPERTENSIVE ELDERLY INTENSIVE CARE UNIT PATIENTS WITH CORONAVIRUS DISEASE 2019

Abstract

Introduction: Advanced age is an important prognostic indicator for the mortality of coronavirus disease 2019, especially in patients over 65. Patients with chronic underlying conditions such as hypertension showed the worst outcomes. This study aimed to identify predictors of mortality in elderly hypertensive patients hospitalized in intensive care units.

Materials and Methods: Demographic, clinical, treatment, and laboratory data were extracted from electronic medical records and compared between survivors and non-survivors. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression methods were used to explore the indicators of in-hospital mortality.

Results: One hundred and ninety-eight patients with a median age of 75 years (65–94 years) were included in this study, of whom 95 were discharged from the intensive care units, and 103 died. Shortness of breath [hazard ratio (HR): 1.65, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.04–2.61, p: 0.034], C-reactive protein (CRP)/albumin ratio (>51.32) (HR: 1.83, 95% CI: 1.12–2.97, p: 0.015), serum creatinine (>1.62 mg/dl) (HR: 2.04, 95% CI: 1.13–3.33, p: 0.001), aspartate transaminase (>34 u/l) (HR: 1.99, 95% CI: 1.28–3.09, p: 0.002), D-dimer (>781 ng/ml) (HR: 1.59, 95% CI: 1.04–2.43, p: 0.031), leukocyte (>12,000´ 10³/µl) (HR: 1.68, 95% CI: 1.09–2.59, p: 0.018) and lymphocyte count, (≤660´ 10³/µl) (HR: 1.76, 95% CI: 1.17–2.63, p: 0.006) were independent predictors for mortality in elderly hypertensive patients.

Conclusion: Using these predictors with cut-off values can identify patients at risk of death and needing aggressive intervention earlier in the disease course.

Keywords: Aged; COVID-19; Hypertension; Mortality; Patient admission; Prognosis.

INTRODUCTION

The 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19), which emerged in December 2019 and was declared a pandemic in March 2020, remains a global public health concern. There is a wide spectrum of clinical presentations, ranging from asymptomatic status to respiratory failure requiring respiratory support to death. Specifically, older patients (>65 years) with comorbidities are at high risk of death, and older age may independently predict 60-day mortality after admission to the intensive care unit (ICU) (1, 2).

Several studies have shown that hypertension may be associated with a poor prognosis in COV-ID-19 (3-5). It has been reported that after adjusting for confounders, compared with non-hypertensive patients, hypertensive patients continue to have a two-fold increased risk of COVID-19 mortality (6). Nevertheless, the fact that hypertension is often associated with advanced age and other cardiovascular diseases in the general population and that this condition may contribute to COVID-19 causes its independent role to be debated. There is insufficient data on the factors determining prognosis, especially in elderly patients with hypertensive COVID-19.

This study aimed to identify predictors of in-hospital mortality among older hypertensive patients with COVID-19 by investigating the potential prognostic roles of age, gender, COVID-19 related symptoms, comorbidities, and specific laboratory markers on admission.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and participants

The training cohort participants were consecutive patients diagnosed with COVID-19 by at least two positive nasopharyngeal or oropharyngeal SARS-CoV-2 reverse-transcriptase-polymerase-chain-reaction tests (SARS-CoV-2 (2019-nCoV) with a qPCR Detection Kit and Bio-Speedy) in the Manisa Merkezefendi State Hospital (Pandemic Hospital). Among these patients, those aged \geq 65 years who were diagnosed with hypertension before hospitalization, it was noted that at least one antihypertensive drug was used, and they were followed up in the ICU and were included in the study. Indications for ICU hospitalization were determined according to the COVID-19 treatment guideline of the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health. Indications included uncontrollable fever, respiratory rate > 30/minutes, severe respiratory distress, SpO2 < 90% on room air, bilateral multilobar ground-glass opacities, intense consolidations on computed tomography, and need for mechanical ventilation due to respiratory failure. All data were extracted from the electronic medical records of patients hospitalized between April 1st, 2020, and December 31st, 2020. One hundred and ninety-eight patients with an outcome (discharged or dead) were enrolled in the study.

The study protocol was approved by the Manisa Celal Bayar University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Decision No.85252386-050.04.04.04) and followed the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was not obtained because the data were anonymous, and the study was observational. However, patients or relatives were verbally informed that their data would be used anonymously for medical studies, and their permission was obtained.

Process of data extraction

We obtained demographic data, epidemiological characteristics, clinical features, disease severity, laboratory tests, and treatment results from the medical record system. Hypertension and treatment were stratified according to medical history or medications administered prior to infection. The laboratory data of patients within the first 24 h after admission to the hospital were evaluated. Data were collected and analyzed once all included patients died or were discharged from the ICU.

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics version 26.0 (IBM Corp. Released 2019.

IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 26.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp). Figures were constructed using GraphPad Prism version 8.0.0 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California, USA, www.graphpad.com). Categorical variables were summarized using frequencies and proportions and compared using Pearson's chi-square or Fisher's exact test in cases where applicable conditions were unmet. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to check whether the continuous variables were normally distributed. Continuous variables were reported as mean values ± standard deviations (SD) or medians (minimum-maximum) for non-normally distributed data and compared using Student's t-test or the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test. The predictive value of the variables was evaluated by measuring the area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. The optimal threshold value for clinical stratification (cut-off value) was obtained by calculating the Youden index. The Kaplan-Meier method was used for univariate survival analysis, and the log-rank test was used to assess the statistical significance between the survival curves of the models. All variables with p values of ≤ 0.20 from the Cox univariate analyses were entered into a multivariate analysis using the backward stepwise Cox regression model. We considered a p-value < 0.05 as statistically significant for all analyses.

RESULTS

During the study period, 489 COVID-19 patients hospitalized in the ICU were evaluated. Of these, 307 were aged \geq 65 years. Among the 307 patients, 198 diagnosed with hypertension and using at least one antihypertensive drug were included in the study. The baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of all participants at admission are presented in Table 1 based on ICU survival. The median age of the non-survivor group was significantly higher than that of the survivor group (77 vs. 74 years, p = 0.002). While 55.3% of the non-survivor group was male, 38.9% of the survivor group was male (P = 0.021). The prevalence of symptoms on admission, such as fever, headache, diarrhea, fatique, muscle ache, or taste dysfunction, was also similar between the two groups. However, shortness of breath was more common among the non-survivors. Shortness of breath was the most common symptom in all the patients (62.6%). In contrast, cough and chest pain were more common among survivors. Renal failure was more common in the non-survivors than in the survivors (41.7% vs. 21.1%, p = 0.002). However, there were no statistically significant differences between the hemodialysis groups. However, the incidence of diabetes mellitus was twice as high in the survivors (42.1% vs. 20.4%, p = 0.001). The other comorbid conditions were similar in both groups. While 97.1% of the non-survivors required invasive mechanical ventilation, this rate was 48% in the survivor group (p < 0.001). Non-survivors had a shorter length of in-ICU stay than survivors did. The median length of stay in the intensive care unit for non-survivors was 8 (min-max, 1–33) days, while the median stay in the intensive care unit for survivors was 14 (min-max, 5–37) days (p < 0.001).

Laboratory parameters and medications used are listed in Table 1. Higher urea, serum creatinine, uric acid, aspartate transaminase, alanine transaminase, D-dimer, troponin, ferritin, leukocyte, CRP, and CRP/albumin ratios were the laboratory parameters measured in non-survivors. Albumin and lymphocyte levels were lower in the non-survivors than in the survivors. The use of angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE)/angiotensin-receptor blockers (ARB) class drugs for antihypertensive treatment was higher in the survivor group (71.6% vs. 56.3%, p:0.026). In addition, the use of dihydroxycalcium canal blockers was higher in the survivor group (46.6% vs. 31.6%, p = 0.031). Both groups were similar in beta-blockers, non-dihydroxycalcium canal blockers, and aldosterone antagonists. It was observed that more favipiravir, immunosuppressive agents, and steroids were used in non-survivors than survivors during their stay in the intensive care unit.



	Total (n:198)	Elder Hypertensive Survivors (n:95)	Elder Hypertensive Non-Survivors (n:103)	p-value
Age, years	75.0 (65.0-94.0)	74.0 (65.0-89.0)	77.0 (65.0-94.0)	0.002
Gender (male), n (%)	94 (47.5)	37 (38.9)	57 (55.3)	0.021
Body mass index, kg/m ²	24.9 (18.2-35.4)	25.3 (18.3-35.0)	24.4 (18.2-35.4)	0.245
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	114.5 (70.0-196.0)	145.0 (75.0-190.0)	144.0 (70.0-196.0)	0.452
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg	87.5 (30.0-126.0)	88.0 (45.0-126.0)	87.0 (30.0-120.0)	0.309
Symptoms at admission, n (%)	1	1	<u> </u>	
Fever	109 (55.1)	52 (54.7)	57 (55.3)	0.932
Cough	59 (29.8)	35 (36.8)	24 (23.3)	0.037
Shortness of breath	124 (62.6)	49 (51.6)	75 (72.8)	0.002
Headache	9 (4.5)	5 (5.3)	4 (3.9)	0.641
Diarrhoea	17 (8.6)	12 (12.6)	5 (4.9)	0.051
Fatigue, tiredness	15 (7.6)	11 (11.6)	4 (3.9)	0.041
Palpitation	5 (2.5)	2 (2.1)	3 (2.9)	0.718
Muscle ache	20 (10.1)	12 (12.6)	8 (7.8)	0.256
Sore throat	5 (2.5)	3 (3.2)	2 (1.9)	0.672
Chest pain	5 (2.5)	5 (5.3)	0 (0.0)	0.024
Inability to taste	7 (3.5)	6 (6.3)	1 (1.0)	0.057
Comorbidities, n (%)			·	
Diabetes Mellitus	61 (30.8)	40 (42.1)	21 (20.4)	0.001
Anemia	51 (25.8)	21 (22.1)	30 (29.1)	0.259
Renal failure	63 (31.8)	20 (21.1)	43 (41.7)	0.002
Dialysis	20 (10.1)	6 (6.3)	14 (13.6)	0.090
Coronary Artery Disease	46 (23.3)	19 (20.0)	27 (26.2)	0.301
Peripheral vascular disease	4 (2.0)	4 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	0.051
Chronic heart failure (HFrEF)	24 (12.1)	10 (10.5)	14 (13.6)	0.509
COPD	33 (16.7)	15 (15.8)	18 (17.5)	0.750
Hyperlipidemia	21 (10.6)	12 (12.6)	9 (8.7)	0.374
Malignancy	11 (5.6)	4 (4.2)	7 (4.2)	0.427
CVA/TIA	19 (9.6)	8 (8.4)	11 (10.7)	0.590
Smoking	28 (14.1)	12 (12.6)	16 (15.5)	0.558
Invasive mechanic ventilation, n (%)	115 (58.1)	15 (48.0)	100 (97.1)	<0.001
Length of in-ICU stay (days)	10.0 (1.0-37.0)	14.0 (5.0-37.0)	8.0 (1.0-33.0)	<0.001

 Table 1. Baseline characteristics, laboratory parameters and medications of study population.



Laboratory parameters				
Urea, mg/dl	65 (18-398)	54 (18-258)	85 (27-398)	<0.001
Serum creatinine, mg/dl	1.1 (0.4-7.7)	0.9 (0.4-6.6)	1.3 (0.4-7.7)	<0.001
Serum potassium, mmol/l	4.2 (2.6-7.2)	4.1 (2.6-6.3)	4.2 (2.8-7.2)	0.165
Serum calcium, mg/dl	8.3 ± 0.7	8.4 ± 0.7	8.3 ± 0.8	0.342
Uric acid, mg/dl	6.1 (1.8-66)	5.6 (2.1-15.6)	6.9 (1.8-66)	0.022
Albumin, g/dl	3.3 (1.8-4.3)	3.5 ± 0.4	3.1 ± 0.5	<0.001
Aspartate transaminase, u/l	34 (9-1190)	26 (9-296)	39 (14-1190)	<0.001
Alanine transaminase, u/l	23 (2-1100)	20 (2-473)	25 (6-1100)	0.004
D-dimer, ng/ml	718.5 (150-53286)	469 (150-3946)	1123 (150-53286)	<0.001
Troponin, ng/ml	0.014 (0.002-12.769)	0.006 (0.002-12.769)	0.059 (0.002-1.969)	<0.001
Ferritin ng/ml	411.7 (11.7-1661.3)	262.9 (11.7-1650)	625.5 (24.5-1661.3)	<0.001
Haemoglobin, g/dl	11.3 ± 1.9	11.4 ± 1.9	11.2 ± 2	0.205
Leukocyte, x10³/µl	11200 (2800-45900)	9600 (2800-39300)	13400 (3400-45900)	<0.001
Lymphocyte, x10 ³ /µl	980 (110-4040)	1120 (310-3380)	810 (110-4040)	0.003
C-reactive protein (CRP), mg/dl	184.7 (30.5-414.2)	151.9 ± 719	220.5 ± 81.8	<0.001
CRP/Albumin ratio	54.5 (7.8-170.3)	40 (7.8-126.8)	68 (9.1-170.3)	<0.001
Medications, n (%)				1
Acetylsalyclic acid	96 (48.5)	48 (46.6)	48 (50.5)	0.581
Clopidogrel	26 (13.1)	11 (11.6)	15 (14.6)	0.535
ACE-I / ARB	126 (63.6)	68 (71.6)	58 (56.3)	0.026
Beta-blocker	59 (29.8)	26 (27.4)	33 (32.0)	0.473
Dihidro-Calcium canal blockers	78 (39.4)	30 (31.6)	48 (46.6)	0.031
Non-Dihidro-Calcium canal blockers	8 (4.0)	4 (4.2)	4 (3.9)	1.000
Aldosterone antagonists	16 (8.1)	7 (7.4)	9 (8.7)	0.724
Statin	20 (10.1)	12 (12.6)	8 (7.8)	0.256
Hydroxychloroquine	192 (97.0)	93 (97.9)	99 (96.1)	0.684
Azithromycin	131 (66.2)	61 (64.2)	70 (68.0)	0.577
Favipiravir	117 (59.1)	49 (51.6)	68 (66.0)	0.039
Immunosuppressive agent or steroid	d 77 (38.9)	30 (31.6)	47 (45.6)	0.043

Data are presented as the mean ± standard deviation or median (minimum-maximum) for continuous variables and as counts (%) for categorical variables.

HFrEF, heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CVA, cerebrovascular accident; TIA, transient ischemic attack, ACE-i: Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitor, ARB: Angiotensin Receptor Blocker

Statistically significant p values are shown in bold

Univariate associations between the baseline clinical characteristics and mortality are shown in Table 2. Mortality was higher in patients with hypertension aged > 81 years, with a median survival time of 10 days. On the other hand, it was determined that gender did not significantly affect survival. It was observed that 54.38% of the deaths in men and 58.69% in women occurred during the first 10 days of ICU follow-up. Furthermore, shortness of breath is associated with mortality, whereas cough is associated with survival. Interestingly, diabetes mellitus was associated with half-decreased mortality risk (hazard ratio (HR), 0.49; 95%CI, 0.33-0.74, p = 0.002). On the other hand, mortality was found to be 2.38 times higher in the presence of renal failure (p < 0.001). However, dialysis had no significant effect on the mortality rate.

The cut-off values of the laboratory parameters are listed in Figure 2. The best power to predict mortality was found for the serum CRP/albumin ratio, with an AUC of 0.77, followed by aspartate transaminase, troponin, C-reactive protein, and the other laboratory parameters. In the univariate analysis, the HRs for death during hospitalization was significantly higher for patients with concentrations of all evaluated tests, except for albumin and lymphocytes above the selected cut-offs (Table 2).

In the multivariate analysis, Shortness of breath (HR: 1.65, 95% CI: 1.04–2.61, p: 0.034), CRP/albumin ratio (>51.32) (HR: 1.83, 95% CI: 1.12–2.97, p: 0.015), serum creatinine (>1.62 mg/dl) (HR: 2.04, 95% CI: 1.13–3.33, p: 0.001), aspartate transaminase (>34 u/l) (HR: 1.99, 95% CI: 1.28–3.09, p: 0.002), D-dimer (>781 ng/ml) (HR: 1.59, 95% CI: 1.04–2.43, p: 0.031), leukocyte (>12,000 x10³/µl) (HR: 1.68, 95% CI: 1.09–2.59, p: 0.018) and lymphocte, ($\leq 660^{\circ}$ 10³/µl) (HR: 1.76, 95% CI: 1.17–2.63, p: 0.006) were independent predictors for mortality in elderly hypertensive patients (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

COVID-19 patients over 65 are more likely to die (7, 8). Comorbidities can also significantly affect the prognosis of COVID-19. Hypertension plays a special role. Hypertension has also been reported in several studies and is a common underlying condition (9, 10). A meta-analysis by Tian et al. observed that hypertension increased the probability of death from COVID-19 by more than 2.5 times (11). Although there are data from many subgroups of COVID patients, we aimed to reveal the predictors of mortality in hypertensive patients aged ≥ 65 years who were followed up in the ICU. This retrospective cohort study identified several risk factors for death in elderly hypertensive adults hospitalized with COVID-19. In our study, 62.78% of the patients in the ICU were aged \geq 65 years, and hypertension was present in 64.49% of the patients. A higher median age may explain our study's higher prevalence of hypertension. The fact that the cohort was composed of ICU patients is also a contributing factor. Although the number of male patients was significantly higher in the non-survivor group, we did not observe any significant association between mortality and sex.

The most common presenting symptom in the deceased patients was shortness of breath, an independent predictor of mortality in our study. Ghweil et al. reported a significant positive association between shortness of breath and COVID-19 progression to severe illness and death (12). Additionally, a meta-analysis reported similar findings and recommended dyspnea rather than fever as an indicator of poor outcomes in COVID-19 patients (13). The presence of shortness of breath at presentation may indicate extensive pulmonary involvement. The fact that cough has been observed less frequently in deceased patients and is associated with survival supports the speculation that a lack of a cough reflex may promote worse infection in elderly patients (14).

In our study, histories of renal failure and serum creatinine levels were significantly higher in patients who died than in those who survived. Such patients are known to have a proinflammatory state with functional defects in innate and adaptive immune cell populations and are at a higher risk of upper respiratory tract infection and pneumonia (15). In contrast, serum creatinine level at a cut-off of 1.62 mg/dl was an independent predictor of mortality. Furthermore, the risk of death doubled in patients with a serum creatinine value > 1.62 mg/dl. These data suggest that the kidneys may be a potential target in patients with COVID-19 (16). The novel coronavirus uses angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) as its cell-entry receptor. Recent RNA sequencing data of human tissues have shown that ACE2 expression in the kidney is approximately 100-fold higher than in the lungs (17). Therefore, deterioration in renal function may be caused by the entry of coronaviruses into kidney cells via an ACE2-dependent pathway. Renal involvement due to hypertension can cause this process to enter a vicious circle.

In the present study, serum levels of both ALT and AST were significantly higher, and serum levels of albumin were significantly lower in non-surviving patients. Additionally, we reported that elevated serum ALT and AST levels and low serum albumin levels were significantly associated with mortality. Still, only the AST level (>34 u/l) was an independent predictor of mortality. There is a strong and reasonable relationship between abnormal liver biochemistry and SARS-CoV-2 infection severity (18). It is unclear whether a liver injury results directly from a viral infection, due to potentially hepatotoxic drugs, or as a part of multi-organ dysfunction in COVID-19. Unlike ALT, AST can be released from the cardiac and body muscles and the liver. The fact that AST level is an independent predictor of mortality suggests that it may also reflect muscle and heart attitudes. Bloom et al. noted that an AST-dominant aminotransferase elevation is common in COVID-19, reflecting disease severity and appears to reflect true hepatic injury. Additionally, they found that AST levels correlated with markers of muscle injury, including lactate dehydrogenase and creatine kinase (19).

The CRP/albumin ratio is a newly defined, simple, useful, and inexpensive systemic inflammatory marker that combines the CRP and albumin levels. Several previous studies have demonstrated the prognostic value of CAR in COVID-19 patients (20, 21). We found that the 51.32 cut-off CRP/albumin ratio was an independent prognostic biomarker of mortality in our study population. Similar to our study, Güney et al. reported that CRP/albumin was significantly elevated compared to that in the non-severe group and that CRP/albumin was an independent risk factor for COVID-19 mortality (20). When the patients were divided into three groups according to their CRP/albumin levels from low to high, they found that the mortality in the highest group was 12.6 times higher than that in the lowest group. Our study found that mortality was 1.83 times higher, and the median survival time was 3 times less in patients with a CRP/albumin level above 51.32.

Abnormal D-dimer levels are thought to indicate hypercoagulation rather than consumptive coagulopathy. Hyperfibrinogenemia has been suggested to lead to fibrin polymerization, thrombus formation, and complications or adverse outcomes (22). Several studies have demonstrated the role of D-dimer as an effective predictor of COVID-19 mortality. Various thresholds for D-dimer values have been proposed, with most values ranging between 1000 and 2500 ng/mL (23, 24). However, we observed higher sensitivity and specificity at values below 1000 ng/mL, and the Youden index was maximum at 781 ng/mL. This study found that D-dimer levels of > 781 ng/mL were independently associated with fatal COVID-19 outcomes.

A wide range of hematologic parameter abnormalities have been reported with different disease severities, but marked changes were more com-

		Mortality n, (%)	Median Survival (days)	Hazard ratio	%95 CI	p-value (log rank)
	≤81 (n:151)	68 (45%)	19	0.40	1 21 2 40	.0.001
Age, years	>81 (n:47)	35 (74.5%)	10	2.13	1.31-3.48	<0.001
	Male (n:94)	57 (60.6%)	13	0.74		0.107
Gender	Female (n:104)	46 (44.2%)	19	0.74	0.50-1.10	0.127
	>27.92 (n:61)	23 (37.7%)	19	1.40	0.07.0.04	0.082
Body mass index, kg/mz	≤27.92 (n:137)	80 (58.4%)	14	1.48	0.97-2.26	0.082
Symptoms at admission						
	Absent (n:139)	79 (56.8%)	13	0.50	0.05.0.70	0.004
Cough	Present (n:59)	24 (40.7%)	20	0.52	0.35-0.79	0.004
Shortness of breath	Absent (n:74)	28 (37.8%)	20	1.70	1.20-2.65	0.005
	Present (n:124)	75 (60.5%)	13	1.79		
Diarrhoea	Absent (n:181)	98 (54.1%)	15	0.55	0.07.1.10	0.175
	Present (n:17)	5 (29.4%)	-	0.55	0.27-1.10	0.175
	Absent (n:183)	99 (54.1%)	15	0.42	0.21-0.83	0.071
Fatigue, tiredness	Present (n:15)	4 (26.6%)	-	0.42		
Comorbidities						
	Absent (n:137)	82 (59.8%)	14	0.40		
Diabetes Mellitus	Present (n:61)	21 (34.4%)	26	0.49	0.33-0.74	0.002
	Absent (n:135)	60 (44.4%)	19	0.00	4 50 0 77	-0.001
Kenal failure	Present (n:63)	43 (68.2%)	9	2.38	1.50-3.77	<0.001
	Absent (n:178)	89 (50%)	15	1.(2)	0.02.2.20	0.000
Dialysis	Present (n:20)	14 (70%)	9	1.62	0.82-3.20	0.080
	Absent (n:187)	96 (51.3%)	16	1.00	0 (0 5 20	0.070
Malignancy	Present (n:11)	7 (63.6%)	11	1.92	0.68-5.38	0.079
	Absent (n:152)	76 (50%)	17	1.40	0.0(0.07	0.11/
Coronary Artery Disease	Present (n:46)	27 (58.7%)	12	1 1.40 0.	0.86-2.27	0.116

Tablo 2. Univariate association of baseline clinical characteristics and laboratory parameters to mortality in elder hypertensive COVID-19 patients



Laboratory parameters						
	≤67 (n:105)	38 (36.2%)	21	0.57	1 70 0 00	.0.001
Urea, mg/dl	>67 (n:93)	65 (69.9%)	11	2.56	1./2-3.80	<0.001
	≤1.62 (n:139)	59 (42.4%)	19	0.04	474457	-0.001
Serum creatinine, mg/dl	>1.62 (n:59)	44 (74.5%)	8	2.84	1./6-4.5/	<0.001
C	≤5.1 (n:181)	88 (48.6%)	19	2.75	1 45 0 / 0	-0.001
Serum potassium, mmoi/i	>5.1 (n:17)	15 (88.2%)	7	3.75	1.45-9.68	<0.001
	≤5.6 (n:85)	36 (42.3%)	20	175	1 10 0 50	<0.00F
Uric acid, mg/di	>5.6 (n:113)	67 (59.3%)	12	1./5	1.19-2.58	< 0.005
	≤3.2 (n:90)	63 (70%)	12	1.04	1.33-2.90	<0.001
Albumin, g/al	>3.2 (n:108)	40 (37%)	19	1.90		
Assertata transaminasa/l	≤34 (n:103)	33 (32%)	25	2.44	1.67-3.62	<0.001
Aspartate transaminase, u/i	>34 (n:95)	70 (73.7%)	11	2.40		
Alanine transaminase, u/l	≤15 (n:58)	20 (34.5%)	26	1.44	1 00 0 54	0.022
	>15 (n:140)	83 (59.3%)	14	1.00	1.00-2.04	0.000
D dimor no/ml	≤781 (n:112)	40 (35.7%)	25	2.45	1.65-3.65	<0.001
D-aimer, ng/mi	>781 (n:86)	63 (73.2%)	11	2.45		
Trananin ng/ml	≤0.008 (n:78)	21 (26.7%)	26	2.40	1.68-3.70	<0.001
	>0.008 (n:120)	82 (68.3%)	12	2.47		<0.001
Forritin ng/ml	≤496 (n:109)	38 (34.9%)	21	2 10	1 / 2 2 10	<0.001
r emtin ng/mi	>496 (n:89)	65 (73%)	12	2.10	1.43-3.10	<0.001
Loukeeste v103/ul	≤12,000 (n:108)	38 (35.2%)	26	2 20	1 55 2 40	<0.001
Leukocyte, x10-7µi	>12,000 (n:90)	65 (72.2%)	11	2.30	1.55-3.40	<0.001
lymphocyte x10 ³ /ul	≤660 (n:58)	41 (70.7%)	11	192	1 10 2 02	<0.005
Lymphocyte, x107µi	>660 (n:140)	62 (44.3%)	19	1.02	1.10-2.03	<0.005
C reactive protein (CPP) mg/dl	≤185.2 (n:100)	33 (33%)	25	2.62	170 2 02	<0.001
	>185.2 (n:98)	70 (71.4%)	11	2.02	1.70-3.02	~0.001
CPP/Albumin ratio	≤51.32 (n:88)	25 (28.4%)	33	2.02	10/22	~0.001
CRP/Albumin ratio	>51.32 (110)	78 (70.1%)	11	2.93 1.9-4.32	<0.001	

Only variables with p values of ${\leq}0.20$ are presented in the table

CI: confidence interval

Table 3. Cox regression analysis (backwards stepwise model) summarizing significant independent prognostic factors for
mortality in elder hypertensive COVID-19 patients

Variable	Hazard Ratio	95% CI	p-value
Shortness of breath	1.65	1.04-2.61	0.034
CRP/Albumin ratio, (>51.32)	1.83	1.12-2.97	0.015
Serum creatinine, (>1.62 mg/dl)	2.04	1.33-3.13	0.001
Aspartate transaminase, (>34 u/l)	1.99	1.28-3.09	0.002
D-Dimer, (>781 ng/ml)	1.59	1.04-2.43	0.031
Leukocyte, (>12,000 x10 ³ /µl)	1.68	1.09-2.59	0.018
Lymphocte, (≤660 x10³/µl)	1.76	1.17-2.63	0.006

CRP: C-reactive protein

Figure 1. Receiver operator characteristics curves to obtain cut-off values for parameters used in the multivariate analysis. (A) CRP/Albumin ratio, (B) Serum creatinine, (C) Aspartate transaminase, (D) D-dimer, (E) Leukocyte, (F) Lymphocyte





Figure 2. Kaplan–Meier survival curves for mortality from the time of intensive care unit admission. (A) Shortness of breath, (B) CRP/Albumin ratio (>51.32), (C) Serum creatinine (>1.62 mg/dl), (D) Aspartate transaminase (>34 u/l), (E) D-Dimer (>781 ng/ml, (F) Leukocyte (>12,000 x10³/µl), (G) Lymphocte, (≤660 x10³/µl). The timeline is expressed in days.



monly seen in samples from severe and critically ill patients. Our study observed that patients who died had significantly higher leukocyte and lymphocyte levels than survivors. Patients with severe and fatal disease have been shown to have significantly higher leukocyte and lower lymphocyte counts than non-serious diseases or survivors (25). We determined leukocyte levels > 12,000 x 10³/µl as an independent predictor of mortality. Very low lymphocyte count ($\leq 660 \times 10^3$ /µl) was an independent predictor. The decrease in lymphocyte count is best explained by the role of both CD4 and CD8 T lymphocytes in eliminating virus-infected cells, and this is consistent with low lymphocyte counts being associated with poor case outcomes.

Limitations

Our study has some limitations. First, the data were collected from a single pandemic hospital and

cannot be generalized to all other regions. Second, due to the retrospective study design, the impact of selection bias cannot be completely ruled out. Third, not all laboratory tests were performed on all patients (lactate dehydrogenase, interleukin-6, and serum ferritin). Therefore, their role in predicting in-hospital mortality may have been underestimated. However, these limitations did not affect the reliability of the overall results. Finally, the data in this study permits a short-term assessment of the clinical outcomes of elderly hypertensive patients hospitalized in the intensive care unit. However, long-term prospective studies are needed, including patients who are followed-up and treated in the ward or as outpatients.

REFERENCES

- Xu J, Yang X, Yang L, et al. Clinical course and predictors of 60-day mortality in 239 critically ill patients with COVID-19: a multicenter retrospective study from Wuhan, China. Critical care (London, England). 2020;24(1):394. (PMID: 32631393).
- Yang X, Yu Y, Xu J, et al. Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a single-centered, retrospective, observational study. The Lancet Respiratory medicine. 2020;8(5):475-81. (PMID: 32105632).
- Iaccarino G, Grassi G, Borghi C, Ferri C, Salvetti M, Volpe M. Age and Multimorbidity Predict Death Among COVID-19 Patients: Results of the SARS-RAS Study of the Italian Society of Hypertension. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979). 2020;76(2):366-72. (PMID: 32564693).
- Semenzato L, Botton J, Drouin J, et al. Chronic diseases, health conditions and risk of COVID-19-related hospitalization and in-hospital mortality during the first wave of the epidemic in France: a cohort study of 66 million people. The Lancet regional health Europe. 2021;8:100158. (PMID: 34308411).
- Thakur B, Dubey P, Benitez J, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of geographic differences in comorbidities and associated severity and mortality among individuals with COVID-19. Scientific reports. 2021;11(1):8562. (PMID: 33879826).

CONCLUSIONS

In the current study, hypertensive patients aged \geq 65 years hospitalized for COVID-19 had high in-hospital mortality rates. The results of this study suggest that shortness of breath levels and some laboratory parameters may represent invaluable aids in identifying patients with a higher risk of mortality. In addition, these parameters can serve as a guide for clinicians in the early identification and management of at-risk patients.

Funding: None Conflict of interest: None

- Gao C, Cai Y, Zhang K, et al. Association of hypertension and antihypertensive treatment with COVID-19 mortality: a retrospective observational study. Eur Heart J. 2020;41(22):2058-66. (PMID: 32498076).
- Zheng Z, Peng F, Xu B, et al. Risk factors of critical & mortal COVID-19 cases: A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. The Journal of infection. 2020;81(2):e16-e25. (PMID: 32335169).
- Le Borgne P, Dellenbach Q, Alame K, et al. The Impact of Age on In-Hospital Mortality in Critically III COVID-19 Patients: A Retrospective and Multicenter Study. Diagnostics (Basel, Switzerland). 2022;12(3). (PMID: 35328219).
- Rodriguez-Morales AJ, Cardona-Ospina JA, Gutiérrez-Ocampo E, et al. Clinical, laboratory and imaging features of COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Travel medicine and infectious disease. 2020;34:101623. (PMID: 32179124).
- Hu Y, Sun J, Dai Z, et al. Prevalence and severity of corona virus disease 2019 (COVID-19): A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of clinical virology : the official publication of the Pan American Society for Clinical Virology. 2020;127:104371. (PMID: 32315817).
- Tian W, Jiang W, Yao J, et al. Predictors of mortality in hospitalized COVID-19 patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of medical virology. 2020;92(10):1875-83. (PMID: 32441789).



- 12. Ghweil AA, Hassan MH, Khodeary A, et al. Characteristics, Outcomes and Indicators of Severity for COVID-19 Among Sample of ESNA Quarantine Hospital's Patients, Egypt: A Retrospective Study. Infection and drug resistance. 2020;13:2375-83. (PMID: 32765012).
- 13. Shi L, Wang Y, Wang Y, Duan G, Yang H. Dyspnea rather than fever is a risk factor for predicting mortality in patients with COVID-19. The Journal of infection. 2020;81(4):647-79. (PMID: 32417316).
- 14. Chinnadurai R, Ogedengbe O, Agarwal P, et al. Older age and frailty are the chief predictors of mortality in COVID-19 patients admitted to an acute medical unit in a secondary care setting- a cohort study. BMC geriatrics. 2020;20(1):409. (PMID: 33066750).
- Cheng Y, Luo R, Wang K, et al. Kidney disease is associated with in-hospital death of patients with COVID-19. Kidney international. 2020;97(5):829-38. (PMID: 32247631).
- 16. Sun J, Zhu A, Li H, et al. Isolation of infectious SARS-CoV-2 from urine of a COVID-19 patient. Emerging microbes & infections. 2020;9(1):991-3. (PMID: 32342724).
- 17. Li Z, Wu M, Yao J, et al. Caution on Kidney Dysfunctions of COVID-19 Patients. 2020:2020.02.08.20021212. (PMID: 35255789).
- Zhu C, Sun B, Zhang X, Zhang B. Research Progress of Genetic Structure, Pathogenic Mechanism, Clinical Characteristics, and Potential Treatments of Coronavirus Disease 2019. Front Pharmacol. 2020 Aug 27;11:1327. (PMID: 32973534)
- 19. Bloom PP, Meyerowitz EA, Reinus Z, et al. Liver Biochemistries in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19.

Hepatology (Baltimore, Md). 2021;73(3):890-900. (PMID: 32415860).

- Güney B, Taştan Y, Doğantekin B, et al. Predictive Value of CAR for In-Hospital Mortality in Patients with COVID-19 Pneumonia: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Archives of medical research. 2021;52(5):554-60. (PMID: 33593616).
- Karakoyun I, Colak A, Turken M, et al. Diagnostic utility of C-reactive protein to albumin ratio as an early warning sign in hospitalized severe COV-ID-19 patients. International immunopharmacology. 2021;91:107285. (PMID: 33348293).
- Spiezia L, Boscolo A, Poletto F, et al. COVID-19-Related Severe Hypercoagulability in Patients Admitted to Intensive Care Unit for Acute Respiratory Failure. Thrombosis and haemostasis. 2020;120(6):998-1000. (PMID: 32316063).
- 23. Yao Y, Cao J, Wang Q, et al. D-dimer as a biomarker for disease severity and mortality in COVID-19 patients: a case control study. Journal of intensive care. 2020;8:49. (PMID: 32665858).
- Poudel A, Poudel Y, Adhikari A, et al. D-dimer as a biomarker for assessment of COVID-19 prognosis: D-dimer levels on admission and its role in predicting disease outcome in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. PloS one. 2021;16(8):e0256744. (PMID: 34437642).
- Henry BM, de Oliveira MHS, Benoit S, Plebani M, Lippi G. Hematologic, biochemical and immune biomarker abnormalities associated with severe illness and mortality in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a meta-analysis. Clinical chemistry and laboratory medicine. 2020;58(7):1021-8. (PMID: 32286245).



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.312 2022; 25(4): 542-550

Ertuğrul BAYRAM ¹ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·D
Didem KARADUMAN ²	·D
Bülent KAYA ³ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. 🕞
Burak METE ⁴	D
Süleyman ÖZBEK ⁵	D
Akaün YAMAN ⁶	. 🕞

CORRESPONDANCE

⁴ Burak METE

Phone : +905447113164 e-mail : burakmete2008@gmail.com

Received : Sep 11, 2022 Accepted : Dec 01, 2022

- ¹ Cukurova University, Department of Oncology, ADANA, Turkey
- ² Hacettepe University, Department of Geriatrics, ANKARA, Turkey
- ³ Cukurova University, Department of Nephrology, ADANA, Turkey
- ⁴ Cukurova University, Department of Public Health, ADANA, Turkey
- ⁵ Cukurova University, Department of Rheumatology, ADANA, Turkey
- ⁶ Cukurova University, Department of Microbiology, ADANA, Turkey

RESEARCH

LESS IS MORE: BETA-2 MICROGLOBULIN AS A FRAILTY MARKER IN COMMUNITY-DWELLING OLDER ADULTS

Abstract

Background: Serum beta-2 microglobulin levels are commonly employed as prognostic and inflammatory indices, given their ease in assessment, reliability, and cost-effectiveness. Herein, we aimed to confirm the effectiveness of serum beta-2 microglobulin as a marker in geriatric patients and establish its role in frailty assessment.

Materials and Methods: This cross-sectional study included 81 participants aged>65 years. Serum beta-2 microglobulin levels were compared with erythrocyte sedimentation rate, C-reactive protein, procalcitonin, interleukin-1, interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor Tumor Necrosis Factor- α , and vitamin D levels. To determine whether beta-2 microglobulin is an effective marker for frailty assessment, the study was divided into frail and non-frail patients, except for the acute infection group. Frailty was assessed using the Clinical Frailty Scale Version 9, and quality of life was assessed using the Quality of Life Scale Short Form-36.

Results: The mean age of the participants was 72.14 \pm 7.00 years. The frail group comprised 47.5% of the total patients. beta-2 microglobulin exhibited a strong positive correlation with C-reactive protein, Clinical Frailty Scale score, and comorbidity index, and a moderate positive correlation with Tumor Necrosis Factor- α and interleukin-6 levels. Conversely, beta-2 microglobulin and Short Form-36 exhibited a strong negative correlation. The Short Form-36 was the most effective in assessing changes in beta-2 microglobulin levels. The optimal beta-2 microglobulin cut-off value to assess frailty was 3.78 (sensitivity=75%; specificity=93.5%).

Conclusion: In the geriatric population, we detected a significant association between increased beta-2 microglobulin levels and frailty, as well as a significant relationship with decreased quality of life.

Keywords: Frailty Syndrome; Inflammation; Aged.

INTRODUCTION

Frailty is a syndrome related to a decline in physiological competence and capacity to maintain homeostasis, given the accumulation of cellular damage due to several factors over the course of a lifetime. Depending on their physiological and functional status, patients can be categorized into healthy, pre-frail, and frail groups (1). Moreover, frailty is known to be influenced by socioeconomic, psychological, and lifestyle factors such as diet, exercise, and genetic factors (2, 3). The incidence of diverse diseases is reportedly increasing with the gradual accumulation of aging-related cognitive and physical dysfunction. Therefore, frailty markedly impacts this heterogeneity, given that age-related functional changes differ among individuals. In the elderly population, frailty increases the risk of mortality, geriatric syndromes, and other negative health effects. Accordingly, the early detection of frailty can help reduce or postpone such risks. Lifestyle regulation is critical to maximally retain cognitive and physical functions and avoid frailty (3, 4). Assessing frailty levels is markedly important in geriatric patients who need to undergo rehabilitation. Scales are also commonly used to evaluate the quality of life and frailty. Frailty assessment is restricted by its complications in clinical practice, partly attributed to time-consuming testing methods. The identification of biomarkers depends on determining normal laboratory values in older individuals (5-7). Beta-2 microglobulin (B2M), a polypeptide, comprises the major histocompatibility complex class I and is encoded by a gene on chromosome 15. After initial isolation from the urine of patients with tubular proteinuria, B2M was found to be present in the serum (free form), as well as in urine and cerebrospinal fluid, after release from the cell surface or cytoplasm . Reportedly, healthy individuals exhibit relatively consistent B2M concentrations. Activation of the immune system induces the release of B2M from B and T cells into circulation (5-8).

It has been reported that B2M serum concentrations increase under various inflammatory and hematologic conditions. B2M levels have been associated with heart failure and hypertension and positively correlated with the incidence and mortality of cardiovascular diseases. Accordingly, B2M affords a considerable predictive value (8-10).

METHODS

Participants and Design

This study was carried out in Çukurova University, Department of Internal Medicine. When the power 80% confidence interval was accepted as 95% d=0.5, the number of people to be reached was found to be 84. 84 patients were included, and 3 patients were excluded from the study because they were diagnosed with myeloma. The study was completed with 81 people. In the first stage of the present study, we included 81 individuals, i.e., 52 females and 29 males. The enrolled individuals were divided into four groups: rheumatoid arthritis (RA; chronic inflammatory disease), osteoarthritis (OA; chronic non-inflammatory disease), acute infection (AI), and healthy individuals (HI). We noted no additional disorders or drug use impacting inflammatory markers in patients with OA and HI. Patients with Al exhibited urinary tract infection, cellulitis, soft tissue infection, sinusitis, and lung infection. Exclusion criteria were as follows: patients who were <65 years; patients with identified or known malignancy, stage 3 or 4 congestive heart failure, renal dysfunction, chronic liver disease, obesity (body mass index (BMI) >35 kg/m²), and autoimmune disease; patients taking anti-inflammatory agents, antibiotics, or immunosuppressive medication. Given that Al impacts frailty, individuals with Al were excluded from the second stage of the study. The other individuals were categorized into two groups: frail and non-frail.



Measurement

Frailty assessment was performed using the 36-Item Short Form Health Survey questionnaire (SF-36) for all patients and the Clinical Frailty Scale (CFS-9).

SF-36

SF-36 is a commonly used scale for assessing the quality of life; it was initially used to assess the efficacy of treatments and subsequently employed to estimate patient mortality (11). SF-36 was created specifically for examining individuals who were physically unwell. In addition, SF-36 is highly sensitive to slight changes and can assess both positive and negative characteristics associated with health conditions (12, 13). The SF-36 questionnaire comprises 36 items divided into 8 areas: physical condition, role constraints (caused by physical and emotional issues), social function, mental health, vitality (energy), pain, and general perception of health (12-14). Considering questionnaire responses, the patients marked points on a scale. Each subscale received separate scores. In addition, SF-36 assesses negative features of health. The subscale ratings range from 0 to 100, with a high score indicating good health (12-14).

The Clinical Frailty Scale (CFS)

The CFS is a measurement method that can reveal clinical frailty in the geriatric population (15, 16).

- Very fit: People who are robust, active, energetic, and motivated. These individuals commonly exercise regularly. They are among the fittest for their age.
- Well: People who have no severe disease symptoms but are less fit than category 1. They exercise or are very active occasionally, e.g., seasonally.
- Managing well: People whose medical problems are well-controlled but are not regularly active beyond routine walking.

- Living with very mild frailty: Previously named "Vulnerable." While not dependent on others for daily help, symptoms often limit activities. A common complaint is being "slowedup" and being tired during the day.
- 5) Living with mild frailty: These people usually have more evident slowing and need help in higher-order instrumental activities of daily living, such as finance, transportation, heavy housework, and medication management. Typically, mild frailty progressively impairs shopping, walking outside alone, meal preparation, and housekeeping.
- 6) Living with moderate frailty: People need help with all outside activities and housekeeping. Indoors, these individuals often have problems with stairs, need help with bathing, and may need minimal assistance with dressing.
- Living with severe frailty: Completely dependent ent on both cognitive and physical personal care. However, they seem stable and not at a high risk of death (within 6 months).
- Living with very severe frailty: Completely dependent on personal care and approaching end of life. Typically, they could not recover even from minor illnesses.
- 9) Terminally ill: Approaching the end of life. This category applies to people with a life expectancy of less than 6 months, and who are not otherwise living with severe frailty. (Many terminally ill people can still exercise until very close to death).

Scoring frailty in a patient with dementia: the degree of frailty corresponds to the degree of dementia. Common symptoms in mild dementia include forgetting details of a recent event, remembering the event itself, repeating the same question/story, and social withdrawal. In moderate dementia, recent memory is markedly impaired, although the individual seems to remember their past life events well. These individuals may need to be prompted to



perform personal care. Patients with severe dementia cannot perform personal care without assistance. In very severe dementia, individuals are often bedridden, and many are virtually uncommunicative.

Laboratory measurements

Blood samples were analyzed to determine levels of glucose, blood urea nitrogen, creatinine, uric acid, Na, K, P, chloride, total protein, albumin, bilirubin, alkaline phosphatase, gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein, triglyceride, high-density lipoprotein, hemogram, parathyroid hormone (PTH), 25-OH vitamin D, serum iron, total iron binding capacity, serum B12 and folic acid levels, B2M, ferritin, C-reactive protein (CRP), thyroid-stimulating hormone, procalcitonin (PCT), interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) levels. In addition, complete urinalysis was performed. A Beckman Coulter DXC 800 instrument was used to perform the turbidimetric method for B2M.

Statistical analysis

Parametric data are presented as the mean \pm standard deviation, whereas nonparametric data are presented as the median (interquartile range (IQR)). Data analyses were performed using SPSS 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used for the normal distribution of data. T-test, Mann-Whitney U test, binary logistic regression test, multiple linear regression test (stepwise model), and ROC analysis were used in the data analyses. A *p*-value < 0.05 was deemed as statistically significant.

Ethics

An in-depth explanation of the study was provided to all patients, and informed consent forms were obtained. This study was approved by the Çukurova University Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee and Helsinki Declaration.

RESULTS

In the present study, patients who participated in the first phase had a mean age of 76.3±7.5 years, with 29 (35.6%) males and 52 (64.2%) females (min 65, max 99). The participants were divided into four main groups: patients with AI (22 patients, 27.2%), OA (20 patients, 24.7%), RM (20 patients, 24.7%), and HI (19 males, 23.4%). We detected no statistically significant difference between groups regarding the average age (p=0.008).

The mean B2M level of all groups was 3.8 ± 1.3 mg/L (1.24-7.9 mg/L). We then analyzed the distribution of B2M levels across groups. The mean B2M levels were 4.68 ± 1.29 , 2.64 ± 0.93 , 4.37 ± 1.05 , and 3.53 ± 0.90 mg/L in the AI, HI, RA, and OA groups, respectively.

The mean B2M levels of examined groups differed significantly (p = 0.0001). We noted that B2M levels were elevated during inflammatory conditions, such as AI and RA, when compared with those in HI, RA, and OA groups. We detected that differences between B2M levels in the AI and HI groups were statistically significant (p=0.0001). We also found a statistically significant difference between the RA and OA groups based on B2M levels (p = 0.007).

In the AI group, CRP showed a 51% positive correlation with the B2M level. In other words, when B2M increases, the CRP value also increases. Similarly, we noted a positive association with CFS; in the AI group, we recorded an inverse correlation (66%) between the B2M level and the SF-36 quality of life scale. Accordingly, the average SF-36 score or the patient's quality of life decreases with increasing B2M levels.

In the second step (main part) of the study, the mean age of participants, except for the Al group, was 72.14 ± 7.00 years (min: 65 years; max: 95 years). Among these patients, 30.5% (n = 18) were male and 69.5% (n = 41) were female. The frail group comprised 47.5% of the total patients.

Levels of B2M, sedimentation, CRP, PCT, IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α , as well as the Charlson comorbidity index scores, were significantly elevated when compared with inflammatory indicators; however, quality of life and SF-36 scale scores were found to be significantly reduced (Table 1).

The logistic regression model used to estimate frailty was significant, with an accuracy rate of 94.9% and a predictive factor of 88.3%. Living with frailty (risk category CFS \geq 4) was the dependent variable in the model, whereas B2M level, SF-36 score, age, and comorbidity index were independent variables. The risk of frailty increased by 1.61 times for every 0.476-unit decrease in the SF-36 score and by 13.9 times for every 2.6-unit increase in B2M levels, respectively (Table 2).

Considering the application of B2M levels for frailty screening or diagnostic testing, the ROC analysis revealed that the area under the curve (0.916) was a robust diagnostic tool (Table 3).

The optimal cutoff B2M value to assess frailty was 3.78, with a sensitivity of 75% and a specificity of 93.5%. Based on this cutoff value, the positive/ false positive ratio was 11.53, or approximately one patient was misdiagnosed among every 12 patients. The false-negative/negative ratio value was 0.26, suggesting that for every five negatives, one false-negative patient was diagnosed (Table 4).

We assessed correlations between B2M and inflammatory markers and quality of life scale scores. Herein, we detected a robust positive correlation between B2M levels and CRP, CFS frailty score, and

	Non-frail (n:31)	Frail (n:28)	
Sex M/F (n)	12/19	6/22	
Parameters	X±S.D or	X±S.D. or	þ
	Median (IQR)	Median (IQR)	
CFS	2.06±0.81	4.57±0.63	<0.001
Age	67(10)	73(10)	0.125
B2-microglobulin	2.73(1.35)	4.17 (1.18)	<0.001
Sedimentation*	13.06±5.88	46.43±26.95	<0.001
CRP	0.24 (0.30)	1.82 (4.65)	< 0.001
Procalcitonin	0.06 (0.08)	0.80 (1.04)	<0.001
Vitamin D*	20.72±11.27	18.15 (13.90)	
IL-1	12.10 (28.70)	22.60 (43.90)	0.013
IL-6	32.70 (36.40)	190.40 (295.6)	<0.001
TNF-α	6.10 (7.3)	8.25 (2.33)	0.016
SF-36*	83.17±5.95	65.38±8.14	<0.001
BMI*	29.87±3.43	29.17±3.49	0.446
Comorbidty index	3(2)	5.5(2)	< 0.001

Table 1. Comparison of parameters according to the frailty group

Patients with acute infection are excluded. *Normally distributed



Table 2. B2-Microglobulin frailty estimation using B2M logistic regression analysis

	P		O.R.	95% C.I.fc	or EXP(B)
	В	р		Lower	Upper
Beta2-microglobulin	2.63	0.045	13.98	1.06	184.37
SF-36	-0.476	0.022	0.621	0.41	0.93
Age	-0.197	0.116	0.821	0.64	1.05
Comorbidity index	0.585	0.538	1.795	0.27	11.58

In this model, patients with acute infections are not included.

Table 3. The area under the curve for B2-microglobulin

A			95% Co	95% Confidence Interval		
Area	5.E.	p	Lower Bound	Upper Bound		
0.916	0.037	<0.001	0.845	0.988		

Table 4. Cutoff value for B2-microglobulin

Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity	Youden index	LR(+)	LR(-)
3.785	%75	%93.5	0.685	11.53	0.26

comorbidity index; a moderate positive correlation was observed with TNF- α and IL-6; a strong negative correlation was found with the SF-36 score.

Multiple linear regression was used to predict the association between B2M and sedimentation, IL-1, IL-6, TNF- α , CRP, PCT, vitamin D, BMI, comorbidity index, and SF-36. Notably, SF-36, comorbidity index, TNF- α , and CRP levels significantly contributed to the model. A stepwise approach was used for this model. The model described 83% of the changes in the B2M, and the most relevant factor related to changes in B2M levels was SF-36 (53.3%), followed by comorbidity index (7.2%), TNF- α (6%), and CRP (2.6%). For every unit increase in SF-36 score, B2-microglobulin decreased by 0.030 units (Table 5).

DISCUSSION

B2M has been confirmed as a significant mortality marker in geriatric individuals and has prognostic and predictive value, particularly in inflammatory conditions (17, 18). Herein, we determined whether B2M should be used as a marker for frailty assessment, as it involves an easy blood test that is relatively simple to perform (19) and can be used by physicians for routine measurement. Few studies have investigated the association between serum

	Unstandardized	Coefficients		Collinearity Statistics		
Wodel	В	Std. Error	р	Tolerance	VIF	
(Constant)	4.050	1.215	0.002			
SF-36	-0.030	.013	0.022	0.398	2.511	
Comorbidity index	0.293	.074	<0.001	0.446	2.244	
TNF-α	0.055	.019	0.005	0.934	1.070	
CRP	0.051	.024	0.040	0.828	1.208	

 Table 5. Predicting B2 microglobulin using the multiple linear regression model

B2M levels and age and found that serum B2M levels increase with age. For instance, one study has reported that healthy adults with an average age of 40 to 86 years old exhibit elevated serum B2M levels with progressive aging. Similar findings have been reported in other studies (20-23). Additionally, B2M in the older Chinese population can reportedly affect both the frailty phenotype and index. Moreover, B2M was shown to be independently associated with baseline frailty in older adults (19, 24). The findings of the present study are consistent with a few previously reported studies, indicating that B2M levels increase with age. Serum B2M levels in the first stage of our study were higher in two groups, the RA and AI groups, and were likely related to inflammation. Based on these findings and minimal accumulated literature, B2M may be an elevated acute-phase marker during acute infectious conditions. In HI, excluding those with inflammatory and infectious disorders, increased serum B2M levels were unrelated to inflammatory conditions. As a notable feature of our study, we excluded participants with renal dysfunction, cancer, and AI, as these conditions would impact plasma B2M measurements. During the second and most important stage, the remaining participants were divided into two groups to represent frail and nonfrail individuals, and the effect of B2M levels was examined based on frailty. We performed in-depth laboratory assessments and conducted two different assessment scales (CFS and SF-36). Comparing variables, the levels of B2M, CRP, IL-1, IL-6, TNF- α , sedimentation, PCT, and comorbidity index were significantly elevated in the frail group, whereas the SF-36 scores were significantly reduced. On analyzing B2M levels, we observed that this frailty marker was unrelated to other variables, and the optimal cutoff value for B2M to assess frailty was 3.78. Plasma B2M levels can be used to assess the degree of frailty in geriatric patients and, consequently, the need to establish essential medical care.

In the present study, frailty in a subset of the Turkish population was assessed using CFS, a validated test. To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to develop a logistic regression model for estimating frailty and performing ROC analysis to determine whether B2M could be utilized as a marker for frailty assessment. In conclusion, B2M may be an important marker for predicting the risk of frailty in geriatric patients. A limitation of our study was its single-center, cross-sectional nature. Accordingly, large-scale, prospective, observational studies are required.



REFERENCES

- Lee H, Lee E, Jang IY. Frailty and Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment. J Korean Med Sci. 2020;35(3):e16. (PMID:31950775)
- 2. Di Ciaula A, Portincasa P. The environment as a determinant of successful aging or frailty. Mech Ageing Dev. 2020;188:111244. (PMID:32335099)
- Pilotto A, Custodero C, Maggi S, Polidori MC, Veronese N, Ferrucci L. A multidimensional approach to frailty in older people. Ageing Res Rev. 2020;60:101047. (PMID:32171786)
- Walston J, Buta B, Xue QL. Frailty Screening and Interventions: Considerations for Clinical Practice. Clin Geriatr Med. 2018;34(1):25-38. (PMID:29129215)
- Wells JL, Seabrook JA, Stolee P, Borrie MJ, Knoefel F. State of the art in geriatric rehabilitation. Part I: review of frailty and comprehensive geriatric assessment. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2003;84(6):890-7. (PMID:12808544)
- Van Craen K, Braes T, Wellens N, Denhaerynck K, Flamaing J, Moons P et al. The effectiveness of inpatient geriatric evaluation and management units: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2010;58(1):83-92. (PMID: 20002509)
- Annweiler C, Bataille R, Ferrière N, Douillet D, Fantino B, Beauchet O. Plasma beta-2 microglobulin as a marker of frailty in older adults: a pilot study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2011;66(10):1077-9. (PMID:21743090)
- 8. Forman DT. Beta-2 microglobulin--an immunogenetic marker of inflammatory and malignant origin. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 1982;12(6):447-52. (PMID:6185038)
- You L, Xie R, Hu H, Gu G, Zheng H, Zhang J et al. High levels of serum β2-microglobulin predict severity of coronary artery disease. BMC cardiovascular disorders. 2017;17(1):1-8. (PMID: 28249620)
- Shi F, Sun L, Kaptoge S. Association of beta-2-microglobulin and cardiovascular events and mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Atherosclerosis. 2021;320:70-78. (PMID:33581388)
- Yang LS, Shan BL, Shan LL, Chin P, Murray S, Ahmadi N et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of quality of life outcomes after radical cystectomy for bladder cancer. Surg Oncol. 2016;25(3):281-97. (PMID:27566035)
- 12. Ware JE, Jr., Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-

form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care. 1992;30(6):473-83. (PMID:1593914)

- Parker SG, Bechinger-English D, Jagger C, Spiers N, Lindesay J. Factors affecting completion of the SF-36 in older people. Age and ageing. 2006;35(4):376-81. (PMID:16638761)
- Saquib N, Brunner R, Desai M, Kroenke C, Martin LW, Daviglus M et al. Changes in physical and mental health are associated with cardiovascular disease incidence in postmenopausal women. Age Ageing. 2019;48(3):448-53. (PMID:30753250)
- 15. Rockwood K, Theou O. Using the clinical frailty scale in allocating scarce health care resources. Canadian Geriatrics Journal. 2020;23(3):210. (PMID:32904824)
- Özsürekci C, Balcı C, Kızılarslanoğlu MC, Çalışkan H, Tuna Doğrul R, Ayçiçek G et al. An important problem in an aging country: identifying the frailty via 9 Point Clinical Frailty Scale. Acta Clin Belg. 2020;75(3):200-04. (PMID:30919742)
- Shinkai S, Chaves PH, Fujiwara Y, Watanabe S, Shibata H, Yoshida H et al. β2-microglobulin for risk stratification of total mortality in the elderly population: comparison with cystatin C and C-reactive protein. Archives of internal medicine. 2008;168(2):200-06. (PMID:18227369)
- Tsimberidou AM, Kantarjian HM, Wen S, O'Brien S, Cortes J, Wierda WG et al. The prognostic significance of serum beta2 microglobulin levels in acute myeloid leukemia and prognostic scores predicting survival: analysis of 1,180 patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(3):721-30. (PMID:18245532)
- Yılmaz B, Köklü S, Yüksel O, Arslan S. Serum beta 2-microglobulin as a biomarker in inflammatory bowel disease. World Journal of Gastroenterology: WJG. 2014;20(31):10916. (PMID: 25152594)
- Matoković D, Hašpl M, Petrić P, Skorvaga S, Rajić MT. Value of β2-microglobulin in the serum of healthy subjects older than 40 years. Ther Apher Dial. 2011;15(3):315-8. (PMID:21624083)
- Mátrai Z, Németh J, Miklós K, Szabó Z, Masszi T. Serum beta2-microglobulin measured by immunonephelometry: expression patterns and reference intervals in healthy adults. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2009;47(5):585-9. (PMID:19397485)
- 22. Filippin FB, Souza LC. Serum beta2-microglobulin values among healthy Brazilians using a DPC IMMU-LITE® assay. Clinics. 2005;60:47-50. (PMID:15838581)

- Kim M, Suzuki T, Kojima N, Yoshida H, Yoshida Y, Hirano H et al. Association Between Serum β2-Microglobulin Levels and Prevalent and Incident Physical Frailty in Community-Dwelling Older Women. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2017;65(4):e83-e88. (PMID: 28140452)
- 24. Liu ZY, Shen YY, Ji LJ, Jiang XY, Wang XF, Shi Y. Association between serum β 2-microglobulin levels and frailty in an elderly Chinese population: results from RuLAS. Clin Interv Aging. 2017;12:1725-29. (PMID:29081654)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.313 2022; 25(4): 551-558

Esra AKDAŞ TEKİN ¹			. 🕞
Fethi GÜLTOP ¹			. 🕞
Onur OKUR ¹ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			. 🕞
■ Sinan MUTLU ¹ · · · · ·			. 🕞
Ayla YEŞİLOVA ² · · ·			.D
Namigar TURGUT ¹			. 🕞

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Namigar TURGUT

Phone : +905333607659 e-mail : namigarturgut@gmail.com

Received : Aug 23, 2022 Accepted : Nov 30, 2022

¹ Prof.Dr.Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Anesthesiology and Reanimation Clinic, İstanbul, Turkey

² Prof.Dr.Cemil Taşcıoğlu City Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

RESEARCH

DIAGNOSTIC AND PREDICTIVE ROLE OF PLATELET/LYMPHOCYTE RATIO (PLR) IN PREDICTING OUTCOMES IN ELDERLY COVID-19 PATIENTS (A CROSS-SECTIONAL STUDY)

Abstract

Introduction: In this study, we aimed to investigate the prognostic effects of platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio biomarker in the group of laboratory-confirmed Coronavirus Disease-19 (COVID-19) geriatric patients and compare them with the group of patients under 75 years of age.

Material and methods: The platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio were recorded for oxidative stress response when it is decided to transfer patients from the emergency room COVID-19/area to the COVID-19 /service, at the time of admission to intensive care unit due to arterial oxygen partial pressure (PaO2 mmHg) to fractional inspired oxygen (FiO2) < 200 mmHg, at the time of discharge from intensive care unit and exitus.

Results: It was found that the mean age of the survivors was significantly lower than those who had died (p = 0,016). In Post-hoc analysis, the platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio values at hospitalization of \geq 75years old patients who had died were found to be significantly different compared to patients 75 < years (p = 0.006)who were survived and patients 75 \geq years who had died (p = 0.043). Only hospitalization platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio value and age data were found to be associated with mortality. According to mortality;the cut-off value for platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio at the time of admission to the COVID-19/ service in patients 75 \geq years at the time of admission to ICU in patients 75 < years was determined as 411.15 and 216.54, respectively.

Conclusion: The clinical use of the platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio may be a suitable marker in geriatric patients for determining disease severity and can be used as a predictive factor for determining the poor prognosis.

Keywords: Aged; Platelet Count; Lymphocytes; COVID-19.

INTRODUCTION

COVID-19 is a new disease which has become a global pandemic, and is caused by a novel coronavirus, the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (1,2). The disease is still not very well characterized, and factors associated with severe clinical course are not well known (1). Coronavirus disease has wide clinical parameters that require intensive care unit, ranging from asymptomatic carriers to mild pneumonia, respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation, sepsis, septic shock and multi-organ failure (usually in elderly and those with comorbidities) (2-4).

The production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) resulting in oxidative stress has been suggested to be the main cause of local or systemic tissue damage leading to severe COVID-19 (5).

It is important to identify markers suggestive of poor prognosis and mortality in COVID 19 patients in order to achieve important therapeutic goals. White blood cell (WBC) count, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio (PLR), and serum C reactive protein (CRP), which are biomarkers of peripheral blood-derived inflammation, have been investigated as independent predictors for the prognosis of systematic inflammatory diseases, particularly cardiovascular diseases and malignancies (6,7). Lymphopenia can be considered a cardinal laboratory finding with prognostic potential (8).

It has been suggested that a high platelet/lymphocyte ratio may indicate a more pronounced cytokine storm due to increased platelet activation (3). Therefore, PLR may have prognostic value in identifying severe cases and is associated with poor prognosis (8).

Studies provide optimal cutoffs for PLR for hospital stay and mortality in adult COVID-19 patients, but it is not known whether there are differences for the geriatric patient group. Identifying these factors associated with severe COVID-19 will assist physicians at all levels of healthcare in determining the patients for need of home care, hospital care, and admission to the intensive care unit (ICU). Thus, more rational use of scarce health care resources can be prioritized.

In this study, we aimed to investigate the prognostic effects of PLR biomarker in the group of laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 geriatric patients and compare them with the group of patients under 75 years of age.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

The current cross-sectional, retrospective investigation was conducted in compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the institutional Ethics Committee, which also gave consent for the use of electronic data (decision date: 14.02.2022, number: 26). Throughout the study, the authors followed good clinical practice guidelines.

Study Design

Three hundred fifty-one patients, who were admitted to the intensive care unit due to COVID-19 severe ARDS (PaO2/FiO2< 200 mmHg), were evaluated retrospectively in this study. Age and gender were all obtained from the hospital records. Patients were randomized into 4 groups: Group I: Survivor 75<years, Group II: Survivor 75≥ years, Group III: Died 75< years, Group IV: Died 75≥ years. The PLR values were recorded for oxidative stress response when it is decided to transfer patients from the emergency room COVID area to the COVID service, at the time of admission to intensive care unit due to PaO₂/FiO₂< 200 mmHg, at the time of discharge from intensive care unit and exitus.

Inclusion Criteria

Patients above 18 years who were admitted to the ICU due to COVID-19 severe ARDS (PaO2/ FiO2< 200 mmHg) were included in this study.

Exclusion Criteria

Patients below 18 years, patients who did not require ICU follow-up were excluded from this study.

Statistical Analysis

Statistics were analyzed using SPSS version 21.0 (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, United States) software. Descriptive statistical methods (mean, standard deviation, median, frequency, percentage, minimum, maximum) were used while evaluating the study data. The normality of the distribution of the data was investigated with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous variables were expressed as Mean±SD, interval variables as median (min, max), and categorical variables as numbers (percent). The Kruskal-Wallis test was used for comparisons between groups of more than two quantitative variables that did not show normal distribution. Mann-Whitney U test was used to find the group that created the post-hoc difference. Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparisons between two groups of quantitative variables that did not show normal distribution. Friedmann Test was used in dependent multiple group analyses. Wilcoxon sign rank test was applied to the paired groups to find the group that created the post-hoc difference. Pearson Chi-square test was used to compare categorical data. Logistic regression analyzes were applied to identify factors associated with mortality. First of all, single logistic regression tests were applied for factors such as PLR value at hospitalization, PLR value at admission to intensive care unit, PLR value at discharge, age, PLR difference between hospitalization and discharge, and PLR difference between hospitalization and admission to intensive care unit. Then, multiple logistic regression analysis was applied to the significant values. Youden index was used by performing AUROC analyzes in order to establish optimal cut-off values for mortality estimation. Statistical significance was accepted as p<0.05.

RESULTS

Within the scope of the study, 351 patients (175 males, 176 females) between the ages of 18-92 were analyzed for PLR values at the time of admission to the service, at the time of admission to the intensive care unit, and at discharge (exitus or discharge). 195 of the patients were under the age of 75 and the remaining 156 patients were over the age of 75.

In the statistical analysis, it was determined that the age and PLR values of the data did not comply with the normal distribution. When the patients who survived (n=194) and those who died (n=157) were compared; the mean age of patients who survived (66.6 ± 17) was found to be significantly lower than those who had died (71.5 ± 13.3) (p=0.016). There was no significant difference between survivors and those who had died in terms of gender (p>0.05). In terms of PLR levels at the time of admission to the service; It was found that the PLR level of the patients who survived (211.2 ± 155.5) was significantly lower than that of the patients who had died (290.5 ± 347.7) (p=0.017).

The difference between admission-discharge PLR values was found to be significantly higher in survivors compared to those who had died (p=0.019). It was found that the PLR value of patients at hospitalization were significantly different between the groups (p=0.040). In Post-hoc analysis, the PLR values at hospitalization of \geq 75 years old patients who had died (Group IV) were found to be significantly different compared to patients under 75 years of age (p=0.006) who were survived and patients aged 75 years and over who had died (p=0.043). However, the PLR values of \geq 75 years old patients who had died were similar to <75 years old patients who had died (p=0.117). (Table 1., Figure 1a-c.).

In the univariate logistic regression models made for the research of mortality-related data; only the PLR value at admission (p=0.01, OR:1.002 95% confidence interval 1.000-1.003) and age (p=0.004 OR: 1.021 95% confidence interval 1.007-1.036) data

	Survivors (Age group)			Nonsurvivors (Age group)			
	Group I 75< (n=120)	Group II 75≥ (n=74)	Total (n=194)	Group III 75< (n=75)	Group IV 75≥ (n=82)	Total (n=157)	
Age (in years) (Mean±SD)	56.8±14.0	82.6±4.6	66.6±17	60.7±10.7	81.4±5.3	71.5±13.3	
Gender							
Male	65 (%33.5)	37 (%19.3)	102 (%53.1)	38 (%36.9)	35 (%22.3)	73 (%46.5)	
Female (n,%)	55 (%28.6)	37 (%19.3)	92 (%47.9)	37 (%23.6)	47 (%29.9)	84 (%53.5)	
Hospitalization PLR(Mean±SD)	209.5±150.4	214.6±163.5	211.2±155.5	294±455.7	287.4±207,5	290.5±347.7	
ICU Admittance PLR (Mean±SD)	305.7±257.3	321.8±300.1	312.3±274.4	390.5±300.7	335.2±292.2	361.6±296.6	
Last Day PLR (Mean±SD)	258.8±169.1	295.5±234.3	272.9±196.8	297.2±285.8	334.2±391.7	316.6±344.6	

Table 1. Demographic data and Platelet Lymphocyte Ratios (PLR) of the study population (n=351)

Figure 1a-c. a.PLR values of the groups at hospitalization, b. Admission, c. Last day



were found to be associated with mortality. The PLR values during hospitalization in patients older than 75 years of age, who had died (p=0.022, OR: 1.002, 95% confidence interval 1.000-1.004), and the PLR values at admission to intensive care unit in patients younger than 75 years of age, who had died (p=0.04, OR:1.001 95% confidence interval 1.000-1.002) were found to be associated with mortality. The PLR value of the cases with mortality at the time of hospitalization was found to be statistically significantly higher than the cases without mortality (p=0.007; p<0.01). According to mortality; the cut-off value for PLR at

the time of admission to the COVID-19 service in patients 75 years was determined as 411.15 and over (sensitivity 24%, specificity 95%). On the other hand, the cut-off value for PLR at the time of admission to the intensive care unit in patients under 75 years of age was determined as 216.54 and over (sensitivity 68%, specificity 52%) (Table 2).

For young patients, the area under the curve for the PLR value at admission to ICU was 0.584 (0.498-0.669; p=0.049) in ROC analysis.The area under the curve for the PLR value at hospitalization for all patients was 0.574 (0.513-0.635; p=0.017). For elderly



	AUC (%95 CI)	Cut-off value	% Sensi- tivity	%Speci- ficity	р
Hospitalization PLR (All Patients)	0.574 (0.513-0.635)	271.9450	51	64	0.017*
Hospitalization PLR (75≥)	0.594 (0.505-0.683)	411.1500	24	95	0.043*
ICU Admittance PLR (75<)	0.584 (0.498-0.669)	216.5400	68	52	0.049*
LastDay-Hospitalization PLR	0.573(0.508- 0.637)	-3.8550	71	53.5	0.019*

Table 2. ROC analyzes associated with mortality and optimal cut-off values

* p<0.05 , CI: Confidence interval, AUC: Area under curve, ROC: Receiver operating characteristic

patients, the area under the curve for the PLR value at hospitalization was 0.594 (0.505-0.683; p=0.043), (Figure 2.). The area under the curve for the difference in PLR value at hospitalization - discharge was 0.573 (0.508-0.637; 0.019), (Figure 3.).

DISCUSSION

In this study, the platelet lymphocyte ratio at the time of hospitalization, admission to the intensive care unit, and discharge from the intensive care unit

Figure 2. For elderly patients, the area under the curve for the PLR value at hospitalization (75≥) 0.594 (0.505-0.683; p=0,043).



(exit or discharge) in patients over 75 years of age, who were hospitalized due to SARS CoV-2 PCR test positivity within 3 months and then admitted to the intensive care unit because of moderate-to-severe ARDS, were compared with patients under 75 years of age. Optimal cut-off analysis for PLR was performed for disease progression and poor prognosis.

In COVID-19 patients, the lymphocyte count decreases and the neutrophil count increases due to inflammation. Studies have shown that the neutrophil lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and platelet lymphocyte



Figure 3. The area under the curve for the difference in PLR value at hospitalization - discharge was 0.573 (0.508-0.637; 0,019).

ratio (PLR) reflect inflammation more effectively and strongly than the individual lymphocyte, platelet, and neutrophil counts (9).

In the study of Seyit et al. PLR was found to be 156.47 ± 112.51 in positive SARS CoV-2 patients (n=110) presenting to the emergency department. The PLR value was found to be 109.14 ± 38.6 in those who were not infected at the same time. The rate of decrease in PLR indicates that the decrease in platelet count is greater than that of lymphocytes. This will require greater attention to thrombocytopenia in the follow-up of COVID-19 patients. The mean age of the patients in this study was 44.16 ± 18.56 years, and 75 of these patients were admitted to the service (10). In our study, patients with shortness of breath, respiratory rate >28/min, SaO2 <93% in room air, PaO2/FiO2 <300, who were admitted to the hospital due to >50% increase in lung infiltration within 24 to 48 hours and whose treatment was appropriate to continue in the service were included. Indications for admission to the service are the same as our protocol. In this study, the cut-off value for PLR at admission to the service was 102.8 (70% sensitivity, specificity 52%). In our patient group, the mean age of surviving patients (66.6±17) was significantly lower than those who had died (71.5±13.3) (p=0.016). Of the patients, 195 were under the age of 75 and 156 were over the age of 75. PLR value at hospitalization (p=0.01) and age (p=0.004) were found to be associated with mortality. It was found that the PLR level at the time of admission to the service was significantly lower in patients who survived at the end of study than in patients who had died (211.2±155.5 vs 290.5±347.7) (p=0.017).

PLR is widely used as a marker of changes in platelet and lymphocyte counts observed in the systemic inflammatory response and pro-thrombotic states (6,11,12). In cases accompanied by immune suppression and thrombosis such as neoplastic, cardiovascular, inflammatory rheumatic diseases; changes in PLR have been shown to have high predictive values in assessing the severity of systemic inflammation and response to treatment and have been associated with poor prognosis (6,7,9,11-14). Because of the presence of more neutrophils and fewer lymphocytes in severe COVID-19 patients than in non-severe patients, markers in routine blood tests have been the subject of research to monitor and predict the severity and prognosis of COVID 19 (14,15).

As in 351 patients (175 males, 176 females) aged between 18 and 92, whom we included in our study, coronavirus disease has wide clinical parameters that require intensive care unit, ranging from asymptomatic carriers to mild pneumonia, respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation, sepsis, septic shock and multi-organ failure (16).

As mentioned in many studies, coronavirus generally affects the elderly population (17). On the other hand, the second step of our study was that all patients included in the study were admitted to the intensive care unit due to the development of one or more of the severe pneumonia, moderate to severe ARDS, sepsis, septic shock, or multiple organ failure.

In the study of Asghar et al. which included all patients over the age of 18, the initial PLR value of the patients hospitalized in the service was found to be lower than the PLR value of the patients hospitalized in the intensive care unit (169.81±105.30 vs 271.84±179.47). In the same study, the PLR value of the patients who survived (n=78) was found to be lower than the patients who died (n=22)(186.38±130.34 vs 267.11±168.05) (18). These data were very similar to our study. In our patient group, PLR values at the time of hospitalization were similar in patients over 75 years of age and younger (287.4±207.5 / 294±455.7 respectively) (p=0.117). According to mortality, the cut-off point for the PLR value during hospitalization in patients over 75 years of age was determined as 411 and above (sensitivity 24%, specificity 95%). It was found that the hospitalization PLR values of the patients over 75 years of age who died (Group IV 287.4±207.5) were significantly different compared to the surviving patients under the age of 75 (Group I 214.6±163.5). In most severe cases, different comorbid conditions such as diabetes, hypertension, heart failure and renal failure, have been found. The PLR value was found to be higher in patients with one or more of these comorbid conditions compared to non-severe patients (255.8±226.1 vs 436.5±329.2) (19). In our study, it was observed that the PLR values in patients over 75 years of age at service admission (p=0.022) and in patients under 75 years of age at intensive care unit admission were found to be higher in mortal patients when compared to survivors (390.5±300.7 vs 305.7±257.3) and found to be related to mortality. The cut-off value for mortality-related PLR in patients under 75 years of age was found to be 216 and above (sensitivity 68%, specificity 52%). In the last laboratory data at the time of discharge from the intensive care unit or at the time of exitus, which we took as the endpoint of our study, the final PLR value of the patients who survived was 272.9±196.8, while it was 316.6±344.6 for the patients who died.

REFERENCES

- Satturwar S, Fowkes M, Farver C, et al. Postmortem findings associated with SARS-CoV-2: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Surg Pathol. 2021;45(5):587-603. (PMID: 33481385).
- Singhal T. A Review of Coronavirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19). Indian J Pediatr. 2020;87(4):281-6. (PMID: 32166607).
- Qu R, Ling Y, Zhang YH, et al. Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio is associated with prognosis in patients with coronavirus disease-19. J Med Virol. 2020;92(9):1533-41. (PMID: 32181903).
- In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022. (Internet). Bookshelf ID: NBK554776 Available from:<u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.</u> gov/32150360/ Accessed: 13.07.2022.
- Schönrich G, Raftery MJ, Samstag Y. Devilishly radical NETwork in COVID-19: Oxidative stress, neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), and T cell suppression. Adv Biol Regul. 2020;77:100741. doi: 10.1016/j. jbior.2020.100741. (PMID: 32773102).

While the PLR value of the patients over the age of 75 who died was 334.2±391.7; it was found to be 297.2±285.8 in patients under 75 years of age. In the study of Asghar et al. while the final PLR value of the patients who survived was 305.63±466.06, it was found to be 340.48±428.64 in the patients who died. In that study, the cutoff value for ICU hospitalization was 153.65 (sensitivity 72.7, specificity 65.1), while the cutoff value for death was 153.65 (72.7 sensitivity, 59.5 specificity) (18). On the other hand, ICU admission was associated with mortality in patients younger than 75 years of age in our study (cutoff value 216.54, 68% sensitivity, 52% specificity).

CONCLUSION

The clinical use of the platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio may be a suitable marker in geriatric patients for determining disease severity and can be used as a predictive factor for determining the poor prognosis.

- Hu, H., Yao, X., Xie, X. et al. Prognostic value of preoperative NLR, dNLR, PLR and CRP in surgical renal cell carcinoma patients. World J Urol 2017;35(2):261-270. (PMID: 27255479).
- Liu S, Yang M, Zhao Q, Zhang L, Chen Q, Wang Y. Platelet-to-Lymphocyte Ratio is Associated with the Mortality in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. Iran J Kidney Dis. 2021;15(3):206-12. (PMID: 33994380).
- Terpos E, Ntanasis-Stathopoulos I, Elalamy I, et al. Hematological findings and complications of COV-ID-19. Am J Hematol. 2020;95(7):834-47. (PMID: 32282949).
- Özsari S, Özsari E, Emin Demirkol M. Comparison of neutrophil lymphocyte ratio, platelet lymphocyte ratio, and mean platelet volume and PCR test in COVID-19 patients. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992). 2021; 9;67(Suppl 1):40-5. doi: 10.1590/1806-9282.67. Suppl1.20200630. (PMID: 34259760).
- Seyit M, Avci E, Nar R, et al. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, lymphocyte to monocyte ratio and platelet to lymphocyte ratio to predict the severity of COV-



ID-19. Am J Emerg Med. 2021;40:110-114. (PMID: 33309506).

- 11. Hirahara T, Arigami T, Yanagita S, et al. Combined neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and platelet-lymphocyte ratio predicts chemotherapy response and prognosis in patients with advanced gastric cancer. BMC Cancer. 2019;19(1):672. (PMID: 31286873).
- Gasparyan AY, Ayvazyan L, Mukanova U, Yessirkepov M, Kitas GD. The Platelet-to-Lymphocyte Ratio as an Inflammatory Marker in Rheumatic Diseases. Ann Lab Med. 2019 ;39(4):345-57. (PMID: 30809980).
- Balta S, Ozturk C. The platelet-lymphocyte ratio: A simple, inexpensive and rapid prognostic marker for cardiovascular events. Platelets. 2015;26(7):680-1. (PMID: 25549287).
- Serra R, Ielapi N, Licastro N, et al. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte Ratio and Platelet-to-lymphocyte Ratio as Biomarkers for Cardiovascular Surgery Procedures: A Literature Review. Rev Recent Clin Trials. 2021;16(2):173-179. (PMID: 33109051).

- Zeng F, Li L, Zeng J, et al. Can we predict the severity of coronavirus disease 2019 with a routine blood test? Pol Arch Intern Med. 2020;130(5):400-6. (PMID: 32356642).
- Cascella M, Rajnik M, Aleem A, Dulebohn SC, Di Napoli R. Features, Evaluation, and Treatment of Coronavirus (COVID-19). 2022. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022. Bookshelf ID: NBK554776 (PMID: 32150360).
- Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, et al. Early Transmission Dynamics in Wuhan, China, of Novel Coronavirus-Infected Pneumonia. N Eng J Med. 2020;382(13): 1199-207. (PMID: 31995857).
- Asghar MS, Haider Kazmi SJ, Ahmed Khan N, et al. Clinical Profiles, Characteristics, and Outcomes of The First 100 Admitted COVID-19 Patients in Pakistan. Cureus. 2020; 12(8):c34. (PMID: 32782891)
- Yang AP, Liu JP, Tao WO, Li HM. The diagnostic and predictive role of NLR, d-NLR and PLR in COVID-19 patients. Int Immunopharmacol. 2020; 84. 106504. (PMID: 32304994).



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.314 2022; 25(4): 559-567

Eser ELEMEK¹

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Eser ELEMEK

Phone : +905324005338 e-mail : eelemek@gelisim.edu.tr

Received : Aug 29, 2022 Accepted : Nov 27, 2022

¹ Gelisim University, Faculty of Dentistry, Periodontology Department, Istanbul, Turkey

RESEARCH

RETROSPECTIVE ANALYSIS OF GERIATRIC PATIENTS TREATED WITH DENTAL IMPLANTS AND IMPLANT-RETAINED PROSTHESES

Abstract

Introduction: An increasing number of geriatric patients are being treated with dental implants instead of the conventional complete dentures for enhanced oral health-related quality of life. Therefore, this retrospective study assessed the survival rates and biological and technical complications of implants placed in partially and completely edentulous geriatric patients.

Materials and Method: Thirty-six elderly patients (65–80 years) rehabilitated with 105 dental implants and undergoing maintenance therapy at our private practice were included. Demographic data, including patient age, sex, systemic condition, and smoking status, were recorded. The new classification was used to define peri-implant status which was assessed based on bleeding on peri-implant probing, probing depth, suppuration, and peri-implant bone loss. Additionally, the cleanability of the prosthesis, screw-loosening, ceramic chipping, fracture of prosthesis, and their relationship with peri-implantitis were evaluated.

Results: The mean age of the patients at implant surgery was 67.8 ± 3.3 years. The implant survival rate was 100% during the mean observation period of 38 ± 26.5 months. Forty-two (40%) implants were diagnosed as healthy, 52 (49.5%) as having peri-implant mucositis, and 11 (10.5%) as having peri-implantitis. Smoking and poor oral hygiene were significantly associated with peri-implantitis (p<0.01). Peri-implantitis was also significantly more common around implants in function for >3 years (p<0.01).

Conclusion: According to new classification, peri-implantitis is not common in geriatric patients. Implant treatment and implant-retained prostheses can be safely used to improve the quality of life of elderly patients. However, clinicians should plan the surgery and prepare the prosthesis carefully as elderly people may need nursing or domiciliary dental care.

Keywords: Peri-Implantitis; Geriatric Dentistry; Oral Health; Quality of Life.

INTRODUCTION

Poor oral hygiene can cause caries, loss of periodontium, and ultimately, tooth loss (1). In the last few decades, dental implants have been the choice of treatment for tooth loss; they are placed in the bone to act as abutments for fixed or overdenture prostheses as an alternative to conventional removable ones. Dental implants have a reported 10-year survival rate of >95% in both partially and completely edentulous patients (2). Owing to the predictability and high survival rates of dental implants, their use in geriatric patients has been encouraged for improved oral health-related quality of life (3).

The use of implant-supported fixed and overdenture prostheses could enhance the chewing ability, social reintegration, and psychological well-being of geriatric patients (4). However, in geriatric patients, the presence of systemic conditions such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes mellitus, neurocognitive impairment (Alzheimer's disease and dementia), and loss of manual force and dexterity can jeopardize the healing and make dental implant therapy challenging (5). The surgical process, healing period during osseointegration, and survival rate of the implant should be carefully considered in this age group. Pathology in periodontium is inevitable in elderly individuals due to the loss of physiological integrity and impaired function. According to the recent ITI consensus report, implant therapy is not contraindicated in geriatric patients; however, comorbidities and autonomy should be considered (6).

Peri-implant mucositis is defined as the presence of inflammation in the peri-implant mucosa, and peri-implantitis is characterized by the loss of supporting bone in addition to the mucosal inflammation (7). Poor oral hygiene, history of periodontitis, cigarette smoking, lack of compliance during supportive periodontal therapy, and prosthesis-related factors (lack of cleanability and inappropriate fit of the implant-supported prosthesis) are established risk factors for peri-implant diseases (8). Technical complications, such as wear, chipping, fracture of the prosthetic material, and screw loosening, may also arise in patients with implant-supported prosthesis (9). The occurrence of technical complications is time dependent and may increase the chair-side time and affect the patients' quality of life (10).

Little information is available regarding the prevalence of peri-implantitis in geriatric patients. In most cases, peri-implant diseases are asymptomatic and are not perceived by patients (11). Peri-implantitis may also cause clinical symptoms such as bleeding, suppuration, and swelling (7,9). When left untreated, peri-implantitis eventually leads to implant failure. In patients aged ≥ 65 years, the prevalence of moderate or severe periodontitis is reported as 64% whereas, the corresponding value for peri-implantitis is 30% within the same age group (12). The management of peri-implantitis may be more complicated in geriatric patients because of the possible progression of the existing systemic disease, multimorbidity, and dependency for daily activities (13,14). Therefore, further treatment with maintenance therapy should be carefully planned in older individuals. Few studies have investigated the effect of preventive maintenance therapy on implant survival in geriatric patients. According to a systematic review, implant survival in patients >65 years is 96.3% and 91.2% at 3 and 10 years, respectively (15). A study on 133 patients aged >80 years reported a 5-year cumulative survival rate of 92.6%-99.7% in both jaws (12).

There is a limited data on the use of implant-supported fixed or overdenture prostheses and the complications affecting the quality of life in geriatric patients. Therefore, this study aimed to evaluate peri-implant health and disease, technical complications, and their relationship with peri-implantitis and implant survival in geriatric patients.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

This retrospective study included 113 dental implants of 40 patients who visited our private prac-


tice between October 2014 and July 2020 based on the following inclusion criteria: age >65 years, use of implant-supported prostheses for at least 6 months, and ongoing maintenance therapy. Four patients did not attend any of the follow-up visits. Therefore, the data of 105 dental implants of 36 patients were evaluated. The study design was approved by the local ethics committee of Gelişim University (2022/11-47). Informed consent was obtained from all patients at initial examination. The study was conducted according to principles stated in the Helsinki Declaration.

Data collection:

Demographic information regarding age, sex, general health status, medication, and smoking status was collected. Tooth loss resulting in partial or total edentulism was recorded. Clinical examinations were performed using a periodontal probe with a 0.5 mm diameter (University of North Carolina PCPUNC15, Hu Friedy Ins. Co, USA). Bleeding on peri-implant probing was assessed as the presence or absence of bleeding observed 30 s after probing and calculated as a percentage for each implant. Suppuration and peri-implant probing depths were also evaluated. To determine the peri-implant bone loss, digitalized panoramic radiographs were examined using the Image J program (Wayne Rasband, National Institute of Health, USA). The magnification was calculated by comparing the known implant length and that measured using the program. Bone loss on the mesial and distal sides of the implant was recorded in millimeters, and the most-affected side was used to diagnose peri-implantitis.

Definition of peri-implant diseases:

The new classification of periodontal and peri-implant diseases and conditions was used to define the peri-implant condition (1);

Peri-implant health: absence of signs of inflammation and bleeding on probing with normal or reduced bone support Peri-implant mucositis: bleeding on probing with signs of inflammation

Peri-implantitis: radiographic evidence of bone loss \geq 3 mm and/or probing depth \geq 6 mm in conjunction with profuse bleeding (16).

Additionally, adherence to oral hygiene was evaluated by observational and behavioral (self-reported or observed behaviors, such as changes in toothpaste weight) outcomes and defined as inadequate in the absence of proper brushing and interdental cleaning (17). Implant survival, prosthesis cleanability, and technical complications (ceramic chipping, fracture, and screw loosening) were also recorded.

Statistical analysis:

Data analysis was performed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS Inc., Release 24.0, for Windows, Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive statistics (minimum and maximum values, median, mean, and standard deviation) were used to present the demographic information. Analysis of variance was applied to the three groups (peri-implant health, peri-implant mucositis, and peri-implantitis) with normal distribution, and Kruskal-Wallis H test was performed in the absence of normal distribution. To evaluate differences within groups, Bonferroni correction was performed (p = 0.05/3=0.016). Because the number of patients was small, the data were analyzed only at the implant level. The chisquare test was used to compare the data between the two groups. Pearson's correlation was used to examine the relationship between the variables and peri-implantitis.

RESULTS

Thirty-six patients (20 women and 16 men) with 105 implants were included in the data analysis. Their mean age was 67.8 ± 3.3 years at implant surgery. If more than one surgery was performed, the age at the first surgery was used. Of the 36 patients, 8 (22.2%) had diabetes and 10 (27.8%) were smokers.

The mean number of teeth lost at the time of implant placement was 12.8±13. Thirty-two (88.8 %) patients had partial edentulism (Table 1).

Implant characteristics in relation to peri-implant health and disease

A total, 105 dental implants were evaluated in this study. Six of them (5.7%) supported overdentures, whereas most implants (94.3%) supported fixed prosthetic restorations. No implant failure was observed during the mean observation period of 38±26.5 months. The survival rate was 100%. Forty-two (40%) of the implants were diagnosed as healthy, 52 (49.5%) as having peri-implant mucositis, and 11 (10.5%) as having peri-implantitis. The data on peri-implant health and disease are presented in Table 2. The mean observation time and marginal bone loss were greater for the implants with peri-implantitis (p<0.05). Poor oral hygiene was Table 1. Demographic data of elderly

Variable	
Mean age (years)*	67.8±3.3
Gender** Female Male	20 (55.5%) 16 (44.5%)
Diabetes** Yes No	8 (22.2%) 28 (77.8%)
Smoking habit** Yes No	10 (27.8%) 26 (72.2%)
Tooth loss* (number)	12.8±13
Edentulism** Partial Total	32 (88.8%) 4 (11.2%)

*Mean and standard-deviation

**n (%)

	Peri-implant health (n=42)	Peri-implant mu- cositis (n=52)	Peri-implantitis (n=11)	р
Mean observation time (months) ±SD	24.1±23.7	44.3±24.9	61±15.7	<0.01*
BOP (%)	-	52 (100)	11 (100)	0.42**
Suppuration (%)	-	13 (25)	6 (54.5)	0.34**
Mean PD (mm) ±SD	2±0.5	3±0.7	5.6±0.5	0.06*
Mean MBL (mm) ±SD	0.3±0.5	1.2±0.8	4.1±0.4	0.02*
Prosthetic restoration Fixed Overdenture	42 (100%)	49 (94.2%) 3 (5.8%)	8 (72.7%) 3 (27.3%)	0.52**
Cleanability of prosthesis Yes	41 (97.6%)	44 (84.6%)	11 (100%)	0.31**
Poor oral hygiene Yes	8 (19%)	34 (65.3%)	4 (36.3%)	<0.01**
Screw loosening Yes	5 (11.9%)	18 (34.6%)	1 (9%)	0.62**
Ceramic chipping Yes	2 (4 7%)	13 (25%)	1 (9%)	0.42**

Table 2. Characteristics of study sample regarding peri-implant health and disease

BOP: Bleeding on probing, PD: Probing depth, MBL: Marginal bone loss

* Kruskall-Wallis H test

**Chi-Square test



also significantly associated with peri-implantitis (p<0.01). Most prosthetic restorations (91.4%) were designed to enable proper oral hygiene, and minor technical complications, such as screw loosening and ceramic chipping, were observed in 24 (22.8%) and 16 (15.2%) of the implants, respectively.

As quality of life is affected by the progression of inflammation in the peri-implant tissues, the relationship between peri-implantitis and the other variables was evaluated (Table 3). Peri-implantitis was observed significantly more around implants in smokers and implants in function >36 months (p<0.01). No significant association was found between peri-implantitis and the other variables (p>0.05).

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to assess peri-implant health and disease in elderly individuals to determine their quality of life. In patients aged ≥ 65 years, the survival rate of dental implants over a mean observation period of >3 years was 100%. Additionally,

Table 3. Correlation table

	Peri	-implantitis		
	Absent	Present	r	р
Age 65-70 ≥70	75 (87.2%) 19 (100)	11 (12.8%)	-0.16	0.10
Gender Female Male	51 (86.4%) 43 (93.5%)	8 (13.6%) 3 (6.5%)	-0.11	0.24
Diabetes Present Absent	20 (100%) 74 (87.1%)		-0.16	0.09
Smoking habit Yes No	24 (77.4%) 70 (94.6%)	7 (22.6%) 4 (5.4%)	0.25	<0.01
Tooth loss 1-14 15-28	46 (95.8%) 48 (84.2%)	2 (4.2%) 9 (15.8%)	0.18	0.05
Observation time (months) 6-36 ≥36	61 (98.4%) 33 (76.7%)	1 (1.6%) 10 (23.3%)	0.34	<0.01
Screw loosening Present Absent	23 (95.8%) 71 (87.7%)	1 (4.2%) 10 (12.3%)	-0.11	0.25
Ceramic chipping Present Absent	15 (93.8%) 79 (88.8%)	1 (6.3%) 10 (11.2)	-0.05	0.55
Overdenture prosthesis Present Absent	3 (50%) 91 (91.9%)	3 (50%) 8 (8.1%)	0.31	0.6
Cleanability of prosthesis Yes No	85 (88.5%) 9 (100%)	11 (11.5%) -	0.10	0.28
Poor oral hygiene Yes No	42 (91.3%) 52 (88.1%)	4 (8.7%) 7 (11.9%)	-0.05	0.6

peri-implantitis was observed in only 10.5% of the implants. The effect of implant-retained prostheses and removable dentures on the patients' quality of life has been evaluated before (18). Most studies showed that dental implants can be safely placed in geriatric patients and improve their quality of life (6,19). Consistent with the findings of these studies, we observed that implant-retained fixed or overdenture prostheses improve the patients' quality of life, have few biological and technical complications, and are therefore suitable alternatives to conventional removable dentures when treating geriatric patients.

Comparison of studies on peri-implant diseases is difficult because of the differences in methods and the criteria used to define health and disease. Peri-implant diseases were first defined in the year of 2008 in the consensus report from the 6th European Workshop on Periodontology (7). They defined peri-implantitis as the loss of implant-supporting bone in addition to mucosal inflammation. However, assessment of peri-implantitis based on its severity (probing depth and extent of bone loss) yielded substantial variance in its prevalence, from 11.3% to 47.1% (7). Owing to the discrepancy between studies and lack of a common definition of peri-implantitis, the American Academy of Periodontology and European Federation of Periodontology together developed a new classification system for periodontal and peri-implant diseases and conditions (1). In this study, the most recent classification was used to define peri-implant health and disease status. As a peri-implant inflammation decreases the life quality and may have a negative effect on systemic condition of a geriatric patient, a clinician should have a more accurate information before planning the treatment. Therefore, the adaptation of new classification overcomes the misdiagnosis of peri-implant diseases and gives us a more precise information. To date, very little information is available using the new classification to define peri-implantitis and its relation with other variables in geriatric patients.

Gündoğar et al (10) used the same criteria to define peri-implant diseases in geriatric patients, and found a peri-implantitis prevalence of 30% whereas the considered value was 10.5% in this study. They reported that the marginal bone loss increased with increasing observation time, as was also observed in the present study. The higher levels of peri-implantitis were attributed to the long observation period, which was between 24 and 56 months in their study.

The strict selection criteria for ongoing maintenance therapy resulted with the analysis of 105 implants despite six years of data collection. Seki et al (20) found survival rate as 94.6% at the implant level in 56 implants of 23 patients. Lee et al (21) investigated the effects of 118 implants in 35 geriatric patients with a mean period of 32.7 months and observed peri-implant bone resorption as 0.27 mm. The mean observation time was significantly associated with peri-implant disease than with peri-implant health in this study. Jemt et al (22) reported that, over a 9-year observation period, implants showed additional bone loss. In another study by Karlsson et al (23) 20% of the implants showed additional bone loss of >2 mm during an observation period of 3.3 years. In a systematic review by Dreyer et al (24), the incidence of peri-implantitis ranged from 0.4% within 3 years to 43.9% within 5 years. In this study, peri-implant health was observed at a mean follow-up of 2 years. However, peri-implant mucositis was diagnosed with greater frequency as the observation period increased (44 months), and peri-implantitis was significantly more prevalent around implants with a mean observation time of 5 years.

Oral hygiene has a significant effect on peri-implant health. Poor oral hygiene is a risk factor for peri-implant diseases (6). In this study, poor oral hygiene was significantly associated with peri-implantitis. Smoking is a known risk factor for peri-implant mucositis (8). Despite overwhelming research, its association with peri-implantitis is still accept-



ed as a potential risk indicator (25). Peri-implantitis was more prevalent in geriatric smokers than in non-smokers in this study. To determine the cumulative effect of smoking on peri-implantitis in geriatric patients, more studies with a larger sample are needed.

Implant-retained overdentures have been found to be superior to complete conventional dentures in terms of patient satisfaction and oral health-related quality of life (17,18,26). However, the number of implants supporting the overdenture prosthesis was insufficient (n=6) in the present study to further analyze the biological and technical complications. Likewise, among the implants with peri-implantitis, one had screw loosening and one had ceramic chipping. The low rates of technical complications did not allow a comparison in this study.

In geriatric patients, the survival of the implants was 100%, and only 11 implants (10.5%) with a mean follow-up of 5 years had peri-implantitis. Thus, it can be concluded that the 100% survival rate and considerably low values of peri-implantitis helped improve the quality of life of patients aged \geq 65 years. The favorable outcomes may be attributed to the facts such as the presence of a single periodontist who performed the surgeries, the high cleanability (91.4%) of the prostheses, and the continued maintenance program. The inclusion criterion of strict maintenance program is one strength of this study as it gives the opportunity to analyze clinical and

radiological examinations as well as the systemic condition. Besides, the use of a new peri-implant classification is also another strength of this study that makes it a pioneer one. Zitzmann and Berglundh (7) recommended that when evaluating peri-implant inflammation, data from private or public dental clinics, apart from university clinic data, should also be included. This study presents data on geriatric patients treated at a private practice which can be considered as another strength. However, the small number of patients is a limitation of this study more likely due to the strict maintenance program. Another limitation is that only implant-based data could be analyzed. In a patient with multiple implants, inflammation of even a single implant can worsen the quality of life. Therefore, studies on peri-implant health and disease in the elderly in a private practice setting should also be performed using subject-based data.

In conclusion, the survival rate of implants over a mean follow-up of >3 years was 100% in geriatric patients. The implementation of new classification yielded results of peri-implantitis as 10.5% in implant level. Poor oral hygiene, smoking, and implants in function for more than three years were found to be associated with peri-implantitis. Implants can be safely placed and maintained with good oral hygiene to improve the oral health-related quality of life of geriatric patients.

REFERENCES

- G. Caton J, Armitage G, Berglundh T, et al. A new classification scheme for periodontal and peri-implant diseases and conditions – Introduction and key changes from the 1999 classification. J Clin Periodontol. 2018;45(20):S1-S8 (PMID: 29926489).
- Buser D, Janner SFM, Wittneben JG, Brägger U, Ramseier CA, Salvi GE. 10-Year Survival and Success Rates of 511 Titanium Implants with a Sandblasted and Acid-Etched Surface: A Retrospective Study in 303 Partially Edentulous Patients. Clin Implant Dent

Relat Res. 2012;14(6):839-51 (PMID: 22897683).

- Gil-Montoya JA, Ponce G, Sánchez Lara I, Barrios R, Llodra JC, Bravo M. Association of the oral health impact profile with malnutrition risk in Spanish elders. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2013;57(3):398-402 (PMID: 23763959).
- Schimmel M, Srinivasan M, McKenna G, Müller F. Effect of advanced age and/or systemic medical conditions on dental implant survival: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2018;29(16):311-30 (PMID: 30328186).

- Schimmel M, Müller F, Suter V, Buser D. Implants for elderly patients. Periodontol 2000. 2017;73(1):228-40 (PMID: 28000268).
- Heitz-Mayfield LJ, Aaboe M, Araujo M, et al. Group 4 ITI Consensus Report: Risks and biologic complications associated with implant dentistry. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2018;29(16):351-58 (PMID: 30328181).
- Zitzmann NU, Berglundh T. Definition and prevalence of peri-implant diseases. J Clin Periodontol. 2008;35(8):286-91 (PMID: 18724856).
- Heitz-Mayfield LJA, Heitz F, Lang NP. Implant Disease Risk Assessment IDRA-a tool for preventing peri-implant disease. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2020;31(4):397-403 (PMID: 32003037).
- Papaspyridakos P, Bordin TB, Kim YJ, et al. Technical Complications and Prosthesis Survival Rates with Implant-Supported Fixed Complete Dental Prostheses: A Retrospective Study with 1- to 12-Year Follow-Up. J Prosthodont. 2020;29(1):3-11 (PMID: 31650669).
- Gündoğar H, Uzunkaya M, Öğüt S, Sarı F. Effect of peri-implant disease on oral health-related quality of life in geriatric patients. Gerodontology. 2021;38(4):414-21 (PMID: 33977569).
- Romandini M, Lima C, Pedrinaci I, Araoz A, Costanza Soldini M, Sanz M. Clinical signs, symptoms, perceptions, and impact on quality of life in patients suffering from peri-implant diseases: a university-representative cross-sectional study. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2021;32(1):100-11 (PMID: 33210787).
- Engfors I, Örtorp A, Jemt T. Fixed implant-supported prostheses in elderly patients: A 5-year retrospective study of 133 edentulous patients older than 79 years. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2004;6(4):190-98 (PMID: 15841579).
- Müller F. Interventions for edentate elders--what is the evidence? Gerodontology. 2014;31(1):44-51 (PMID: 24446979).
- Hagiwara Y, Ohyama T, Yasuda H, Seki K, Ikeda T. Dental implant status in elderly individuals requiring domiciliary dental care in Japan. Int J Implant Dent. 2021;7(1):53 (PMID: 33929624).
- 15. Srinivasan M, Meyer S, Mombelli A, Müller F. Dental implants in the elderly population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Oral Implants Res.

2017;28(8):920-30 (PMID: 27273468).

- Renvert S, Persson GR, Pirih FQ, Camargo PM. Peri-implant health, peri-implant mucositis, and peri-implantitis: Case definitions and diagnostic considerations. J Clin Periodontol. 2018;45(20):278-85 (PMID: 29926496).
- Newton JT, Asimakopoulou K. Managing oral hygiene as a risk factor for periodontal disease: A systematic review of psychological approaches to behaviour change for improved plaque control in periodontal management. J Clin Periodontol. 2015;42 (Suppl 16):S36-S46 (PMID: 25639708).
- Sharka R, Abed H, Hector M. Oral health-related quality of life and satisfaction of edentulous patients using conventional complete dentures and implant-retained overdentures: An umbrella systematic review. Gerodontology. 2019;36(3):195-204 (PMID: 30875108).
- Assunção WG, Barão VAR, Delben JA, Gomes ÉA, Tabata LF. A comparison of patient satisfaction between treatment with conventional complete dentures and overdentures in the elderly: A literature review. Gerodontology. 2010;27(2):154-62 (PMID: 19467020).
- Seki K, Ikeda T, Urata K, Shiratsuchi H, Kamimoto A, Hagiwara Y. Correlations between implant success rate and personality types in the older people: A preliminary case control study. J Dent Sci 2022;17(3):1266-73 (PMID: 35784148).
- Lee HJ, Kim YK, Park JY, Kim SG, Kim MJ, Yun PY. Short-term clinical retrospective study of implants in geriatric patients older than 70 years. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2010;110(4): 442-46 (PMID: 20452256).
- Jemt T, Sundén Pikner S, Gröndahl K. Changes of Marginal Bone Level in Patients with "Progressive Bone Loss" at Brånemark System® Implants: A Radiographic Follow-Up Study over an Average of 9 Years. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2015;17(4):619-28 (PMID: 24172070).
- 23. Karlsson K, Derks J, Håkansson J, Wennström JL, Petzold M, Berglundh T. Interventions for peri-implantitis and their effects on further bone loss: A retrospective analysis of a registry-based cohort. J Clin Periodontol. 2019;46(8):872-79 (PMID: 31077421).



- 24. Dreyer H, Grischke J, Tiede C, et al. Epidemiology and risk factors of peri-implantitis: A systematic review. J Periodontal Res. 2018;53(5):657-81 (PMID: 29882313).
- 25. Schwarz F, Derks J, Monje A, Wang HL. Peri-implantitis. J Clin Periodontol. 2018;45(20):246-66 (PMID: 29926484).
- 26. Kutkut A, Bertoli E, Frazer R, Pinto-Sinai G, Fuentealba Hidalgo R, Studts J. A systematic review of studies comparing conventional complete denture and implant retained overdenture. J Prosthodont Res. 2018;62(1):1-9 (PMID: 28666845).



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.315 2022; 25(4): 568-578

Ece SAĞEL-ÇETİNER¹
 Hacer HARLAK¹

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Ece SAĞEL-ÇETİNER

Phone : +905369141638 e-mail : ece.sagel@adu.edu.tr

Received : Aug 29, 2022 Accepted : Nov 29, 2022

¹ Aydın Adnan Menderes University, Psychology, Aydın, Turkey

RESEARCH

UNDERGRADUATES' KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES, AND ANXIETY ABOUT AGING, AND INTEREST IN WORKING WITH OLDER ADULTS THE ROLE OF PARTICIPATION IN A COURSE ON AGING

Abstract

Introduction: This study aimed to investigate the efficacy of attending a course on Aging Psychology on decreasing ageism and aging anxiety and increasing knowledge of and interest in working with older adults among undergraduate psychology students.

Materials and Method: The study participants included 160 college students aged between 19 and 30. A questionnaire including "the Facts on Aging Quiz", "the Anxiety about Aging Scale", "the Fraboni Scale of Ageism", a question of interest in working with older adults, and a Sociodemographic Information Form was administered at the beginning and end of the semester to two groups of students enrolled in two courses, namely, Aging Psychology and Introduction to Developmental Psychology II.

Results: Analyses partially supported the study hypotheses: Over the semester, ageism declined, whereas knowledge of aging increased. Ageist attitudes of participants who completed the Aging Psychology course declined more than those who completed the Introduction to Developmental Psychology II course. In addition, the level of knowledge of the participants who completed the Aging Psychology course significantly increased at the end of the semester, whereas that of the participants who completed the Introduction to Developmental Psychology II course did not change. The two groups of participants did not differ in aging anxiety and working interests with older adults over the semester.

Conclusion: Interventions in the level of knowledge on aging and the elderly through college courses increase the level of knowledge about aging and decrease ageist attitudes.

Keywords: Ageism; Attitude; Knowledge; Anxiety; Students.



INTRODUCTION

Worldwide, life expectancy has increased, and the population is aging. The emergence of aging societies leads to various social changes, necessitates reconstructing beliefs about aging, and affects individuals' lifestyles. As in the rest of the world, there is an increase in the number of older adults in Turkey's population. Despite the increase in the elderly population, ageism continues to be a worldwide phenomenon (1). The changes in population distribution by age underline the need for individuals who have proper knowledge about, positive attitudes toward, and interest in working with older adults (2). Previous studies have shown that poor knowledge about aging is associated with both negative attitudes and feelings about aging and low interest in working with older adults (3, 4). It is expected that psychology graduates will be working with older adults on aging problems more than ever. Therefore, psychology students' attitudes toward and interest in working with older adults are important issues.

Turkey as an Aging Society

Since it was thought that Turkey had a young population, old age has not been regarded as a primary research concern in the last few years (5). As the world gets older, however, Turkey's population is also getting older Turkey's population is proportionally much younger than those of many other countries', the number of older adults in the population is increasing. The elderly population, those aged 65 and older, has increased by 24% in the last five years (6). The proportion of the elderly in the total population, 8.3% in 2016, has increased to 9.7% in 2021 (6).

Turkey is a collectivist society in many ways, and intergenerational contact is likely to be more common than in an individualistic society. Surprisingly, however, negative attitudes toward aging and older adults and psychological concerns about aging were higher in Turkey than in the United States, a comparatively individualistic society (7). The impor-

tance of studies on age discrimination has increased with the increase in the elderly population in Turkey. Older adults in Turkey face age discrimination in various aspects of life. A study comparing ageist attitudes in 15 Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) countries found that the country with the highest ageism score was Turkey (8). A detailed examination of the results reveals that older people in Turkey experience age discrimination in various social areas, such as employment, health, environment, and social participation (8). Considering the changes in the structure of Turkey's population and age discrimination toward the elderly, the necessity of studies that will contribute to reducing the effect of ageism on the elderly has become more evident. To enhance the quality of elderly people's care, education on aging, which involves understanding the factors that influence the individual's perceptions of aging, both their own and others', can play an important role in the training of competent health professionals who will work with the elderly.

Knowledge About Aging, Aging Anxiety, and Ageism

Ageism refers to prejudice against one group based on their age and includes both stereotypes and discrimination based on age (9). While age-associated stereotypes about elders can be positive (e.g., older adults are wise) as well as negative (e.g., older adults are sick), negative stereotypes are more common (10).

Ageism is like racism and sexism; however, it has been distinguished from them because everyone can become a target of age discrimination (11). According to terror management theory (TMT; e.g., 12), ageism arises from the effort to distance oneself from older people via negative attitudes and behaviors due to the anxiety created by the awareness of one's mortality (12). Several studies have demonstrated that anxiety about aging, which is defined as a combination of concerns and anticipations of losses due to the aging process (13), is one of the predictors of ageist attitudes toward elderly people (14, 15). Higher levels of anxiety about aging are associated with increasingly ageist attitudes toward older adults (14, 15).

Other research has found knowledge about the aging process to be another predictor of ageist attitudes; knowledge about aging is related to positive attitudes toward aging (3), and a lack of knowledge about aging is associated with higher levels of ageist behaviors (16). Students who take courses on aging during their university education have more knowledge about aging and less ageist attitudes and behavior than those who do not attend such courses (17). Additionally, a study conducted with nursing students found that watching documentaries about aging and being in contact with healthy older adults increased the level of knowledge about aging and positive behaviors toward the elderly (18). Turkish undergraduate nursing students who had completed a course on the health of elders exhibited significantly less ageist behavior than their peers (19). Although education about aging is effective in reducing ageist behavior, there are few courses on aging and ageism (15, 18) in university programs.

Psychology is one of the main professions through which people are cared for. Due to the aging population in Turkey, many members of this profession will be in contact with older people in their practice more than ever before. Providing training to psychology students to reduce ageism is important for the well-being of older adults. This study aimed to examine the effectiveness of the Psychology of Aging and the Introduction to Developmental Psychology II courses on psychology undergraduates to change their ageism, anxiety about aging, knowledge, and interest in working with older adults. It was expected that participants' ageist attitudes and aging anxiety would decrease, while their knowledge of aging and interest in working with older adults would increase at the end of the course.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Sample

The participants were 160 psychology undergraduates who enrolled in courses related to aging at Aydın Adnan Menderes University in Turkey. Ninety-seven were second-year students who enrolled in Introduction to Developmental Psychology II (IDP), a course that discusses the physical, cognitive, and socioemotional development of adolescents and young, middle-aged, and older adults. Sixty-three were fourth-year students who enrolled in Psychology of Aging (PA), a course that discusses aging in late adulthood; these participants had already taken and passed the IDP course in their second year. The sample was 69.4% female and 31.6% male and ranged in age from 19 to 30 (M = 21.18, SD = 1.65). At least one of the grandparents was involved in the care of 41.9% of the participants when they were children.

2. Measures

Ageism. The participants' ageist attitudes toward elderly people were measured using the Fraboni Scale of Ageism (20). The Turkish adaptation of the reliability, validity, and psychometric properties of the Fraboni Scale of Ageism (FSA) was provided by Kutlu, Küçük, and Yıldız Fındık (21). The original scale had 29 items; however, four items (2, 8, 22, and 24) of the original FSA were excluded because they had low item-total correlations in the Turkish version (21). The FSA is a 25-item (e.g. "Many elderly people just live in the past") Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree). Higher scores on the scale indicate a greater level of ageism. The Cronbach's a coefficient of the FSA is 0.84 (21). In this study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficients were 0.83 in the pretest and 0.86 in the posttest.

Knowledge about Aging. Palmore's 25-item True or False Facts on Aging Quiz 1 (FAQ1) was used to measure participants' knowledge of the physical, mental, and social effects of aging and common



myths about aging (22). The FAQ1 was adapted into Turkish by Maner, Mertan and Husnu (23). Each correct answer is scored one and the false answer is scored zero. Higher scores indicate a greater knowledge of aging. A sample item was "The majority of old people – age 65- plus – are senile."

Anxiety about Aging. Participants' anxiety about aging was measured by a 20-item Likert-type (1 = strongly disagree to 4 = strongly agree) Anxiety about Aging Scale (AAS) (13). High scores on the AAS indicate a high level of aging anxiety. The AAS was adapted into Turkish by Aydın and Kabasakal (24). In adaptation study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficients was 0.85. A sample item was "I worry that people will ignore me when I am old". In this study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficients were 0.85 in the pretest and 0.83 in the posttest.

Interest in Working with Older Adults (IWOP). Participants' interest in working in a setting that provides services to old adults in the future was measured with a single question with 5-point, Likert-type answer options (1 not at all interested, 5 very interested).

Socio-Demographics. In the socio-demographic form, information was obtained about participants' gender, age, class, socioeconomic status, the frequency of contact with grandparents and whether grandparents were involved in their care when they were children. Social contact with grandparents was measured by asking, "How often are you in contact with your grandparents including face to face meetings, visits, phone calls, text messages, or electronic mail messages?" This question was asked four times for each grandparents. A total score was obtained by averaging the answers given. Participants give their answer based on 7-point scale (7= not alive to 1= Several times a day) (25).

3. Procedure

Data were collected during class time at the beginning (pretest) and end (posttest) of the semester, and extra credit points were offered as incentives

for participation. The participants were told that two measurements would be taken in the study and they were asked to create a code name to match the pretest posttest data. Both courses spanned 14 weeks, with the IDP and AP course durations being 3 and 2 hours per week, respectively. Both courses had only theoretical content. In the first week of the courses, questionnaires were administered before the courses were introduced. In the IDP course, physical, social, and cognitive development processes were mentioned in adolescence for 3 weeks, young adulthood for 3 weeks, middle adulthood for 3 weeks, and late adulthood for 3 weeks. In the last week of the course, death and mourning topics were covered, and the posttest application of the study was made. Meanwhile, in the AP course, the late adulthood period was discussed in detail. First, the concepts of aging and late adulthood were mentioned, followed by the theories of aging, methodology of aging studies, physical changes and health in elderly people, cognitive processes, personality, resilience, role of individuals in the family and society, retirement, leisure-time activities, mental disorders, successful aging, and mourning and death topics. The two courses were given by the same instructor. The lecturer who teaches the course is a research assistant with a doctorate in developmental psychology.

4. Data Analysis

The analyses of the study were performed using the SPSS v. 22 program. Independent t-tests were employed to make comparisons between the two study courses (IDP and AP courses) in the pretest measures. Afterward, to address the associations between the study variables, Pearson correlation analysis was run separately for each course group. Furthermore, to determine whether the courses that the participants attended affected their level of knowledge about aging, ageist attitudes, aging anxiety, and interests in working with elderly people were tested using a repeated-measure analysis of variance (ANOVA). Since the ageism scores of men were higher than those of women in previous studies (20), 2x2 repeated measures for last factor analysis of covariance (2-way ANCOVA) was conducted to examine whether the effectiveness of education differed according to gender.

5. Ethical Issues

This study was approved by the Social and Human Sciences Research Ethics Committee of Aydın Adnan Menderes University (reference number: 31906847/050.04.04-081001).

RESULTS

Independent samples t-tests were performed to explore the similarities and differences between the two courses (IDP and AP courses) in the pretest. No significant differences were found between the two courses in the pretest scores. Also, no significant differences were found between the two courses in the frequency of contact with grandparents and the involvement of their grandparents in their care when they were children. Moreover, the independent samples t-tests were performed to examine the gender-related similarities and differences in the pretest measurements. The FSA pretest scores showed a significant gender-related difference ($t_{(142)}$ = -2.56; p = .012). The FSA scores of male students (M = 67.86; SD = 9.66) in the pretest were significantly higher than those of female students (M = 63.20; SD = 10.36) (Table 1). An additional independent samples t-test was conducted to determine whether there is a difference in pretest scores between those whose grandparents involve their their care as children and those whose not. It was found that there was no statistically significant difference.

The relationships between age and pre- and posttest FSA, FAQ1, AAS, and IWOP scores were calculated separately for the two study courses using Pearson's correlation analysis. The results of the correlation analysis for AP groups are as follows. The

		М	M SD M		SD	t			
Education		Aging (AP,	Psychology n = 63)	Developmer (DP,	Developmental Psychology II (DP, n = 97)				
	FSA	63.66	63.66 11.27		9.68	.956			
	FAQ1	13.72	2.68	13.30	2.85	886			
	AAS	56.16	9.60	56.43	10.70	.160			
	IWOA	3.73	4.77	3.06	.98	-1.338			
Gender		Femal	e (n = 111)	Male					
	FSA	63.20	10.37	67.87	9.66	-2.56*			
	FAQ1	13.58	2.70	13.24	2.96	.677			
	AAS	55.91	10.26	57.26	10.26	765			
	IWOA	3.06	1.07	3.92	5.35	-1.619			

Table 1. Demographic Variables and Pretest Scores Comparison Between Courses

Not 1. *p < .05, **p < .001

Not 2. FSA: Fraboni Scale of Ageism, FAQ1: The Facts on Aging Quiz, ASS: Anxiety about Aging Scale, IWOA: Interest İn Working With Older Adult



pretest FSA was moderately and positively correlated with the pretest ASS and posttest FSA. The pretest FAQ1 scores were negatively and moderately correlated with the pretest FSA and pretest AAS. Furthermore, a moderate positive correlation was noted between the pre- and posttest FAQ1. Lastly, the posttest FAQ1 was negatively and moderately correlated with the posttest FSA (Table 2).

The results of correlation analysis for the IDP group are as follows (Table 3). The pretest IWOP scores showed a weak negative correlation with age and pretest FSA. The pre- and posttest IWOP scores showed a positive and weak relationship. A moderate positive correlation was noted between the pre- and posttest AAS and between the pre- test AAS and posttest FSA scores. The pretest FSA scores are moderately positively correlated with the posttest FSA and negatively correlated with the pretest FAQ1. The pretest FAQ1 scores showed a weak negative correlation with the posttest FAQ1 scores. The pre- and posttest FAQ1 scores were moderate.

ly positively correlated. Lastly, the posttest AAS was moderately correlated with the posttest FSA (positively) and posttest FAQ1 (negatively).

GLM repeated measures analyses were conducted to test the effectiveness of IDP and AP courses over the semester. Between- and within-group factors were education (IDP course and AP course) and time (pre- and posttest), respectively. Results revealed that the main effect of time is statistically significant (Wilks' λ = .866; F_(1 158) = 24.542; p < .001; $\eta^2 = 13$). However, this effect is qualified by a significant time X group interaction (Wilks' $\lambda = .957$; $F_{(1 \ 158)} = 7.071; p = .009; \eta^2 = .04)$. The interaction indicates that the variation in the mean score of FSA over the repeated measurement occasions varies as a function of an education group membership. The main effect of the course group on the mean FSA score across time was statistically significant ($F_{(1, 158)}$ = 8.698; p = .004; η^2 = .05). Accordingly, the FSA scores in the posttest (IDP course group: M = 63.32; AP course group: M = 57.30) were lower than those

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
	1.Age	1									
	2.Social Contact	.35**	1								
Pretest	3.FSA	01	09	1							
	4.FAQ1	03	.08	34**	1						
	5.AAS	.19	.09	.67**	42**	1					
	6.IWOA	01	14	.17	17	.17	1				
Posttest	7. FSA	02	17	.44**	44**	.22	.26	1			
	8.FAQ1	.02	.02	.07	.44**	.14	17	35*	1		
	9.AAS	.09	.01	.14	05	.23	.19	.18	01	1	
	10.IWOA	01	20	12	.07	02	.10	18	03	.00	1

Table	2	Correlation	Matrix	for	AΡ	Group
lanc	~ .	Conclation	IVIALIA	101		Gloup

Not 1. *p < .05, **p < .001

Not 2. FSA: Fraboni Scale of Ageism, FAQ1: The Facts on Aging Quiz, ASS: Anxiety about Aging Scale, IWOA: Interest İn Working With Older Adult

Not 3. AP group Aging Psychology course group

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
	1.Age	1									
	2.Social Contact	01	1								
Pretest	3.FSA	06	30	1							
	4.FAQ1	.07	.22*	32**	1						
	5.AAS	07	08	.21*	16	1					
	6.IWOA	23*	.10	.06	08	10	1				
Posttest	7.FSA	10	02	.59**	12	.32*	01	1			
	8.FAQ1	.16	10	17	.37**	15	23	33	1		
	9.AAS	14	18	.20	28*	.65**	09	.34**	30*	1	
	10.IWOA	02	.12	.29*	02	01	.25*	.25	05	09	1

Table 3. Correlation Matrix for IDP Group

Not 1. *p < .05, **p < .001

Not 2. FSA: Fraboni Scale of Ageism, FAQ1: The Facts on Aging Quiz, ASS: Anxiety about Aging Scale, IWOA: Interest İn Working With Older Adult

Not 3. IDP group Introduction to Developmental Psyhology II course group

in the pretest for both groups (IDP course group: M = 65.26; AP course group: M = 63.73). However, the difference between the pre- and posttest FSA scores was more evident in the AP course group (Table 4).

Regarding the effect of education on the FAQ1 scores, the main effect of time (Wilks' λ = .901; $F_{(1, 158)}$ = 17.379; p <. 001; η^2 = .10) and the time X group interaction (Wilks' λ = .949; $F_{(1, 158)}$ = 8.421; p = .004; η^2 = .05) were significant. The main effect of the course group on the mean FAQ1 scores across time was statistically significant ($F_{(1, 158)}$ = 10.928; p = .001; η^2 = .07). The results revealed a significant increase in the knowledge of aging over the repeated measure. The level of knowledge reported by AP course students in the posttest (M = 15.44) was higher than that in the pretest (M = 13.71), whereas the FAQ1 scores of the IDP group students in the pretest (M = 13.33) and posttest (M = 13.64) did not differ.

The results of the statistical analysis examining the effect of education on AAS scores showed no significant effect of time X group interaction ($F_{(1, 158)} = .163$; p = .687). Moreover, taking a course did not significantly affect individual interest in working with older people ($F_{(1, 114)} = .427$; p = .482).

Following these analyses, a two-way analysis of covariance was performed to investigate the main effects of education condition (IDP and AP) and gender on the FSA scores controlling the effects of prior FSA scores. This statistical procedure also tested the interaction between the two education conditions and gender. The main effect of gender was not significant (F $_{(1, 156)} = 1.57$; p = .212). The interaction between education condition and gender was also not statistically significant (F $_{(1, 156)} = 0.417$; p = .519). Therefore, the effectiveness of education on FSA scores did not differ by participants' gender.



Variable	A	\P	IC)P			ANOVA
	М	SD	М	SD	Effect	F ratio	η2
FSA							
Time 1	63.73	10.81	65.26	9.11	Т	24.04**	.13
Time 2	57.31	9.59	63.32	8.78	Τ×Ε	7.07*	.04
FAQ1							
Time 1	13.71	2.63	13.33	2.62	Т	17.38**	.10
Time 2	15.44	2.256	13.64	2.57	Τ×Ε	8.42*	.05
AAS							
Time 1	56.16	9.60	56.43	10.70	Т	8.37**	.05
Time 2	53.48	10.18	54.40	8.60	ТхЕ	.163	.00
IWOA							
Time 1	3.64	5.35	2.95	1.01	Т	.497	.00
Time 2	3.16	1.18	2.95	.95	ТхЕ	.497	.00

Table 4. 2x2 Repeated Measures ANOVA Results

Not 1. N = 160. AP, Aging Psychology; IDP, Introduction to Developmental Psyhology II course group; ANOVA= analysis of variance; T= time, E =Education; *p < .05, **p < .001

Not 2. FSA: Fraboni Scale of Ageism, FAQ1: The Facts on Aging Quiz, ASS: Anxiety about Aging Scale, IWOA: Interest İn Working With Older Adult

DISCUSSION

This study investigated the effects of aging-related two different courses (during a semester-long) on the participants' knowledge, attitudes, and anxiety about aging and on their interest in working with older adults. As expected, each of the predictors was correlated with ageism in both the IDP course group and the AP course group. Consistent with many other studies, a higher level of aging anxiety was associated with higher levels of ageist attitudes (15, 16), a finding that substantiates the terror management theory of ageism, and a lower level of knowledge about aging was associated with higher levels of ageist attitudes (16).

It was hypothesized that the ageist attitudes of participants would decline throughout their respective courses. Studies have found mixed results

regarding the effects of education on ageism. Although some have indicated that education has a positive effect on ageist attitudes (17, 19), others have found no effect (26). In the present study, neither IDP course aroup nor AP course aroup reported significantly less ageism at the end of the semester, but a decrease in ageist attitudes was more evident in those who had taken the AP course. The findings suggest that AP education may be an effective intervention for reducing the ageist attitudes of health professionals. This conclusion can be opened up by a more detailed consideration of the concepts of old age and aging in the AP course compared to the IDP course. While the physical, cognitive and socio-emotional dimensions of old age are discussed with a three-week curriculum in the IDP; in AP course besides the individual processes of aging (physical, emotional and cognitive changes) social dimensions of aging (such as the transition to retirement, the regulation of family relations and the place of the elderly in the society) to be addressed through whole semester that may have influenced the ageist attitudes of individuals.

It was also hypothesized that the aging-related knowledge of participants would increase as a result of the courses. Only the results for the AP course group supported this hypothesis; these participants reported significantly greater knowledge about aging at the end of the semester. In the case of the IDP group, though, knowledge about aging had not increased by the end of the semester. The results are consistent with the findings of other studies, which show that taking courses specifically focused on aging or on the health of older adults increases knowledge about this period of life (17, 19).

In light of the possibility that gender is relevant to one's knowledge of aging and ageism, the present study investigated whether there was a gender difference in the effects of the courses. Although the ageism scores in the pre-test of the male students were higher than those of the female students, the effectiveness of the courses on ageism and on knowledge of aging did not vary in relation to the gender of the participants. Educational interventions in this subject are thus an appropriate and effective method for both women and men.

Contrary to our hypothesis, we found no significant difference between pre-test and posttest scores of aging anxiety in the two groups. Nor did the interest of the participants in working with the elderly differ by the end of the semester. These findings are contrary to those of other studies, which have suggested that interventions designed to improve knowledge of aging also reduce ageism and aging anxiety and increase interest in working with the elderly (2). However, these studies have also been inconsistent in what they show about the relationship between aging anxiety and level of knowledge. Allan and Johnson (14) found that greater knowledge about aging was significantly associated with a decrease in aging anxiety. But Harris and Dollinger (17) found that education about gerontology produced no significant changes in aging anxiety. These mixed results highlight the need for further research to elucidate the factors that affect aging anxiety. Another study found that participation in education programs about gerontology is associated with greater interest in aging-related careers (4), an association not confirmed by our own study. One explanation may be that courses with field practice that naturally increase students' interactions with the elderly are more effective than purely theoretical coursework in reducing anxiety about aging and increasing the desire to work with the elderly.

This study has several limitations. One is the lack of gender diversity in the sample, likely due to the convenience-based nature of the sampling. Most participants were female, and all were psychology undergraduates. In future studies, it would be beneficial to include students from a variety of departments, including nursing, physiotherapy, and social services, who may be working with the elderly after they graduate. If theoretical instruction is supplemented by field practice, students' interactions with the elderly will increase a change that may also increase the effectiveness of the intervention. The courses were given by a single faculty member. Therefore, the results are affected by the professional skills of the lecturer teaching the course as well as the course syllabus. This limits the generalizability of the results. Other limitation of the study that draws attention is related to measurement tools. Working interest with old people was measured with a single item indicator and may not have been sensitive to the subtleties of working interest. More extensive measurement strategies should be utilized in future studies. Measurement of a broad range of working interests with old people could shed light on how different factors may be more salient in the career plans of university students. Since there is no psychometric information about the Turkish adaptation of the FAQ measurement, these results therefore



need to be interpreted with caution. In future studies, measurement tools with psychometric information should be preferred.

Despite such limitations, this study suggests that educational interventions to change student attitudes and knowledge are working, and it confirms the potential value of increasing knowledge of aging as a means of reducing negative attitudes about the elderly. The findings are consistent with those of other research (3, 16, 17). Although taking a course on aging fostered more positive attitudes toward older adults, doing so did not reduce aging anxiety or increase interest in working with the elderly. More research is needed to understand how ageism and aging anxiety are correlated and what influences them. Enhanced educational interventions may improve the attitudes about aging and aging-related subjects of students preparing for a career working with the elderly.

Conflict of Interest: We have no conflicts of interests to disclose.

REFERENCES

- McConatha JT, Schnell F, Volkwein K, Riley L, Leach E. Attitudes toward aging: A comparative analysis of young adults from the United States and Germany. Int J Aging Hum Dev 2003; 57(3): 203-15. (PMID: 15176668)
- Cottle NR, Glover RJ. Combating ageism: Change in student knowledge and attitudes regarding aging. Educ Gerontol 2007; 33(6): 501-12. (DOI: 10.1080/03601270701328318)
- Darling RM. Knowledge of aging and attitudes toward older people by communication sciences and disorders students. Contemp Issues Commun Sci Disord 2016; 43: 50–63. (DOI: 10.1044/cicsd_43_S_50)
- Cummings SM, Adler G, DeCoster VA. Factors influencing graduate social work students' interest in working with elders. Educ Gerontol 2005; 31:643–55. (DOI: 10.1080/03601270591003382)
- Imamoglu EO, Imamoglu V. Life situations and attitudes of the Turkish elderly toward institutional living within a cross-cultural perspective. J Gerontol 1992; 47: 102–8. (PMID: 1538068)
- Turkish Statistical Institute. Elders with Statistics. 2021 [Internet]. Available from: https://data.tuik.gov. tr/Bulten/Index?p=Istatistiklerle-Yaslilar-2021-45636 Accessed: 18.03.2022. (in Turkish)
- McConatha JT, Hayta V, Rieser-Danner L, McConatha D, Polat, TS. Turkish and U.S. attitudes toward aging. Educ Gerontol 2004; 30: 169–83. (DOI: 10.1080/03601270490272106)
- 8. Kim JH, Song A, Chung S, Kwak KB, Lee Y. The comparative macro-level ageism index: An international

comparison. J Aging Soc Policy 2021; 33(6): 571-84. (PMID: 32279608)

- 9. Butler RN. Age-ism: another form of bigotry. Gerontologist 1969; 9: 243–246. (PMID: 5366225)
- Hummert ML. Multiple stereotypes of elderly and young adults: a comparison of structure and evaluations. Psychol Aging 1990; 5: 182–93. (PMID: 2378684)
- 11. Palmore E. The ageism survey: first findings. Gerontologist 2001; 41(5): 572–5. (PMID: 11574698)
- Martens A, Greenberg J, Schimel J, Landau MJ. Ageism and death: Effects of mortality salience and perceived similarity to elders on reactions to elderly people. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2004; 30:1524–36. (PMID: 303179187)
- Lasher KP, Faulkender PJ. Measurement of aging anxiety: Development of the anxiety about aging scale. Int J Aging Hum Dev 1993; 37(4): 247–259. (PMID: 8307644)
- Allan LJ, Johnson J. Undergraduate attitudes toward the elderly: The role of knowledge, contact, and aging anxiety. Educ Gerontol 2009; 35(1): 1–14. (DOI: 10.1080/03601270802299780)
- Boswell SS. Predicting trainee ageism using knowledge, anxiety, compassion, and contact with older adults. Educ Gerontol 2012; 38: 733–41. (DOI:10.108 0/03601277.2012.695997)
- Stahl ST, Metzger A. College students' ageist behavior: The role of aging knowledge and perceived vulnerability to disease. Gerontol Geriatr Educ 2013; 34: 197–211. (PMID: 23383652)
- 17. Harris LA, Dollinger S. Participation in a course on

aging: Knowledge, attitudes, and anxiety about aging in oneself and others. Educ Gerontol 2001; 27: 657–67. (DOI: 10.1080/036012701317117893)

- McCleary R. Using film and intergenerational colearning to enhance knowledge and attitudes toward older adults. Educ Gerontol 2014; 40: 414–26. (DOI:10.1 080/03601277.2013.844034)
- 19. Usta YY, Demir Y, Yönder M, Yıldız A. Nursing students' attitudes toward ageism in Turkey. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2012; 54(1): 90-3. (PMID: 21353316)
- Fraboni M, Saltstone R, Hughes S. The Fraboni scale of ageism (FSA): An attempt at a more precise measure of ageism. Can J Aging 1990; 9: 56–66. (DOI: 10.1017/S0714980800016093)
- Kutlu Y, Küçük L, Yıldız Fındık U. Psychometric properties of the Turkish version of the Fraboni Scale of Ageism. Nurs Health Sci 2012; 14(4): 464-71. (PMID: 23186521)
- 22. Palmore EB. Ageism: Negative and Positive, In: Helvi G, Sandi B (Eds). Introduction and Basic Definitions.

2nd ed. New York, Springer Publishing Company, USA 1999, pp 3-18.

- 23. Maner U, Mertan B, Husnu S. Reducing ageism in Turkish-speaking university students: The roles of intergroup contact and perspective taking. Turkish Journal of Geriatrics 2020; 23(3): 401-9. (DOI:10.31086/tjgeri.2020.176)
- Aydin A, Kabasakal E. Turkish Adaptation of the Aging Anxiety Scale for Middle-Aged Women: Validity and Reliability Study. J Basic Clin Health Sci 2022; 6: 173-180. (DOI:<u>10.30621/jbachs.974023</u>)
- Brooks KP, Gruenewald T, Karlamangla A, Hu P, Koretz B, Seeman T. Social Relationships and Allostatic Load in the MIDUS Study. Health Psychology 2014; 33(11): 1373-1381. (DOI: <u>10.1037/a0034528</u>)
- 26. Knapp JL, Stubblefield P. Changing students' perceptions of aging: The impact of an intergenerational service learning course. Educ Gerontol 2000; 26: 611–21. (DOI:10.1080/03601270050200617)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.316 2022; 25(4): 579-584

Sıdıka Deniz YALIM¹

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Sıdıka Deniz YALIM

Phone : +903223440305 e-mail : denizmicozkadioglu@yahoo.com

Received : Sep 14, 2022 Accepted : Nov 27, 2022

¹ Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Ear Nose Throat Clinic, Adana, Turkey

RESEARCH

OBSTRUCTIVE SLEEP APNEA IN ELDERLY

Abstract

Introduction: This study's purpose is to compare obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) patients over 65 with those under 65 using polysomnography tests.

Materials and Method: The polysomnography tests performed on 108 patients (54 study and 54 control group) from January 1, 2018 to January 1, 2022 were examined retrospectively at the ear, nose and throat clinic in the Adana City Training and Research Hospital.

Results: The study group and the control group shared the same body mass index (BMI) median, apnea-hypopnea index (AHI) median value, the mean oxygen saturation median value, the minimum oxygen saturation median value, the oxygen saturation < 90% (SAT90) median value, the oxygen desaturation index (ODI) median value, the average apnea duration value and the arousal index value. (p>0.01)

Conclusion: In conclusion, being a male above 65 years of age may be a risk factor for obstructive sleep apnea. However, getting older does not increase obstructive sleep apnea.

Keywords: Sleep Apnea Syndrome; Polysomnography; Aged; Oxygen.

INTRODUCTION

Obstructive sleep apnea(OSA) syndrome is characterized by recurrent complete or partial obstructions of the upper airway during sleep, often accompanied by a decrease in blood oxygen saturation as is arousal. OSA syndrome is common in older adults (1). If left untreated, it can reduce one's quality of life and lead to adverse health outcomes. Effective treatment is possible, so all physicians treating the elderly should be familiar with the clinical manifestations, diagnostic methods, and treatment options for OSA (2).

Most sleep apnea patients are middle-aged men. At least 1% of the global population experiences sleep apnea. Some studies have shown that 18-73% of elderly people suffer from sleep apnea. However, for various reasons, such as a lack of standard criteria, differences in recording techniques, and sleep patterns that may vary from night to night, it is better to avoid making generalizations about the impacts of sleep apnea on the elderly (3).

Experimental and clinical data show that OSA can cause both cellular and molecular changes that accelerate health problems related to aging. None-theless, the pathways in which OSA may evoke or speed up aging have not yet been widely researched. (4)

Few studies in the medical literature contain the polysomnography parameters of OSA patients aged 65 and over. This study's purpose is to compare OSA patients over 65 with those under 65 using polysomnography tests.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics

The University of Medical Sciences, Adana City Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee approved the study (decision date: 08.08.2022, number: 2059) and it was conducted in compliance with the Helsinki Declaration. Before being included in the study, all the participants including the control group provided written consent. The "good medical practice guidelines and "good laboratories practice guidelines" were followed throughout the study.

Data Collection

The patients' polysomnography test records from January 1, 2018, to January 1, 2022, were examined retrospectively at the ear, nose and throat clinic in the Adana City Training and Research Hospital. The polysomnography tests were performed on 108 patients, with 54 belonging to the study group and 54 belonging to the control group. Patients were divided into groups based on the severity of their OSA according to WHO classification standards: there were individual groups for those with mild, moderate, and severe obstructive sleep apnea; as well as a control group. The polysomnography tests of OSA patients over 65 and the control group under the age of 65 were compared. Exclusion criteria included CPAP use, substance abuse (smoking, alcohol, etc.), chronic illnesses, allergies, and pregnancy.

Polysomnography is the gold standard for diagnosing sleep apnea. While patients were asleep their apnea-hypopnea index (AHI) resulting from respiratory arrest increased. The WHO classifies AHI values of 0-5 as normal, 5-15 as mild OSA, 15-30 as moderate OSA, and >30 as severe OSA.

Statistical analysis

IBM SPSS V23 was used for the statistical analysis. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether the variables were distributed normally. A chi-square test was used to compare the gender and OSA severity of the groups. A Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the study group and the control group. An independent sample t-test was used to compare two independent groups whether there was a statistically significant difference. The results of the analysis for a single categorical variable were described in the



form of frequency (percentage). A standard deviation and a median (minimum–maximum) were used to summarize and describe continuous variables. The significance level was set as p < 0.01.

RESULTS

A difference in the gender distribution existed between the two groups (p = 0.015). Only 70.4% of the study group was male. On the other hand, 90.7% of the control group was male. There was no statistically significant difference between the median distributions of groups (p = 0.345). While 59.3% of the study group was severe, 44.4% of the control group was severe. (Table 1)

A difference in the median ages also existed between the two groups (p < 0.001). The study group's median age was 66, while the control group's median age was 45. However, the two groups shared the same BMI median (p = 0.601), AHI median value (p=0.511), mean oxygen saturation median value (p=0.219), minimum oxygen saturation median value (p=0.453), SAT90 median value (p=0.773), the ODI median value (p=0.499) and the average apnea duration value. (Table 2)

DISCUSSION

Obstructive sleep apnea is a common disease in the general population however studies on the elderly are few and the results are discordant. When we look at the literature studies show an increased prevalence of OSA with age but despite high prevalence, it remains underdiagnosed due to a lack of knowledge of the geriatric feature of the disease and the frequency of comorbidities that may worsen it.

The results of this study revealed that although males of all ages may be more at risk of developing OSA but fortunately being over 65 does not inherently result in OSA worsening. The polysomnography variables and oxygen parameters of OSA patients over 65 did not differ from those of OSA patients under 65.

The prevalence of OSA in people over 65 is estimated to be 30% or higher. (5) This increased prevalence is about factors pertaining to age-related physiological changes in older patients such as sleep onset, respiratory chemosensitivity, increase pharyngeal resistance due to airway lengthening and descent of hyoid bone, and the presence of comorbid diseases (5).

The knowledge gaps in research on sleep apnea include etiopathogenesis and its implications. Chowduri et al. (6) revealed that SDB is common in older adults and is associated with significant negative effects. Predominantly central apneas are common in the elderly due to increased breathing instability during non-REM sleep, as suggested by a lower carbon dioxide reserve and a higher controller gain (6). Despite the pharyngeal muscle function and the size of the airway lumen being reduced in elderly people, an increase in arousal frequency due to aging causes hyperventilation and hypocapnia, which promote respiratory instability (7). These two studies of Chowduri et al. were both contrary to our study while in our study oxygen saturation values of the elderly were not significantly different from the younger OSA patients.

According to Hongyo et al., gender (being male), body mass index, and age are risk factors for severe OSA in the elderly (8). Age and body mass index were significantly greater in severe OSA patients in the age cohort than in mild-to-moderate OSA patients. Their research indicates that even in older people who are physically active and neuropsychiatrically healthy, aging worsens OSA symptoms (8). In our study gender, body mass index and, age were not expected to be risk factors for OSA. This may be due to our small sample size.

In Russel et al.'s study, being overweight, male, and elderly and having a genetic predisposition toward sleep apnea and craniofacial aberrations are all possible causes of OSA. However, being over-

	Study group	Control	Total	Test ist.	р
Gender					
Male	38 (70.4)	49 (90.7)	87 (80.6)	E 011	0.015
Female	16 (29.6)	5 (9.3)	21 (19.4)	5.911	0.015
AHI groups					
Normal	7 (13)	6 (11.1)	13 (12)		
Mild	9 (16.7)	15 (27.8)	24 (22.2)	2.22	0.245
Moderate	6 (11.1)	9 (16.7)	15 (13.9)	3.32	0.345
Severe	32 (59.3)	24 (44.4)	56 (51.9)		

 Table 1. The comparison of categorical variables by groups.

*Chi-square test, frequency (percent)

Table 2.	The co	omparison	of	quantitative	data	by	groups.
----------	--------	-----------	----	--------------	------	----	---------

	Study	Group	Cor	ntrol	То	tal		
	Mean ± SD	Median (minmax.)	Mean ± SD	Median (minmax.)	Mean ± SD	Median (minmax.)	Test ist.	р
Age	67.72 ± 3.83	66.00 (65.00 - 80.00)	45.74 ± 8.46	45.00 (20.00 - 62.00)	56.73 ± 12.83	63.50 (20.00 - 80.00)	0.000	<0.001*
BMI	30.44 ± 5.58	29.00 (22.00 - 50.00)	30.41 ± 4.02	30.00 (21.00 - 40.00)	30.43 ± 4.84	30.00 (21.00 - 50.00)	1373.000	0.601*
АНІ	34.41 ± 22.95	34.95 (1.30 - 90.80)	32.54 ± 26.01	25.05 (0.20 - 95.50)	33.47 ± 24.43	32.30 (0.20 - 95.50)	1351.000	0.511*
SaO2	92.48 ± 1.85	92.80 (86.90 - 95.70)	92.61 ± 2.59	93.45 (83.40 - 96.30)	92.54 ± 2.24	93.00 (83.40 - 96.30)	1258.000	0.219*
minimum SaO2	76.69 ± 8.55	78.00 (52.00 - 90.00)	77.31 ± 10.35	79.00 (51.00 - 93.00)	77.00 ± 9.45	78.00 (51.00 - 93.00)	1336.000	0.453*
ODI	18.40 ± 21.97	9.65 (0.10 - 85.90)	14.18 ± 14.45	9.95 (0.00 - 60.90)	16.29 ± 18.63	9.70 (0.00 - 85.90)	1411.000	0.773*
SAT90	19.33 ± 21.50	13.40 (0.00 - 98.20)	19.17 ± 24.43	7.05 (0.00 - 92.40)	19.25 ± 22.90	8.85 (0.00 - 98.20)	1348.000	0.499*
Apnea duration	23.52 ± 6.12	23.35 (13.50 - 36.10)	24.46 ± 9.56	23.20 (0.00 - 60.00)	23.99 ± 8.00	23.30 (0.00 - 60.00)	-0.611	0.542**
Arousal index	4.35 ± 14.38	0.00 (0.00 - 78.20)	1.01 ± 2.93	0.00 (0.00 - 20.30)	2.68 ± 10.46	0.00 (0.00 - 78.20)	1344.000	0.434*

*Mann-Whitney U test, **Independant Samples T-test, median (minimum – maximum)

OBSTRUCTIVE SLEEP APNEA IN ELDERLY



weight is not as significant a contributing factor in the geriatric population. (2) Our study did not include craniofacial aberrations.

The relationship between obesity and being an elderly person is less transparent. They have a lower BMI and lesser neck circumference than younger OSA patients. (9) Furthermore, risk stratification models are employed if the patient is male and depending on their BMI. However, these models have been demonstrated to provide incorrect analyses for those who are not obese and the elderly. (10)

According to Morley et al.'s investigation, younger people may exhibit a distinct phenotype of OSA from older people. (11) Although the architecture of younger people with OSA is generally healthy, their stronger respiratory capacity and increased loop gain make them likelier to develop the condition. Worsening anatomy with aging should counteract any reduction in the susceptibility toward OSA, even though the decrease in ventilatory effort and loop gain with age should act as protection against OSA. We think that the study that was mentioned may help to explain why OSA was not worsening in the elderly.

Pinilla et al. (4) examined the link between OSA and aging and found that OSA is connected to an increase in specific aging markers in a dosimetric manner. When the core group was subdivided by age group, they found that OSA was linked to a rise in specific age markers in patients younger than 50, independent of many defined potential confounders. Our study did not include specific age markers. The sleep patterns of different age groups can vary greatly. Older people complain that they have trouble falling asleep and staying asleep and frequently wake up during the night and in the morning. With age, sleep becomes more fragmented, independent of sleep apnea. (12) In our study the sleep patterns of the patients were not included.

In older adults, some unidentified factors affect these interrelations. Also, due to the sheer anatomical and physiological proclivity for the progression of sleep apnea with advancing age, aged patients could be diverse. It is acknowledged that older people have a range of health issues and functionalities that are not always associated with their biological age. Some people age without developing chronic diseases. As a result, more cohort studies are needed to better understand these interactions.

One of the limitations of our study was the small sample size; not all age groups were included. Another limitation could be that we did not follow the OSA patients from the onset of OSA. Therefore, we could not contribute to the causal relation.

In conclusion, being a male above 65 years of age may be a risk factor for OSA. Hence, early evaluation can reduce risk. However, getting older does not increase OSA. The condition becomes aggravated due to individual differences and well-being. Further studies with large sample sizes are needed.

Conflict of interest: There is no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Kinugawa K, Doulazmi M, Sebban C et al. Sleep apnea in elderly adults with chronic insomnia. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2012;60 (12): 2366-8. (PMID: 23231557)
- Russel T, Duntley S. Sleep disordered breathing in the elderly. Am J Med. 2011;124 (12): 1123-1126. (PMID: 21906711)
- 3. Fleury B.Sleep apnea syndrome in the elderly. Sleep. 1992;15 (6): 39-41. (PMID: 1470807)
- Pinilla L, Santamaria-Martos F, Benitez ID et al. Association of obstructive sleep apnea with the aging process. Annals ATS. 2021;18 (9): 1540-1574. (PMID: 33662230)

- Ralls F, Cutchen L. A contemporary review of obstructive sleep apnea. Current Opinion Pulm Med. 2019;25 (6): 578-593. (PMID: 31589188)
- Chowduri S, Prahnesh P, Badr MS. Apnea in Older Adults. Sleep Med Clin. 2017;13 (1): 21-37. (PMID: 29412981)
- Chowduri S, Pranathiageswaran S, Loomis-King H et al. Aging is associated with increased propensity for central apnea during NREM sleep. J Appl Physiol. 2018;124 (1): 83-90. (PMID: 29025899)
- Hongyo K, Ito N, Yamamoto K, et al. Factors associated with the severity of obstructive sleep apnea in older adults. Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2017;17: 614–621. (PMID: 27246824)

- Kitikata H, Kohno T, Fukuda K. Sleep-disordered breathing in the elderly: is it distinct from that in the younger or middle-aged populations? J Thorac Dis. 2018;10 (9): 1102-1107. (PMID: 29849205)
- Young T, Shahar E, Nieto FJ, et al. Predictors of sleep-disordered breathing in community-dwelling adults: the Sleep Heart Health Study. Arch Intern Med. 2002; 162: 893–900. (PMID: 11966340)
- Morley JE, Sanford A, Bourey R. Sleep Apnea: A Geriatric Syndrome. JAMDA. 2017;18: 899-904. (PMID: 29080571)
- 12. McMillan A, Morrel M. Sleep disordered breathing at the extremes of age: the elderly. Breathe. 2016;12 (1): 50-60. (PMID: 27064674)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.317 2022; 25(4): 585-591

Arzu ŞENOL ¹					·D
Şafak ÖZER BALİN ²					. 🕞
■ Selda TELO ³ · · · · · ·					. 🕞

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Arzu ŞENOL

Phone : +904246066000 e-mail : asenol2017@gmail.com

Received : Jun 26, 2022 Accepted : Nov 10, 2022

- ¹ University of Health Sciences Fethi Sekin City Hospital, Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Elazig, Turkey
- ² Firat University Hospital, Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Elazig, Turkey
- ³ Firat University, Biochemistry, Elazig, Turkey

RESEARCH

EVALUATION OF PENTRAXIN 3 UTILITY IN PREDICTING MORTALITY IN GERIATRIC PATIENTS WITH COVID-19: A PROSPECTIVE STUDY

Abstract

Introduction: The clinical spectrum of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) ranges from mild upper respiratory tract infections to fulminant pneumonia. Nevertheless, it is associated with high rates of morbidity and mortality in elderly individuals. The present study aimed to investigate the levels of pentraxin 3 in geriatric patients with COVID-19 and to determine whether it could serve as a marker for predicting mortality.

Materials and Method: This study included patients aged \geq 65 years who were diagnosed with COVID-19 infection and admitted to the pandemic ward between October 2021 and march 2022. The patients were classified into two groups: survivors and nonsurvivors.

Results: Of the 95 geriatric patients included in this study, 20 (21%) died and 75 (79%) were discharged upon full recovery. There was a significant difference between male and female patients in terms of mortality. Shortness of breath was noted in 19 nonsurvivors and 9 survivors (p < 0.05). The median pentraxin 3 level was 5.8 ng/mL (1–20) for all patients, 3.92 ng/mL (1–19.6) for survivors, and 6.3 ng/mL (4.1–20) for nonsurvivors (p < 0.001). The area under the curve in the receiver operating characteristic curve analysis for pentraxin 3 was 0.596 (p = 0.04) to predict mortality. The likelihood ratio test revealed a cutoff value of 4.43 ng/mL (sensitivity: 57.1% and specificity: 70.5%) for pentraxin 3.

Conclusion: Pentraxin 3 was found to be a novel biomarker for predicting mortality in geriatric patients with COVID-19, and it was investigated for the first time in this special population.

Keywords: COVID-19; Geriatrics; Mortality; Acute-Phase Proteins.

INTRODUCTION

In December 2019, the World Health Organization reported pneumonia cases of unknown etiology in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China. The causative agent was identified as a new coronavirus (2019-nCoV), and the pneumonia caused by it was termed COV-ID-19 (1). COVID-19 has affected countries worldwide, giving rise to a pandemic associated with significant morbidity and mortality (2). Disease severity has ranged from asymptomatic clinical forms to severe clinical forms, with signs and symptoms of pulmonary parenchymal involvement (3).

Respiratory infections are among the major causes of morbidity, hospitalization, and mortality throughout the world, especially in elderly individuals. Elderly patients with infectious diseases exhibit atypical prognoses owing to chronic alterations, along with genetic and environmental factors (4). Furthermore, delayed diagnosis and a worsened prognosis are highly prevalent in this population because current symptoms may be considered a natural consequence of aging (5). Nevertheless, early diagnosis and assessment of disease severity are essential for the optimal treatment of respiratory infections (6).

While the lack of reliable means available to diagnose respiratory infections continues to be a major problem, many biomarkers, such as C-reactive protein (CRP), procalcitonin (PCT), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), plasminogen activation inhibitor-1, and pentraxin 3 (PTX3), have been introduced to improve diagnostic accuracy (6–8). PTXs are a family of acute-phase reactants characterized by a cyclic multimeric structure. The PTX family is classified into two subgroups—short and long depending on the primary structure of the protein. CRP and serum amyloid-P belong to the short pentraxin subgroup, whereas PTX3 is included in the long pentraxin subgroup. It has been established that increased levels of PTX3 serve as an independent marker associated with the risk of developing certain diseases, including atherosclerosis, cancer, respiratory diseases, and central nervous system diseases (9,10).

The role of PTX3 is not yet clearly understood in the geriatric population with COVID-19. To our knowledge, this is the first study in which a new biomarker was investigated to predict mortality in geriatric patients with COVID-19. The present study aimed to investigate the levels of PTX3 in geriatric patients with COVID-19 and to determine whether it could serve as a marker for predicting mortality.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

This prospective study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Firat University with the number 3801 dated September 16, 2019. The participants were briefed about the study and their respective written consents were obtained prior to the collection of clinical information and blood samples.

Study design

Patients and Controls: This study included patients diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2 infection and admitted to the pandemic ward between October 2021 and March 2022. According to the inclusion criteria, patients aged \geq 65 years in whom COVID-19 diagnosis was confirmed via real-time polymerase chain reaction were included in the study. Patients aged < 65 years who were suspected to have another infection and received antimicrobial therapy during the last 1 month were excluded from the study. The patients were classified into two groups—survivors and nonsurvivors.

Data collection

Clinical data: Patient data, including demographic characteristics, medical history, and the status of receiving other COVID-19 therapies (such



as anticytokine treatment), were retrieved from the hospital's electronic registration system. All the patients underwent pulmonary computed tomography at admission. Furthermore, the need for ventilators, length of hospital stay, and rate of mortality were recorded during the study.

Determination of plasma levels of pentraxin 3: At admission, venous blood (5 mL) was collected from the patients and stored in ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid-containing tubes. The blood samples were centrifuged within 40 min of their collection at 3500 rpm for 10 min. The plasma samples were kept at -80°C until examination. Serum PTX3 levels were analyzed using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (human PTX3; catalog no.: 201-12-1939; Biological Technology Co., Ltd, Shanghai, China) in accordance to the manufacturer's instructions. The measurement range of the human PTX3 ELISA kit was 0.08–20 ng/mL, and the intra-assay and interassay CV values were <10% and <12%, respectively. The test results were expressed in ng/mL.

Routine biochemistry and hematology: Standard blood assays were performed as a part of the routine analyses for many parameters, including CRP levels, white blood cell count (WBC), ESR, and PCT and D-dimer levels.

Statistical analysis: SPSS v.22 package program (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for data analysis. Visual (histograms and probability plots) and analytical methods (Kolmogorov–Smirnov/Shapiro–Wilk test) were used to test the variables' normality of distribution. Continuous variables with normal distribution were expressed as mean (±standard deviation), whereas data with non-normal distribution were presented as median (minimum–maximum). Categorical variables were expressed as frequency and percentage. Mann–Whitney U test or Student's *t*-test was used to compare continuous variables based on their normality of distribution. The cutoff

value for PTX3 to predict mortality was calculated using ROC analysis. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Of the 95 geriatric patients included in this study, 42 (44%) were females and 53 (56%) were males (p > 0.05). The median ages of the female and male patients were 65 (65–85) and 65 (65–89) years, respectively (p > 0.05). Additionally, 20 (21%) patients died, and 75 (79%) were discharged upon full recovery. Of the nonsurvivors, 7 (35%) were females and 13 (65%) were males. There was a significant difference between the male and female patients in terms of mortality (p < 0.05). The median ages of the survivors and nonsurvivors were 65 (65–82) and 65 (65–89) years, respectively (p > 0.05). Shortness of breath was observed in 19 (95%) nonsurvivors and 9 (12%) survivors (p < 0.05).

Laboratory values in the general population were 32 (5–334) for CRP, 0.12 (0.03–93) for PCT, 554 for D-dimer (441–1620), 0.71 (0.62–1.6) for creatinine, 4.5 (1.2–16) for high-sensitivity troponin, 40 for ESR (21–123), 6,850 for WBC (2,400–24,900), 4,560 for neutrophils (1,390–22,420), 1,410 (660–6,520) for lymphocytes, 264.2 \pm 137 for platelets, 265 \pm 364 for ferritin, 38 \pm 11 for aspartate aminotransferase, 34 \pm 23 for alanine aminotransferase, 293 \pm 156 for lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), and 590 \pm 297 for fibrinogen. The biochemical parameters of the nonsurvivors and survivors and their relationships are provided in Table 1.

Median PTX3 levels were 5.8 (1–20) ng/mL for all the patients. The survivors and nonsurvivors had median PTX3 levels of 3.92 (1–19.6) ng/mL and 6.3 ng/mL (4.1–20) ng/mL, respectively (p < 0.001). The AUC for the ROC curve analysis of PTX3 was 0.596 (p = 0.04) to predict mortality (Figure 1). When performing the LR test, the cut-off value for PTX 3 was 4.43 ng/mL (sensitivity: 57.1% and specificity: 70.5%).

Characteristics	Nonsurvivors (n:20)	Survivors (n:75)	P value	
WBC, K/uL	1200±11700	6230±5700	0.584	
Neutrophil, K/uL	1000±1190	4210±510	0.290	
Lymphocyte, K/uL	810±500	2260±3360	0.036	
Platelet count, K/uL	184.2±103.0	323.2±167.5	0.134	
CRP, mg/L	75 (34-334)	21 (3-133)	0.046	
Procalcitonin, ng/mL	1.15 (0.1-95)	0.10 (0.02-0.28)	0.07	
ESR (>20mm/saat)	34±14	63±74	0.606	
AST, U/L	48±32	40±14	0.037	
ALT, U/L	35±12	42±32	0.233	
LDH, U/L	312±186	310±152	0.028	
Serum albumin, g/L	3.5±0.7	3.9±0.5	0.002	
Kreatinin, mg/dL	0.91 (0.62-1.6)	0.72 (0.63-1.31)	0.187	
Ferritin, ug/L	416±262	334±274	0.010	
D-dimer, ugFEU/L	723 (441-6970)	675 (458-1620)	0.033	
hsTn I, ng/L	4.9 (1.2-13.5)	4.6 (2.9-16)	0.082	

Table 1. Laboratory parameters of the patients

CRP: C reactive protein, ESR: Erythrocyte sedimentation rate, AST: Aspartate aminotransferase, ALT: Alanine aminotransferase, LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase





DISCUSSION

SARS-CoV-2 infection may occur in various clinical forms, ranging from mild upper respiratory tract infections to fulminant pneumonia (11), and some affected patients may experience progression to life-threatening acute respiratory distress syndrome, coagulopathy, and septic shock (12). In patients with COVID-19, the risk of progression to severe disease is 26%–32%. An increased risk of mortality is expected, especially in elderly patients, due to an increased risk of a worsening prognosis (13).

The overall rate of COVID-19-related mortality ranges from 2.3% to 14.8% depending on the demographic characteristics of the country or region, age, disease severity, and comorbidities (14). Increased

mortality was directly related to the demographic factors, including advanced age and male sex in the cohorts of the patients with COVID-19(15). The present study on the geriatric patient population supported all the foregoing results, and the overall mortality rate was found to be 21%. Furthermore, the mortality risk was higher in the male patients in our study. The most common symptoms reported by patients with COVID-19 were fever, fatigue, and dry cough (16). Nevertheless, the fever response is generally weak, especially in elderly individuals. Pulmonary involvement with shortness of breath is frequently seen in the critical patient group (17). In the present study, the incidence of shortness of breath was significantly higher in the nonsurvivors than in the survivors.

It was found that increased levels of laboratory parameters, especially CRP, ferritin, LDH, D-dimer levels, and lymphopenia were directly associated with the progression of COVID-19 (18). Critical patients exhibited leukopenia, lymphopenia, increased liver enzyme, ferritin, lactate dehydrogenase, and D-dimer levels, and increased prothrombin time (16). The mortality rate was higher in patients with high D-dimer levels and severe lymphopenia (19). In this study, significantly increased CRP, PCT, D-dimer, LDH, ferritin levels, and lymphopenia were observed in the nonsurvivors. The laboratory results reported in our study were consistent with those reported in the relevant literature.

The serum PTX3 levels are typically very low in healthy individuals (<2 ng/mL) and rapidly and highly increase in patients with various infectious and inflammatory conditions (20). The plasma PTX3 level has a diagnostic and prognostic role in many diseases, as it reaches peak concentration 6–8 h after an inflammatory stimulus (21, 22). It is well established that significantly higher PTX3 levels are observed in association with viral and bacterial diseases (23). Moreover, PTX3 has been proven to be a prognostic marker in community-acquired pneumonia (24), ventilator-associated pneumonia (25), and sepsis (23).

Genç et al. (21) reported a PTX3 level of 3.91 (1.9–23.2) in nonsurvivors, which was statistically significantly higher compared to that of the survivors in a study of 88 patients with COVID-19 aged 67 (23–95) years. In the present study, there was a significant correlation between the inflammation indicator serum PTX3 level and COVID-19-related mortality, and the cutoff value to predict mortality was 4.43 ng/mL. Also, it was suggested that increased PTX3 levels could predict increased mortality risk in geriatric patients with COVID-19, which would enable early intervention in the management of patients included in this high-risk population.

This is the first study to demonstrate the utility of plasma PTX3 levels in geriatric patients with COV-ID-19. However, there are certain limitations to this study. The relatively limited number of patients, examination of PTX3 levels only at admission, and lack of a healthy control group are also some limitations of the study.

In conclusion, given the increased risk of worse prognosis and mortality rate associated with COV-ID-19 in the high-risk geriatric patient group, early prognostic information should be obtained by the determination of PTX3 levels along with the evaluation of conventional mortality predictors, thereby improving clinical prognosis and enabling the provision of rapid individualized treatment.

Conflict of Interest: There is no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Coronaviridae Study Group of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. The species severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus: classifying 2019-nCoV and naming it SARS-CoV-2. Nature Microbiology 2020;5(4):536–544. (PMID: 32123347)
- World Health Organization (WHO). Coronavirus disease (COVID-2019) [e-book] situation reports; 2019. [Internet]. Available from: https://www.who.int/ emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/situation-reports. Accessed: 25.06.2020.
- Kraemer MU, Yang CH, Gutierrez B, et al. The effect of human mobility and control measures on the COV-ID-19 epidemic in China. Science 2020;368(6490):493-497. (PMID: 32213647)
- KB Crossley, PK Peterson. Infections in the elderly, In: Mandell GL, Bennett JE, Dolin R (Eds). Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's Principles and Practice in Infectious Diseases. 6th edition, New York, Churchill Livingstone 2005, pp 3517-24.
- N Bilir. Aging Society. In: Kutsal YG (Eds). Quality life in old age. Hacettepe University Hospitals Printing House Ankara 2007, pp 11-15. (in Turkish).
- Saleh M, Garde E, Hasselt C. Host-response biomarkers for the diagnosis of bacterial respiratory tract infections. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine 2019;57(4):442–451. (PMID: 30183665)
- Schuetz P, Amin DN, Greenwald JL. Role of procalcitonin in managing adult patients with respiratory tract infections. Chest 2012;141(4):1063-1073. (PMID: 22474148)
- Pepys MB, Hirschfield GM: C-reactive protein: a critical update. Journal of Clinical Investigation 2003;111(12):1805-1812. (PMID: 12813013)
- Agrawal A, Singh PP, Bottazzi B, Garlanda C, Mantovani A. Pattern recognition by pentraxins. Adv Exp Med Biol 2009;653:98-116. (PMID: 19799114)
- Bottazzi B, Garlanda C, Cotena A, et al. The long pentraxin PTX3 as a prototypic humoral pattern recognition receptor: interplay with cellular innate immunity. Immunological Reviews 2009;227(1):9-18. (PMID: 19120471)
- World Health Organization. Clinical management of severe acute respiratory infection when Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) infection is suspected: interim guidance; 2019.[homepage on the Internet]. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.</u>

int/iris/handle/10665/178529. Accessed: 28.01.2020.

- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, et al. Clinical characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. New England Journal of Medicine 2020;382(18):1708-1720. (PMID: 32109013)
- Yan L, Zhang HT, Goncalves J, et al. A machine learning-based model for survival prediction in patients with severe COVID-19 infection. MedRxiv 2020. (DOI :10.1101/2020.02.27.20028027).
- Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and important lessons from the Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in china: summary of a report of 72,314 cases from the Chinese center for disease control and prevention. JAMA 2020;323(13):1239-1242. (PMID: 32091533)
- Zhang JJ, Cao YY, Tan G, et al. Clinical, radiological, and laboratory characteristics and risk factors for severity and mortality of 289 hospitalized COVID-19 patients. Allergy 2021;76(2):533-550. (PMID: 32662525)
- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, et al. Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel Coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA 2020;323(11):1061–1069. (PMID: 32031570)
- Nanda A, Vura NV, Gravenstein S. COVID19 in older adult. Aging Clinical and Experimental Research 2020;32(7):1199–1202. (PMID: 32390064)
- Gao YD, Ding M, Dong X, et al. Risk factors for severe and critically ill COVID-19 patients: A review. Allergy 2021;76(2):428–455. (PMID: 33185910)
- Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet 2020;395(10223):507-513. (PMID: 32007143)
- Mantovani A, Garlanda C, Doni A, Bottazzi B. Pentraxins in innate immunity: from C-reactive protein to the long pentraxin 3. Journal of Clinical Immunology 2008;28(1):1-13. (PMID: 17828584)
- 21. Genç AB, Yaylacı S, Dheir H, et al. The predictive and diagnostic accuracy of long pentraxin-3 in COV-ID-19 pneumoni. Turkısh Journal of Medical Sciences 2020;51(2):448-453. (PMID: 33315349)
- 22. Mantovani A, Valentino S, Gentile S, Inforzato A, Bottazzi B, Garlanda C. The long pentraxin PTX3: a paradigm for humoral pattern recognition molecules. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 2013;1285:1-14. (PMID: 23527487)



- 23. Muller B, Peri G, Doni A et al. Circulating levels of the long pentraxin PTX3 correlate with severity of infection in critically ill patients. Critical Care Medicine 2001;29(7):1404-1407. (PMID: 11445697)
- 24. Kao SJ, Yang HW, Tsao SM, et al. Plasma long pentraxin 3 (PTX3) concentration is a novel marker of disease activity in patients with community-acquired

pneumonia. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine 2013;51(4):907-913. (PMID: 23152412)

25. Lin Q, Fu F, Shen L, Zhu B. Pentraxin 3 in the assessment of ventilator associated pneumonia: an early marker of severity. Heart Lung 2013;42(2):139-145. (PMID: 23273657)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.318 2022; 25(4): 592-599

Ozer Erdem GUR ¹
Nevreste Didem SONBAY YILMAZ ¹ ID
Sibel YAVUZ ² · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Hatice Deniz ILHAN ³
Rezarta Taga SENIRLI ¹ ·······
Muhammet YILDIZ ¹
■ Yesim YÜKSEL ¹ ·········
Nuray ENSAR ¹
■ Halil ER ⁴ ······ D
■ Kübra DEMİR ÖNDER ⁵ · · · · · · · · · · •
Berna DOĞAN ²

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Özer Erdem GÜR

Phone : +905325996175 e-mail : erdemkaptan@yahoo.com

Received : Oct 04, 2022 Accepted : Nov 10, 2022

- ¹ Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Otolaryngology, Antalya, Turkey
- ² Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Ophthalmology, Antalya, Turkey
- ³ Akdeniz University Faculty of Medicine, Ophthalmology, Antalya, Turkey
- ⁴ Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Microbiology, Antalya, Turkey
- ⁵ Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Infectious Disease, Antalya, Turkey

RESEARCH

RHINO-ORBITAL MUCORMYCOSIS IN THE ELDERLY POPULATION AFTER COVID-19

Abstract

Introduction: In this study, we aimed to retrospectively evaluate the characteristics of mucormycosis cases seen in our clinic during the COVID-19 pandemic, the management of their treatment and the SARS-CoV-2 variants that were dominant at that time.

Methods: The medical records of patients diagnosed with rhino-orbital mucormycosis between March 2020 and July 2022 were retrospectively evaluated.

Results: Nine patients were diagnosed with rhino-orbital mucormycosis. Of these patients, six were male and three were female, and the patients were between the ages of 65-75 (mean 69.2). After the diagnosis of mucormycosis, antifungal treatment was initiated with liposomal amphotericin-B. Eight patients underwent surgery within 48 hours, only one patient refused to undergo surgery.

Conclussions: Mucormycosis is a rapidly progressing opportunistic fungal infection. Therefore, the most basic criteria determining mortality is the early detection of about mucormycosis infection and to diagnose it as soon as possible, especially in patients with an underlying immunosuppressive condition. Once a diagnosis of mucormucosis has been established, risk factors, especially blood sugar regulation, should be corrected. Furthermore, systemic and local antifungal therapy shuold be initiated, and urgent debridement should be performed.

Keywords: COVID-19; Mucormycosis; Aged.

INTRODUCTION

On the 7th of January 2020, the WHO defined a new coronavirus (2019-nCoV) that had not been detected in humans previously. On the 11th of February 2020, the disease was named coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19) and the virus Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus -2 (SARS-CoV-2) (1,2).

Since it was detected, SARS-CoV-2, which caused the death of millions, has constantly mutated like any other RNA virus. Although many variants were detected after index virus identification in the first cases in December 2019, five were classified as variants of concern (VOC). On the 18th of December 2020, Alpha (B.1.1.7. United Kingdom), December 2020 Beta (B.1.351, South Africa), 11 th of January 2021 Gamma (S.1, Brazil), 11th of May 2021, Delta (B.1.617.2, India) and on the 26th of November 2021 Omicron (B1.1.529, in multiple countries) have been declared VOCs (3).

Mucormucosis is a rare opportunistic fungal infection (0.005 to 1.7 per million) that progresses rapidly (4). It is often caused by Rhizomucor, Mucor, and Lichthimia spp. Fungi that cause mucor infection can be found in soil and mold or suspended in air (5,6). Deterioration of the immune system, such as Diabetes Mellitus (DM), transplantation, haematological malignancies, neutropenia, iron overload, long-term steroid use, human immune defficiency virüs (HIV), skin trauma, chemotherapy or intravenous drug use, and inhaled saprophytic fungi can be found in the paranasal sinuses and colonise the nasal cavity (4,5,7). This affects the pterygopalatine fossa, eroding the paranasal sinus wall, and spreads to the brain and orbit (rhino-orbito cerebral mucormycosis) or is observed as pulmonary, cutaneous, gastrointestinal, or disseminated mucormucosis (5). These fungi cause vascular thrombosis and tissue necrosis owing to their invasive properties, and causes a black scar in the nasal cavity or hard palate, which is typical of mucormucosis (5,6).

Decreased numbers of routine doctor check-ups

due to pandemics, the deterioration of the control of comorbid diseases by Covid 19 infection, highdose steroids used due to severe COVID-19 infection, and the need for intubation, increases the incidence of not only mucormycosis but also other opportunistic fungal infections such as candidiazis and aspergillozis (4,7). Mucormycosis infection is more dangerous than other opportunistic infections due is its ability to spread rapidly (4,7,8). A delay of even a few hours in the diagnoses of patients may cause the spread of the disease and even death. If the patient is intubated or unconscious, it is very difficult to diagnose this opportunistic infection, which progresses rapidly in the nasal passage.

In this study, we evaluated the characteristics of the mucormycosis cases referred to our clinic and the management of their treatment by evaluating the dominant SARS-CoV-2 variant periods.

METHOD

The medical records of patients diagnosed with rhino-orbital mucormycosis between March 2020 and July 2022 were evaluated retrospectively. Patients diagnosed with COVID-19 by PCR and whose mucormycosis diagnosis was confirmed by histopathological and direct microscopic methods were included in the study.

All patients diagnosed with mucormucosis were followed up by the Infectious Diseases, Ear Nose Throat (ENT), and Eye Diseases departments using a multidisciplinary approach. Demographic characteristics of these patients, initial symptoms and findings, PCR results for SARS-CoV-2, treatments they received, hospital stay duration, presence of DM and blood sugar levels, presence of other comorbid diseases, physical examination findings, imaging methods, and type of surgery were recorded for patients who underwent surgery. Paranasal sinus computed tomography (PNS-CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) were performed for all patients to evaluate eye involvement.



Approval for the study was granted by the University of Health Sciences Antalya Training and Research Hospital Local Ethics Committee (date: 2021, number: 333).

RESULTS:

All patients with mucormycosis were treated between June 2021 and November 2021. All patients were diagnosed with COVID-19 based on nasopharyngeal swab sample examination with SARS-CoV-2 real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RTPCR), all of which resulted in delta variants. COVID-19 infection was defined as severe when SpO2 was <90% or the respiratory rate was >30 breaths/min at admisson or during hospitalisation(4). Nine patients were diagnosed with rinoorbital mucormucosis (Figure 1). Of these patients, six were male and three were female, and the patients were between the ages of 65–75 (mean 69.2). The patient information is presented in Table 1.

Seven patients had uncontrolled DM. The mean fasting blood glucose level of the patients was 283.27 mg/dL with a mean glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) of 10.8% (±1.28). All patients were diagnosed by histopathological and microbiological examination of tissue samples taken from the nasal passage.

The hospitalisation of patients diagnosed with mucormycosis was between 1–85 days. Once mucormycosis diagnosis was confirmed, patients were administered 5–10 mg/kg/day intravenous liposomal amphotericin B. Eight patients underwent surgery within 48 hours. Informed consent was obtained from all patients (first-degree relatives of the intubated patients) before surgery. One patient did not undergo surgery.

Medial maxillectomy and orbital exenteration were performed on the affected side in all the patients who underwent surgery. All patients underwent endoscopic sinus surgery, removal of non-viable tissues, and excision of the septum excised (Figures 2-3). Hard palate excision was performed in four patients. Postoperatively, the patients were followed-up with daily endoscopic examinations. Repeated debridement was performed in all patients during follow-up. The patients were followed up in the hospital for 20–95 days (mean 67.11 days) after the surgical intervention. Three patients were discharged from the hospital. The one patient who refused surgery died because of septic shock, and another five patients died while in the hospital due to cardiac or pulmonary causes. All the patients had unilateral eye involvement. In the patient that did not undergo surgery, the other eye was also involved 6 days after diagnosis (Figure 4).

Figure 1. Rhinoorbital mucormucosis (orbita, eyelid and facial skin involvement)



DISCUSSION

Mucormycosis is a rapidly progressing opportunistic fungal infection (4,8,9). If there is no rapid intervention, it could reach the orbit and brain, causing death.

Although mucormycosis develops after severe COVID-19 infection, it has been reported that people who have mild illness also develop mucormycosis. The average time between COVID-19 infection and the development of mucormycosis is 15 days (6,7). However, mucormycosis infections have also been reported 42–90 days post COVID-19 infection



	Age/ Sex	Comorbidity	Vari- ant	Hba1c	Side	Corticosteroid treatment	Anti-fun- gal	Anti viral	ICU	Hos	Surgery	Mor- tality
1	73/M	DM (type 2)	Delta	13,7	Left	Dexamethasone 8 mg for 7 days	L-Amp B	Fav	Entube	62	MM+OE+ESC	Ex
2	68/F	DM (type 2), HT, Obesity	Delta	14,7	Right	Dexamethasone 6 mg for 9 days	L-Amp B	Fav	Entube	75	HPR+M- M+ESC+OE+SE	Alive
3	75/M	DM (type 1)	Delta	10,8	Left	Dexamethasone 6 mg for 10 days	L-Amp B	Fav	None	69	MM+ESC+OE+SE	Ex
4	65/F	CKF, Drug abuse	Delta	5,7	Right	Methylprednisolone 250 mg for 2 days and 80 mg for 5 days	L-Amp B	Fav	None	95	HPR+M- M+ESC+OE+SE	Alive
5	67/M	DM (type 2), HT	Delta	12,6	Right	Dexamethasone 6 mg for 10 days	L-Amp B	Fav	Entube	80	HPR+M- M+ESC+OE+SE	Ex
6	72/M	Pancreas Ca, CT, RT	Delta	4,6	Left	Methylprednisolone 100 mg for 3 days and 60 mg for 7 days	L-Amp B	Fav	None	45	MM+ESC+OE+SE	Alive
7	65/F	DM (type 2), HT	Delta	13,2	Right	Dexamethasone 6 mg for 10 days	L-Amp B	Fav	Entube	20	None	Ex
8	72/M	DM (type 2), HT	Delta	11,8	Right	Dexamethasone 6 mg for 7 days	L-Amp B	Fav	Entube	82	MM+ESC+OE+SE	Ex
9	66/F	DM (type 2), HT	Delta	10,7	Left	Dexamethasone 6 mg for 10	L-Amp B	Fav	Entube	76	HPR+M- M+ESC+OE+SE	Ex

Table 1. Patients' informations with mucormucosis.

(DM: Diabetes Mellitus, CKF: Chronic Kidney Failure, Hos: hospitalisation time, L-Amp B (Liposomal Amphotericin-B).

Fav (Favipiravir), MM: medial maxillectomy, OE: Orbital exenteration, ESC: Endoscopic Sinus Surgery, HPR: Hard Palate Resection, SE: Septum Excision)

(7). Therefore, if mucormucosis is suspected, a rapid biopsy should be performed, and after histopathological and microbiological diagnoses, treatment should be started as soon as possible. Particular care should be taken in patients who are entubated, are in intensive care units, or have other predisposing factors.

The diagnosis of mucormycosis is typically made by histological and microbiological examination of the biopsy taken from the necrotic focus, with the appearance of strip-like, irregularly circumscribed, non-septate or less divided, wide hyphae, and vertically angled hyphae (4,8,10). However, it should not be forgotten that once biopsied lesions are detected, the disease has already begun. For this reason, studies aiming to detect mucor DNA in the blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) are ongoing, so that diagnosis can be established before lesions occur (5).

Although there are many predisposing factors for the development of mucormycosis, DM is the most important factor determining morbidity and mortality (7,10). The acidic environment created by hyperglycaemia and ketoacidosis disrupts neutrophil chemotaxis, reduces neutrophil effects, and impairs fungal phagocytosis.

Another important risk factor for mucormycosis is steroid use. While steroids were not recommended in the treatment of COVID-19 during the first months of the pandemic, with the publication of many study results reporting the benefit of using corticosteroids to supress the systemic inflamatory over-response in severe COVID-19 patients, the Ministry of Health of our country launched a

GERIATRICS 2022; 25(4): 592-599

Figure 2. A-B: Left rhinoorbital mucormucosis PNS CT and examination findings C-E: Subtotal maxillectomy and orbital exenteration intraoperative images F: Postoperative paranasal sinus CT



new COVID-19 guideline on the 2nd August 2020, instructing that "For those in need of oxygen, 6 mg/day dexamethasone (or equivalent glucocorticoids, such as 40 mg/day prednisolone or 32 mg/ day methylprednisolone) can be used for 10 days" (11). It is believed that dysregulated and exessive cytokine storm may be a major cause of many metabolic problems seriously threatening the lives of COVID-19 patients, causing respiratory distress, multiple organ failure, or thromboembolic disease (12). In terms of recovery, it has been reported that steroid use was effective in reducing mortality in patients that were in need of oxygen (13). However, this high-dose steroid not only raises blood sugar in diabetic COVID-19 patients but also impairs neutrophil functions, which are the most important weapons of the immune system in fungal infections, and paves the way for opportunistic infections, especially mucormycosis (8,12).

Studies have shown that 78% of patients diagnosed with mucormycosis have a history of DM, and 85% have a history of high-dose glucocorticoid use (11). Glycaemic control is difficult to achieve when administering steroid therapy, especially in patients with diabetes and COVID-19.

In our study, only seven patients were diagnosed with DM. As all patients had severe COVID-19, they received corticosteroid therapy in the intensive care unit. There was no blood sugar level deterioration


Figure 3. A-C: Preoperative T2 sequence MRI inages of a patient with rhinoorbital mucormucosis Black arrow: Eye Involvement Star: Necrotic Tissues **D:** Intraoperative view of the patient after orbital exenteration and subtotal maxillectomy **E:** Post-operative image of the patient who was intubated due to COVID-19



Figure 4. Bilateral eye involvement in the patient who did not accept surgery



in the two patients who did not have DM. However, one of these patients had a history of chronic renal failure and drug abuse, whereas the other had a history of chemoradiotherapy for pancreatic cancer.

In our study, all patients with mucormucosis who were diagnosed with COVID-19 were found to have delta variants. We attribute this situation to the fact that the delta variant causes more severe clinical effects than previous variants and to the increased use of corticosteroids at the intensive care unit. Therefore, opportunistic infections should be carefully considered when initiating corticosteroid treatment in patients with diabetes. Mucormycosis is a rapidly progressing opportunistic fungal infection. Therefore, the most important criterion determining mortality in treatment is the early suspicion and diagnosis of mucormycosis infection, especially in patients with an underlying immunosuppressive state (4,8). Once mucormycosis has been diagnosed, comorbid risk factors, especially blood sugar regulation, should be corrected, and systemic and local antifungal therapy should begin. Furthermore immediate surgical debridement should also be performed. One year of treatment with posaconazole can be prescribed to patients whose condition stabilises after liposomal amphotericin B administration and surgical debridement.

Debridement should be performed at an early stage, before the infection spreads to the surrounding tissues, especially the skull base. In cases where cerebral involvement occurs, local control cannot be achieved and morbidity increases considerably. It is important to achieve local control of infections with repeated debridement. Washing the cavity with amphotericin B during debridement yielded more successful results in the local control of the infection (5,8). Although nasal and paranasal debridement is safely performed in rhino-orbital mu-

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. Interim Guidance Diagnostic Testing for SARS-CoV-2, 2020. [Internet]. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/334254</u>. Accessed: 11.10.2020.
- Bhimraj A, Morgan RL, Hirsch Shumaker A et al. Infectious Diseases Society of America Guidelines on the Treatment and Management of Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Clin Infect Dis 2020; 10: 1-13. (PMID: 36063397)
- Kumar M, Sarma DK, Shubham S et al. Mucormycosis in COVID-19 Pandemic: Risk Factors and Linkages. Curr Res Microb Sci. 2021; 2: 100057. (PMID: 34396355).
- 4. Fazeli MA, Rezaei L, Javadirad E et al. Increased Incidence of Rhino-Orbital Mucormycosis in an Ed-

cormycosis, there is no consensus regarding orbital involvement. Orbital orbital exenteration can be performed in collaboration with an ophthalmologist in patients with orbital involvement or permanent vision loss. However, recommending exenteration in patients without total vision loss causes some type of surgical avoidance. However, based on our clinical experience, if the infection extends out of the sinuses and reaches the orbit, exenteration is important for both local disease control and early recurrence detection after surgery.

CONCLUSION

Disease severity in COVID-19 may vary according to the variant. It should be noted that the risk of developing mucormucosis will increase in patients with comorbid diseases, especially in cases of severe COVID-19 or intensive care hospitalisations, which may increase the need for high-dose steroid use. Clinical suspicion plays an important role in the diagnosis of mucormucosis. Treatment should be performed quickly and care should be taken to perform the widest surgical debridement required.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

ucational Therapeutic Hospital During the COV-ID-19 Pandemic in Western Iran: An Observational Study. Mycoses. 2021; 64 (11) : 1366-1377. (PMID: 34252988).

- Bal KK, Alagoz S, Delibas V et al. Did COVID-19 Increase Rhinoorbitocerebral Mucormycosis?: 9 Consecutive Cases on Pandemic Days. B-ENT 2021; 17 (3): 149-154. (DOI: 10.5152/B-ENT.2021.20429).
- Pal R, Singh B, Bhadada SK et al. COVID-19-Associated Mucormycosis: An Updated Systematic Review of Literatüre. Mycoses 2021; 64 (12): 1452-1459. (PMID: 34133798).
- Singh AK, Singh R, Joshi SR et al. Mucormycosis in COVID-19: A Systematic Review of Cases Reported Worldwide and in India. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2021; 15 (4): 102146 (PMID: 34192610)



- Sharma S, Grover M, Bhargava S et al. Post Coronavirus Disease Mucormycosis: a Deadly Addition to the Pandemic Spectrum. J Laryngol Otol 2021; 135 (5): 442-447. (PMID: 33827722).
- Dallalzadeh LO, Ozzello DJ, Liu CY et al. Secondary Infection with Rhino-Orbital Cerebral Mucormycosis Associated with COVID-19. Orbit 2022; 41 (5): 616-619. (PMID: 33752571)
- Bhattacharyya A, Sarma P, Sharma DJ et al. Rhino-Orbital-Cerebral-Mucormycosis in COVID-19: A Systematic Review. Indian J Pharmacol 2021; 53 (4): 317-327. (PMID: 34414911).
- 11. World Health Organization. Clinical management of COVID-19 interim guidance. 2020. [Inter-

net]. Available from: http://www.euro.who.int/en/ health-topics/health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/publications-and-technical-guidance/2020/ clinical-management-of-covid-19-interim-guidance. Accessed:27.05.2020

- Al-Tawfig JA, Alhumaid S, Alshukairi AN et al. COV-ID-19 and Mucormycosis Superinfection: the Perfect Storm. Infection 2021; 49 (5): 833-853. (PMID: 34302291).
- RECOVERY Collaborative Group, Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR et al. Dexamethasone in Hospitalized Patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2021; 384 (8): 693-704. (PMID: 32678530)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.319 2022; 25(4): 600-610

Sedat ARSLAN ¹ · · · ·						.D
Canan BO7KURT ²						

Hülya BULUT³

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Sedat ARSLAN

Phone : +905557354114 e-mail : sarslan@bandirma.edu.tr

Received : Jun 13, 2022 Accepted : Nov 05, 2022

- ¹ Bandirma Onyedi Eylul University, Faculty of Health Science, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Balikesir, Turkey
- ² Bandirma Onyedi Eylul University, Faculty of Health Science, Department of Nursing, Balikesir, Turkey
- ³ S.B.Ü. Dr. Suat Seren Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Nursing, İzmir, Turkey

RESEARCH

THE EFFECT OF THE ADHERENCE TO THE MEDITERRANEAN DIET ON FRAILTY IN OLDER PEOPLE WITH CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE

Abstract

Objective: To examine the adherence of older people diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease to the Mediterranean diet and its relationship with frailty.

Methods: This descriptive and cross-sectional study included 446 people aged 65 and over who were hospitalized for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations. Disease staging with the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease system, Modified Medical Research Council dyspnea intensities, Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener, and Tilburg Frailty Index.

Results: All older people in the chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbation period were frail. A mild, negative relationship was found between adherence to the Mediterranean diet and frailty levels (r= -0.267; p<0.001). Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener explained 6.9% of frailty alone (adjusted $R^2 = 0.069$, p<0.001) and 11.9% of frailty together with disease stage (adjusted $R^2 = 0.119$, p<0.001).

Conclusions: These findings support the suggestion that a nutrition model based on the Mediterranean diet plays an important role in the management of frailty in older people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. High adherence to the Mediterranean diet is associated with lower dyspnea and disease severity in older people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and may help reduce frailty.

Keywords: Diet, Mediterranean; Frailty; Geriatrics; Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive.

INTRODUCTION

Frailty Syndrome (FS) is generally defined as a decrease in reserves in multiple organ systems and includes physiological, cognitive, and sociocultural aspects. Although several functional definitions exist, FS was defined as "a health syndrome with multiple causes and contributions, characterized by a decrease in physiological function that increases the individual's vulnerability to decreased strength and endurance, increased dependence, and/or death" by a consensus group in 2013 (1). In this context, FS represents a comprehensive syndrome that leads to increased patient disability, healthcare costs, hospitalization rates, morbidity, and mortality, and is associated with chronic disease (2).

Studies have reported evidence that frailty might play an important role in the development of some chronic diseases and vice versa (i.e., chronic diseases may also cause frailty) (3). It is well known that seven of the first ten most common diseases that cause the highest mortality in the world are non-communicable chronic diseases, such as heart disease, stroke, cancer, diabetes, and chronic lung disease, and are responsible for 71% of all deaths (4). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), like other chronic diseases, is a serious public health problem, and its morbidity and mortality rates are increasing globally. COPD is a major global problem, considering the increased prevalence and incidence of COPD and its individual, social, and economic burdens (5).

Although the relationship between frailty and COPD has not been fully elucidated, they share common risk factors (e.g., age, smoking) and physiopathological processes, including systemic inflammation and endocrine dysfunction. Considering the common physiopathological outcomes of frailty and COPD, such as sarcopenia, neuroendocrinal disorders, and chronic malnutrition, diet, and nutrition have become more critical in the management of frailty and COPD. This is because diet and nutrition are modifiable risk factors for the development and progression of chronic diseases, such as COPD, and frailty (6,7).

Excessive consumption of red and processed meat is associated with poorer lung function and an increased risk of COPD (8). It has also been suggested that the current loss of adherence to healthy diets, such as the Mediterranean diet, leads to reduced consumption of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, and fish and increased consumption of processed and refined foods, which contribute to the high prevalence of chronic diseases (9,10). In this context, the Mediterranean diet, an accepted healthy nutrition model, provides effective amounts of fiber, antioxidants, phytosterols, polyphenols, and unsaturated fatty acids. The main foods that provide these nutrients are olive oil, wine, fish, and vegetables, especially tomatoes, onions, garlic, thyme, mint, rosemary, parsley, and dill, which contain significant amounts of omega-3 and vitamins C, E, and A (11,12). The possible beneficial effects of the Mediterranean diet on lung function have been demonstrated in a cross-sectional study with smokers and patients with associated diseases, such as asthma and COPD (13).

In light of previous studies, the hypothesis of our study was that there is a negative association between adherence to a Mediterranean diet and frailty in elderly patients with COPD. This study was conducted in Izmir, the third-most populous city in the Aegean Region in Turkey, a prominent region for agriculture and olive production and thus considered to be the most adaptable to the Mediterranean diet.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

This is a descriptive, cross-sectional, and correlational study.

Study Population and Sample

The research population included patients 65 years old and over who were treated for COPD at



the Pulmonary Inpatient Clinic of Dr. Suat Seren Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital for Pulmonary Diseases and Surgery. The G*Power 3.1.9.2 program was used to calculate the required sample size, which was found to be 319 given the effect size $\rho = 0.20$, $\alpha = 0.05$, and power (1- β) of 95%. However, to increase the generalizability of the study sample and reduce the margin of error, 446 older people were included in the study.

The inclusion criteria for this study were individuals who were literate, able to speak and understand Turkish, diagnosed with COPD, and hospitalized due to COPD exacerbation, aged 65 and over, agreed to participate in the study, and were not diagnosed with Alzheimer's, dementia, delirium, or any psychiatric disease by a physician. Individuals who did not meet the inclusion criteria and did not agree to participate in the study were excluded.

Data Collection Tools

The data collection tools used in this study were the participant identification form (PIF), Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener (MEDAS), and Tilburg Frailty Index (TFI).

The PIF was created by the researchers in line with the literature and included a total of 16 guestions, seven questions for sociodemographic features (age, gender, educational status, etc.), nine questions for health and disease status (height, weight, smoking and alcohol habits, number of years with COPD, GOLD stage, mMRC dyspnea score, presence of comorbidity, lifestyle health perception). The income levels of the participants were questioned based on the statement. Income levels were evaluated in 3 categories as low, medium and high, and people were asked to choose their perceived income levels. BMI was calculated using the formula body weight (kg)/ body length (2) (m2) and categorized based on the WHO classification. According to this classification, a BMI of 18.5-24.9 kg/m² is normal, 25.0–29.9 kg/m² is overweight, and \geq 30 kg/m² is obese (14).

MEDAS, which consisted of 14 questions and had been used in 32 studies (PREDIMED) investigating Mediterranean diet habits, was demonstrated by Schröder et al. to be a valid and reliable tool (15). Two of the items of the scale are related to food consumption habits, and the remaining twelve items are related to food consumption frequency. Scored as 1 or 0 points based on the amount of consumption, the maximum score is 14 total points. A score of seven or above indicates that the individual can be considered adhering to the Mediterranean diet, while a score of nine or above indicates that the individual has a strict adherence to the Mediterranean diet. The validity and reliability study for the Turkish version of MEDAS was performed by Özkan Pehlivanoğlu et al. in 2019 (16).

The TFI was developed by Gobbens et al. (17) in 2010; the validity and reliability study of the Turkish version was performed by Arslan et al. (18) in 2018. The TFI includes a total of 15 guestions in three dimensions that constitute frailty (eight items in the physical component, four items in the psychological component, and three items in the social component). Eleven items were answered as "yes" and "no"; four items were answered as "yes", "sometimes", and "no". In items 1, 12, and 15, "no" is coded as "1" and "yes" is coded as "0"; all other items are coded in reverse (yes=1 and no=0). For items with three choices; the "sometimes" option is coded as "0" in item 9 and "1" in items 10, 11, and 14. The score range is 0-15; a score of five or higher is considered as having frailty (17,18).

Data Collection Method

After the approval of the ethics committee and the institution, the data were collected by the researchers through the face-to-face interview technique, which lasted 10-15 minutes, after obtaining verbal consent from the individuals who met the inclusion criteria and made the necessary explanations.



Ethical Aspect of Research

Permission to use the scales was obtained via e-mail from the responsible authors who performed the validity and reliability studies of the Turkish versions of MEDAS and TFI. The ethics committee approval was obtained from the institution (approval number 2021/70); permission was also obtained from the Izmir Provincial Health Directorate to which the hospital is affiliated.

Evaluation of Data

Data analysis was performed with IBM SPSS 23.0 statistical package program. Skewness and kurtosis coefficients were used to evaluate the normal distribution of continuous variables; values between (-1.5) and (+1.5) were considered to indicate normal distribution. The descriptive statistics were presented as number, percentage, mean, and standard deviation. Independent-Samples t-test, Kruskal-Wallis H-test, Mann-Whitney U-test, and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) were used for comparisons of descriptive features and scale scores. Pearson analysis was used to evaluate the relationship between continuous data and scale scores; linear logistic regression was performed to determine the effect of independent variables on the dependent variables. The results were evaluated at the 95% confidence interval and the p<0.05 significance level.

RESULTS

The mean age of the individuals included in the study was 73.56±4.62 years; 51.8% of them were 75 years or older. Of the participants, 59.4% were male, 87.2% were married, 78.7% had eight years of education or less, 67.5% were retired, 55.2% had low income, and 52% lived in rural areas (Table 1).

Of the participants, 57.2% were overweight, 53.2% had quit smoking, and 65.4% never consumed alcohol. The average years of having COPD was 17.29±4.86; 41.5% of the participants had COPD for more than 20 years; 59% had GOLD stage III; 55.8% had an mMRC dyspnea severity of 3. At

Variables	n	%
Age (years) (Mean±SD) (Min-Max)	73.56±4.	62 (65-88)
65-74 75 ≤	215 231	48.2 51.8
Gender Male Female	265 181	59.4 40.6
Marital status Single Married	57 389	12.8 87.2
Education status ≤ 8 years ≥ 9 years	351 95	78.7 21.3
Labor status Unemployed Worker Retired	124 21 301	27.8 4.7 67.5
Income status Low Medium High	246 191 9	55.2 42.8 2.0
Residential area City Rural	214 232	48.0 52.0
TOTAL	446	100.0

least one additional disease other than COPD was present in 98% of the participants. The mean ME-DAS score, which shows the level of adherence to the Mediterranean diet, was 8.45 ± 2.28 ; 49.4% of them adhered to the Mediterranean diet closely. The mean TFI score, which indicates the frailty level, was 10.13 ± 2.17 , and all patients (100%) were frail based on the cutoff score of 5 (Table 2).

The comparison of the participants' adherence to the Mediterranean diet and frailty when they are grouped according to their sociodemographic characteristics is shown in Table 3. Significant differences were found between the groups based on gender and occupational status (p<0.001). Men had lower MEDAS scores and higher TFI scores than women. The difference in the occupational groups originated from retirees, who had lower MEDAS

Variables	n	%			
	Mean±SD (Min-Max)				
ВМІ	29.71±2.37 (20.96-35.16				
BMI Classifications Normal (18.50-24.99 kg/m ²) Over weight (25-29.99 kg/m ²) Obese (≥30 kg/m ²)	12 255 179	2.7 57.2 40.1			
Smoking status Smoker Ex-smoker Non-smoker	142 237 67	31.8 53.2 15.0			
Alcohol Consumption Drinking Withdrawal Non-drinking	19 135 297	4.3 30.3 65.4			
COPD years Mean±SD (Min-Max)	17.29±4.86 (5-30)				
COPD years < 11 11-19 19 <	56 205 185	12.5 46.0 41.5			
GOLD Stage Stage II Stage III Stage IV	73 263 110	16.4 59.0 24.6			
mMRC Dyspnea Scale ≤2 3 4	73 249 124	16.4 55.8 27.8			
Comorbidity Yes No	437 9	98.0 2.0			
MEDAS Mean±SD (Min-Max)	8.45±2.28 (2-13)				
MEDAS Low adherence (<7p) Medium adherence (7p-8p) High adherence (9p≤)	92 134 220	20.6 30.0 49.4			
TFI	10.13±2.1	7 (5-15)			
TFI Classification Frail (≥5p)	446	100.0			
TOTAL	446	100.0			

 Table 2. Health and disease characteristics and scale scores of the participants

scores and higher TFI scores than the other groups. There was a significant difference between the ME-DAS scores of groups based on their area of residence (p<0.05, those living in rural areas had higher MEDAS scores); however, there was no significant difference between their TFI scores (p>0.05) (Table 3).

The comparison of the participants' adherence to the Mediterranean diet and frailty when they are grouped according to the variables related to health and disease status is shown in Table 4. Significant differences were found between the MEDAS scores of the participants grouped based on their BMI category, smoking status, and alcohol consumption (p<0.05); however, no significant difference was found between their TFI scores (p>0.05). In the posthoc analyses, the difference between the MEDAS scores was found to be due to the normal BMI group, non-smokers, and alcohol users.

Significant differences were found between the groups when the participants were grouped based on disease-specific variables such as the number of years with COPD, GOLD staging, and mMRC dyspnea severity, and their MEDAS and TFI scores were compared (p<0.001). According to the posthoc analyses, the mean MEDAS score was lower and the mean TFI score was higher for those who had COPD for 20 years or more and whose disease severity was GOLD stage IV and dyspnea severity was 4 (Table 4).

The explanatory power of the models developed by multivariate linear regression analysis (Adjust R²) according to the data obtained from the participants was given in Table 5. Accordingly, the explanatory power of the relationship between adherence to the Mediterranean diet and frailty level was 6.9% (Model 1; β = -0.267, Adjust R² = 0.069, p<0.001). The explanatory power of the adherence to the Mediterranean diet and GOLD staging together for the frailty level was 11.9% (Model 2; Adjust R² = 0.119, p<0.001) (Table 5).

DISCUSSION

Considering that Fried et al. (19) (2001) established a frailty phenotype that includes weight loss, fatigue, weakness, slowness, and low physical func-



Variables	MEI 8.46±	DAS ⊧2.27	TFI 10.00±2.89			
Age 65-74 (n=215) 75 ≤ (n=231)	8.49±2.26 8.42±2.30	t= 0.317 p>0.05	10.26±2.21 10.02±2.11	t= 1.141 p>0.05		
Gender Male (n=265) Female (n=181)	7.97±2.34 9.16±1.97	t= -5.633 p<0.001	10.46±2.22 9.33±2.46	t= 5.079 p<0.001		
Marital Status Single (n=57) Married (n=389)	8.24±2.12 8.49±2.29	t= -0.778 p>0.05	10.26±2.94 9.96±2.29	t= 0.742 p>0.05		
Education status ≤ 8 years (n=351) ≥ 9 years (n=95)	8.38±2.36 8.54±1.97	t= 4.078 p>0.05	10.04±2.32 9.82±2.73	t= 0.164 p>0.05		
Labor status Unemployed (n=124) Worker (n=21) Retired (n=301) ^a	9.11±2.05 9.13±2.28 8.14±2.30	X ² = 18.556 p<0.001	9.49±2.29 9.39±3.46 10.25±2.29	X ² = 10.312 p<0.001		
Income status Low (n=246) Medium (n=191) High (n=9)	8.42±2.34 8.47±2.21 9.11±1.76	X ² = 0.802 p>0.05	10.15±2.22 9.86±2.60 8.89±1.27	X ² = 3.294 p>0.05		
Residential area City (n=214) Rural (n=232)	8.22±2.07 8.70±2.47	t= 2.216 p<0.05	10.19±2.16 10.09±2.18	t= 0.490 p>0.05		

Table 3. Comparison of MEDAS and TFI scores of the participants grouped based on sociodemographic variables

t: Independent Sample t test; X²: Kruskal Wallis H; ^a The group causing intergroup significance

tion components, individuals with COPD constitute a vulnerable group of older people who may also exhibit frailty. Based on this information, all older people with COPD participating in our study were frail according to the assessment tool we used (\geq 5 points), and their frailty levels were quite high based on the mean score (10.13±2.17). Also in Turkey reported that the prevalence of frailty in older people with COPD ranged from 50.2% to 84.7% (20). The difference in this study is thought to be due to the fact that the study sample consisted of individuals who were treated in the hospital due to COPD exacerbation. In our study, advanced age was not a predictor of frailty because frailty levels were quite high in the 65-74 age group as well as in those 75 and over. However, contrary to the common view, there are opinions arguing that chronological age is not the only factor to be taken into account and that some individuals may remain strong and active even at advanced ages (21).

Despite high levels of frailty in both genders, the main finding that caught our attention was that the frailty level of males was significantly higher than that of females in our study. Although it was claimed that women were frailer than men and some studies supported this view (19,20). However, this is the first time a higher level of frailty was reported for men. Such a higher level of frailty can be attributed to the man with COPD exacerbation being more affected by the disease burden or the difference in the assessment tools used in the study. A similar study reported that the unemployed were frailer (20); similarly, our study concluded that the retired had a higher level of frailty. Indeed, it is assumed that this is related to the fact that the male gender in our study had higher frailty. It is thought that the dif-

Table 4.	Comparison of	of MEDAS	and TF	scores	of the	participants	grouped	based	on	variables	related	to	health	and
	disease status	i.												

Variables	MEI 8.46=	DAS ±2.27	TFI 10.00±2.89			
BMI Classifications Normal (n=12) ^a Over weight (n=255) Obese (n=179)	9.17±1.94 8.78±2.12 8.39±2.37	X ² = 7.422 p<0.05	8.92±1.78 10.12±2.18 10.24±2.15	X ² = 5.468 p>0.05		
Smoking status Smoker (n=142) Ex-smoker (n=237) Non-smoker (n=67) ^a	8.23±2.20 8.39±2.28 9.19±2.67	F= 4.427 p<0.05	9.89±2.50 9.98±2.37 9.81±2.21	F= 0.746 p>0.05		
Alcohol Consumption Drinking (n=19) Withdrawal (n=135) Non-drinking (n=297) ^a	9.05±2.42 8.99±2.02 8.18±2.33	X ² = 13.475 p<0.05	10.25±2.43 9.70±2.37 10.12±2.39	X ² = 4.526 p>0.05		
COPD years <11 (n=56) 11-19 (n=205) 19< (n=185) ^a	9.84±1.72 8.58±2.24 7.90±2.27	F=17.333 p<0.001	9.50±2.06 9.80±2.11 10.69±2.13	F=11.411 p<0.001		
GOLD Stage Stage II (n=73) Stage III (n=263) Stage IV (n=110) ^a	9.12±2.00 8.61±2.19 7.63±2.43	F=11.534 p<0.001	9.40±2.12 9.89±2.13 11.20±1.92	F=20.875 p<0.001		
mMRC Dyspnea Scale ≤2 (n=73) 3 (n=249) 4 (n=124) ^a	9.12±2.00 8.65±2.17 7.65±2.44	F=12.361 p<0.001	9.45±2.16 9.77±2.10 11.27±1.87	F=27.243 p<0.001		

X²: Kruskal Wallis H; F: One Way ANOVA; ^a The group causing intergroup significance

ference may be due to the fact that the retirees are predominantly men since the unemployed group is mostly composed of women and the labor force is generally composed of men in the Turkish population.

Similar to our study, Bozkurt et al. (20) (2021) reported no relationship between smoking and frailty levels; however, in the same study, those who consume alcohol were found to have lower frailty, unlike our study. It is assumed that the difference may be due to the differences in the patient groups involved.

A significant relationship was found between the level of frailty and the number of years with COPD and GOLD disease stage, which indicate the disease burden, and the mMRC scale, which indicates the severity of dyspnea. This difference was due to individuals who have lived with COPD for many years and had the end-stage disease and severe dyspnea. In fact, this did not change the result that all older



Models	B (95.0%Cl for B)	ß	t	р	Adjust R ²	Model p
Model 1. TFI MEDAS	-0.253 (-0.339, -0.169)	-0.267	-5.832	0.000	0.069	0.000
Model 2. TFI MEDAS GOLD Stage	-0.206 (-0.291, -0.121) 0.791 (0.486, 1.096)	-0.216 0.232	-4.748 5.092	0.000 0.000	0.119	0.000

 Table 5. The relationship between the disease stage of the participants and their adherence to the Mediterranean diet or frailty level according to multiple linear regression analysis

TFI: Tilburg Frailty Index; MEDAS: Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener; GOLD: Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease; B: unstandardized coefficients; CI: confidence interval; β : standardized regression coefficient; R²: coefficient of determination.

COPD patients in our study were frail, but the fact that the participants were being treated for COPD exacerbations may also explain the increased frailty levels. Similarly, the positive correlation of these values with frailty as indicators of disease and dyspnea severity was also in line with the findings of a previous study (20).

Nutritional imbalances in older people lead to morbidity and mortality and emerge as protein-calorie malnutrition in advanced ages. A study have also focused on dietary patterns, such as the Mediterranean diet, to understand the relationship between frailty and diet (22). In our study, the mean MEDAS score, which shows the level of adherence to the Mediterranean diet, was 8.45±2.28; approximately half of the participants were found to follow the Mediterranean diet closely. This was expected because İzmir, where the study was conducted, is one of the provinces where the consumption of olives, olive oil, and vegetable-based foods is among the highest in the country. Being on the coast of the Aegean Sea, fish is consumed regularly in İzmir. Cheese and especially yogurt have an indispensable place in Turkish cuisine and are consumed frequently. It was found that women adhered to the Mediterranean diet more closely than men. Similarly, a recent study with older patients hospi-

talized in the departments of internal medicine in Italy reported that women had higher adherence to the Mediterranean diet than men (23). In line with their frailty, retirees had a significantly lower level of adherence to the Mediterranean diet compared to other groups. This can be attributed to the fact that the retiree group is mostly composed of men. Dinu et al. (24) observed no relationship between adherence to the Mediterranean diet and area of residence (rural vs. city). In our study, on the contrary, individuals living in rural areas had higher ME-DAS scores (p < 0.05). We think that this difference may be due to the fact that individuals living in rural areas consume more natural foodstuffs. It may also be due to the lack of an equal representation of the different areas of residence in our study.

When the adherence of the older people to the Mediterranean diet was compared with their BMIs, we found that the individuals with normal weight adhered to the Mediterranean diet more closely than the overweight and obese individuals. This was expected, but it may be wrong to make a definitive judgment since the number of participants with normal weight was quite low.

We found that the adherence to the Mediterranean diet decreased as the number of years with COPD, disease stage, and severity of dyspnea increased. In fact, the groups that underlie this significant difference were those with COPD for more than 20 years, GOLD stage IV, and mMRC dyspnea severity of "4"; however, even these groups showed "moderate adherence" to the Mediterranean diet. On the other hand, a cross-sectional study with smokers and asthma and COPD patients have reported possible beneficial effects of the Mediterranean diet on lung function (13). Therefore, it can be concluded that high adherence to the Mediterranean diet might have a slowing effect on the progression of the disease, even if their lung function is impaired due to COPD. As we indicated in Table 5, the disease stage had a negative correlation with the MEDAS score, albeit at a very low level. Although the result of this analysis is not sufficient to make a definitive judgment, it is known that vitamin C and omega-3 fatty acids in the Mediterranean diet are associated with high lung function in individuals with COPD as well as in healthy individuals (25). Similarly, a positive correlation has also been shown between vitamin E found in olives, a staple in the Mediterranean diet, and forced vital capacity (FVC) and forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁), which indicates the disease stage (26).

The aim of our study was to examine the relationship between adherence to the Mediterranean diet and the level of frailty in older people with COPD, and to our knowledge, this was the first study conducted in Turkey. In line with the data we obtained, the effect of adherence to the Mediterranean diet on the frailty level was 6.9%. The combined effect of adherence to the Mediterranean diet and disease stage on the frailty level was 11.9%. We think that our sample group is representative of conditions with a high physic pathological burden such as both COPD and old age. Based on these results, that all older people under treatment for COPD exacerbation were frail, even in a region with high adherence to the Mediterranean diet, may indicate that the burden of disease and the level of frailty might be further increased in societies that do not comply with the Mediterranean diet or have adopted other dietary models. Of course, diet alone is not sufficient, but it is an important modifiable factor that is thought to have substantial benefits for both the disease burden and frailty in older people with COPD.

There were several limitations to our study. First, the study has a descriptive and associated pattern; therefore, the results of the study do not suggest causality. We evaluated only the elderly who received inpatient treatment. Finally, the sample was small and findings were limited to the chest clinics of a single hospital in Turkey. These disadvantages, together with our non-random sampling and single-center data collection, limit the generalizability of the findings to all Turkish older people with COPD.

Despite the limitations noted above, this study demonstrated the importance of adherence to MD in geriatric populations with COPD to reduce frailty level. It was observed that frailty levels were lower in the group with high adherence to MD. In addition, the strength of our study is that it is the first study to examine the relationship between adherence to the Mediterranean diet and frailty in the geriatric COPD population in Turkey.

CONCLUSION

Frailty is a syndrome that increases with advanced age and comorbidity. Although it was first thought to be only a physiological phenomenon, over the years it has been established as a biopsychosocial concept and that there are mental and social dimensions to it as well as physical aspects. However, due to the fact that it has been on the agenda for the last 30 years, the focus has been on the physical dimension to prevent or eliminate the development of frailty. In this context, physical activity and healthy nutrition have been emphasized in the literature. Thus, this study consisted of older hospitalized patients, who were diagnosed with COPD, and hence

have many risk factors for frailty. In this context, we think that the Mediterranean diet, which is accepted as one of the most valid healthy nutrition models in line with the data in the literature and in our study, may be beneficial for COPD and frailty syndrome.

REFERENCES

- Morley JE, Vellas B, Abellan van Kan G, et al. Frailty consensus: a call to action. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2013;14(6):392–397. (PMID: 23764209)
- Kapucu S, Ünver G. Fragile elderly and nursing care. Osmangazi Journal of Medicine. 2017;39(1):122-129. (DOI:10.20515/otd.288967) (in Turkish)
- Pollack LR, Litwack-Harrison S, Cawthon PM, et al. Patterns and predictors of frailty transitions in older men: the osteoporotic fractures in men study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2017;65(11):2473–2479. (PMID: 28873220)
- World Health Organization. Noncommunicable Diseases [e-book]. WHO Publication; 2021 [Internet]. Avaliable from: https://www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/noncommunicable-diseases Accessed: 08.03.2022
- Agustí A, Vogelmeier C, Faner R. COPD 2020: changes and challenges. Am J Physiol Lung 2020;319: L879–83. (PMID: 32964724)
- Schulze MB, Martínez-González MA, Fung TT, Lichtenstein AH, Forouhi NG. Food based dietary patterns and chronic disease prevention. BMJ 2018;361:k2396. (PMID: 29898951)
- Berthon BS, Wood LG. Nutrition and Respiratory Health—Feature Review. Nutrients 2015;7:1618– 1643. (PMID: 25751820)
- Kaluza J, Harris H, Linden A, Wolk A. Long-term unprocessed and processed red meat consumption and risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a prospective cohort study of women. Eur J Nutr 2019;58:665–672. (PMID: 29532164)
- Schwingshackl L, Schwedhelm C, Hoffmann G, et al. Food groups and risk of all-cause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Am J Clin Nutr 2017;105:1462–1473. (PMID: 28446499)
- GBD 2017 Diet Collaborators. Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden Of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2019;393:1958–1972. (PMID: 30954305)

Thus, it would be appropriate to recommend the Mediterranean diet by health professionals for the management of these physiopathological conditions. This study provides instructions for future longitudinal or experimental studies.

- Papassotiriou I, Shariful Islam SM. Adherence to Mediterranean diet is associated with lung function in older adults: data from the health and retirement study. J Am Coll Nutr 2021;40(2):119–124. (PMID: 32202968)
- Mazzocchi A, Leone L, Agostoni C, Pali-Schöll I. The secrets of the Mediterranean diet. Does [only] olive oil matter? Nutrients 2019;11(12):2941. (PMID: 31817038)
- Singh D, Agusti A, Anzueto A, et al. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive lung disease: The GOLD Science Committee Report 2019. Eur Respir J 2019;53(5):1900164. (PMID: 30846476)
- World Health Organization. BMI classification; 2004 [Internet]. Available from: <u>http://www.euro.</u> who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/nutrition/a-healthy-lifestyle/body-mass-index-bmi. Accessed: 25.10.2022
- Schröder H, Fitó M, Estruch R, et al. A short screener is valid for assessing Mediterranean diet adherence among older Spanish men and women. J Nutr 2011;141(6):1140–1145. (PMID: 21508208)
- Özkan Pehlivanoğlu EF, Balcıoğlu H, Ünlüoğlu İ. Turkish validation and reliability of Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener. OJM 2020;42(2):160-164. (DOI:10.20515/otd.504188) (in Turkish)
- Gobbens RJJ, van Assen MALM, Luijkx KG, Wijnen-Sponselee MT, Schols JM. The Tilburg Frailty Indicator: psychometric properties. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2010;11(5):344–355. (PMID: 20511102)
- Arslan M, Koç EM, Sözmen MK. The Turkish adaptation of the Tilburg Frailty Indicator: a validity and reliability study. Turk J Geriatr 2018;21(2):173–183. (DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2018240418)
- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J et al. Frailty in Older Adults: Evidence for a Phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2001;56(3):M146-M157. (PMID: 11253156)

- Bozkurt C, Yildirim Y, Şenuzun Aykar F. The effect of frailty level on acceptance of illness in older people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Turk J Geriatr 2021;24(2):244–254. (DOI: 10.31086/ tjgeri.2021.221)
- Heppenstall CP, Wilkinson TJ, Hanger HC, Keeling S. Frailty: dominos or deliberation. NZ Med J 2009;122(1299): 42–52. (PMID: 19684647)
- Chan R, Leung J, Woo J. Dietary patterns and risk of frailty in Chinese community-dwelling older people in Hong Kong: a prospective cohort study. Nutrients 2015;7(8):7070–7084. (PMID: 26305253)
- Buglio A Lo, Bellanti F, Capurso C, Paglia A., Vendemiale G. Adherence to Mediterranean diet, malnutrition, length of stay and mortality in elderly patients hospitalized in internal medicine wards. Nutrients 2019;11(4):790. (PMID: 30959815)

- 24. Dinu M, Pagliai G, Giangrandi I, et al. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet among Italian adults: results from the Web-Based Medi-Lite Questionnaire. Int J Food Sci Nutr 2021;72(2):271–279. (PMID: 32657181)
- 25. Atlantis E, Cochrane B. The association of dietary intake and supplementation of specific polyunsaturated fatty acids with inflammation and functional capacity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review. Int J Evid Based Healthc 2016 Jun;14(2):53–63. (PMID: 26134547)
- Hanson C, Lyden E, Furtado J, et al. Serum tocopherol levels and vitamin E intake are associated with lung function in the normative aging study. Clin Nutr 2016;35(1):169–174. (PMID: 25715694)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.320 2022; 25(4): 611-621

Ezgi HATİP ÜNLÜ ¹ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·D
■ Fatih Doğu GEYİK ²	·D
Yücel YÜCE ² ····································	. D
Jülide SAYIN KART ²	·D
■ Banu ÇEVİK ² · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·D
Kemal Tolga SARAÇOĞLU ² ·····	. 🕞

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Ezgi HATİP ÜNLÜ

Phone : +905399177057 e-mail : ezgi_hatip@hotmail.com

Received : Sep 06, 2022 Accepted : Nov 04, 2022

¹ Nusaybin State Hospital , Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Mardin, Turkey

² University of Health Sciences Kartal Dr. Lutfi Kirdar City Hospital, Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Istanbul, Turkey

RESEARCH

COMPARISON OF THE MODIFIED 5-ITEM FRAILTY INDEX WITH THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF ANESTHESIOLOGISTS CLASSIFICATION AND CHARLSON AGE COMORBIDITY INDEX FOR PREDICTING POSTOPERATIVE OUTCOMES IN GERIATRIC PATIENTS: A PROSPECTIVE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY

Abstract

Introduction: Frailty scores estimate postoperative outcomes in elderly patients. This study sought to compare the performance of the modified 5-item frailty index (mFI-5) with the other indexes as postoperative outcome predictors, especially for 1-year mortality in geriatric patients.

Materials and Method: Patients aged \geq 65 years who underwent elective surgery were enrolled. Along with comparisons in scoring systems, demographics, anesthesia method, operation duration, presence of preoperative transfusion, complications, length of hospitalization, intensive care admission, hospital mortality rate, and 1-year mortality were recorded. Pearson's chi-square test, receiver operating characteristic curve analysis, and binary logistic regression analysis were performed.

Results: Overall, 33% of patients experienced complications and 12% were admitted to intensive care units. The hospital mortality rate was 3.3% (n=10), and the 1-year mortality rate was 27.4% (n=82). The Charlson aged comorbidity index was associated with the overall complications (Area Under Curve (AUC): 0.819, p<0.001) very well, and patients with a score over 5 have a 16.075 (p<0.001) times higher risk of hospital mortality. The American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) classification was associated satisfactorily with overall complications, intensive care admission, hospital mortality, and 1-year mortality (Respectively, AUC: 0.698, 0.662, 0.653, 0.629; p<0.05 in all). The mFI-5 score was associated well with intensive care admission (AUC: 0.702, p<0.001), and patients with a score over 2 have a 2.741 (p<0.02) times higher risk of 1-year mortality.

Conclusions: The mFI-5 was associated with intensive unit admission and 1-year mortality and, was not superior to the ASA classification and the Charlson age comorbidity index classification in predicting the overall postoperative outcomes.

Keywords: Intensive Care Units; Hospital Mortality; Aged; Frail Elderly; Risk Factors.

INTRODUCTION

In the second half of the 20th century, improvements in survival after 65 years of age have led to an increase in life expectancy and a decline in mortality rates at an advanced age (1). The global population of the elderly is projected to double between 2019 and 2050, with all regions expected to experience an increase in their elderly population (2). The increasing proportion of older adults in the general population has resulted in an increase in the number of geriatric patients undergoing surgery.

Elderly patients present additional challenges for perioperative management as a result of the increase in comorbidities and a decrease in physiologic reserve; they also require appropriate, effective, and specialized postoperative care and treatment. Therefore, preoperative recommendations and guidelines for elderly patients can provide a useful starting point for evaluating and optimizing preoperative assessment (3). Traditional methods of operative risk assessment include the ASA physical status classification and the Charlson comorbidity index (CCI) (4, 5). The Charlson comorbidity index (CCI) was developed and validated as a measure of 1-year mortality risk and morbidity (6). In one study, the Charlson age comorbidity index (CACI) was considered a more appropriate prognostic indicator for clinical practice (7).

Frailty scores have been used to predict postoperative complications and outcomes in elderly patients undergoing surgery (8). The American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program (ACS-NSQIP) uses 11 variables listed to predict frailty in preoperative settings. However, the effectiveness of the 11-item modified frailty index (mFI-11) has been questioned since 2012 due to the irregular registration of the 11 original variables. In response, researchers developed the modified frailty index-5 (mFI-5), which includes consistently recorded and validated variables in the NSQIP dataset. In a few studies, the mFI-5 was shown to be as good as the mFI-11 for predicting 30-day mortality (9,10).

Our objective was to compare mFI-5, ASA classification, and CACI as independent predictors of postoperative outcomes in geriatric patients. We were interested in the ability of these measures to predict complications, intensive care unit (ICU) admission, hospital mortality, and specifically 1-year mortality as these outcomes have the potential to significantly impact the quality of life of geriatric patients. We hypothesized that mFI is better than ASA classification and CACI in predicting postoperative outcomes in geriatric patients.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

This prospective observational study included patients aged 65 years and older who underwent elective surgical operations in neurosurgery, urology, orthopedics, or general surgery clinics from the Health Sciences University Hamidiye International Faculty of Medicine Kartal Dr. Lutfi Kirdar City Hospital from July 2019 to May 2021. Patient information and consent were obtained from the preoperative services. Patients who were under the age of 65 years, underwent emergency surgery, and had a psychiatric, genetic, or coagulation disorder, were excluded from the study.

Study Design

Detailed baseline clinical and pathological characteristics were extracted for each patient and included sex, age, educational status, medical history, oncological disease, operation type (Table 1), anesthesia method, and duration of the operation. The European Society of Cardiology and European Society of Anesthesiology on Non-Cardiac Surgery (ESC/ESA-NCS) guidelines were used as references for the classification of surgical interventions (11).

Postoperative complications were graded according to the Clavien–Dindo system (12) which classifies complications into five grades: grade



1 (Any deviation from the normal postoperative course without the need for pharmacological treatment or any interventions except wound infections opening at the bedside. Allowed therapeutic regimens are drugs such as antiemetics, antipyretics, analgesics, diuretics and electrolytes, and physiotherapy), grade 2 (Requiring pharmacological treatment with drugs other than such allowed for grade I complications including blood transfusions and total parenteral nutrition), grade 3 (Requiring surgical, endoscopic or radiological intervention which is classified into two subsections: not under general anesthesia (3a) and under general anesthesia (3b)), grade 4 (Life-threatening complication, including CNS complications and requiring IC/ICU-management, is classified into two subsections: single organ dysfunction including dialysis (4a) and multiorgan dysfunction (4b)), and grade 5 (death of a patient).

ASA classification (4) was extracted directly from the NSQIP. One patient was classified as ASA 1 (indicative of a normal healthy patient) and was enrolled with patients classified as ASA 2 (indicative of mild systemic disease) for a combined analysis. The CACI (7) was calculated based on the following ACS-NSQIP variables and the mFI-5 score (9) was created using previously established methods. Assessment and explanations of risk scores with reference sources mentioned before are depicted in Table 2.

After routine discharge, the length of hospital stay, ICU admission, length of ICU stay, and hospital mortality rate were recorded. The length of hospital stay was compared with Turkey's average duration of 4.1 days, and this statistical measurement was used to calculate prolonged LOS. As none of the patients who were admitted to ICUs stayed longer than 14 days, prolonged ICU stay was not recorded in this study. After one year, the patients or their relatives were contacted via telephone, and the status of the patients was determined.

The primary outcomes of our analyses were the finding of the three risk scores' success that may

predict overall complications, ICU admission, prolonged LOS, hospital mortality, and 1- year mortality. Secondary outcomes were the finding of all factors that may affect the postoperative outcomes.

This study was approved by the Health Sciences University Hamidiye International Faculty of Medicine Kartal Dr. Lutfi Kirdar City Hospital Ethics Committee (Protocol No:2019/514/158/4-Date:24.07.2019). All authors have acknowledged that there were no conflicts of interest related to this work to declare. This study was conducted in accordance with the ethical principles of the Helsinki Declaration-2013 and followed good clinical practice guidelines.

Statistical Analysis

The conformity of the variables to the normal distribution was examined using visual (histogram and Q-Q plot) and analytical methods (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test). Median and minimum, maximum or percentages, and frequencies were reported for non-normal distributed continuous or categorical variables, respectively. The Mann-Whitney U test was used for ordinal variables, and Pearson's chisquare test and Fisher's exact tests were used for categorical variables.

In this study, mFI-5, CACI, and ASA classes were determined as three different groups, and the effect size was taken to be the same as the medium (medium=0.25), with a confidence interval (CI) level of 80% and an alpha of 5% in power analysis. Each group consisted of 75 patients, and the total number of patients was 225. (G Power 3.1.9.2. Windows 10). All the scoring systems were assessed as ordinal variables. Data were analyzed using the SPSS version 26 (IBM, Chicago, IL, USA). Receiver operator curve (ROC) analysis was used to evaluate the performance of risk scores as continuous variables for predicting complications, ICU admission, hospital mortality, and 1-year mortality prediction. The cutoff values in the study were calculated according to Youden's index; mFI-5 (group1 = mFI-5 < 2, group2= mFI-5 \geq 2), CACI (group1= CACI < 5, group2= CACI

Table 1. Operation types.

General Surgery	Orthopedics	Neurosurgery	Urology
 Thyroidectomy (Partial / Total) Parathyroidectomy Mastectomy (BCT/Radical) Esophagectomy Gastrectomy (Partial/Total) Colectomy (Hemicolectomy/ Total) Low Anterior Resection Hepatectomy Whipple Procedure Hernia Surgery (Incisional/ Inguinal/ Umbilical) Cholecystectomy 	 Lower/Upper Limb Tumor Excision Below/Above Knee Amputation Knee Replacement Surgery Total Hip Replacement Lower/Upper Extremity Fracture Fixation 	 Tumor Excision (Frontal/Occipital/Posterior Fossa /Temporoparietal/ Extradural) Thoracal/Lumbal/Lumbosa- cral Stabilization Spinal Instrumentation Removal Spondylolisthesis Surgery VP Shunt Surgery Chronic Subdural/Epidural Hematoma Evacuation Surgery 	 Nephrectomy (Partial/ Radical) Cystectomy Transurethral Resection Intervention with ureteroscopy Retrograde Intrarenal Intervention

Table 2. Risk Stratification Methods

ASA classification (4)	Class	CACI * (7)	Score	mFI-5 ** (9)	Score
-A normal healthy patient -A patient with mild	ASA 1	-Age (for each decade ≥ 50 years) -MI within 6 months prior to surgery	1	-Impaired functional status prior to surgery (partial or total dependence)	1
systemic disease		-PVD	1	-CHF within 30 days be- fore surgery	1
systemic disease	ASA S	-Ulcer disease -Dementia	1	-Hypertension requiring	1
-A patient with severe systemic disease that	ASA 4	-Mild liver disease	1	-Severe COPD or current	1
to life		-Diabetes mellitus -History of TIA or CVA	1	-Diabetes mellitus	1
who is not expected	ASA 5	-COPD -DM with end-organ damage	1		
operation		-Hemiplegia	2		
-A declared brain-dead patient whose organs	ASA 0	-ESRD -Any tumor	2		
donor purposes		-Leukemia	2		
		-Jymphoma -Disseminated cancer	6		
		-AIDS	6		

ASA: The American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Classification, mFI-5: Modified 5-item frailty index, CACI: The Charlson age comorbidity index, MI: Myocardial infarction, CHF: Congestive heart failure, PVD: Peripheral vascular disease, TIA: Transient ischemic attack, CVA: Cerebrovascular accident, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, DM: Diabetes mellitus, ESRD: End-stage renal disease.

* Higher CACI results are associated with higher mortality and morbidity risk.

**Higher score of mFI-5 is associated with higher frailty risk.



 \geq 5), and ASA class (group1= ASA class < 3, group2= ASA class \geq 3) were divided into two groups. Covariates were analyzed using the backward stepwise binary logistic regression method to determine associations with postsurgical outcomes, considering factors such as age, sex, presence of oncological disease, surgical-grade classification, anesthesia method, perioperative transfusion, ICU admission, LOS, and mFI-5, CACI, or ASA class categorization. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

During the study period, 300 patients underwent different types of surgeries at four clinics (neurosurgery, urology, orthopedics, or general surgery). Patient demographics, preoperative characteristics, operative characteristics, and postoperative outcomes are shown in Table 3. The median age was 71 (65-95). Female patients accounted for 47% (n=141) of the study group; one-third of the patients had oncological diseases preoperatively (n=100, 33.3%) and 43% (n=129) of the patients had intermediate surgical risk according to ESC/ESA-NCS guidelines. The median of ASA class values was 3(2-4), the median of CACI values was 5(2-13), and the median of mFI-5 scores was 2(0- 5). A total of 175 patients received general anesthesia. Thirty-eight patients (12.7%) required blood product transfusion. Total 33% of the patients (n = 99) experienced a complication; the most common complication grades are grade 1 (n=43, 14.3%) and grade 4 (n=36, 12%) according to Clavien Dindo classification. Only 12% (n= 36) of the patients were admitted to the ICU. The median LOS was 2 days (1–51) and prolonged LOS was observed in 82(27.3%) patients. The overall hospital mortality rate was 3.3% (n=10) and the 1-year mortality rate was 27.4% (n=82).

ROC analysis (Figure1) demonstrated a very good association of CACI (area under the curve [AUC], 0.819; 95% CI, 0.765-0.874), and satisfac-

tory association of mFI-5 (AUC, 0.675; 95% CI, 0.606-0.744) and ASA class (AUC, 0.698; 95% CI, 0.638-0.758) with overall complications. The AUC for mFI-5 and ICU admission were 0.702 (95%CI, 0.601-0.804), 0.669 (95%CI, 0.574-0.763) for CACI, and 0.662 (95%CI, 0.580-0.745) for ASA. As per the AUCs, mFI-5 is a better risk stratification index for ICU admission compared to CACI and ASA classes. The AUC for CACI and hospital mortality was 0.774 (95%CI, 0.653-0.895), for mFI-5 was 0.759 (95%CI, 0.591-0.926), and for ASA class was 0.653 (95%CI, 0.509-0.797). The mFI-5 was not superior to the CACI and ASA classes. All three indices were satisfactory for predicting 1-year mortality.

According to the results of binominal logistic regression analysis (Table 4), the risk of complications was 0.215 (95%CI 0.087-0.529, p=0.001) times higher in patients with an mFI-5 score greater than '2', 0.366 (95%CI 0.063-0.300, p=0.025) times higher in patients with an ASA class greater than '3', 0.138 (95%CI 0.152-0.881, p<0.001) times greater in patients with a CACI score greater than '5' and 0.218 (95%CI 0.096-0.492, p<0.001) times greater in patients with oncological diseases. Importantly, patients with an mFI-5 score greater than '2' had 0.165 odds ratio (95%CI 0.061-0.444, p<0.001), male patients had 0.346 odds ratio (95%CI 0.136-0.880, p=0,026), and patients who received transfusion had 0.056 odds ratio (95%CI 0.021-0.152, p<0.001) of ICU admission. Furthermore, patients with a CACI score greater than '5' had a 16.075 odds ratio (95%CI 1.557 -166.006, p=0,020), and patients with oncological diseases had a 0.146 odds ratio (95%CI 0.023-0.935, p=0.042), and patients admitted to ICU had 8.555 odds ratio (95%CI 1.655-44.228, p=0.010) of hospital mortality. Finally, older age had 0.383 odds ratio (95%CI 0.233-0.631, p<0.001), and patients with an mFI-5 score greater than '2' had 2.741 odds ratio (95%CI 1.094-6.869, p= 0.032), prolonged LOS had 9.476 odds ratio 95%CI 4.370-20.549, p<0.001), patients admitted to the ICU had Figure 1. Receiver operating curve (ROC) analysis is illustrated by comparing risk scores with postoperative complications, ICU admission, hospital mortality, and 12 months mortality. AUC: Area under curve, ASA: The American Society of Anesthesiologists Classification, mFI-5: Modified 5-item frailty index, CACI: The Charlson age comorbidity index, ICU: Intensive care unit, *: p<0.05, **:p<0.001.





Table 3. Patient demographics, preoperative, operative characteristics, and postoperative outcomes.

Parameter	Frequency (Percentage)	Median (Min-Max)
Age (year)		71(65-95)
Gender (Female/ Male)	141(47%)/ 159(53%)	
Oncologic Disease	100(33, 3%)	
Surgery Classification -Low Risk -İntermediate Risk -High Risk	46(15, 3%) 129(43%) 125(41, 7%)	
ASA Classification -ASA Class ≥ 3 - ASA Class < 3	181(60,3%) 119(39,7%)	3(2-4)
Charlson Age Comorbidity Index - CACI ≥ 5 - CACI <5	182(60,6%) 133((39,4%)	5(2-13)
Modified Frailty Index-5 - mFI-5 ≥ 2 - mFI-5 < 2	183(61%) 117(39%)	2(0-5)
Anesthesia Method (General / Spinal & Epidural)	175(58, 3%)/ 125(41, 7%)	
Transfusion	38(12, 7%)	
Overall Complications	99(33%)	
Clavien Dindo Classification -Grade 1 -Grade 2 -Grade 3 Grade 3a/ Grade 3b -Grade 4 Grade 4a/ Grade 4b	43(14,3%) 17(5,6%) 3(1%) 1(0,3%)/ 2(0,6%) 36(12%) 32(10,6%)/ 4(1,3%)	
ICU Admission	36(12%)	
LOS -Prolonged LOS	82(27, 3%)	2(1-51)
Hospital Mortality	10(3, 3%)	
1-Year Mortality	82(27, 4%)	

Values are presented as the number of patients, frequency (percentage), or median(minimum-maximum). ASA: The American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Classification, mFI-5: Modified 5-item frailty index, CACI: The Charlson age comorbidity index, ICU: Intensive Care Unit, LOS: Length of Hospital Stay

	р	OR(Odds Ratio)	%95 CI(Confidence Interval)
<u>Complications</u>			
ASA class ≥ 3 mFI-5 ≥ 2 CACI≥ 5 Oncological Disease	0,025 0,001 <0,001 <0,001	0,366 0,215 0,138 0,218	0,063-0,300 0,087-0,529 0,152-0,881 0,096-0,492
ICU Admission			
mFI-5≥ 2 Sex(Male) Transfusion	<0,001 0,026 <0,001	0,165 0,346 0,056	0,061-0,444 0,136-0,880 0,021-0,152
Hospital Mortality			
CACI≥ 5 Oncological Disease ICU Admission	0,020 0,042 0,010	16,075 0,146 8,555	1,557-166,006 0,023-0,935 1,655-44,228
<u>1-Year Mortality</u>			
Age mFI-5≥ 2 LOS ICU Admission Transfusion Complications	<0,001 0,032 <0,001 0,012 0,005 0,013	0,383 2,741 9,476 17,719 5,152 3,625	0,233-0,631 1,094-6,869 4,370-20,549 1,862-168,651 1,632-16,264 1,310-10,033

Table 4. Binomial logistic regression analysis for postoperative outcomes.

Binomial logistic regression analysis was used for the evaluation of variables affecting complications.

p < 0.05 was used to indicate statistical significance. ASA: The American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Classification, mFI-5: Modified 5-item frailty index, CACI: The Charlson age comorbidity index

17.719 odds ratio (95%Cl 1.862-168.651, p=0.012), patients who received transfusion had 5,152 odds ratio (95%Cl 1.632-16.264, p=0.005), and complications had 3.625 odds ratio (95%Cl 1.310-10.033, p=0.013) of 1-year mortality.

DISCUSSION

In our study, 33% of patients experienced complications, the hospital mortality rate was 3.3%, and the 1-year mortality rate was 27.4%. ROC analysis demonstrated a very good association of CACI with overall complications and a good association of mFI-5 with ICU admission and hospital mortality. All three indices were satisfactory predictors of prolonged LOS and 1-year mortality. The patients with higher mFI-5 scores had a greater risk of ICU admission, and 1-year mortality; in addition, patients with higher CACI scores had a greater risk of hospital mortality.

The functional status and preferences of geriatric patients should guide the surgical decisions as most elderly patients value the quality of life rather than the length of life for the remaining time they are alive (13). In this study, 27.4% of patients who underwent surgery died within a year. Therefore, the importance of examining 1-year mortality in our study was once again reinforced. Complications affect the functional results of surgery. Good



evaluation of the patient's physiological state in the preoperative period, knowledge, and early recognition of possible complications reduce the risk of disability and/or death reduce significantly (14). In our study, grade 4 (life-threatening) complications were seen in 12% of the patients, and overall complications which include all grades were also found to be associated with increased 1-year mortality.

It is yet to be determined whether ASA class is an independent predictor of medical complications in a wide variety of surgical patients from different institutions. There is also a need to justify the use of ASA as a consistently reliable predictor of outcomes (15). Hackett et al. (16) reported that the ASA classification of physical conditions had strong, independent associations with postoperative medical complications and mortality. In addition, another survey (17) showed that ASA was superior to CCI and CACI in predicting mortality. In contrast, "Rosa et al." (18) reported that in gastric cancer patients, ASA evaluation alone is insufficient to predict postoperative complications and long-term mortality. In our study, the ASA classification was a satisfactory predictor of ICU admission, overall complications, hospital mortality, and 1-year mortality. Although the risk of developing complications was higher in patients with ASA \geq 3, in the same patient group, no significant relationship was found between ICU admission and hospital mortality.

In recent years, surveys by different surgical clinics (19, 20) have shown that CCI is a good predictor of postoperative mortality and complications. However, as CCI is insufficient in geriatric patients, CCI with age added (CACI) is considered a more appropriate prognostic indicator for clinical use and practice (7). In another study (21), patients with CCI scores greater than 5 had a higher risk of mortality than those in the other group (OR: 4.6[2,4-9.0]). It was observed that patients with systemic complications had a higher mean CCI (p=0.001) compared to the other group. In our study, CACI demonstrated a very good association with the overall complica-

tions and was equal to the mFI-5 in predicting hospital mortality. Furthermore, it was determined that the hospital mortality rate increased approximately 16 times in patients with CACI \geq 5.

Compared to an adult, a fragile elderly person is at a higher risk for conditions such as disability, morbidity, and death. Frailty scores have been used to estimate postoperative complications and outcomes in elderly patients undergoing surgery (8). Weaver et al. (22) reported that increased mFI-5 scores were significant in predicting 30-day mortality and morbidity. Another study (23) reported that mFI-5 was as successful as CACI and mFI-11 in predicting postoperative 90-day mortality. In our study, mFI-5 demonstrated a good association between ICU admission and hospital mortality. Higher mFI-5 levels increased the risk of complications, ICU admission, and 1-year mortality.

Ondeck et al. (24) evaluated the predictive power of mFI, mCCI, and ASA for complications, serious complications, mild complications, infectious complications, prolonged hospitalization, and intensive care admission. ASA combined with age was found to be the most useful index for predicting comorbidities. The combination of a demographic parameter and a comorbidity index was found to be the best index for predicting at least five of the six complications.

Different types of surgeries and comorbidities in the same age group provided an advantage in terms of evaluating the indices in different patients simultaneously. This study had some limitations that should be addressed. Adding cardiovascular surgery and thoracic surgery clinics to the study could have made the selected patient group more similar to society. We believe that a study with a larger sample size will better reflect this population. We had to terminate data collection to avoid false results due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

Due to a global increase in the elderly population, the proportion of the geriatric population among those applying to health services is increasing rapidly. According to the results of this study, mFI-5 was associated with ICU admission and 1-year mortality, and CACI was associated with complications and hospital mortality in geriatric patients. Furthermore, mFI-5 was not better than ASA class and CACI in predicting the overall postoperative out-

REFERENCES

- Olshansky SJ, Carnes BA, Cassel C. In search of Methuselah: estimating the upper limits to human longevity. Science 1990; 250(4981): 634-40. (PMID: 2237414).
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs. World Population Ageing 2019: Highlights [e-book] Population Division; 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/popula-</u> tion/publications/pdf/ageing/WorldPopulationAgeing2019-Highlights.pdf. Accessed: 10.06.2021.
- 3. Wirtz D, Kohlhof H. The geriatric patient: special aspects of peri-operative management. EFORT Open Rev 2019; 4(6): 240-47. (PMID: 31210966).
- ASA House of Delegates. ASA physical status classification system [Guideline] American Society of Anesthesiologists; 2014. [Internet] Available from: <u>https://www.asahq.org/standards-and-guidelines/</u><u>asa-physical-status-classification-system</u>. Accessed: 05/06/2021.
- Lupei MI, Chipman JG, Beilman GJ et al. The association between ASA status and other risk stratification models on postoperative intensive care unit outcomes. Anesth Analg 2014; 118(5): 989-94. (PMID: 24781569).
- Roffman CE, Buchanan J, Allison GT. Charlson Comorbidities Index. J Physiother 2016; 62(3): 171. (PMID: 27298055).
- Yang CC, Fong Y, Lin LC et al. The age-adjusted Charlson comorbidity index is a better predictor of survival in operated lung cancer patients than the Charlson and Elixhauser comorbidity indices. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2018; 53(1): 235-240. (PMID: 29106506).
- Ali R, Schwalb JM, Nerenz DR et al. Use of the modified frailty index to predict 30-day morbidity and mortality from spine surgery. J Neurosurg Spine 2016; 25(4): 537-41. (PMID: 27153143).

comes. We suggest that the validity and reliability of mFI-5 should be increased by its common usage in multiple centers. Furthermore, creating different evaluation scale combinations with other evaluation indices or parameters is likely to be beneficial.

- Subramaniam S, Aalberg JJ, Soriano RP et al. New 5-Factor Modified Frailty Index Using American College of Surgeons NSQIP Data. J Am Coll Surg 2018; 226(2): 173-181. (PMID: 29155268).
- Chimukangara M, Helm MC, Frelich MJ et al. A 5-item frailty index based on NSQIP data correlates with outcomes following paraesophageal hernia repair. Surg Endosc 2017; 31(6): 2509-19. (PMID: 27699515).
- Kristensen SD, Knuuti J, Saraste A et al. 2014 ESC/ ESA Guidelines on non-cardiac surgery: cardiovascular assessment and management: The Joint Task Force on non-cardiac surgery: cardiovascular assessment and management of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Society of Anaesthesiology (ESA). Eur Heart J 2014; 35(35): 2383-431. (PMID: 25086026).
- Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien PA. Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort of 6336 patients and results of a survey. Ann Surg 2004; 240(2): 205-13. (PMID: 15273542).
- Brown CH 4th, Neuman MD. Optimizing Perioperative Care for Older Adults. Anesthesiol Clin 2015; 3(3): xv-xvi. (PMID: 26315642).
- Verwijmeren L, Peelen LM, Van Klei WA et al. Anaesthesia geriatric evaluation to guide patient selection for preoperative multidisciplinary team care in cardiac surgery. Br J Anaesth 2020; S0007-0912(20): 30014-3. (PMID: 32063340).
- Oo MT, Tencheva A, Khalid N et al. Assessing frailty in the acute medical admission of elderly patients. J R Coll Physicians Edinb 2013; 43(4): 301-8. (PMID: 24350311).
- Hackett NJ, De Oliveira GS, Jain UK et al. ASA class is a reliable independent predictor of medical complications and mortality following surgery. Int J Surg 2015; 18:184-90. (PMID: 25937154).
- 17. Quach LH, Jayamaha S, Whitehouse SL et al. Comparison of the Charlson Comorbidity Index with the ASA score for predicting 12-month mortality in acute



hip fracture. Injury 2020; 51(4): 1004-1010. (PMID: 32151423).

- Rosa F, Tortorelli AP, Quero G et al. The impact of preoperative ASA-physical status on postoperative complications and long-term survival outcomes in gastric cancer patients. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2019; 23(17): 7383-90. (PMID: 31539125).
- Hasan O, Barkat R, Rabbani A et al. Charlson comorbidity index predicts postoperative complications in surgically treated hip fracture patients in a tertiary care hospital: Retrospective cohort of 1045 patients. Int J Surg 2020; 82:116-20. (PMID: 32853781).
- Fernando DT, Berecki-Gisolf J, Newstead S et al. The Australian Injury Comorbidity Index to Predict Mortality. Ann Emerg Med 2020; 75(3): 339-53. (PMID: 31955941).
- 21. Fernández-Cortiñas AB, Vidal Campos J, Paredes-Carnero X et al. Is the Charlson comorbidity index a good predictor of mortality and adverse effects

in proximal humerus fractures? Orthop Traumatol Surg Res 2019; 105(2): 301-5. (PMID: 30765307).

- Weaver DJ, Malik AT, Jain N et al. The Modified 5-Item Frailty Index: A Concise and Useful Tool for Assessing the Impact of Frailty on Postoperative Morbidity Following Elective Posterior Lumbar Fusions. World Neurosurg 2019; S1878-8750(10): 30038-5. (PMID: 30639495).
- Khalafallah AM, Huq S, Jimenez AE et al. The 5-factor modified frailty index: an effective predictor of mortality in brain tumor patients. J Neurosurg 2020; 14:1-9. (PMID: 32796147).
- 24. Ondeck NT, Bohl DD, Bovonratwet P et al. Discriminative ability of commonly used indices to predict adverse outcomes after poster lumbar fusion: a comparison of demographics, ASA, the modified Charlson Comorbidity Index, and the modified Frailty Index. Spine J. 2018; 18(1): 44-52. (PMID: 28578164).



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.321 2022; 25(4): 622-631

Yusuf	Emre	OZDEM	IR ¹				

Muhammet Salih TARHAN ¹
Burak KIZILÇAY ¹ · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Müge SÖNMEZIŞIK ¹ ·········
Esra CANBOLAT ÜNLÜ ¹
Deniz BORÇAK ¹
Serkan SÜRME ² ····································

- Meryem ŞAHİN ÖZDEMİR³ · · · ·
- Osman Faruk BAYRAMLAR⁴ ····
- Zuhal YEŞİLBAĞ¹
- Sevtap ŞENOĞLU¹
 Habia GEDİK¹
- Habip GEDİK¹
- Kadriye KART YAŞAR¹

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Yusuf Emre ÖZDEMİR

Phone : +902124147171 e-mail : dryusufeozdemir@gmail.com

Received : Aug 29, 2022 Accepted : Nov 30, 2022

¹ Bakirkoy Dr Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Istanbul, Turkey

- ² Haseki Training and Research Hospital, Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Istanbul, Turkey
- ³ Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Cerrahpasa Faculty of Medicine, Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Istanbul, Turkey
- ⁴ Bakirkoy District Health Directorate, Public Health, Istanbul, Turkey

RESEARCH

COMPARISON OF CLINICAL OUTCOMES OF CORONAVAC VACCINATED AND UNVACCINATED OLDER ADULTS WITH HOSPITALIZED COVID-19

Abstract

ÍD

íD

íD

· ÍD

Introduction: We aimed to compare the COVID-19 outcomes in unvaccinated and CoronaVac vaccinated older adults.

Materials and Method: In this single-center study, patients aged \geq 65 years who were hospitalized for COVID-19 were retrospectively analyzed in two groups: unvaccinated and vaccinated.

Results: A total of 742 patients were included. The mean age was 76.6 \pm 7.6 years. Of these, 46.1% (n=342) were male, 76.0% (n=564) were vaccinated. Among patients who were transferred to the intensive care unit (n=217), 206 (27.8%) received invasive mechanical ventilation support and 194 (26.1%) were died. In the multivariate analysis, advanced age (OR=1.03, 95%CI=1.01-1.06, p<0.01) and a high Charlson Comorbidity Index (OR=1.24, 95%CI=1.12-1.38, p<0.01) were predictors of mortality, while being vaccinated (OR=0.75, 95%CI=0.62-0.91, p<0.01) was associated with survival. Vaccination reduced the need for intensive care by 26.5% and mortality by 24.9%. When the vaccinated group was evaluated, high Charlson Comorbidity Index (OR=1.428, 95%CI=1.14-1.64, p<0.01) was an independent predictor for mortality. However, booster vaccination in the last 130 days was the only protective factor that reduced mortality (p=0.04, 95%CI=0.43-0.99, OR=0.66) in multivariate analysis. Booster dose vaccination in the last 130 days reduced mortality by 33.8%.

Conclusion: CoronaVac vaccination improved survival in hospitalized older adult patients (\geq 65 years old) with COVID-19. However, delaying the booster dose for more than 130 days were significantly associated with decreased survival. Therefore, older adults who completed their primary vaccination series with CoronaVac should not delay their booster dose to reduce the risk of death.

Keywords: COVID-19; Aged; Death; Vaccination.

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) was unexpectedly resulted in a global pandemic with significant disruption and many loss of life. In response, an extraordinary effort has been made to develop vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 (1). Mass vaccination programs with newly approved COVID-19 vaccines have been implemented all around the world, giving priority to high-risk individuals to induce protective immunity and control the spread of SARS-CoV-2 (2).

CoronaVac (Sinovac Biotech), an inactivated whole virus vaccine, is the first vaccine approved in Turkey. The vaccination campaign for CoronaVac started on January 14, 2021. For this reason, most healthcare workers and older adults in the high-risk group in our country were vaccinated with CoronaVac (3). The World Health Organization's Emergency Use Listing (WHO EUL) procedure approved the use of the CoronaVac vaccine in early June 2021, but stated that new evidence-based information is needed on its efficacy and safety in adults aged \geq 60 years (4). However, in an observational study in Chile, referred by WHO EUL, adjusted vaccine efficacy in people aged \geq 60 years was 66.6% for the prevention of COVID-19, 85.3% for the prevention of hospitalization, 89.2% for the prevention of admission to the intensive care unit, and 86.5% for prevention of COVID-19 related death (5).

Our 1000-bed hospital was built as a pandemic epicenter where only COVID-19 patients were hospitalized in Istanbul, which is the most populated city of Turkey. In this study, we aimed to compare CoronaVac vaccinated and unvaccinated patients aged \geq 65 years who were hospitalized with COV-ID-19 in the delta (B.1.617.2) variant dominant period in terms of disease severity, need for admission to the intensive care unit (ICU), and death. In addition, we determined the factors affecting the severity of COVID-19 in vaccinated patients and evaluated the effect of booster vaccine doses on survival.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

Study Design

This was an analytical, cross-sectional, epidemiological study. Patients aged \geq 65 years who were hospitalized for COVID-19 in a tertiary care hospital between September 1, 2021 and December 15, 2021, were included. Patients who had at least two doses of CoronaVac vaccine were defined as "vaccinated", and patients who did not receive any vaccine were defined as "unvaccinated".

Inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) patients aged \geq 65 years; (2) positive testing for SARS-CoV-2 by real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR); and (3) hospitalization for COVID-19. Exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) previous history of confirmed COVID-19; (2) patients vaccinated with a single dose of CoronaVac; (3) patients who received Pfizer-BioNTech as the primary vaccination; and (4) patients who had COVID-19 14 days after the 2nd dose.

A total of 2162 of the 2904 patients were excluded (Figure 1). Demographic characteristics includ-



Figure 1. Flow diagram demonstrating patient enrollment



ing age, sex, underlying diseases, clinical features, laboratory findings, vaccination status, admission to the intensive care unit, need for mechanical ventilation, and clinical outcomes were retrospectively collected from medical charts and electronic medical records.

The primary outcomes were the need for ICU admission and death in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. The secondary outcome was death in vaccinated patients with COVID-19.

The following criteria were used according to WHO definitions to determine disease severity (6).

• Critical COVID-19: Sepsis, septic shock, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), or conditions that cause necessary treatments for survival, such as mechanical ventilation (invasive or non-invasive) or vasopressor therapy

• Severe COVID-19: SpO2 <90% on room air; or respiratory rate>30 breaths/min; or signs of severe respiratory distress

• Non-severe COVID-19: Absence of any criteria for severe or critical COVID-19.

According to the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health COVID-19 Guideline, favipravir (2 x 1600 mg loading on the first day, 2 x 600 mg in the next four days) was started in all patients with COVID-19 and decord 6 mg or prednol 40 mg was started in those with a room air oxygen saturation <92% (7).

The Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) was used to evaluate the comorbidity status of the patients. Mortality was defined as the in-hospital death.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables were expressed as mean and standard deviation, while categorical variables were expressed as percentages (%) and frequencies (n). The normal distribution of the data questioning the necessity of using the parametric test was evaluated using Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, Kurtosis and Skewness tests. According to the normality of the distribution, appropriate parametric or non-parametric tests were applied.

Univariate logistic regression analysis was performed to identify the factors causing death in COVID-19 and to detect poor prognostic predictors in vaccinated patients. All factors with p<0.05 were included in the multivariate logistic regression analysis. Kaplan Meier analysis was applied to compare the expected survival status in vaccinated and unvaccinated patients with COVID-19.

The results were evaluated using a 95% confidence interval (CI) with a p-value < 0.05. IBM SPSS-21 (Statistical Package for Social Sciences, Armonk, NY, USA) was used for statistical analyses.

Ethical Approval

This study was approved by local ethics committee (Decision No: 2022-14-10, Date: 18.07.2022). Written informed consent was waived, given the retrospective nature of this study.

RESULTS

In total, 742 patients were included in the study. There were 342 male patients (46.1%), and the mean age was 76.6 \pm 7.6 years. Regarding the immunization status, 564 (76.0%) patients were vaccinated and 178 (24.0%) were unvaccinated. Among those vaccianted, 281 patients received a third booster dose. Of these patients, 71.5% (n = 201) received the CoronaVac and 28.5% (n = 80) received the Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine. The mean ages of vaccinated and unvaccinated patients were similar (76.8 \pm 7.5 years versus 76.2 \pm 7.9 years, p = 0.32). The mean length of hospital stay was 13.9 ± 10.8 days. Ferritin $(551 \pm 749 \ \mu g/L \ versus \ 714 \pm 817 \ \mu g/L, \ p < 0.01),$ alanine aminotransferase (ALT) (24 ± 24 IU/L versus 30 ± 27 IU/L, p < 0.01), and aspartate transaminase (AST) levels (35 \pm 39 IU/L versus. 42 \pm 41 IU/L, p < 0.01) were lower in vaccinated patients than in unvaccinated patients. Leukocyte count (p = 0.95), procalcitonin (p = 0.89), C-reactive protein (CRP) (p



= 0.09), creatinine (p = 0.06), and D-dimer levels (p = 0.12) did not significantly differ between groups. A comparison of demographic features, clinical characteristics, and biochemical parameters of the patients with vaccinated and unvaccinated is shown in Table 1.

The mean CCI in the vaccinated group was higher than in the unvaccinated group $(5.6 \pm 1.6 \text{ vs.})$ 5.1 \pm 1.8, p<0.01). Comorbidities, of at least one present, were more frequent in vaccinated patients (n = 487, 86.3%) than in unvaccinated patients (n =138, 77.5%) (p < 0.01). The most frequent comorbidities were hypertension (n = 491, 66.1%), diabetes mellitus (n = 284, 38.2%), coronary artery disease (n = 173, 23.3%), and asthma/chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (n = 94, 12.7%). Hypertension (68.3% versus 59.5%, p = 0.03), diabetes mellitus (41.5% versus 28.1%, p < 0.01), and coronary artery disease (26.7% versus. 12.4%, p < 0.01) were higher in vaccinated patients than in unvaccinated patients (Table 1). In the subgroup analysis, there was no significant difference in mortality between the vaccinated and unvaccinated patients according to comorbidities (Table 2). There was no comorbidity in 13.7% (n = 77/564) of the vaccinated patients and 22.5% (n = 40/178) of the unvaccinated patients (p < 0.01). In the subgroup analysis, the need for ICU admission was 22.1% in the vaccinated patients (n = 17/77) and 42.5% in the unvaccinated patients (n = 17/40) (p=0.02). In hospital death was higher in the unvaccinated patients (n= 14, 35.0%) compared to vaccinated patients (n = 13, 16.8%) (p = 0.03).

Of the 742 patients with COVID-19, 29.8% had mild disease (n = 221), 38.3% had severe disease (n = 284), and 31.9% had critical disease (n = 237). While non-severe and severe diseases were more common in vaccinated patients, critical diseases were more common in unvaccinated patients (p = 0.03). Among the total, 217 (29.2%) patients were followed up in the ICU, 206 (27.8%) patients required invasive mechanical ventilation, and 194 (26.1%) patients died. The need for ICU admission (n = 66, 37.1%, versus n = 151, 26.8%, p = 0.01), invasive mechanical ventilation support (n = 63, 35.4%, versus n = 143, 25.4%, p = 0.01), and mortality (n = 58, 32.6%, versus n= 136, 24.1%, p = 0.03) were higher in the unvaccinated group than in the vaccinated group.

In the multivariate analysis, advanced age (OR = 1.03, 95% CI = 1.00–1.05, p = 0.01) and high CCI (OR = 1.21, 95% CI = 1.09–1.34, p < 0.01) were associated with increased need for ICU admission while being vaccinated (OR = 0.73, 95% CI = 0.61–0.89, p < 0.01) was found to be the protective factor. Similarly, advanced age (OR = 1.03, 95% CI = 1.01–1.06, p < 0.01) and high CCI (OR = 1.24, 95% CI = 1.12–1.38, p < 0.01) were predictors of mortality. However, being vaccinated (OR = 0.75, 95% CI = 0.62–0.91, p < 0.01) was associated with survival in the multivariate analysis. Vaccination reduced the need for ICU admission by 26.5% (95% CI = 11–39) and mortality by 24.9 % (95% CI = 9–38).

Among the vaccinated patients, death was more common in patients with advanced age (p = 0.01), high CCI (p < 0.01) and chronic kidney disease (p =0.03). Mortality was lower in patients who received a booster dose during the last 130 days (20.0% versus 27.4%, p = 0.04) (Table 3). There was no significant difference between patients who had booster dose of CoronaVac and Pfizer-BioNTech in terms of the need for ICU admission (21.4% versus 28.7%, p = 0.19) or death (18.4% versus 26.2%, p = 0.14). We found that high CCI was an independent predictor of ICU admission (OR = 1.25, 95% CI = 1.11-1.41, p < 0.01) and death (OR = 1.428, 95% CI = 1.14-1.64, p < 0.01), while booster vaccination in the last 130 days was the only protective factor that reduced mortality (p = 0.04, 95% CI = 0.43–0.99, OR = 0.66) among vaccinated patients (Table 4). Booster dose vaccination in the last 130 days reduced mortality by 33.8% (95% CI = 1–57) in vaccinated patients.

	Total (n=742)		Vaccinated	d (n=564)	Unvac	Р	
	Ν	%	N	%	N %		
Gender (Male)	342	46.1	267	47.3	75	42.1	0.22
Age (Mean±SD)	76.6±7.6		76.8±7.5			76.2±7.9	0.32
Disease Severity Non-Severe Severe Critically	221 284 237	29.8 38.3 31.9	173 226 166	30.6 40.0 29.4	48 59 71	48 27.0 59 33.1 71 39.9	
CCI (Mean±SD)	5.5	±1.7	5.6±	1.6		5.1±1.8	<0.01
Hypertension	491	66.1	385	68.3	106	59.5	0.03
Diabetes Mellitus	284	38.3	234	41.5	50	28.1	<0.01
CAD	173	23.3	151	26.7	22	12.4	<0.01
Asthma/COPD	94	12.7	75	13.3	19	10.7	0.36
СКD	87	11.7	70	12.4	17	9.5	0.30
CHF	77	10.4	61	10.8	16	9.0	0.69
Others	60	8.1	45	8.0	15	8.4	
Wbc (10 ³ /uL) (Mean±SD)	7.54±5.01		7.56±	5.25		7.47±4.17	0.95
Ferritin (µg/L) (Mean±SD)	590±768		551±	749	714±817		<0.01
CRP (mg/L) (Mean±SD)	103±79		106±79			0.09	
Procalcitonin (ng/mL) (Mean±SD)	0.89	±5.25	0.83±4.73 1.07±6.66		1.07±6.66	0.89	
Creatinine (mg/dl) (Mean±SD)	1.35±1.23		1.40±1.34			0.06	
ALT (IU/L) (Mean±SD)	26±25		24±24		30±27		<0.01
AST (IU/L) (Mean±SD)	37±39		35±39			42±41	<0.01
D-dimer (µg FEU/mL) Mean±SD)	1.12±1.65		1.09±1.65			1.20±1.63	0.12
Length of (Mean±SD) hospital stay (days)	13.9	±10.8	13.6±	10.6	14.9±11.5		0.13
ICU admission	217	29.2	151	26.8	66	66 37.1	
Invasive mechanical ventilation	206	27.8	143	25.4	63	35.4	0.01
Mortality	194	26.1	136	24.1	58	32.6	0.03

 Table 1. Demographic characteristics and outcomes of patients hospitalized for COVID-19

CCI: Charlson Comorbidity Index, CAD: Coronary artery disease, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, CKD: Chronic Kidney Disease, CHF: Chronic heart failure, ICU: Intensive care unit



		Total		Vaccinated		Unvacc	inated	р	OR	
	Death	N	%	N	%	N	%			
Hypertension	No	371	76.6	297	77.1	74	69.8	0.12	0.69	
(n=491)	Yes	120	24.4	88	22.9	32	30.2			
DM	No	215	75.7	180	76.9	35	70.0	0.30	0.70	
(n=284)	Yes	69	24.3	54	23.1	15	30.0			
CAD	No	124	71.7	108	71.5	16	72.7	0.91	1.06	
(n=173)	Yes	49	28.3	43	28.5	6	27.3			
Asthma/COPD	No	70	84.3	57	87.5	13	82.6	0.50	0.68	
(n=94)	Yes	24	15.7	18	12.5	6	17.4			
CKD	Yes	55	63.2	46	65.7	9	52.9	0.33	0.59	
(n=87)	No	32	36.8	24	34.3	8	47.1			
CHF	No	54	70.1	44	71.0	10	66.7	0.75	0.82	
(n=77)	Yes	23	29.9	18	29.0	5	33.3			

Table 2. Mortality rates of COVID-19 patients by comorbidity and vaccination status

DM: Diabetes Mellitus, CAD: Coronary artery disease, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, CKD: Chronic Kidney Disease, CHF: Chronic heart failure,

		Survivors (n=428)		Non-Surv	ivors (n=136)	р	OR
	N	N	%	N	%		
Gender (Male)	267	197	46.0	70	51.5	0.27	1.25
Age (Mean±ss)	564	76	b±7	79±8		0.01	
Number of Vaccines 2 dose 3 dose	283 281	205 223	47.9 52.1	78 58	57.4 42.6	0.05	0.68
Post-vaccine Duration ≤130 days >130 days	250 314	200 228	46.7 53.3	50 86	36.7 63.3	0.04	0.66
CCI (Mean±ss)	564	5.4	±1.5	6.	2±1.8	<0.01	
Hypertension	385	297	69.4	88	64.7	0.31	0.81
Diabetes Mellitus	234	180	42.0	54	39.7	0.63	0.91
CAD	151	108	25.2	43	31.6	0.14	1.37
Asthma/COPD	75	57	13.3	18	13.2	0.98	0.99
СКД	70	46	10.7	24	24 17.6		1.78
CHF	62	44	10.3	18	13.2	0.34	1.33

 Table 3. Comparison of characteristics of survived anddeceased in vaccinated patients

CCI: Charlson Comorbidity Index, CAD: Coronary artery disease, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, CKD: Chronic Kidney Disease, CHF: Chronic heart failure,

	Multivariate	Analysis for ICU	Multivariate Analysis for Mortality			
	OR	95 %CI	Р	OR	95 %CI	Р
Age	1.02	0.99-1.05	0.13	1.03	0.99-1.05	0.07
Charlson Comorbidity Index	1.25	1.11-1.41	<0.01	1.28	1.14-1.46	<0.01
Post-vaccine Duration (≤130 days)	0.69	0.46-1.02	0.06	0.66	0.43-1.00	0.04

Table 4. Multivariate analysis of factors that cause need ICU admission and death in vaccinated patients

DISCUSSION

Older adults, who are most vulnerable to the devastating impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, comprise of a significant proportion of COVID-19-related deaths during the pre-vaccine period (8). In this study, we presented a detailed analysis of the demographic characteristics, clinical findings, and outcomes of 564 vaccinated and 178 unvaccinated patients aged \geq 65 years hospitalized for COVID-19 in a pandemic epicenter. We found that 26% of older patients with COVID-19 died. Vaccination with at least a double dose of CoronaVac reduced the need for intensive care and mortality by approximately 25%. In addition, delaying booster vaccination for > 130 days increased mortality by 52%.

The main purpose of vaccination in older adults is to protect against serious COVID-19 and its fatal consequences. Immune senescence, general fragility, mental and psychosocial health problems, underlying diseases, and nutritional disorders are important problems that reduce vaccine efficacy in older populations (1). Compared to the Pfizer-BioN-Tech and Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccines, fewer population-based analyses have studied the efficacy of the CoronaVac vaccination in older adults (9-11) In studies evaluating the antibody levels induced by the CoronaVac, it was shown that post-vaccine seropositivity rates were similar to young adults, and neutralizing antibody titers were lower in elderly people (4,12). In addition, neutralizing antibody levels against SARS-CoV-2 variants in the CoronaVac vaccine have also been reduced (13,14).

In the population-based ESPERANZA cohort, which included people \geq 60 years of age, approximately 2,830,000 individuals were evaluated over a seven-month period. In the ESPERANZA study, the effectiveness of CoronaVac was found to be lower than that of the Pfizer-BioNTech and Oxford-Astra-Zeneca. In addition, researchers showed that with increasing age, the effectiveness of CoronaVac decreased more than that of other vaccines. CoronaVac was found to reduce hospitalization without death by 47.3% and with death by 72.1% in people aged \geq 60 years (9). Ranzani et al. reported that CoronaVac was 46.8% effective against symptomatic COVID-19, 55.5% effective against COVID-19-related hospitalization, and 61.2% effective against COVID-19-related deaths during the gamma variant predominant period. In addition, they found that the effectiveness of CoronaVac decreased to 30-40% in people aged > 80 years (10). In another population-based study, CoronaVac was reported to reduce mortality in older adults during the gamma variant dominant period (11). In our hospital, we did not routinely perform SARS-CoV-2 genotyping, but more than 90% of the SARS-CoV-2 variants determined in COVID-19 patients in our country were delta during the study period and the omicron variant had not yet been detected. In the present study, CoronaVac reduced mortality by 25%, and this rate was lower than the results of other studies (9-11). However, since we evaluated patients who required hospital admission, we found that the effectiveness of CoronaVac on mortality was relatively low. In addition, the decreased effectiveness can probably be explained by the fact that the study was conducted in the more deadly delta variant-dominant period and the time elapsed after vaccination was prolonged. Therefore, we evaluated the impact of delayed booster doses and found that in-hospital mortality was lower in recently vaccinated patients.

Many studies have revealed that COVID-19 patients with underlying diseases have increased risk of poor prognosis (15-18). In the study of Yavuz et al., chronic pulmonary disease, malignancy, chronic kidney disease, and cardiovascular diseases were reported as independent risk factors for mortality (17). In the study by of Sezen et al., mortality was found to be significantly higher in patients with CCI \geq 1 (18); however, there is a limited number of studies evaluating the effect of comorbid diseases on prognosis in patients with CoronaVac. In our study, increased CCI was an independent risk factor for mortality in patients aged \geq 65 years regardless of vaccination status. Among vaccinated patients, those patients with chronic kidney disease had an approximately two-fold increased risk of death.

There is no consensus regarding when the booster dose of CoronaVac vaccine should be administered. However, studies evaluating neutralizing antibody titer levels have reported that the optimal timing for a booster dose is 6-8 months (19-20). WHO stated that a booster dose can be administered to high-risk groups 4-6 months after completion of the primary CoronaVac vaccination series (21). In our study, delaying the booster dose for > 130 days in patients aged ≥ 65 years was associated with a 1.5-fold increase in mortality. Therefore, we deduced that patients aged \geq 65 years with primary vaccination with CoronaVac should receive booster doses earlier because of decreased cellular immune response against SARS-CoV-2 variants and increased mortality.

Many studies have compared heterologous vaccines (a different vaccine product from CoronaVac) and homologous vaccines as a booster vaccine (22-23). In a population-based study conducted by Jara et al., the homologous CoronaVac vaccine was less effective than heterologous vaccination (booster dose Pfizer-BioNtech or Oxford-AstraZeneca) in preventing symptomatic COVID-19, COVID-19-related hospitalization, need for ICU admission, and death (22). In the study conducted during the delta variant dominant period by Suah et al., homologous CoronaVac vaccination was less effective in preventing COVID-19 than heterologous (booster dose Pfizer-BioNTech or Oxford-AstraZeneca) vaccination (23). In our study, mortality was similar in patients who received a booster dose of CoronaVac and those with a booster dose of Pfizer-BioNTech.

This study had several strengths. First, only older patients (\geq 65 years old) were included in the study. Thus, we ensured patient homogenization by reducing age-related confounding conditions. Second, to our knowledge, this is the first study to determine the predictors of mortality in vaccinated older adults with COVID-19 in our country. Third, we adjusted the independent covariates including age and comorbidty index by the multivariate analysis. However, our study had some limitations. First, this cross-sectional study was conducted at a single center. Second, only hospitalized patients with confirmed COVID-19 were included in this study. Therefore, the effectiveness of vaccination with CoronaVac against COVID-19 development and against COVID-19-related hospitalization could not be evaluated.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, CoronaVac vaccination improved survival in hospitalized older adult patients (\geq 65 years old) with COVID-19. However, delaying the booster dose for more than 130 days were significantly associated with decreased survival. Therefore, older adults who completed their primary vaccination se-



ries with CoronaVac should not delay their booster dose to reduce the risk of death.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge all the healthcare professionals who contribute to the care of our patients.

REFERENCES

- Teo, S.P. Review of COVID-19 Vaccines and Their Evidence in Older Adults. Ann. Geriatr. Med. Res. 2021, 25, 4–9. (PMID: 33550776)
- Bruxvoort KJ, Sy LS, Qian L, et al. Effectiveness of mRNA-1273 against delta, mu, and other emerging variants of SARS-CoV-2: test negative case-control study. BMJ 2021;375:e068848. (PMID: 34911691)
- Status of covid-19 vaccination and immunization services in Turkey during the new coronavirus pandemic. [Internet]. Available from: https://www.ttb.org.tr/userfiles/files/yeni_koronavirus_pandemisi_surecinde_turkiyede_covid19_asilamasi_ve_bagisiklama_hizmetlerinin_durumu.pdf. Accessed: 29 August 2022. (in Turkish)
- Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization- SAGE (WHO). Interim recommendations for use of the inactivated COVID-19 vaccine, CoronaVac, developed by Sinovac, 2021. [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/341454</u>. Accessed: 29 August 2022.
- Jara A, Undurraga EA, González C, et al Effectiveness of an Inactivated SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine in Chile. N Engl J Med. 2021;385(10):875-884. (PMID: 34233097)
- COVID-19 Clinical management: living guidance. World Health Organization, 2021. [Internet]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/338882/WHO-2019-nCoV-clinical-2021.1eng.pdf. Accessed: 29 August 2022.
- Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health COVID-19 Information Platform. Information on Drugs to be Used in the Treatment of COVID-19 (SARS-CoV-2 Infection) (Favipiravir 200 mg) [Internet]. Available from: <u>https:// covid19.saglik.gov.tr/Eklenti/40620/0/covid-19-favipiravirpdf.pdf</u>. Accessed: 29 August 2022.
- 8. Williamson EJ, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran K, et al. Factors associated with COVID-19-related death us-

Declaration of Conflicting Interests

The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/ or publication of this article.

ing OpenSAFELY. Nature 2020; 584:430-6. (PMID: 32640463)

- Arregocés-Castillo L, Fernández-Niño J, Rojas-Botero M, et al. Effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines in older adults in Colombia: a retrospective, population-based study of the ESPERANZA cohort. Lancet Healthy Longev. 2022;3(4):e242-e252. (PMID: 35340743)
- Ranzani OT, Hitchings MDT, Dorion M, et al. Effectiveness of the CoronaVac vaccine in older adults during a gamma variant associated epidemic of covid-19 in Brazil: test negative case-control study. BMJ. 2021;374:n2015. (PMID: 34417194)
- Victora PC, Castro PMC, Gurzenda S, Medeiros AC, França GVA, Barros PAJD. Estimating the early impact of vaccination against COVID-19 on deaths among elderly people in Brazil: Analyses of routinely-collected data on vaccine coverage and mortality. EClinicalMedicine. 2021;38:101036. (PMID: 34308302)
- Medeiros GX, Sasahara GL, Magawa JY, et al. Reduced T Cell and Antibody Responses to Inactivated Coronavirus Vaccine Among Individuals Above 55 Years Old. Front Immunol. 2022;13:812126. (PMID: 35300337)
- 13. Vacharathit V, Aiewsakun P, Manopwisedjaroen S, et al. CoronaVac induces lower neutralising activity against variants of concern than natural infection. Lancet Infect Dis. 2021;21(10):1352-1354. (PMID: 34454652)
- Melo-González F, Soto JA, González LA, et al. Recognition of Variants of Concern by Antibodies and T Cells Induced by a SARS-CoV-2 Inactivated Vaccine. Front Immunol. 2021;12:747830. (PMID: 34858404)
- Surme S, Buyukyazgan A, Bayramlar OF, et al. Predictors of Intensive Care Unit Admission or Mortality in Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pneumonia



in Istanbul, Turkey. Jpn J Infect Dis 2021;74(5):458-464. (PMID: 33642427)

- Özdemir YE, Balkan İİ, Bayramlar OF, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Mild-Moderate COVID-19 Patients and Risk Factors for the Development of Pneumonia. Mikrobiyol Bul 2021;55(3):342-356. (in Turkish) (PMID: 34416801)
- Yavuz SŞ, Tunçer G, Altuntaş-Aydın Ö, et al. Comparison of the Clinical and Laboratory Findings and Outcomes of Hospitalized COVID-19 Patients Who Were Either Fully Vaccinated with Coronavac or Not: An Analytical, Cross Sectional Study. Vaccines (Basel). 2022;10(5):733. (PMID: 35632489)
- Sezen YI, Senoglu S, Karabela SN, et al. Risk factors and the impact of vaccination on mortality in COV-ID-19 patients. Bratisl Lek Listy 2022;123(6):440-443. (PMID: 35576546)
- 19. Tanriover MD, Akova M. COVID-19 vaccine booster strategy: striving for best practice. Lancet Glob Health. 2022;10(6):e774-e775. (PMID: 35472301)

- 20. Croda J, Ranzani OT. Booster doses for inactivated COVID-19 vaccines: if, when, and for whom. Lancet Infect Dis. 2022;22(4):430-432. (PMID: 34890538)
- The Sinovac-CoronaVac COVID-19 vaccine: What you need to know. WHO. [Internet]. Available on: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/de-</u> tail/the-sinovac-covid-19-vaccine-what-you-need-toknow. Accessed: 29 August 2022.
- 22. Jara A, Undurraga EA, Zubizarreta JR, et al. Effectiveness of homologous and heterologous booster doses for an inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine: a largescale prospective cohort study. Lancet Glob Health. 2022;10(6):e798-e806. (PMID: 35472300)
- Suah JL, Tng BH, Tok PSK, et al. Real-world effectiveness of homologous and heterologous BNT162b2, CoronaVac, and AZD1222 booster vaccination against Delta and Omicron SARS-CoV-2 infection. Emerg Microbes Infect. 2022;11(1):1343-1345. (PMID: 35499301)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.322 2022; 25(4): 632-639

Burcu YÜKSEL¹

· 🕞

Aylin Durmaz EDEER²

CORRESPONDANCE

² Aylin Durmaz EDEER

Phone : +902324214764 e-mail : aylin.durmaz@deu.edu.tr

Received : Jul 22, 2022 Accepted : Nov 30, 2022

¹ Kütahya Health Scienes University, Nursing Department Faculty of Health Sciences, Kütahya, Turkey

² Dokuz Eylul University, Faculty of Nursing , Surgical Nursing Department, İzmir, Turkey

RESEARCH

EVALUATION OF PREOPERATIVE NUTRITION WITH THREE DIFFERENT TOOLS IN ELDERLY PATIENTS

Abstract

Introduction: This study was conducted to evaluate the preoperative nutritional status of patients over 65 years of age, determine the factors affecting nutrition, and compare the effectiveness of the three screening tools that were used to evaluate nutritional status.

Materials and Method: The research was cross-sectional and correlational. Two hundred elderly patients in the preoperative period of the surgical service were interviewed. The Mini Nutritional Assessment short form (MNA-SF), Nutritional Risk Screening form (NRS-2002), and Geriatric Nutritional Risk Index (GNRI) were used.

Results: Elderly patients—35.0% according to the MNA-SF, 35% according to NRS-2002, and 39.5% according to GNRI —were found to have a higher risk of preoperative malnutrition. A significant correlation was found between dysphagia and loss of appetite in elderly patients and the risks of malnutrition. Based on Receiver operating characteristic analysis, GNRI and MNA-SF were found to have high diagnostic value for preoperatively diagnosing malnutrition in elderly patients (area under the curve 0.95 and 0.90, respectively). The highest sensitivity (93.7%) belongs to Geriatric Nutritional Risk Index.

Conclusion: The use of the Geriatric Nutritional Risk Index tool is appropriate in evaluating the preoperative nutritional status in elderly patients.

Keywords: Aged; Malnutrition; Nutritional Status; Preoperative Care.


INTRODUCTION

According to the World Health Organization, aging is defined as a progressive decrease in vital functions and the adaptation process in the environment (1). Physiological changes occur in elderly patients as the result of cellular damage caused by aging. Physiological changes, psychological problems, loneliness, chronic diseases, and multiple drug use affect the elderly's nutritional status (2). In a study of 425 geriatric patients in China, the rate of malnutrition was found to be 40.9% with the Nutritional Risk Screening 2002 (NRS 2002) tool and 58.6% with the Nutritional Assessment Short Form (MNA-SF) tool (3). In a study conducted with 284 geriatric patients in Italy, 24.6% of the elderly were diagnosed for malnutrition, and 28.2% of the patients were found to be at high risk of malnutrition (4). Malnutrition is a serious problem that increases the development of complications and mortality in elderly patients who will undergo surgery. The European Association for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (ESPEN) emphasizes that the nutritional status of every elderly patient should be evaluated (5). If malnutrition is present in the patient during the preoperative period and necessary nutritional support is provided, then wound healing is accelerated, the risk of developing complications is reduced, and the duration of the patient's hospital stay is shortened (6-8). The literature provides limited studies on the factors affecting the preoperative malnutrition rates and nutritional status of elderly patients (3,4,9).

Several screening tools are used to determine the nutritional status of elderly patients (10). In a study conducted in China, 425 patients over the age of 70 years were evaluated, and the NRS 2002 and MNA-SF screening tools were compared. The NRS 2002 and MNA-SF were considered appropriate tools for assessing nutritional deficiency in geriatric patients (3). In a study conducted on 131 patients over 60 years of age, the Geriatric *Nutritional Risk Index* (GNRI) and MNA-SF assessment tools were compared, and GNRI was found to be a more appropriate tool for evaluating nutrition in the elderly (9). ESPEN recommends the use of MNA-SF to diagnose nutritional status in the elderly (5). In Turkey, NRS 2002 is used to evaluate the nutritional status of elderly in hospitals. In the literature, there is no study about which tool is more meaningful for evaluating the nutritional status in the preoperative period in patients aged 65 years and over.

This study was conducted to evaluate the preoperative nutritional status of patients over 65 years of age and to compare the MNA-SF, NRS 2002, and GNRI screening tools, which are used to define the preoperative nutritional status of the patient.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

The study was conducted on patients aged 65 years and over in the preoperative period who applied to the General Surgery, Orthopedics, Cardiovascular Surgery, Urology, and Ear Nose and Throat Clinics of Research Hospital in the Aegean region between October 2020 and June 2021. The sample size was calculated as 15% malnutrition rate in elderly patients, 95% confidence interval and significance level of 0.05. The sample size was 185 people. In this study the stratified sampling method was applied. A total of 200 patients were interviewed, including 79 from orthopedics, 34 from general surgery, 39 from urology, 28 from otolaryngology and 20 from cardiovascular surgery services.

The study sample included patients aged 65 years and older who were in the pre-operative period, fed orally, had occasional person orientation, had no cognitive problems, and were admitted to the clinic for 24 h. The sample excluded those who were intubated, parenterally and enterally fed, immobile, or had hip fractures.

Data Collection

The patient descriptive information form was created by reviewing the literature (3, 4, 6) and com-

posed of two parts. In the first part, there were questions regarding the patient's sociodemographic characteristics and anthropometric measurements were determined and BMI was calculated. The second part included questions about the problems affecting nutrition. In our study, Mini-Nutritional *Assessment* Short *Form* (MNA-SF), *Nutritional Risk* Screening 2002 (NRS 2002) and Geriatric *Nutritional Risk Index* (GNRI) are used to evaluate the nutritional status of the elderly in hospitals.

Rubenstein et al. in 2001 developed the MNA-SF form (11). In the validity and reliability study conducted in Turkey, the kappa compliance score of MNA-SF was found to be 0.66, while the sensitivity and specificity were 94% and 81%, respectively (12). The MNA-SF consists of six items to evaluate the patient's nutritional status. Those who were normally fed received between 12 and 14 points, at risk patients received between 8 and 11 points, and patients who were markedly malnourished received seven points or less.

NRS-2002 was developed by Kondrup et al. (13). The scale was examined in two stages. In the first stage, the patient's BMI, weight loss, decrease in food intake, and presence of risky disease were evaluated. If one of these items was yes, the main evaluation was initiated. The second stage is evaluated as deterioration in nutritional status and disease severity and scored. In addition to this score, if the patient was 70 years or older, one point was added. If the total score was three or more, it was determined that there was a risk and a nutrition plan was applied (13). The Turkish version of the NRS 2002 showed the following results: kappa compliance score of 0.804; sensitivity of 88%; and specificity of 92% (14).

The GNRI is a nutritional formula developed specifically for the elderly to identify and predict nutrition-related complications rather than diagnose malnutrition (15). The sensitivity and specificity of the GNRI was 45% and 81.7%, respectively. A score below 82 on the index indicates a severe risk.

A score between 82 and 92 is interpreted as medium risk, a score between 92 and 98 is interpreted as low risk, and an index above 98 points is interpreted as no risk (15).

This index calculated using the following equation:

$$\label{eq:GNRI} \begin{split} & \text{GNRI} = [1.489 \times \underline{albumin} \ (\text{g/L})] + [41.7 \times (\text{weight/} \\ & \text{WLo*})] \end{split}$$

*WLo = the ideal weight calculated from the Lorentz formula as follows:

For men: height (cm) – 100 – [(height in cm – 150)/4]

For women: height (cm) – 100 – [(height in cm – 150)/2.5]

Patients were interviewed at least 24 h after hospitalization. The researcher collected data of our study. The patient's height measurements were made by placing the patient's feet together and placing the head in the horizontal Frankfort plane while standing. The patients' weight was measured using the Tefal PP1061V0 coded scale. In order to measure the weight accurately, the patients were dressed thinly and shoes were taken off before measurement. The BMI value was calculated. The albumin value was taken from the patients' records.

Statistical analysis

Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 22.0 version was used for the data analysis. Number, percentage, and mean were used in evaluating the data. Correlation analysis was applied to the relationship between malnutrition and the variables affecting nutrition. Kappa analysis was used to evaluate the agreement between the scales. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves of the three scanning tools were also used to assess the ability to accurately distinguish between the malnourished patients. The ROC analysis was based on the fact that ESPEN took a BMI threshold value of 22 kg/m² for elderly patients who lost 5% weight in the last 2 months (5). All statistical analyses were conducted



at the 95% confidence level and at a significant level of 0.05. Ethics approval of our study was granted by the local non-interventional clinical research ethics committee (protocol number 2020/05-20).

RESULTS

In our study, 54.5% of the patients were male, mean age was 69.62 ± 3.7 years, 41.0% were secondary school graduates, 83.0% were married, 66.5%were living with their spouses. It was determined that 43.5% had income equal to expenditure, 58%had a BMI between 18.5 - 24.9 kg/m², and 92% had at least one chronic disease.

It was determined that 58.5% of the patients had oral and dental problems, 38.5% had difficulty in swallowing, and 45% had a loss of appetite. Looking at the daily diets, it was determined that 14.5% of the patients were on a diet due to their chronic disease, 83.5% were consuming their main meals regularly, 57.5% had snacks, and 56.5% had snacks than the main meal. It was determined that 36% of the patients were smoking cigarettes and 16.5% were consuming alcohol.

It was determined that 35.0% of the patients, according to MNA-SF and NRS-2002, and 39.5% according to GNRI, were at high risk in malnutrition (Table 1). According to the MNA-SF, 6.5% (n:13) of the patients were malnourished.

A significant correlation was found between dysphagia and loss of appetite in patients according to NRS 2002, MNA-SF, and GNRI scores (p < .001). In our study, there was a weak correlation between patients' dysphagia and the risk of malnutrition, and a high relationship between loss of appetite and malnutrition risk. There was not significant correlation between oral and dental problems in patients according to MNA-SF, NRS 2002, and GNRI scores (p > .05) (Table 2).

MNA-SF NRS 2002 GNRI Risk of malnutrition % % % n n n 117 58.5 130 65 121 60.5 No 70 79 Risk 35.0 70 35 39.5 Malnutrition 13 6.5 _ _ _ _ 200 100 200 100 200 100 Total

Table 1. Classification of The Risk of Malnutrition with MNA-SF, NRS 2002, and GNRI Tools (n: 200)

MNA-SF, Short Form of Mini Nutritional Assessment; NRS 2002, Nutritional Risk Screening 2002; GNRI, Geriatrics Nutritional Risk Index

Table 2.	Pearson	Correlation	Coefficients	of Factors	Affecting	Nutrition	and Tools

Factors Affecting Nutrition	NRS 2002 r p		MNA-SF r p	GNRI r p	
Oral and dental problems	0.104	0.143	-0.068 0.338	-0.055 0.456	
Dysphagia	0.335**	0.000	-0.340** 0.000	-0.294** 0.000	
Loss of appetite	0.625**	0.000	-0.722** 0.000	-0.649** 0.000	

MNA-SF, Short Form of Mini Nutritional Assessment; NRS 2002, Nutritional Risk Screening 2002; GNRI, Geriatrics Nutritional Risk Index. Correlation analysis **p < 0.01.

The agreement between the three tools was examined. There was a good agreement between NRS 2002 and MNA-SF (κ =.668, p<0.001), moderate agreement between NRS 2002 and GNRI (κ =.409, p<0.001), and moderate agreement between MNA-SF and GNRI (κ =.561, p<0.001) (Table 3).

It was found that GNRI had the highest sensitivity (93.7%) and NRS 2002 had the lowest sensitivity (66.7%). The specificity was the same for all three tools (88.9%) (Figure 1). According to AUC, the GNRI and MNA-SF had high diagnostic values and NRS 2002 had a moderate diagnostic value for diagnosing malnutrition preoperatively in elderly patients (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

Nutritional tools can aid healthcare professionals in assessing the nutritional status of patients. However, suitability and applicability of these tools is need to evaluate for specific populations. The nutritional health of older inpatients before surgery was assessed using NRS2002, MNA and GNRI in this study. The results of the current study showed the differences in nutritional risk detected by different screening tools.

The prevalence of malnutrition risk for the older patients before surgery ranged from 35.0% to 39.5%. According to the GNRI, MNA-SF and NRS-2002, 39.5%, 35.0%, and 35.0% of the patients were

		NRS 2002	MNA-SF	GNRI
	к		.668	.409
NRS 2002	р		.000	.000
	к	.668		.561
MINA-SF	р	.000		.000
GNRI	к	.409	.561	
	р	.000	.000	

 Table 3. The Agreement Among NRS 2002, MNA-SF and GNRI

MNA-SF, Short Form of Mini Nutritional Assessment; NRS 2002, Nutritional Risk Screening 2002; GNRI, Geriatrics Nutritional Risk Index, κ, Kappa analysis

TIC

lable 4. Statistical	Evaluation of IN	utrition Screening I	oois Compar	red with Bivii	

.

	NRS 2002	MNA-SF	GNRI
Sensitivity %	67.5	78.5	93.7
Specificity %	88.9	88.9	88.9
p value	.004	.000	.000
(AUC 95 %)	0.78 (0.650–0.914)	0.90 (0.839–0.973)	0.95 (0.921–0.994)
Cut-off value	2.5	10.5	93.5

AUC, area under the curve from ROC; MNA-SF, Short Form of Mini Nutritional Assessment NRS 2002, Nutritional Risk Screening 2002; GNRI, Geriatrics Nutritional Risk Index



Figure 1. Receiver operating characteristics of predicted probabilities for nutritional risk incorporating the Mini Nutritional Assessment-Short Form (MNA-SF), Geriatric Nutritional Risk Index (GNRI), and Nutritional Risk Screening 2002 (NRS2002) tools.



malnourished, respectively. According to the MNA-SF tool, 6.5% (n:13) of the patients were malnourished. In a study conducted with 425 geriatric patients hospitalized in China, the risk of malnutrition was 40.9% with the NRS 2002 tool and 58.6% with the MNA-SF tool (3). In a study conducted with 284 geriatric patients hospitalized in Italy, 24.6% of the elderly were diagnosed with malnutrition and 28.2% of the patients were at high risk of malnutrition (4). It was found that 4.3% of the elderly patients who will undergo surgery in the USA are malnourished, and 18.2% of the patients have a risk of malnutrition (16). Our study showed that the rate of malnutrition risk seen in elderly patients who will undergo surgery is higher than the rate of malnutrition risk in Italy and USA. Food intake of elderly patients may be decreased due to reasons such as loss of appetite and low retired pay. Additionally, malnutrition is observed in patients due to the catabolism created by stress in the preoperative period (17). For these reasons, it is thought that the risk of malnutrition is

higher in elderly patients who will undergo surgery.

In this study it was found that 58.5% of the elderly patients had oral and dental problems. There was found no significant relationship between the presence of oral and dental problems and the three tools' scores (p > .05). In studies, a statistically significant difference was found between dental problems and malnutrition in the elderly (18,19). In systematic review, there was found an extensive interrelation between oral health and malnutrition; however, it remains unclear whether poor oral health increases the risk of being malnourished (20). Oral and dental problems of our patients may not have caused malnutrition.

We were found that 38.5% of the elderly had dysphagia. A weakly significant correlation was found between the patients' dysphagia and the nutritional status of the MNA-SF, NRS 2002, and GNRI tools (p < .001). Approximately 53.2% of patients with dysphagia have a risk of malnutrition, according to NRS 2002, and 55.8% of these patients have a risk of malnutrition according to GNRI. According to MNA-SF, 11.7% of patients with dysphagia are malnourished. A study conducted on 73 elderly people living in nursing homes found that 24.7% of the elderly had dysphagia and 85% of patients with dysphagia were at risk of malnutrition (21). Patients with dysphagia experience discomfort while eating, so their food intake is reduced, and leading to malnutrition. Therefore, the risk of malnutrition is high in our patients with swallowing difficulties who will undergo surgery.

In our research, 45% of the elderly patients had a loss of appetite. A moderately correlation was found between the loss of appetite and the nutritional status of the MNA-SF, NRS 2002, and GNRI tools (p < .001). In studies investigating the appetite status of the elderly, loss of appetite was found in 31-32.5% of the patients (22,23) and a correlation was found between the loss of appetite and malnutrition (23). A good appetite is necessary to maintain adequate food and nutrient intake. When there is a decrease in the appetite of elderly patients, adequate and balanced nutrition will not be available and oral intake will decrease. For this reason, patients with loss of appetite may have a high risk of malnutrition.

It was found that there was good agreement between NRS 2002 and MNA-SF tools, moderate agreement between NRS 2002 and GNRI tools, and moderate agreement between MNA-SF and GNRI tools. In a study evaluating the agreement of MNA-SF and NRS 2002 in elderly patients, moderate agreement was found between these tools (3). In our study, ROC analysis was used to determine which of the three nutritional assessment tools was more effective with BMI values. The AUC values were 0.78 (0.650-0.914) for NRS 2002, 0.90 (0.839-0.973) for MNA-SF, and 0.95 (0.921-0.994) for GNRI. The AUC = 0.5 indicates that a tool has no diagnostic value, AUC = 0.5-0.7 indicates a tool has a low diagnostic value, AUC = 0.7-0.9 indicates that a tool has moderate diagnostic value, and AUC = 0.9-1 means that a tool has a high diagnostic value (24). In studies evaluating the nutritional status of elderly patients with MNA-SF and NRS 2002, these tools were moderate diagnostic value according to their AUC values (3,25). In another study in which MNA-SF and GNRI were compared in 134 hospitalized elderly

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. Healthy Ageing Profiles; 2018. [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.euro.</u> who.int/___data/assets/pdf_file/0011/98399/E91887. pdf Accessed: 04.08.2021
- Cruz Jentoft AJ, Kiesswetter E, Drey M, Sieber CC. Nutrition, frailty, and sarcopenia. Aging Clinical and Experimental Research 2017;29(1):43-48. (PMID: 28155181)
- Miao JP, Quan XQ, Zhang CT, et al. Comparison of two malnutrition risk screening tools with nutritional biochemical parameters, BMI and length of stay in Chinese geriatric inpatients: a multicenter, cross-sectional study. BMJ open 2019;9(2):e022993. (PMID: 30782871)

patients, it was emphasized that both tools had a moderate diagnostic value in geriatric patients according to AUC values, but GNRI was simpler and more efficient (9). In our study, when the nutritional status of elderly patients was evaluated according to the AUC value, MNA-SF and GNRI had a high diagnostic value, and when the sensitivity of the scales was evaluated, the highest value belonged to the GNRI scale (93.7%). For this reason, the use of GNRI is appropriate in evaluating the preoperative nutritional status in elderly patients.

CONCLUSION

Our research found that the risk of malnutrition was between 35% and 39.5% in elderly patients in the preoperative period. There was a relationship between the loss of appetite and dysphagia of elderly patients and the risks of malnutrition. The GNRI tool was found more effective in diagnosing the preoperative nutritional status of elderly patients

It is recommended that patients aged 65 and over be should be evaluated in terms of nutritional deficiency when they are hospitalized for surgery, a detailed evaluation of the nutrition of patients with loss of appetite and swallowing difficulties.

- 4. Orlandoni P, Venturini C, Peladic NJ et al. Malnutrition upon hospital admission in geriatric patients: why assess it? Front Nutr 2017;4:50-58 (PMID: <u>29164125</u>)
- Cederholm T, Barazzoni R, Austin P et al. ESPEN guidelines on definitions and terminology of clinical nutrition. Clinical Nutrition 2017;36(1):49-64. (PMID: 27642056)
- Güler Y, Tireli M. Malnutrition frequency in surgical patients and its effect on morbidity and mortality. Acta Medica Alanya 2018;2(1):35-9. (in Turkish) (DOI: 10.30565/medalanya.384981)
- Gillis C, Buhler K, Bresee L et al. Effects of nutritional prehabilitation, with and without exercise, on outcomes of patients who undergo colorectal surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastroenterology 2018;155(2):391-410. (PMID: 29750973)



- Jie B, Jiang ZM, Nolan MT, Zhu SN, Yu K, Kondrup J. Impact of preoperative nutritional support on clinical outcome in abdominal surgical patients at nutritional risk. Nutrition 2012;28:1022-7. (PMID: 22673593)
- Abd Aziz NAS, Teng NIMF, Zaman MK. Geriatric Nutrition Risk Index is comparable to the mini nutritional assessment for assessing nutritional status in elderly hospitalized patients. Clinical Nutrition ESPEN 2019;29:77-85. (PMID: 30661705)
- Sellier C. Malnutrition in the elderly, screening and treatment. Soins. Gerontologie 2018;23(133):12-7. (PMID: 30224038)
- Rubenstein LZ, Harker JO, Salva A, Guigoz Y, Vellas B. Screening for Undernutrition in Geriatric Practice: Developing the Short-Form Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA-SF). J Geront 2001;56A: M366-377.
- 12. Sarikaya D, Halil M, Kuyumcu ME et al. Mini nutritional assessment test long and short form are valid screening tools in Turkish older adults. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2015;61(1):56-60. (DOI: 10.1016/j.archger.2015.04.006)
- Kondrup J, Rasmussen HH, Hamberg O, Stanga Z, and An Ad Hoc ESPEN Working Group. Nutritional risk screening (NRS 2002): a new method based on an analysis of controlled clinical trials. Clinical Nutrition 2003;22(3):321–336.
- Bolayir B, Arik G, Yesil Y, Kuyumcu ME, Varan H, Kara O, et al. Validation of Nutritional Risk Screening-2002 in a Hospitalized Adult Population. Nutrition in Clinical Practice. 2019;34:2:297-303.
- Bouillanne O, Morineau G, Dupant C, et al. Geriatric nutritional risk index: a new index for evaluating at-risk elderly medical patients, American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2005; 82:4: 777-783.
- Mays LC, Drummonds JW, Powers S, Buys DR, Watts PI. Identifying geriatric patients at risk for malnutrition: a quality improvement project. J Nutr Gerontol Geriatr. 2019 Apr-Jun;38(2):115-129. doi: 10.1080/21551197.2019.1604464. (PMID: 31017072)
- 17. Desborough J. The stress response to trauma

and surgery. Br J Anaesth. 2000;85(1):109–17. (doi: 10.1093/bja/85.1.109)

- Noe MTN, Saw YM, Saw TN et al. Assessment of nutritional status and risk factors for malnutrition among the elderly in Loikaw, Myanmar. Nutrition 2020;79:110933. (PMID: 32847774)
- Su Y, Yuki M, Hirayama K, Sato M, Han T. Denture wearing and malnutrition risk among community-dwelling older adults. Nutrients 2020;12(1):151. (PMID: 31948104)
- Algra Y, Haverkort E, Kok W, Etten-Jamaludin FV, Schoot LV, Hollaar V, Naumann E, Schueren MV, Jerković-Ćosić K. The Association between malnutrition and oral health in older people: A Systematic review. Nutrients. 2021 Oct 13;13(10):3584. (doi: 10.3390/ nu13103584)
- Ekici E, Çolak MY, Kozan EH. Determination of nutritional state and daily life activities of elderly living in nursing home. Online Turkish Journal of Health Sciences 2019; 4(4):506-518. (in Turkish). (DOI: 10.26453/ otjhs.497361).
- Pourhassan M, Babel N, Sieske L, Westhoff TH, Wirth R. Inflammatory cytokines and appetite in older hospitalized patients. Appetite 2021; 105470. (PMID: 34139296)
- Sieske L, Janssen G, Babel N, Westhoff TH, Wirth R, Pourhassan M. Inflammation, appetite and food intake in older hospitalized patients. Nutrients 2019; 11(9): 1986. (PMID: 31443557)
- Mandrekar JN, Receiver operating characteristic curve in diagnostic test assessment. Journal of Thoracic Oncology 2010;5(9):1315-1316. (<u>https://doi. org/10.1097/JTO.0b013e3181ec173d</u>)
- Ye XJ, Ji YB, Ma BW et al. Comparison of three common nutritional screening tools with the new European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism (ESPEN) criteria for malnutrition among patients with geriatric gastrointestinal cancer: a prospective study in China. BMJ open 2018; 8(4): e019750. (PMID: 29654013)



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.323 2022; 25(4): 640-649

Aslı YÖRÜK¹
 Banu CANGÖZ-TAVAT¹

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Aslı YÖRÜK

Phone : +905542323535 e-mail : asliyoruk@hacettepe.edu.tr

Received : Jul 15, 2022 Accepted : Nov 26, 2022

¹ Hacettepe University, Department of Psychology, Ankara, Turkey

RESEARCH

AGING EFFECT IN PROSPECTIVE MEMORY MONITORING: AN EYE-TRACKING STUDY

Abstract

Introduction: Prospective memory is a robust predictor of functional capacity among older adults. Studies examining prospective memory and aging have suggested that prospective memory deficits are associated with aging. Although the impairment of prospective memory processes is mostly attributed to the impairment of the monitoring process, contradictory findings have been reported in the literature. This study aimed to determine the main factors underlying the negative effects of aging on prospective memory. To this end, we compared the monitoring performances of older and younger adults in time- and event-based prospective memory tasks using the eye-tracking method.

Materials and Method: A total of 88 healthy and voluntary participants participated in the experiment. The time- and event-based prospective memory tasks were presented on a computer-screen. Participants were instructed to count the living/non-living objects, and when they saw the prospective memory target on the right corner of the screen, they were asked to press the spacebar on the keyboard.

Results: A 2×2 analysis of variance was conducted. We found an agerelated decline in event-and time-based prospective memory. In addition, the aging effect was greater in the time-based prospective Memory task, which requires more executive function than the event-based prospective memory task. The eye-tracking findings suggest that there is no monitoring deficit among older adults in either prospective memory task.

Conclusion: We conclude that aging deficits in prospective memory tasks may not be due to monitoring deficits. Instead, executive functions other than monitoring are discussed as possible mechanisms underlying older adults' reduced prospective memory performance.

Keywords: Memory; Aged; Young Adult; Executive Function; Eye-Tracking Technology.



INTRODUCTION

Prospective memory (PM) is to remember to perform a planned action at the necessary time or place (1,2). Remembering a dentist appointment at 14.00 on Saturday is an example of a PM task. Existing literature suggests that there are two types of PM tasks: time-based and event-based PM (1). Time-based PM involves performing a pre-planned action at the appropriate time by retrieving that actual action, whereas event-based PM refers to performing a pre-planned action after detecting an environmental cue and retrieving that action. Recently, with changing age demographics worldwide, more attention has focused on the effect of aging on PM (3). One reason for this is that PM is a vital cognitive function for older adults in terms of health needs (e.g., remembering medication). Moreover, PM deficit is an early marker of Alzheimer's disease (4).

Among older adults, PM is a robust predictor of functional capacity (5). Most laboratory studies examining PM and aging have revealed aging-related deficits (3). However, contradictory results exist in the studies focusing on PM task types (Event-based PM or Time-based PM) that have demonstrated that the elderly perform poorer in time-based PM tasks compared to event-based PM tasks. (6). Compared to event-based PM tasks, time-based PM tasks involve self-initiated processes and are based more on executive functions, especially strategic monitoring processes (7,8). These results suggest that the poorer performance of older adults compared with younger adults in time-based PM tasks is due to their limited strategic monitoring resources (7). According to the executive framework of PM, several core executive functions (including inhibition, working memory, set-shifting, and strategic monitoring) play a crucial role during certain PM stages (9). In particular, strategic monitoring, which is defined as shifting attention from the ongoing task to the PM task at the appropriate moment, is essential for PM (10). One reason for this is that individuals monitor the external environment for the appearance of PM cues. Given the essential role of executive functions attributed to PM, this framework predicts that age-related differences in executive functions mediate age-related differences in PM performance (9).

Although the age-related impairment of PM processes is mostly attributed to the impairment of the strategic monitoring process (10), more recent literature has emerged that offers contradictory findings on the effect of aging on strategic monitoring (11,12). These studies suggest that strategic monitoring is not affected by aging (11,12). These controversial results may be related to methodological limitations, however. A commonly used behavioral indicator for strategic monitoring is the so-called "ongoing task cost". Ongoing task cost is the decrease in the performance of an ongoing task while performing a PM task (13). However, it has been suggested that the ongoing task cost is associated with short-term relief experienced, rather than strategic monitoring after completing a PM task (12). Studies that compare older adults and younger adults in terms of ongoing task cost have shown that regarding the balance between speed and accuracy, older adults take a lot longer to deliver an accurate PM reaction (14,15). In this respect, the need to measure strategic monitoring using a direct method rather than an indirect one, such as ongoing task cost, is a contentious issue (13).

Strategic monitoring can be measured directly, especially by providing a target outside the ongoing task area and taking eye-tracking records. Physiological data based on eye-tracking records provide detailed information to understand and explain the mechanisms underlying many complex cognitive processes such as attention (16), visual perception (17), and memory (11,13). For this reason, it is frequently used in the fields of "Psychology" and "Neuroscience". In the PM research area, although only a few studies have investigated strategic monitoring using the eye-tracking method (11,13), these studies have shown that eye-tracking methods are ideal instruments to measure strategic monitoring directly. One study compared the strategic monitoring performances of older and younger participants in event-based PM tasks using the eye-tracking method and demonstrated that there was no difference between older and younger participants in terms of strategic monitoring, unlike behavioral measurements (11). In this study, the researchers did not utilize the time-based PM task. Although strategic monitoring has mostly been investigated in event-based PM tasks, it is well-known that there is a greater need for strategic monitoring in timebased PM tasks (18). In this context, the effect of aging on strategic monitoring in time-based PM tasks should be investigated using an eye-tracking method.

The main aim of this study was to compare the strategic monitoring performance of older and younger adults in time-based PM and eventbased PM tasks using the eye-tracking method. To our knowledge, this study is the first study to compare event and time-based PM monitoring in older adults. If older adults have poorer strategic monitoring abilities, then their strategic monitoring performance will be lower in both PM tasks than that of vounger individuals. In this case, we can conclude that older adults' reduced PM performance may stem from impaired monitoring. Furthermore, considering that time-based PM requires higher strategic monitoring processes, participants would perform more strategic monitoring on a time-based PM task than on an event-based PM task. On the other hand, if there is no difference between younger and older adults regarding their strategic monitoring abilities, we can conclude that the poor PM performance of older adults might not be directly linked to the strategic monitoring process. In either case, this study will contribute to exploring how strategic monitoring affects the decline in PM among older adults. This study examines the effect of aging on strategic monitoring in event-based PM and time-based PM tasks using eye-tracking and provides new insights into aging and PM research.

METHOD

Participants

A total of 88 healthy individuals, comprising 46 younger adults (32 females; M_{age} = 20.74; SD=1.23) and 42 older adults (14 females; M_{age} = 68.82; SD= 4.17) voluntarily participated in the study. The younger adult participants were studying at Hacettepe University, while the older adult participants were living in Ankara, Turkey. All participants had normal or corrected-to-normal vision, no history of neuropsychological or psychiatric disorders, and had not been taking medications that affected the nervous system in the past six months. Table 1 presents the demographic characteristics.

To select "healthy" participants, the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (19) and the Geriatric Depression Scale (20) was used for older adult participants, whereas the Beck Depression Inventory (21) was used for younger adult participants. Nine individuals' data of those who took the above score from the cut-off score in Depression Inventories were excluded from the behavioral analyses. Thus, we conducted behavioral analyses with 79 participants. Also, the eye-tracking data of 13 participants, whose eye-tracking data quality was lower than 70% were excluded from the eye-tracking analyses. Thus, we conducted eye-tracking analyses with 66 participants. Table 1 lists the test results. Informed consent was obtained from all the participants.

MATERIALS

Prospective Memory Tasks

In this study, we used the eye-tracking method to obtain a more objective and direct measurement of strategic monitoring in PM tasks. In light of this, we used a slightly modified version of the PM task developed by Shelton and Cristopher (13).

Event-based PM and time-based PM tasks included an ongoing task and a PM task that was presented simultaneously. In both PM tasks, the



	Event-Ba	ased PM	Time-Based PM		
	Younger Adults	Older Adults	Younger Adults	Older Adults	
Age (M [*] ± SD [*])	20.90 ± 1.55	68.67 ± 3.62	20.56 ± 0.70	69.00 ± 4.81	
Sex (%)	Male (%28.6) / Female (%71.4)	Male (%23.8) Female (%76.2)	Male (%27.8) Female (%72.2)	Male (%31.6) Female (%68.4)	
Education (M \pm SD)	13.33± .26	14.66 ± .45	13.55± .28	13.79± .44	
Depression Scales ^{**} Score (M \pm SD)	5.26±3.92	3.39±.42	4.96±3.91	3.45±.45	
Working Memory Score***	10.14± 1.24	6.71±1.35	10.01±1.05	6.26±1.45	
MoCA [*] Score (M ± SD)		24.5±0.42		25.4±0.3	

Table 1. Demographic characteristics and screening test scores of participants

Note:*M: Mean, SD: Standard deviation, MoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment. ** Depression scales represent the Beck Depression Inventory for young adults and Geriatric Depression Scale for older adults. *** Working Memory Scores represent the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Revised (WAIS-R) Backward Digit Span subtest.

PM target and ongoing task area were positioned at different locations on the screen. The ongoing task region was located at the center of the screen, whereas the PM target region was located in the top right-hand corner (Figure 1 A and B).

In the ongoing task trials for both event-based PM and time-based PM, there were a total of 12 black and white images at the center of the screen, including living objects and non-living objects in every trial. In the event-based PM condition, the ongoing task of the participants was to count the living objects presented as black and white image collages, whereas in the time-based PM condition, they were asked to count non-living objects.

In PM tasks, hand-drawn black and white images (fruit and vegetables in event-based PM and a digital clock starting at 8 a.m. and running until 9.59 a.m. in time-based PM) were shown in the PM target

Figure 1. Example of sub-trail in event-based PM (A) and time-based PM (B) tasks.



area in the top right corner of the screen. In the PM task, participants were asked to press the space bar on the keyboard whenever they saw the PM target stimuli (when they see an "apple" for instance, or every 25 minutes according to the "digital clock") while performing the ongoing task. The PM target in event-based PM was an "apple" whereas in time-based PM the PM targets were "08.25," "08.50," "09.15," and "09.40". The screen time for each PM trial was 2 s. The PM targets were displayed in only four trials in random order.

The images used in each trial were different. To select the images to be used in the ongoing task, we used the Google search engine to search for non-commercial and royalty-free images that could be reused. The collages comprised images that had high external validity and that were neutral living and non-living objects.

Both PM tasks consisted of 40 ongoing task trials. The screen time for each ongoing task (living/ non-living object task) trial was 6 s, and the screen time for each PM task trial was 2 s (see Appendix 1). The purpose of changing images in the PM target region was to encourage overt strategic monitoring for targets, which is often required in more dynamic real-world visual scenes (13). Each task (event-based PM and time-based PM tasks) lasted approximately 5 min.

Eye Movement Recording

Tobii T120 eye tracker was used to collect the eye movement data of participants in the study. Tobii T120 is equipped with a buried eye-tracking server and a 17" TFT monitor with a resolution of 1280×1024 .

Eye movements were recorded throughout the experiment, and the PM task area was defined in Tobii Studio for each task trial as the area of interest (AOI).

Procedure

Participants who voluntarily responded to the (study) announcement were given individual appointments. Before the experiment commenced,

participants were given detailed information about the study. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants for voluntary participation. Younger adults completed the Demographic Information Form and Beck Depression Inventory, and the Geriatric Depression Scale and Montreal Cognitive Assessment were administered to older adult participants. After the screening tests, the younger and older participants were randomly assigned to the event-based PM and time-based PM task groups. The task type (event-based PM and timebased PM task) variables of this study were designed as "between-group," which differed between these two groups. Participants were requested to count the living objects on the screen in event-based PM or the non-living objects in time-based PM (an ongoing task) and to say the number out loud. Ongoing task responses were recorded by the researcher on a scoring form. While performing the ongoing task, participants were asked to press the space bar on the keyboard whenever they saw the PM target stimuli (when they see an "apple", for instance, or every 25 minutes according to the "digital clock"). After the instructions were issued, participants were positioned 55-65 cm away from the screen of the eye-tracking device, and a practice session consisting of five ongoing task trials was conducted. After the practice trials, a 2 min distractor phase, which included listing the male or female names starting with the letter A, was applied. The main experimental session was conducted after the distractor phase. After completion of the experimental phase, the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Revised (WAIS-R) Digit Span subtest (22) was administered to all participants to measure their working memory performance. The experiment lasted approximately 20 min.

This study was approved by the Hacettepe University Ethics Committee (letter no. 12908312-300).

Statistical Analysis

Behavioral analyses were conducted with 79 participants (39 younger and 40 older adults) and eye-tracking analyses with 66 participants (34



younger and 32 older adults). All analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (IBM®, SPSS 22). The data were analyzed using a 2 (age: younger and older adult) \times 2 (task type: event-based PM and time-based PM) analysis of variance (ANOVA). Both the independent variables "age" and "task type" were manipulated between groups.

RESULTS

Strategic Monitoring

Strategic monitoring was measured with both ongoing task accuracy rate (behavioral data) and the number of PM target checks, which were "apple" check-in event-based PM tasks and "clock" checkin time-based PM tasks (eye-tracking data).

Ongoing Task Accuracy Rate

Ongoing task accuracy, which is the behavioral measurement of strategic monitoring, was measured by the number of correct living (event-based PM) or non-living (time-based PM) stimuli specified by the participants in each trial. The ongoing task accuracy rate was calculated by dividing the total number of accurate responses by the number of trials. In line with previous studies (14), ongoing task trials involving the PM target were removed from the ongoing task analysis to avoid any limitation resulting from only the performance of the PM task.

According to the results of the 2 (age: older adult vs. younger adult) \times 2 (task type: event-based PM vs. time-based PM) ANOVA, the main effect of age group on the ongoing task accuracy rate was significant (F_(1,75)=78.721, p <.000, $\eta_p{}^2$ = .512). Younger adults (M = .81, SE = .01) performed better in the ongoing task than older adults (M = .69, SE=.01). The main effect of task type (F_(1,75)= .209, p= .649, $\eta_p{}^2$ = .003) and the interaction effect of age group and task type (F_(1,75)=.156, p = .694, $\eta_p{}^2$ = .002) were not significant.

Number of PM Target Checks

The number of PM target checks was the total number of participants fixated on the PM target area (top right-hand corner of the screen) to detect PM targets ("apple" and "clocks") across all task trials.

According to the results of the 2 (age: older and younger adults) × 2 (task type: event-based PM and time-based PM) ANOVA, the main effect of age group ($F_{(1,62)}$ =2.3, p =.134, η_p^2 = .036), task type (F (1,62)=2.2, p= .143, η_p^2 = 003.) and the interaction effect of age group and task type (F (1,62)=.002, p = .96, η_p^2 = .000) were not significant (see Figure 2).

Prospective Memory Performance

PM Accuracy Rate

Regarding PM performance, this was operationalized as the rate at which participants hit the space bar after a PM target appeared. According to the results of the 2 (age: old vs. young) \times 2 (task type:

Figure 2. Heatmaps of event-based PM and time-based PM tasks.



Note: Figure A represents the younger participants' event-based PM task, Figure B represents the older participant's event-based PM task, Figure C represents the younger participant's timebased PM task, and Figure D represents the older participants' time-based PM task.

event-based PM vs. time-based PM) ANOVA, the main effects of age (F_{(1,75)}=72.04, p <.001, $\eta_{\textrm{\tiny D}}{}^2=$.491) and task type(F_{(1,75)}=4.27, p<.05, $\eta_{\rm p}{}^2=$.054) were significant. Younger adults (M = .88, SE = .03) were more successful in PM accuracy than older adults (M = .51, SE= .03). On the other hand, both age groups were more successful in the event-based PM task (M = .74, SE = .03) than in the time-based PM task (M = .65, SE = .03). In addition, the interaction effect of age and task type (F_(1.75)=3.73, p<.05, η_p^2 = .047) was significant; the simple effect test was examined and the results were as expected, indicating that older adult participants were more successful in the event-based PM task (M=.59, SE= .04) than in the time-based PM task (M=.42, SE= .04) (F_(1 75) = 8.11, p<.01, $\eta_{\rm p}{}^2$ = .61). However, in terms of PM accuracy in younger adult participants, there was no difference between event-based PM (M=.88, SE= .04) and time-based PM (M=.86, SE= .05) tasks ($F_{(1 \ 75)}$ = .000, p=.924, $\eta_p^2 = .000$) (see Figure 3). Descriptive analysis of results is summarized in Table 2.

Further Correlation Analysis

The PM accuracy rate was found to be positively correlated to working memory performance in both young and older adults (respectively, r = .42, p < .05; r = .61, p < .001) (Table 1).



Note: Error bars represent standard errors per conditions

DISCUSSION

This study examined the effect of aging on the monitoring process in event-based and time-based PM tasks. We hypothesized that the main reason for the decline in PM tasks that require more attentional control in older adults is impaired monitoring. In this context, we compared older and younger adult participants in different PM tasks (time-based PM event-based PM tasks). Apart from the behavioral measures of monitoring, we utilized the eye-tracking task used by Shelton and Cristopher (13) to measure monitoring directly.

	Young Aduts				Older Adults			
Task Type	EB-PM*		TB-PM*		EB-PM		TB-PM	
	M*	SD*	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
OTAR*	.80	.06	.81	.04	.68	.06	.69	.06
PMAR*	.88	.15	.86	.18	.59	.27	.42	.15
NPMC*	196.16	34.72	186.62	24.35	186.41	18.51	176.31	26.82

Table 2. Descriptive statistics for ongoing task accuracy, PM check number, and prospective memory performance

Note: *EB-PM: Event-based PM, TB-PM: Time-based PM, M: Mean, SD: Standard Deviation, OTAR: Ongoing task accuracy rate, PMAR: Prospective memory accuracy rate, NPMC: Number of PM checks.



The findings of the PM performance showed that there was an age-related decline in both PM tasks. Furthermore, we found greater age differences in time-based PM than in event-based PM, as expected (23,24). This finding supports studies suggesting that time-based PM is more affected by aging because of its greater reliance on self-initiated processes and executive functions (25,26). The observed increased age-related decline in timebased PM can be explained by the multi-process framework, which states that older adults are less able to perform resource-demanding tasks that involve preparatory attentional processes required to detect prospective cues.

The main purpose of this study was to determine whether there is an age-related decline in strategic monitoring in different PM tasks (event-based PM and time-based PM) to find out how monitoring patterns might be related to differences in PM performance. Therefore, we operationalized strategic monitoring as the number of PM target checks (eye-tracking measurement) and ongoing task accuracy rate. We found no age-related decline in the number of PM checks; however, an age-related decline in the ongoing task accuracy rate was observed. How do we explain the discrepancy between the behavioral and eye-tracking measures of strategic monitoring? As mentioned in the introduction section, the behavioral indicator of monitoring is the decrease in ongoing task accuracy while performing a PM task (ongoing task cost). That cost may represent short-term relief experienced, rather than strategic monitoring after completing a PM task. Therefore, one can argue that the eye-tracking measurement of strategic monitoring measures the monitoring process directly and is more accurate than behavioral measurement. In this context, the findings of the current study are significant in revealing the importance of direct measurements in the measurement of strategic monitoring.

The results of the number of PM target checks indicate that the decline in PM performance of old-

er adults cannot solely be attributed to their monitoring processes. Similarly, Ballhausen, Lauffs, Herzog, and Kliegel (11) examined the event-based PM task and found no age-related decline in strategic monitoring. These findings suggested that older participants may not realize the importance of the PM cues when they appear in the PM target area, even when participants follow PM cues. Furthermore, these findings can be explained by the executive framework, which suggests that monitoring, as well as several core EFs (including, working memory, inhibition, and set-shifting), play crucial roles during certain PM stages. For example, working memory serves to maintain or refresh the prospective intention that needs to be recalled each time a prospective cue appears. Inhibition is needed to end the ongoing task (the prepotent response) and activate the novel PM response. Set shifting is also required in PM because participants need to switch continuously between ongoing and PM tasks as a function of the presence of the PM cue (9,26). Supporting this conclusion, we found a moderate positive correlation between working memory measurement (WAIS-R Digit Span test performance) and PM accuracy rate both in young and older adults. To clarify this issue, future studies should examine whether other executive functions, such as inhibition, set-switching, and working memory contribute to PM performance in older adult participants.

It is essential to note that, the present study compared directly event-based and time-based PM monitoring behavior using eye-tracking methods, for the first time, in older adults. From this point, we consider the results of this study to be very valuable and believe future studies should focus on designing new eye-tracking paradigms to shed light on the above topics and inform theoretical discussions in the PM literature.

The limitation of the present study includes the clock in the time-based PM task, which did not work in real-time. Previous studies have shown a positive relationship between time perception and time-based PM performance (27). Even though the participants were informed that the clock was not working in real-time, this may have created an inconsistency in their time perception, which in turn may have led to a decrease in strategic monitoring performance in time-based PM performance. Clock manipulation in the time-based PM is another limitation of this study that should be addressed in future research.

In conclusion, the current study suggests that older adults showed lower PM performance in time-based PM tasks than in event-based PM tasks. The results suggest that the strategic monitoring process supports but is not sufficient for successful PM performance. It is important to determine the mechanism underlying the age-related decline in PM to find appropriate solutions that will increase PM performance among older adults. Based on this, it is suggested that future studies should examine the contribution of inhibition, set-shifting, and working memory to PM to identify the underlying mechanism of age-related decline in PM.

Declaration of Conflicting Interests

We declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Appendix 1. Pilot Study

We have conducted a pilot study separately in age groups (10 young, $M_{age} = 21.35$, SD= .7; 10 old, $M_{age} = 63.12$, SD=1.1) to determine screen time of ongoing and PM tasks. In the pilot study, participants conducted 5 trials of the ongoing task. For each trial, the reaction time was measured. As a result of the pilot study, the mean of the counting task (ongoing task) time of the young participants in each trial was 5.87 s (SD=.63), and the mean of the counting task time of the older participants was 6.79 s (SD=.57). As a result of the independent t-test analysis, it was shown that there was no statistically significant difference between the young and older adults in terms of counting task time (t (18) =.03, p >.05). The descriptive analysis results of the pilot study are shown in Table A1. Based on the results of this analysis, the screen time of ongoing tasks was determined as 6 s for both age groups.

Based on the 1/3 ratio (PM task trial/Ongoing task trial= 1/3) in Shelton and Cristopher's study (13), the screen time of the PM trials for young participants was 2.10 s (5.87/3); it was calculated as 2.37 s (6.79/3) for the older participants. Therefore, for both young and older participants, the screen time of the PM trial was 2 s in each trial, while the screen time for the ongoing task was 6 s.

N=20	The shortest reaction time	The longest reaction time	Mean (M)	Standart Deviation (SD)	t-test value
Younger Adults	4.83	8.76	5.87	.63	.03
Older Adults	5.05	9.49	6.79	.57	

Table A1. Descriptive Statistics of Pilot Study

REFERENCES

- Einstein GO, McDaniel MA. Normal aging and prospective memory. J Exp Psychol Learn Mem Cogn 1990; 16(4):717-26. (PMID: 2142956).
- 2. Maylor EA. Age and prospective memory. Q J Exp Psychol A 1990; 42 (3): 471-93. (PMID: 2236631).
- Henry JD, MacLeod MS, Phillips LH, Crawford JR. A meta-analytic review of prospective memory and aging. Psychol Aging 2004 ;19(1):27-39. (PMID: 15065929).
- Maylor EA, Smith G, Della Sala S, Logie RH. Prospective and retrospective memory in normal aging and dementia: an experimental study. Mem Cognit 2002;30(6):871-84. (PMID: 12450091).
- Thompson CL, Henry JD, Rendell PG, Withall A, Brodaty H. How valid are subjective ratings of prospective memory in mild cognitive impairment and early dementia? Gerontology 2015;61(3):251-7. (PMID: 25792282).
- 6. Waldum ER, McDaniel MA. Why are you late? Investigating the role of time management in time-



based prospective memory. J Exp Psychol Gen 2016;145(8):1049-61. (PMID: 27336325).

- Kvavilashvili L, Fisher L. Is time-based prospective remembering mediated by self-initiated rehearsals? Role of incidental cues, ongoing activity, age, and motivation. J Exp Psychol Gen 2007;136(1):112-32. (PMID: 17324087).
- Smith RE, Bayen UJ. The source of adult age differences in event-based prospective memory: a multinomial modeling approach. J Exp Psychol Learn Mem Cogn 2006;32(3):623-35. (PMID: 16719671).
- Mahy CEV, Moses LJ, Kliegel M. The development of prospective memory in children: an executive framework. Dev Rev 2014; 34(4): 305–26. (DOI:10.1016/j. dr.2014.08.001).
- Ball BH, Li YP, Bugg JM. Aging and strategic prospective memory monitoring. Mem Cognit 2020 ;48(3):370-89.(PMID: 31628616).
- Ballhausen N, Lauffs MM, Herzog MH, Kliegel M. Investigating prospective memory via eye tracking: No evidence for a monitoring deficit in older adults. Int J Psychophysiol. 2019;146:107-16 (PMID: 31655183).
- Meier B, Rey-Mermet A. Beyond monitoring: after-effects of responding to prospective memory targets. Conscious Cogn. 2012;21(4):1644-53. (PMID: 23064406).
- Shelton JT, Christopher EA. A fresh pair of eyes on prospective memory monitoring. Mem Cognit. 2016;44(6):837-45. (PMID: 26968711).
- Horn SS, Bayen UJ, Smith RE. Adult age differences in interference from a prospective-memory task: a diffusion model analysis. Psychon Bull Rev. 2013;20(6):1266-73. (PMID: 23709131).
- Park DC, Hertzog C, Kidder DP, Morrell RW, Mayhorn CB. Effect of age on event-based and time-based prospective memory. Psychol Aging 1997;12(2):314-27. (PMID: 9189992).
- Gaspelin N, Leonard CJ, Luck SJ. Suppression of overt attentional capture by salient-but-irrelevant color singletons. Atten Percept Psychophys. 2017;79(1):45-62. (PMID: 27804032)
- Liversedge SP, Findlay JM. Saccadic eye movements and cognition. Trends Cogn Sci. 2000;4(1):6-14. (PMID: 10637617).

- Niedźwieńska A, Barzykowski K. The age prospective memory paradox within the same sample in timebased and event-based tasks. Neuropsychol Dev Cogn B Aging Neuropsychol Cogn 2012;19(1-2):58-83. (PMID: 22112250).
- Selekler K, Cangöz B, Uluç S. Power of discrimination of Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MOCA) Scale in Turkish Patients with Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease. Turkish Journal of Geriatrics 2010; 13(Suppl 3):166-71. (in Turkish)
- 20. Ertan T, Eker E. Reliability, validity, and factor structure of the geriatric depression scale in Turkish elderly: are there different factor structures for different cultures? Int Psychogeriatr 2000;12(Suppl 2):163–72. (in Turkish)
- 21. Hisli N. The reliability and validity study of the Beck Depression Inventory in a Turkish sample. Turk J Psychol 1988;6(Suppl 22):118-22. (in Turkish).
- Sezgin N, Baştuğ G, Yargıcı Karaağaç S, Yılmaz B. Turkish Standardization of Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale- Revised (WAIS-R): Pilot Study. Ankara University Journal of the Faculty of Languages, History and Geography 2014 ;54 (Suppl 1):451-80 (in Turkish)
- McDaniel MA, Glisky EL, Rubin SR, Guynn MJ, Routhieaux BC. Prospective memory: a neuropsychological study. Neuropsychology 1999 ;13(1):103-10. (PMID: 10067781).
- S Haines, J Shelton, J Henry, et al. Prospective memory and cognitive aging, In:B. Knight (Eds). Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Psychology. Oxford University Press, US 2019, pp 1-27.
- Zuber S, Kliegel M. Prospective memory development across the lifespan: an integrative framework. Eur Psychol 2020;25(3):162–73. (DOI: 10.1027/1016-9040/a000380).
- Zuber S, Kliegel M, Ihle A. An individual difference perspective on focal versus nonfocal prospective memory. Mem Cognit 2016; 44(8):1192-1203 (PMID: 27351880).
- Mioni G, Stablum F. Monitoring behavior in a timebased prospective memory task: the involvement of executive functions and time perception. Memory. 2014; 22(5):536-52. (PMID: 23734633).



Turkish Journal of Geriatrics DOI: 10.31086/tjgeri.2022.324 2022; 25(4): 650-656

Burak METE¹
 Lezzan KESKİN²

CORRESPONDANCE

¹ Burak METE

Phone : +905447113164 e-mail : burakmete2008@gmail.com

Received : Oct 03, 2022 Accepted : Nov 30, 2022

¹ Cukurova University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, ADANA, Turkey

² Turgut Özal University Malatya Training and Research Hospital, Endocrinology Department, MALATYA, Turkey

RESEARCH

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN GLYCAEMIC INDEX, DAILY ENERGY INTAKE, METABOLIC PARAMETERS, AND BODY COMPOSITION IN THE ELDERLY: A CROSS-SECTIONAL STUDY

Abstract

Introduction: This study aimed to evaluate the relationship between dietary glycaemic index, daily energy intake, metabolic parameters and body composition in elderly individuals.

Materials and Methods: This is a cross-sectional study that included 198 elderly individuals who applied to the endocrinology outpatient clinic. Participants were asked to record the foods they consumed on three-day diet forms, which would be collected the following week at the time when also the metabolic parameters would be measured and body composition analyses performed at the polyclinic. Nutrient content was recorded with the BeBIS software. The body composition was analysed by using the bioelectrical impedance method.

Results: The mean age of 198 people included in the study was 67.78±2.76 (65–78). HbA_{1c}, insulin and HOMA-IR, visceral adiposity rates, body fat mass and metabolic age were found to be higher in participants with a dietary glycaemic index \geq 70, and the effect of the glycaemic index on these parameters was statistically small. The daily energy intake showed a positive correlation with fasting blood glucose, triglyceride and triglyceride-glucose (TyG) index. Both the daily energy intake and glycaemic index showed a weakly positive correlation with visceral adiposity, metabolic age, body fat mass and body mass index. A dietary glycaemic index \geq 70 was observed to increase the risk of obesity OR=3.7 times (95% CI=1.72 – 7.94), and the risk of HbA₁C higher than 8 to increase OR=3.13 times (95% CI=1.0 – 9.74).

Conclusion: An increase in the dietary glycaemic index and the daily energy intake in the elderly results in poor glycaemic control.

Keywords: Aged; Glycaemic Index; Obesity.

INTRODUCTION

Nutrition is a complex issue involving many factors and variables that affect health. Adverse health effects of low-quality, carbohydrate-containing foods and beverages have resulted in an increase in the scientific popularity of so-called low-carb diets (1). The glycemic index (GI) is a rating system for foods that contain carbohydrates. It indicates how quickly each food alters blood sugar level when eaten on its own and ranks carbohydrate-containing foods by the amount of increase in blood glucose levels after consumption, compared to reference foods with a GI \leq 55 (pure glucose or white bread). The values between 56 and 69 are classified as "moderate GI" and those \geq 70 as "high GI" on the glucose scale (1). Clinical practice guidelines recommend dietary and lifestyle changes as the basis of treatment strategies to prevent and manage diseases. Approaches that target postprandial glycaemic changes through changes in dietary carbohydrate quality and quantity may have some advantages (2). In addition to the glycemic index of foods, the amount of energy consumed daily can also have an impact on health and disease. An adequate caloric intake is an important determinant of health status, especially when degenerative conditions and difficult-to-treat diseases become dominant with age (3). In general, large variations in daily energy intake may be associated with poor diet quality (4). Since the risk of disease increases with age, adequate caloric intake and low glycaemic index diets are important to maintain a balanced health status, especially during older ages. Maintaining adequate nutritional balance is the best preventative measure to eliminate nutritional risk. This study aimed to examine the relationship between dietary content, glycaemic index, and daily energy intake with metabolic parameters and body composition in a group of elderly individuals.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This cross-sectional study included individuals aged \geq 65 years who applied to the endocrinology outpatient clinic at Turgut Özal University Training and Research Hospital, Malatya, Türkiye in 2022. The permission to conduct the study was obtained from the ethics committee of Turgut Özal University's Non-interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee. The sample size calculation (with 99%) of power, 1% of confidence interval, and r = 0.381) revealed a minimum sample size of 152 (5), and 198 people were included in the study. From those who wanted to participate, individuals who met the inclusion criteria were included in the study, after obtaining written consent. The study exclusion criteria were individuals younger than 65 years of age, having any organic eating disorder, recent surgery, psychiatric illness, dementia, chronic kidney disease, heart failure, and those with a specific diet.

Measurements

Dietary content analysis

After a sociodemographic questionnaire was administered to people who applied to the outpatient clinic, they were asked to record a nutrition information form (NIF) for three days (two weekdays and one day over the weekend). NIFs were provided using the 3-day, 24-hour recall method to assess nutrient intake at home. The method of keeping the records and the days on which they should be filled out were explained in detail. The completed food registration forms were directly received. The 3-day nutritional values were calculated using the BeBIS (Nutritional Information System), which is a software designed to analyse nutrient content. BeBIS calculates the average carbohydrate, fat, and protein amounts (in %), glycaemic index, and the daily energy amount (in kcal) of the diet content. In the glycaemic index classification, $GI \leq 55$ was accepted as "low GI", GI = 56 - 69 as "moderate



GI", and GI \geq 70 as "high GI" (6). Measurement of metabolic parameters and the analysis of body composition were performed at the time of submission of NIFs at the clinic.

Metabolic parameters

Blood samples (for detecting the metabolic parameters) were collected from the participants when they came to submit the filled NIFs. Fasting blood glucose (FBG), HbA_{1c}, total cholesterol, tri-glyceride, low-density lipoprotein (LDL), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), insulin, and homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) were measured. The triglyceride and glucose index (TyG index) was calculated as follows:

Ln (Fasting triglyceride(mg/dl) x Fasting glucose(mg/dl)/2)

Bioelectrical impedance analysis

Body composition analyses of the participants were performed using the Body Composition Analyser BC-420MA device along with the metabolic measurements at the time of submission of the filled NIFs. The device works by measuring bioimpedance after the administration of an electric current of 50 kHz into the body through the feet (via electrodes). The analysis included visceral fat rating, basal metabolic rate, metabolic age, bone mass, skeletal muscle mass, free fat mass, body fat mass, body fat, and body mass index (BMI) measurements.

Statistical analysis

The SPSS 22 software was used for data analysis. Student's t-test, Mann-Whitney U test, Spearman and Pearson correlation analyses, chi-square test, and binary logistic regression analysis were used. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

The mean age of 198 elderly participants included in the study was 67.78 \pm 2.76 years (range, 65–78).

Among patients with GI \geq 70, the proportion of obese patients and those with HbA_{1c}>8 was significantly higher. The sociodemographic characteristics of patients according to the GI group are shown in Table 1.

 $HbA_{1c'}$ insulin, HOMA-IR, visceral adiposity rates, body fat mass, and metabolic age were significantly higher in patients with a dietary mean GI \geq 70, while the effect size of the GI on these parameters was small (Table 2).

The average daily energy intake showed a weak positive correlation with diet, fasting blood glucose, triglyceride, and TyG index. The average daily energy intake showed a weak positive correlation between diet, glycaemic index, visceral adiposity, metabolic age, body fat mass, and BMI (Table 3).

Logistic regression models created to predict the risk of obesity (BMI \ge 30) and high HbA1C levels (> 8) were found to be significant. Every 0.003 unit (kcal) increase in daily energy intake increased the risk of obesity 1.003 times (3 per thousand), and every 0.001 unit rise, increased the risk of high HbA1C 1.001 times (1 per thousand). A mean dietary glycaemic index > 70 increased the risk of obesity 3.7 times and the risk of HbA1C (>8) 3.13 times (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

An appropriate dietary intake is essential for the elderly population. Although proper dietary intake can increase longevity, ageing itself can increase the risk of malnutrition. Adequate and balanced nutritional intake throughout life helps maintain health by protecting tissues or providing defence against infections. Maintaining proper nutrition (especially high in protein and calorie balance) may improve the degeneration processes accompanying ageing and the development and control of diseases (7).

In this study, the effects of dietary content, glycaemic index, and daily energy intake on metabolic and anthropometric parameters in the elderly were

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics

	Glysemic Index (I		
Characteristics	<70 (n=55)	≥70 (n=141)	р
Age	68.00±2.94	67.69±2.70	0.480
Sex (Male/Female)	23 (41.8)/32(58.2)	60(42.6)/81(57.4)	0.925
Chronic disease (Yes/No)	55(100.0) / 0(0.0)	139(98.6) / 2(1.4)	1.000
Hypertension (Yes/No)	36(65.5)/19(34.5)	91(64.5)/50(35.5)	1.000
Diabetes mellitus (Yes/No)	35(63.6)/20(36.4)	103(73.0)/38(27.0)	0.261
Cardiovascular disease (Yes/No)	9(16.4)/46(83.6)	15(10.6)/126(89.4)	0.392
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or asthma (Yes/No)	3(5.5)/52(94.5)	17(12.1)/124(87.9)	0.267
Cancer (Yes/No)	2(3.6)/53(96.4)	2(1.4)/139(98.6)	0.314
Rheumatological disease (Yes/No)	3(5.5)/52(94.5)	10(7.1)/131(92.9)	1.000
Obesity (Yes/No)	18(32.7)/37(67.3)	80(56.7)/61(43.3)	0.003
HbA _{1c} (<8/≥8)	51(92.7)/4(7.3)	113(80.1)/28(19.9)	0.027

Table 2. Comparison of metabolic and anthropometric parameters

	Glycemic index					
	<70		≥70			
Metabolic parameters	Mean±SD	Median	Mean±SD	Median	р	Effect Size
FBG (mg/dl)	132.80±45.86	120	135.94±52.11	118	0.445	0.012
HbA _{1c}	6.73±1.00	6.60	7.09±1.35	6.70	0.039	0.130
Total cholesterol	188.91±35.14	191.00	187.38±42.787	185.00	0.642	0.033
Triglyceride	156.60±62.20	142.00	167.50±107.34	145.00	0.469	0.007
LDL	118.78±48.453	112.00	113.41±33.45	111.00	0.627	0.029
HDL	52.21±10.93	50.00	53.84±12.85	53.00	0.219	0.071
Insulin	10.33±6.14	10.00	13.05±18.06	10.00	0.034	0.168
HOMA-IR	3.15±2.04	2.90	3.74±2.31	3.10	0.039	0.162
TyG index	9.12±0.581	9.14	9.15±0.641	9.12	0.450	0.010
Body composition analyse						
Viceral fat rating (%)	12.95±4.03	12.0	14.57±4.90	14.0	0.007	0.227
Basal metabolic rate	1606.69±287.73	1523.0	1651.46±282.45	1623.0	0.113	0.111
Metabolic age	61.44±11.13	60.00	66.86±11.57	69.00	0.001	0.281
Bone mass (kg)	3.00±0.52	3.00	3.30±2.57	3.10	0.145	0.097
Skeletal muscle mass (kg)	49.10±11.72	50.00	51.94±9.44	51.00	0.083	0.127
Free fat mass (kg)	53.10±9.58	52.80	58.51±44.64	53.90	0.099	0.118
Body fat mass (kg)	26.96±12.00	26.00	32.82±12.14	31.80	<0.001	0.294
Body fat (%)	32.80±10.56	33.00	36.31±9.56	36.00	0.016	0.198
BMI (kg/m²)	29.77±6.84	28.00	33.11±7.00	32.00	<0.001	0.316

Metabolic parameters	Energy (kcal)	Glycemic index	Body composition analysis	Energy (kcal)	Glycemic index
FBG	0.154*	-0.053	Viceral fat rating (kg)	0.140*	0.170*
HbA _{1c}	0.105	0.079	Basal metabolic rate	0.125	0.143*
Total cholesterol	0.106	-0.049	Metabolic age	0.229**	0.192**
HDL	-0.051	0.028	Bone mass (kg)	0.111	0.030
LDL	0.130	-0.083	Skeletal muscle mass (kg)	0.043	0.132
Triglyceride	0.164*	-0.022	Free fat mass	0.027	0.120
Insulin	0.032	0.094	Body fat mass (kg)	0.192**	0.213**
HOMA-IR	0.117	0.118	Body fat (%)	0.159*	0.138
TyG index	0.175*	-0.051	BMI (kg/m ²)	0.220**	0.235***

Table 3. Correlations between daily energy intake, glycaemic index, and metabolic and anthropometric measurements

*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Table 4. Logistic regression model

Obesity risk model	β	р	OR (CI 95%)
Daily Energy Intake (kcal)	0.003	<0.001	1.003 (1.002-1005)
Protein (%)	-0.042	0.306	0.958(0.883-1.040)
Fat (%)	0.003	0.885	1.003(0.957-1.052)
Carbohydrate (%)	0.005	0.756	1.005(0.973-1.038)
Glycemic Index (≥70-<70)	1.309	<0.001	3.702 (1.725-7.946)
HbA _{1c} elevation model			
Daily Energy Intake (kcal)	0.001	0.022	1.001 (1.00011-1.00015)
Protein (%)	-0.019	0.710	0.981(0.887-1.090)
Fat (%)	-0.012	0.651	0.987(0.987-0.936)
Carbohydrate (%)	-0.007	0.677	0.992(0.959-1.030)
Glycemic Index (≥70-<70)	1.143	0.048	1.010-9.740)

investigated. There was no significant relationship between fat, carbohydrate, and protein proportions in the diet, and obesity and glycaemic control. The daily energy intake and glycaemic index were correlated with obesity (body fat ratio, visceral fat ratio, and BMI) and poor glycaemic control (HbA_{1C}, HO-MA-IR, and insulin). A meta-analysis by Chiavaroli et al. revealed that low GI diet ingredients reduced HbA_{1C} more than high GI diets in 1617 participants with type 1 and 2 diabetes, who were predominantly middle-aged, overweighted or obese, with moderately controlled type 2 diabetes. In addition, a low GI diet was found to reduce fasting glucose, LDL-C, non-HDL-C, apoB,



triglycerides, body weight, and BMI (8). In a systematic review by Ojo et al., a low GI diet was shown to be more effective in controlling HbA_{1C} and fasting blood sugar levels in patients with type 2 diabetes than a high GI diet (9). Another meta-analysis by Livesey et al., found that the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus increased 1.27 times for every 10 units increase of GI in the diet, and 1.26 times for every 80 units of GI in a 2000 kcal diet (10). Sacks et al. compared a low glycaemic index - low carbohydrate diet with a high glycaemic index - high carbohydrate diet and found that insulin sensitivity, systolic blood pressure, LDL cholesterol, and HDL cholesterol were not affected, but triglycerides were reduced by 23% (11). Argiana et al. reported that consumption of a dessert with a low glycaemic index or low glycaemic load improved glucose and insulin responses in patients with type 2 diabetes compared to a conventional dessert with similar carbohydrate content, but with different sugar and fibre contents (12). In our study, it was found that a high glycaemic index was associated with poor glycaemic control; the risk of elevated HbA_{1C} increased 3.13 times, and insulin and HOMA-IR values were higher in patients consuming a high GI diet (i.e. $GI \ge 70$). A low GI diet appears to have a positive effect on glycaemic control. TyG index, a new marker, is an important predictor of insulin resistance. In our study, a weak positive correlation was found between daily energy intake and the TyG index. Selvi et al. found that TyG index showed a significant positive correlation with HbA_{1C} and HOMA-IR (13). The TyG index is a potential risk factor for diabetes mellitus (DM) and cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (13). The increase in daily energy intake contributes to an increase in this index. A higher GI diet causes a higher glucose response and increases the risk of CVD and DM. Sieri et al. reported that a high glucose load (GL) was associated with a higher risk of CVD (Hazard ratio (HR) = 1.16). Every 50 g/day GL was found to increase CVD risk (HR = 1.18) (14). It would not be wrong to say that

increased daily energy intake and a high dietary glycaemic index are potential risk factors for DM and CVD. Vega et al. found a relationship between GI and disease outcomes such as DM and CVD in their analysis of intervention studies on diet content (15). Another finding of our study was that a high glycaemic index and daily energy intake increased the risk of obesity, body fat ratio, and visceral adiposity. Being overweight and obese are risk factors for CVDs, such as heart diseases, stroke, DM, and various cancers, which are the leading causes of death worldwide. The International Carbohydrate Quality Consortium agreed that diets low in GI are relevant for the prevention of diabetes, coronary heart disease, and possibly obesity. It is accepted that low GI diets are especially important in individuals with insulin resistance (16). In a study by Hameed et al., a high visceral adiposity index was found to be associated with poor glycaemic control, dyslipidaemia, and an increased TyG index, and it was reported that as visceral adiposity quartile increased, the rates of poor glycaemic control also increased (17). An increase in the dietary glycaemic index and daily energy intake will lead to negative consequences for both metabolic parameters (insulin, HOMA-IR, and fasting blood glucose) and body composition (fat ratio and visceral adiposity ratio), especially increasing the risk factors for DM and cardiovascular diseases. Dietary interventions may reduce the risk of complications or the development of diseases associated with poor glycaemic control (prediabetic, insulin resistant, atherosclerotic, and overweight) in the elderly.

The study included elderly individuals and this is the strength of the study; while being limited to a hospital is a limitation.

The results of this study indicated that a high dietary glycaemic indexed intake and increased daily energy intake in the elderly led to poor glycaemic control, increased the risk of obesity, and were associated with visceral adiposity and body fat ratio. Diets with a low glycaemic index as well as controlled energy consumption in prediabetic elderly people with CVD risk factors would protect them from possible negative consequences.

REFERENCES

- Jenkins DJA, Dehghan M, Mente A, et al. Glycemic Index, Glycemic Load, and Cardiovascular Disease and Mortality. N Engl J Med. 2021;384(14):1312-1322 (PMID: 33626252)
- Vlachos D, Malisova S, Lindberg FA, Karaniki G. Glycemic Index (GI) or Glycemic Load (GL) and Dietary Interventions for Optimizing Postprandial Hyperglycemia in Patients with T2 Diabetes: A Review. Nutrients. 2020;12(6):1561. (PMID: 32471238)
- Mastronuzzi T, Grattagliano I. Nutrition as a Health Determinant in Elderly Patients. Curr Med Chem. 2019;26(19):3652-3661. (PMID: 28545376)
- Jayedi A, Lesani A, Akbarzadeh Z, Djafarian K, Shab-Bidar S. Irregular daily energy intake and diet quality in Iranian adults. Br J Nutr. 2021;126(3):401-408. (PMID: 33054880).
- Ayyıldız F, İzzet Ü, Hilal Y. Reflection of the Relationship Between Hedonic Hunger and Eating Behavior on Different Body Masses. Bes Diy Derg 2021;49(2):9-17. doi: 10.33076/2021.BDD.1465
- Atkinson FS, Brand-Miller JC, Foster-Powell K, Buyken AE, Goletzke J. International tables of glycemic index and glycemic load values 2021: a systematic review. Am J Clin Nutr. 2021;114(5):1625-1632. (PMID: 34258626)
- Molina-Molina E, Garruti G, Shanmugam H, Di Palo DM, Grattagliano I, Mastronuzzi T et al. Aging and nutrition. Paving the way to better health. Rom J Intern Med. 2020;58(2):55-68. (PMID: 32134741).
- Chiavaroli L, Lee D, Ahmed A, et al. Effect of low glycaemic index or load dietary patterns on glycaemic control and cardiometabolic risk factors in diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2021;374:n1651. (PMID: 34348965).
- Ojo O, Ojo OO, Adebowale F, Wang XH. The Effect of Dietary Glycaemic Index on Glycaemia in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Me-

Funding: No financial support was received because the study was conducted using the follow-up records on file of the routine patients in the clinic and software was purchased by the researchers.

ta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Nutrients. 2018;10(3):373. (PMID: 29562676).

- Livesey G, Taylor R, Livesey HF, et al. Dietary Glycemic Index and Load and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Updated Meta-Analyses of Prospective Cohort Studies. Nutrients. 2019;11(6):1280. (PMID: 31195724).
- Sacks FM, Carey VJ, Anderson CA, et al. Effects of high vs low glycemic index of dietary carbohydrate on cardiovascular disease risk factors and insulin sensitivity: the OmniCarb randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2014;312(23):2531-41. (PMID: 25514303).
- Argiana V, Kanellos PT, Eleftheriadou I, Tsitsinakis G, Perrea D, Tentolouris NK. Low-Glycemic-Index/ Load Desserts Decrease Glycemic and Insulinemic Response in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Nutrients. 2020;12(7):2153. (PMID: 32698325).
- Selvi NMK, Nandhini S, Sakthivadivel V, Lokesh S, Srinivasan AR, Sumathi S. Association of Triglyceride-Glucose Index (TyG index) with HbA1c and Insulin Resistance in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Maedica (Bucur). 2021;16(3):375-381. (PMID: 34925590).
- 14. Sieri S, Agnoli C, Grioni S, et al. Glycemic index, glycemic load, and risk of coronary heart disease: a pan-European cohort study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2020;112(3):631-643. (PMID: 32619242).
- Vega-López S, Venn BJ, Slavin JL. Relevance of the Glycemic Index and Glycemic Load for Body Weight, Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Disease. Nutrients. 2018;10(10):1361. (PMID: 30249012).
- Augustin LSA, Kendall CWC, Jenkins DJA, et al. Glycemic index, glycemic load and glycemic response: An International Scientific Consensus Summit from the International Carbohydrate Quality Consortium (ICQC). Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2015;25(9):795-815. (PMID: 26160327).
- Hameed EK, AbdulQahar ZH. Visceral adiposity index in female with type 2 diabetic mellitus and its association with the glycemic control. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2019;13(2):1241-1244. (PMID: 31336471).

Turkish Journal of Geriatrics

2022; 25(4)

FROM THE EDITOR IN CHIEF Yeşim GÖKÇE KUTSAL

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PERCEIVED AGEISM, AUTONOMY, AND SYMPTOMS OF DEPRESSION AND ANXIETY DURING THE COVID-19 CURFEW IN OLD AGE PSYCHIATRIC PATIENTS Aslı AYTULUN. Sahinde Özlem ERDEN AKİ

NORMATIVE AND PSYCHOMETRIC PROPERTIES OF THE WHOQOL OLDER ADULTS MODULE (WHOQOL-OLD) IN THE NATIONAL REPOSITORY Erhan ESER, Berna Bil Gin ŞAHİN, Sultan ESER

IS DYNAMIC THIOL/DISULFIDE HOMEOSTASIS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROGNOSIS OF GERIATRIC PATIENTS WITH SEPSIS IN THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT? Esra YAKIŞIK ÇAKIR, Gamze GÖK, Özcan EREL, Işıl ÖZKOÇAK TURAN

HOW AWARE ARE FAMILY PHYSICIANS OF THE SOCIAL LIFE AND LONELINESS OF OLDER PEOPLE? Özge ÜSTÜNDAĞ, Hüseyin ELBİ, Erol OZAN, Fatih ÖZCAN

ASSOCIATION BETWEEN C-REACTIVE PROTEIN/ALBUMIN AND C-REACTIVE PROTINE/PROTEIN RATIOS AND POOR OUTCOMES IN PALLIATIVE CARE PATIENTS WITH PRESSURE ULCERS Hasan ÖZTİN, İlyas ÖZTÜRK, Burak OYMAK, Yahya Ayhan ACAR, Murat AYSİN

STAFF-BASED INDIVIDUALIZED CARE INVENTORY: PSYCHOMETRIC PROPERTIES OF THE TURKISH VERSION Seda GÜNEY, Ayişe KARADAĞ

THE PREDICTORS OF IN-HOSPITAL MORTALITY IN HYPERTENSIVE ELDERLY INTENSIVE CARE UNIT PATIENTS WITH CORONAVIRUS DISEASE 2019 Nurullah CETIN. İbrahim Halil ÖZDEMİR

LESS IS MORE: BETA-2 MICROGLOBULIN AS A FRAILTY MARKER IN COMMUNITY-DWELLING OLDER ADULTS Ertuğrul BAYRAM, Didem KARADUMAN, Bülent KAYA, Burak METE, Süleyman ÖZBEK, Akgün YAMAN

DIAGNOSTIC AND PREDICTIVE ROLE OF PLATELET/LYMPHOCYTE RATIO (PLR) IN PREDICTING OUTCOMES IN ELDERLY COVID-19 PATIENTS (A CROSS-SECTIONAL STUDY) Esra AKDAŞ TEKİN, Fethi GÜLTOP, Onur OKUR, Sinan MUTLU, Ayla YEŞİLOVA, Namigar TURGUT

RETROSPECTIVE ANALYSIS OF GERIATRIC PATIENTS TREATED WITH DENTAL IMPLANTS AND IMPLANT-RETAINED PROSTHESES Eser ELEMEK

UNDERGRADUATES' KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES, AND ANXIETY ABOUT AGING, AND INTEREST IN WORKING WITH OLDER ADULTS THE ROLE OF PARTICIPATION IN A COURSE ON AGING Ece SAGEL-ÇETİNER, Hacer HARLAK

> OBSTRUCTIVE SLEEP APNEA IN ELDERLY Sıdıka Deniz YALIM

EVALUATION OF PENTRAXIN 3 UTILITY IN PREDICTING MORTALITY IN GERIATRIC PATIENTS WITH COVID-19: A PROSPECTIVE STUDY

Arzu ŞENOL, Şafak ÖZER BALİN, Selda TELO

RHINO-ORBITAL MUCORMYCOSIS IN THE ELDERLY POPULATION AFTER COVID-19 Ozer Erdem GUR, Nevreste Didem SONBAY YILMAZ, Sibel YAVUZ, Hatice Deniz ILHAN, Rezarta Taga SENİRLİ, Muhammet YILDIZ, Yesim YUKSEL, Nuray ENSARİ, Halil ER, Kubra DEMİR ONDER, Berna DOGAN

THE EFFECT OF THE ADHERENCE TO THE MEDITERRANEAN DIET ON FRAILTY IN OLDER PEOPLE WITH CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE Sedat ARSLAN, Canan BOZKURT, Hülya BULUT

COMPARISON OF THE MODIFIED 5-ITEM FRAILTY INDEX WITH THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF ANESTHESIOLOGISTS CLASSIFICATION AND CHARLSON AGE COMORBIDITY INDEX FOR PREDICTING POSTOPERATIVE OUTCOMES IN GERIATRIC PATIENTS: A PROSPECTIVE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY Ezgi HATIP ÜNLÜ, Fatih Doğu GEYİK, Yücel YÜCE, Jülide SAYIN KART, Banu ÇEVİK, Kemal Tolga SARAÇOĞLU

COMPARISON OF CLINICAL OUTCOMES OF CORONAVAC VACCINATED AND UNVACCINATED OLDER ADULTS WITH HOSPITALIZED COVID-19

Yusuf Emre ÖZDEMİR, Muhammet Salih TARHAN, Burak KIZILÇAY, Müge SÖNMEZIŞIK, Esra CANBOLAT ÜNLÜ, Deniz BORÇAK, Serkan SÜRME, Meryem ŞAHİN ÖZDEMİR, Osman Faruk BAYRAMLAR, Zuhal YEŞİLBAĞ, Sevtap ŞENOĞLU, Habip GEDİK, Kadriye KART YASAR

EVALUATION OF PREOPERATIVE NUTRITION WITH THREE DIFFERENT TOOLS IN ELDERLY PATIENTS Burcu YÜKSEL, Aylin Durmaz EDEER

AGING EFFECT IN PROSPECTIVE MEMORY MONITORING: AN EYE-TRACKING STUDY Aslı YÖRÜK, Banu CANGÖZ-TAVAT

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN GLYCAEMIC INDEX, DAILY ENERGY INTAKE, METABOLIC PARAMETERS, AND BODY COMPOSITION IN THE ELDERLY: A CROSS-SECTIONAL STUDY Burak METE, Lezzan KESKİN